NIFS ID:CLBU19000007

Capital:

Contract ID #CQBU14000007

NIFS Entry Date: 19-JUL-19

Department: Budget

SERVICE: Tax Analysis

Term: from 10-JUN-18 to 09-JUN-21

Amendment 1) Mandated Program:
2) Comptroller Approval Form
Time Extension: X Attached:
Addl, Funds:X 3) CSEA Agmt. § 32 Compliance N
: Attached:
Blanket Resolution: 4) Vendor Ownership & Mgmt. v
RES# Disclosure Attached:
5} Insurance Required Y
Vendor Info: Department:
Name: Moodys Analytics, Inc, | Vendor ID#_ Contact Name: Elizabeth Valerio
Address: [ NENEGEGEGEGE | Coect Person: [N
Address: 1 WEST STREET, 5TH FLOOR
I I -
MINEOLA, NY 11501 "_'f‘
| -
Phone: 516-571-5735 ¥
Phone: IR
Routing Slip
Department NIFS Entry: X 22-JUL-19 -- EVALERIO
Department NIFS Approval: X 22-JUL-19 -- JNOGID
DPW Capital Fund Approved:
OMB NIFA Approval: X 22-JUL-19 -- CNOLAN
OoMB NIFS Approval: X 22-JUL-19 -- EVALERIO
County Atty. Insurance Verification: X 22-JUL-19 -- AAMATO
County Atty. Approval fo Form: X 24-JUL-19 -- MNORIAT
CPO Approval: X 24-JUL-19 -- KOHAGENCE




DCEC Approval: X ‘ 25-JUL-19 -- JCHIARA
Dep. CE Approval: X 13-AUG-19 -- RORLANDO
Leg. Affairs Approval/Review: X 30-AUG-19 -- JSCHANTZ
Legislature Approval:

Comptroller Deputy:

NIFA NIFA Approval:

Contract Summary

Purpose: The contractor will provide the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) with forecasted sales tax receipts to assist the

County in its annual budget process.

Method of Procurement: Request for Qualifications and Cost Proposal

Procurement History: In July 22, 2014 OMB issued and RFQ for research and analytical services related to the County's sales tax
receipts. Proposals were due on August 4, 2014, The RFQ was sent o the following firms: Moody's Analytics, Inc; APT Economic
Consulting, Inc.; Dr. Martin R. Cantor, CPA; Dr. Thomas Conoscenti & Associates; and Long Island Financial Management Services.
Moody's Analytics and APTsubmitted proposals. The other firms decided not to submit proposals. The County also contacted Dr.

Irwin Kellner, but he was not interested in receiving the RFQ.

An Evaluation Committee was formed, consisting of the following members: Tim Sullivan, DCE for Finance; Roseann D'Alleva,
Acting Budget Director; Beaumont Jefferson, County Treasurer; and Steve Conkling, Debt Manager. Based on the review of the
submitted proposals, the commitiee selected Moodys Analytics because of its corporate depth and experience working with state and

local governments.

Description of General Provisions: Setrvices to be provided under the amended contract include the following:

Moody's will work with the County to analyze and forecast sales collections on a quarterly basis. Will also develop guarterly
written report for the County to discuss the sales tax forecast, as well as national, regional and local trends. Will assist the County in
discussions with NY'S agencies regarding questions the county may have relating to the sales receipts,

Moody's will create a forecast model using OLS regression techniques with historical collections data provided by the County and
Moody's proprictary economic forecast serics to project Nassau County sales tax collections.

Moody’s will compile a written analysis discussing the forecasts and well as national regional and local economic trends, the written
reports will be delivered on a quarterly basis.

If requested by the county, Moody's shall assist the County in discussions with the State regarding questions the County may have

on the accuracy of tax receipts

Impact on Funding / Price Analysis: The contracior shall be paid annually,payable on a quarterly basis as follows:
Year | (Junel0,2018-June 9, 2G19): $61,440 or $15,360 per quarterly report
Year 2 (June 10,2019-June 9,2020): $63,280 or $15,820 per quarterly report
Year 3 (June 10,2020-Junc 9,2021) 865,175 or $16,294 per quarterly report
Contractor will be paid atter full and final delivery of each Sales Tax Forecast and Written Analysis due. Additional work, if any, will

be based on the hourly rate schedule included in the contract.

Change in Contract from Prior Procurement: NA

Recommendation: (approve as submitted) Approve as submitted




Advisement Information

BUDGET CODES FUNDING INDEX/OBJECT
Fund: BUGEN SOURCE, AMOUNT LINE CODE AMOUNT
Control: 10 Revenue 10 DE500 $ 180.895.00
Resp: 1000 Contract; $ 0.00
Object; DE County $ 189,895.00 3 0.00
Transaction: 500 Federal $0.00
Project #: State $0.00 $0.00
Detail: Capital $0.00 $0.00
Other $0.00 $0.00
RENEWAL TOTAL | § 189,895.00 TOTAL | 5 180,895.00
%
Increase

%

Decrease




N | F A Nassau County Interum Finance Authority
Contract Approval Request Form (As of January 1, 2015)

1. Vendor: Moodys Analytics, Inc.
2. Dollar amount requiring NIFA approval: $189895
Amount to be encumbered: $189895

This is a Amendment

If new contract - $ amount should be fuli amount of contract

If advisement — NiFA only needs to review if it is increasing funds above the amount previously approved by NIFA
If amendment - $ amount should be full amount of amendment only
3. Contract Term: June 10, 2018-June 9, 2021

Has work or services on this contract commenced? Y

S

If yes, please explain: quarterly sales tax reports have bean generated

4, Funding Source:

X General Fund (GEN) Grant Fund {GRT)
Capital Improvement Fund {CAP) Federal % 0
Other State % 0
County % 0

Is the cash available for the full amount of the contract?

Y

If not, will it require a futurs borrowing? N
Has the County Legislature approvad the borrowing? MN/A
Has NIFA approvsd the borrowing for this centract? N/A

3, Provide a brief description {4 to 5 sentences) of the item for which this approval is requested:

Tha sontractor Wil provide e Ofica of Mapagamant 202 20202t DMB) with foracastad saias 1ax saeeizs o 2355002 County i a3 arnal 0ngst procass

6. Has the item requested herein followed all proper procedures and thereby approved by the:

B T N oy [ — e
E35au County Atiorney a3z o form

-

crmanist it e oA affatal paty withie tha peln




AUTHORIZATION

To the best of my knowledge, | heraby certify that the information contained in this Contract Approv
al Request Form and any additional information submitted in connection with this request is true an
d accurate and that all expenditures that will be made in reliance on this authorization are in confor
mance with the Nassau County Approved Budget and not in conflict with the Nassau County Multi-
Year Financial Plan. | understand that NIFA will rely upon this information in its official deliberaticn

5.

CNOLAN 22-JUL-19
Authenticated User Date

COMPTROLLER'S OFFICE
To the best of my knowledge, | hereby certify that the information listed is true and accurate and is
in conformance with the Nassau County Approved Budget and not in conflict with the Nassau Cou
nty Multi-Year Financial Plan.

Regarding funding, please check the correct response:

_ 1 certify that the funds are available to be encumbered pending NIFA approval of this contract.

if this is a capital project:
| certify that the bonding for this contract has been approved by NIFA.
Budget is available and funds have been encumbered but the project requires NIFA bonding authorization

Authenticated User Pate

NiFA

Amount baing approved by MIFA:

Daymentis not guarantasd 108 any work commaensed pror [0 s aporoval

Authenticated Usar Date

NOTE: All contract submissions MUST include the Gounty's own routing slip, current NIF3 pri
ntouts for all relevant ascounts and relevant Nassau County Legislature communication docu
ments and ralavant supplamental information pertaining to the itam requasted hersin,

HFE RO T RS F TR N TR RIS I SIS TP A S TS 0% LI S TR SR S ST S AT T U LR LI R ST ST BT PR PR
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RULES RESOLUTION NO.  —2019

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE
TO EXECUTE AN AMENDMENT TO A PERSONAL SERVICES
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU, ACTING ON
BEHALF OF THE OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET, AND
MOODY’S ANALYTICS, INC.

WHEREAS, the County has negotiated an amendment to a personal
services agreement with Moody’s Analytics, Inc., in connection with sales
tax analyses services, a copy of which is on file with the Clerk of the

Legislature; now, therefore, be it

RESOLVIED, the Rules Committee of the Nassau County Legislarure
authorizes the County Executive to execute the said amendment to

agreement with Moody’s Analyues, Tnc.



Jack Schnirman
Comptroller

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER
240 OId Country Road
Mineola, New York 11501

COMPTROLLER APPROVAL FORM FOR PERSONAL,
PROFESSIONAL OR HUMAN SERVICES CONTRACTS

Attach this form along with all personal, professional or huntan services contracts, contract renewals, exiensions
and amendments,

CONTRACTOR NAME: Maody’s Analytics, Inc.

CONTRACTOR ADDRESS: 7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich St., New York, NY 10007

FEDERAL TAX 1D #: 13-3851829

Instructions: Please check the appropriate box (“id”) after one of the following
roman numerals, and provide all the requested information,

I [0 The contract was awarded to the lowest, responsible bidder after advertisement
for sealed bids. The contract was awarded after a request for sealed bids was published
in, [newspaper] on
[date]. The sealed bids were publicly opened on [date]. [#] of
sealed bids were received and opened.

IL. O The contractor was selected pursuant to a Request for Proposals.

The Contract was entered into after a wiitten request for proposals was issued omn
: [date]. Potential proposers were made aware of the availability of the RFP by
advertisement in [newspaper], posting on industry websites, via

omail to interested partics and by publication on the County procurement website. Proposals were due
on [date]. [state #] proposals were teceived and evaluated. The

cvaluation committee consisted of:

_ (list # of persons on
committee and their respective departments). The proposals were scored and ranked. Ag a resuli of the
scoring and ranking, the highest-ranking proposer was selected.




IIL {4 This is a renewal, extension or amendment of an existing contract,
The contract was originally executed by Nassan County on September 2, 2014 [date]. This is a
renewal or extension pursuant to the contract, or an amendment within the scope of the contract or RFP
(copies of the relovant pages are aftached). The original contract was entered into
after The co'ntrau;c sall ub asu uy tembr _ .04.I s rw o' :t:nsion Eursuanl to the contract, or an amendmeljt within
Praposals wera dye on August 4, 2014, The RFQ was sent to five flrms, ARer review of the propesals recelved, Moody's Analytics was salsated by the Evaluation
-Hhraa-{3-adeltionslyearsexseulod-on-bohaltof the-Ca H*Y-OH-JHM%—E&&%&G@W

> uﬁiT—ekmnd tract-for. v b ;
the contract for an additional three (3) years. [desoribe

procurement method, i.e., REP, three proposals evaluated, etc.] Attach a copy of the most recent evaluation
of the contractor’s performance for any contract to be renewed or extended. If the conttactor has not
received a satisfactory evaluation, the department must explain why the contractor should nevertheless be
permitted to contite to contract with the county,

IV. O Pursuant to Executive Order No. 1 of 1993, as amended, at least three
propesals were solicited and received. The attached memorandum from the
department head describes the proposals received, along with the cost of each
proposal,

O A. The contract has been awarded to the proposer offering the lowest cost proposal; OR:

[0 B. The attached memorandum contains a detailed explanation ag to the reason(s) why the
contract was awarded to other than the lowest-cost propeser. The attachment includes a specific
delineation of the unique skills and experience, the specific reasons why a proposal is deemed
superiot, and/or why the proposer has been judged to be able to perform more quickly than other
Proposers,

V. 00 Pursuant to Executive Order No, 1 of 1993 as amended, the attached
memorandum from the department head explains why the department did net
obtain at least three proposals.

LI A. There are only one or two providers of the services sought or less than three providers
submitted proposals. The memorandum describes how the contractor was determined to be the
sole source provider of the personal service needed or explains why only two proposals could be
obtained. If two proposals were obtained, the memorandum explains that the contract was
awarded to the lowest cost proposer, or why the selected proposer offered the higher quality
proposal, the proposer’s unique and special experience, skill, or expertise, or its availability to
perform in the most immediate and timely manner. ' '

[1 B. The memorandum explains that the contractor’s selection was dictated by the terms of a
federal or New York State grant, by legislation or by a court order. {Copies of the relevant
documents are attached).

[0 C. Pursuant to General Municipal Law Section 104, the department is purchasing the services
required through a New York State Office of General Services contract
no, - , and the attached memorandum explains how the purchase is
within the scope of the terms of that contract.




[1 D. Pursuant to General Municipal Law Section 119-0, the department is purchasing the services
required through an inter-municipal agreement.

VI. O This is a human services contract with a not-for-profit agency for which a

competitive process has not been initiated, Attached is a memorandum that explains the reasons
for entering into this contract without conducting a competitive process, and details when the department
intends to initiate a competitive process for the future award of these services. For any such contract, where
the vendor has previously provided services to the county, attach a copy of the most recent evaluation of
the vendor’s performance. If the contractor has not received a satisfactory evaluation, the department must
explain why the contractor should nevertheless be permitted to contract with the county.

In certain limited circumstances, conducting a competitive process and/or completing performance
evaluations mey not be possible because of the nature of the human services program, or because of a
compelling need to continue services through the same provider. In those circumstances, attach an
explanation of why a competitive process and/or performance evaluation is inapplicable,

VIL O This is a public works contract for the provision of architectural, engineering
or surveying services, The attached memorandum provides details of the department’s compliance
with Board of Supervisors’ Resolution No. 928 of 1993, including its receipt and evalation of annmal
Statements of Qualifications & Performance Data, and its negotiations with the most highly qualified
firms.

Instructions with respect to Sections VIIL IX and X: All Departments must check the box for VIIL,
Then, check the box for either IX or X, as applicable. _

VIIL 4 Participation of Minority Group Members and Women in Nassan County
Contracts. The selected contracior has agreed that it has an obligation to utilize best efforts to hire
MWBE sub-contraciors. Proof of the contractual utilization of best efforts as outlined in Exhibit “RE”
may be requested at any time, from time to time, by the Comptroller’s Office prior to the approval of
claim vouchers, '

IX. 1 Department MWBE responsibilities. To ensure compliance with MWBE requirements
as outlined in Exhibit “EB”, Department will require vendor to submit list of sub-contractor
tequirements prior to submission of the first claim voucher, for services under this contract being
submitted to the Comptroller,

X. I4 Vendor will not require any sub-contractors.

In oddition, if this is & contract with an individuel or with an entity that has only one or two employees: [ a review of the
ctiteria set forth by the Internal Revenue Service, Revenue Ruling No. 87-41, 1987-1 C.B, 296, attached as Appendix A o the
Comptroller’s Memorandum, dated Februaty 13, 2004, concerning independent contractors and employees indicates that the
contractor wollld not be considered an employee for federal tax purposes,

Department Head Signature

’?( t‘f\_\"g

Date

NOTE: Any information requested above, or in the exhibit below, may be included in the county’s “siaff summary” form
in lien of a separate memorandurn.
Compt. form Pers. /Prof. Services Contracts: Rev, 01/18 3



COUNTY OF NASSAU
POLITICAL CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Has the vendor or any corporate officers of the vendor provided campaign contributions pursuant to the New York
State Election Law in (a) the period beginning April 1, 2016 and ending on the date of this disclosure, or (b), beginning
April 1, 2018, the period beginning two years prior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of this
disclosure, to the campaign committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign
committees of any candidates for any of the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Executive, the County
Clerk, the Comptroller, the District Attorney, or any County Legislator?

YES NO X If yes, fo what campaign committee?

2. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or Vendor authorized as a
signatory of the firm for the purpose of executing Contracts.

The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they are, to
his/her knowledge, true and accurate.

The undersigned further certifies and affirms that the contribution{s) to the campaign commitiees identified above were

made freely and without duress, threat or any promise of a_ governmental benefit or in exchange for any benefit or

remuneration.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Michael McDermott [MICHAEL.MCDERMOTT@MOODYS.COM]

Dated: 07/03/2019 11:25:37 AM Vendor: Moody's Analytics

Title: _Director

Page 1 of 1 Rev. 3-2016



PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All guestions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent
(10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to

answer any question, make as
questionnaire.

many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. FAILURE TO SUBMIT A COMPLETE

QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE
AND ITWILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR AWARD

1.

Principal Name:  Michael McDermoitt

Date of birth: ||

Home address: |

, _ I N N
Business Address: 250 Greenwich Street
City: New York State: NY Zip Code: 10007
Telephone: (212) 553-7956
Other present address(es):
| H T

Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)

Prasident Treasurer

Chairman of Board Shareholder

Chief Exec. Officer Secretary

Chief Financial Officer Partner

Vice President

{Other)

Type Description Start Date
Other Legal Counsel 12/09/2018

Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES | INO | X ]IfYes, provide details.

Are there any ouistanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of

contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES [ NO X | If Yes, provide details.

]

Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization

other than the one submitting the questionnaire?

YES NO X | If Yes, provide details.

Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts fo a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past

3 years while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES NO X If Yes, provide defails.

Page 1 of 4
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NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanclion arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a
result of any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you

need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7.

In the past (5} years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5

in which you have been a principal owner or officer:

a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
| |
b. -~ Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts

cancelled for cause?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.

C. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.
| — |
d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action
pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business's ability to bid or propose on
contract?
YES [ ]NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

I

Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or

been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the
last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptey proceedings initiated more than 7
years ago and/or is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever
initiated?

YES [ |NO If "'Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to
all questions check "Yes". If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the
questionnaire.)

a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES NO | X __| I yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
| !
b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES NO | X | Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken
) |
C. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
YES |j| NO [ X ] Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
| |
d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime,
an element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of
business? Y
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

Page 2 of 4 Rev. 3-2016



e. In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
| |
f. In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
| ]
10. fn addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you

been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related
to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed
in response to Question 57

YES [ NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

| 1

11. In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response
to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other
type of investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies while you were a principal owner or officer? , )

YES | NO X If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

| |

12. In the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5
had any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional
license held?

YES | NO X | fyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

13. For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES NO X If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective aclion taken.

| 1
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[, | Michael McDermott | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

I, | Michael McDermott | , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occuitring
after the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional
inducement to enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

AMATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Moody's Analytics

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Michael McDermott [MICHAEL. MCDERMOTT@MOODYS.COM]

Director

Title

07/03/2019 11:29:00 AM

Date

Paged of 4 Rev. 3-2016



Business History Form

The contract shall be awarded to the responsible proposer who, at the discretion of the County, taking into
consideration the reliability of the proposer and the capacity of the proposer to perform the services required by the
County, offers the best value to the County and who will best promote the public interest.

In addition to the submission of proposals, each proposer shall complete and submit this questionnaire. The
questionnaire shall be filled out by the owner of a sole proprietorship or by an authorized representative of the firm,
corporation or partnership submitting the Proposal.

NOTE: All questions require a response, even if response is "none” or "not-applicable.” No blanks.
(USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IF NECESSARY TO FULLY ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS).
Date: 04/29/2019

1)  Proposer's Legal Name: Moody's Analytics, Inc.

2) Address of Place of Business: 7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich Street

City:  New York State: NY Zip Code: 10007

3) Mailing Address (if different):

City: State: Zip Code:
Phone;
Does the business own or rent its facilities? Rent If other, please provide details:

4) Dun and Bradstreet number: 61-964-8199

5) Federal 1.D. Number: _13-38518289

6) The proposeris a:  Corporation (Describe)

7 Does this business share office space, staff, or equipment expenses with any other business?
YES NC X | If yes, please provide details:

8) Does this business control one or more other businesses?
YES | NO [ X ] If yes, please provide details:

9) Does this business have one or more affiliates, and/or is it a subsidiary of, or controlled by, any other business?

YES X | NO | If yes, please provide details:

| Moody's Analytics, Inc. is a subsidiary of its parent company, Moody's Corporation (MCO)

10) Has the proposer ever had a bond or surety cancelled or forfeited, or a contract with Nassau County or any
other government entity terminated?
YES NO If yes, state the name of bonding agency, (if a bond), date, amount of bond
and reason for such cancellation or forfeiture: or details regarding the termination (if a contract).

YES NO [ X ] If yes, state date, court jurisdiction, amount of liabilities and amount of assets

11) Hasthe gro%c)ser, during the past seven years, been declared bankrupt?
|

Page1of 5 Rev. 3-2016



12}  Inthe past five years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business,
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency? And/or, in the past 5 years, have any owner and/or officer of any affiliated
business been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or
local prosecuting or investigative agency, where such investigation was related to activities performed at, for, or
on behalf of an affiliated business.

YES [ | NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

13) Inthe past 5 years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business
been the subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and
local regulatory agencies? And/or, in the past 5 years, has any owner and/or officer of an affiliated business
been the subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and
local regulatory agencies, for matters pertaining to that individual's position at or relationship to an affiliated
business.

YES NO [ ] Ifyes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

To the extent that Moody's Corporation, or its affiliates, are parties to litigation that may have a material impact
on the company's business, this is disclosed in the Moody's Corporation Annual Report, and if applicable its
quarterly reports, all of which are available at http://ir. moodys.com. In addition, material litigation is summarized
in Moody's Public filings filed with the SEC, which are also available on Moody's website on www.moodys.com.
For claims, litigation and proceedings and governmental investigations and inquires not related to income taxes,
where it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated,
Moody's records liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and periodically adjusts these as
appropriate.

14}  Has any current or former director, owner or officer or managerial employee of this business had, either before
or during such person's employment, or since such employment if the charges pertained to events that
allegedly occcurred during the time of employment by the submitting business, and allegedly related to the
conduct of that business:

a) Any felony charge pending?
YES NO X | If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

b) Any misdemeanor charge pending?
YES [ | NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

c) In the past 10 years, you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony and/or any other crime, an
element of which relates to tfruthfulness or the underlying facts of which related fo the conduct of business?
YES |:| NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

d) In the past 5 years, been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

I

e) In the past 5 years, been found in violation of any administrative, statutory, or regulatory provisions?
YES NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

15) Inthe past (5) years, has this business or any of its owners or officers, or any other affiliated business had any
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sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license
held?

YES [ I NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

16)  For the past (5) tax years, has this business failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable
federal, state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide details for each such year. Provide a detailed response to all
questions checked 'YES' If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the
guestionnaire.

17  Conflict of Interest:
a) Please disclose any conflicts of interest as outlined below. NOTE: If no conflicts exist, please expressly
state "No conflict exists.”
(i) Any material financial relationships that your firm or any firm employee has that may create a conflict
of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

| No conflict exists

(i) Any family relationship that any employee of your firm has with any County public servant that may
create a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau
County.

| No conflict exists

(iii) Any other matter that your firm believes may create a conflict of interest or the appearance of a
conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

| No conflict exists

b) Please describe any procedures your firm has, or would adopt, to assure the County that a conflict of
interest would not exist for your firm in the future.

Moody's is committed to the highest standards of integrity and ethical business practices and requires
each of its employees and directors to acknowledge and be bound to the principles set out in the Moody'
s Code of Business Conduct which is available at http://iwww.moodys.com

A. Include a resume or detailed description of the Proposer's professional qualifications, demonstrating extensive
experience in your profession. Any prior similar experiences, and the results of these experiences, must be
identified.

Have you rewousl uploaded the below information under in the Document Vault?
YES i

Is the proposer an individual?
YES & NO [ X ] Should the proposer be other than an individual, the Proposal MUST include:

i) Date of formation;
| 03/04/1994 }

ii)  Name, addresses, and position of all persons having a financial interest in the company, including
shareholders, members, general or limited parther. If none, explain.

| This information can be found in our public filings

iy Name, address and position of all officers and directors of the company. If none, explain.

iv} State of incorporation (if applicable);
| DE |

v) The number of employees in the firm;
1791 |
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vi) Annual revenue of firm;
| 1700000 |

vii) _Summary of relevant accomplishments

| 1

B. Indicate number of years in business.

| 25

C. Provide any other information which would be appropriate and helpful in determining the Proposer's capamty
and reliability to perform these services.

| Not applicable - this is a renewal

D. Provide names and addresses for no fewer than three references for whom the Proposer has provided similar
services or who are qualified to evaluate the Proposer's capability to perform this work.

Company NONE

Contact Person none

Address NONE

City NONE State NY
Telephone (508) 966-0927

Fax #

E-Mail Address michael.mcdermoti@moodys.com

Company NONE

Contact Person None

Address None

City None State NY
Telephone (508) 966-0927

Fax #

E-Mail Address michael.mcdermoti@moodys.com

Company NONE

Contact Person none

Address none

City nong State  NY
Telephone (508) 966-0927

Fax #

E-Mail Address michael.mcdermott@moodys.com
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[, | Michael McDermott | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

I, | Michael McDermott | , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that [ supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that 1 will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after
the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge, information
and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional inducement to
enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Name of submitfing business: Moody's Analytics

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Michael McDermott [MICHAEL.MCDERMOTT@MOODYS.COM]

Director

Title
07/03/2019 11:28:22 AM

Date
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December 2017

MOODY’S CORPORATION
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

The Board of Directors of Moody’s Corporation has adopted the corporate governance principles
set forth below as a framework for the governance of the Company. The Company is committed
to the highest standards of corporate governance, business integrity and professionalism in all its
activities. The Principles set forth a common set of expectations as to how the Board, its various
committees and individual directors perform their functions. Together with the certificate of
incorporation and bylaws and the charters of the committees of the Board, the Principles set forth
the governance standards for the Company, The Governance and Nominating Committee
reviews the Principles annually and recommends changes to the Board of Directors as
appropriate.

1. ROLE AND COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DNRECTORS
Role of the Board

The Board of Directors, which is elected by the Company’s stockholders, is the ultimate
decision-making body of the Company except with respect to those matters reserved to the
stockholders and subject to the complete independence of the Company’s credit ratings,
assessments and research. The Board selects the Chief Executive Officer (CEO} and approves
the senior management team, which is responsible for conducting the Company’s business, and
monitors the performance of senior management, The Board also oversees the Company’s
enterprise-wide approach to the major risks facing the Company and, with the assistance of its
committees, oversees the Company’s policies, procedures and practices for assessing and
managing its exposure to risk.

Size, Composition and Membership Criteria

All members of the Board, except the CEO, are independent directors. An “independent”
director is a director who meets the New York Stock Exchange’s definition of being
“independent,” as determined by the Board. The Board has adopted the standards set forth in
Attachment A to these Principles to assist it in assessing the independence of directors. The
Board makes an affirmative determination regarding the independence of each director annually,
based upon the recommendation of the Governance and Nominating Committee.

The Governance and Nominating Committee considers and makes recommendations to the
Board regarding the size, structure, composition and functioning of the Board. The Board
presently has nine members. It is the Company’s policy that the number of directors not exceed
a number that can function efficiently as a body. All directors stand for election annually for
one-year terms.

The Governance and Nominating Commiitee is responsible for overseeing processes for the
selection and nomination of director candidates, and for developing and recommending to the
Board for approval, and periodically reviewing, Board membership criteria and recommending
updates to the criteria as appropriate. These criteria include business experience, qualifications,



attributes and skills relevant to the management and oversight of the Company’s business,
independence, ability to represent diverse stockholder interests, judgment, integrity, the ability to
commit sufficient time and attention to Board activities, and the absence of potential conflicts or
the appearance of conflicts with the Company’s business and interests. The Committee and the
Board annually evaluate the composition of the Board to assess the skills and experience that are
currently represented on the Board as a whole, and in individual directors, as well as the skills
and experience that the Board will find valuable in the future, given the Company’s current
situation and strategic plans. The Committee and the Board seek a variety of occupational and
personal backgrounds on the Board in order to obtain a range of viewpoints and perspectives and
to enhance the diversity of the Board. The Committee also considers the special requirements of
Moody’s Investors Service and its role in the securities markets. As an example, the Committee
has determined that individuals who by profession actively manage securities portfolios could
encounter conflicts of interests or give rise to the appearance of conflicts. The Committee also
considers candidates recommended by stockholders in compliance with the procedures described
in the Company’s proxy statement,

The Governance and Nominating Committee reviews the qualifications of director candidates in
light of applicable Board membership criteria and recommends the Company’s candidates to the
Board for election by the stockholders at the annual meeting. In addition, prior to the
recommendation of the Company’s director candidates to the Board, the chairman of the Board
annually evaluates the performance and contributions of each incumbent director.

Board Leadership

The Board believes that it is in the best interests of the Company for the Board to periodically
evaluate and make a determination regarding whether or not to separate the roles of Chairman
and CEO based upon the circumstances. The Board appoints a Chairman annually to serve for a
period of one year. The Board believes that presently it is in the best interests of the Company to
separate the roles of Chairman and CEO and currently has selected an independent director to
serve as Chairman.

The Chairman’s responsibilities include: (a) approving the agenda for and presiding at meetings
of the Board; (b) establishing the agenda for and presiding at executive sessions of the
independent directors; (c) presiding at meetings of stockholders; (d) in collaboration with the
Compensation and Human Resources Committee, evaluating the performance of the CEQ; and
() serving as the principal liaison on Board-wide issues among the independent directors.

Change in Principal Occupation

When a director’s principal occupation or business association changes substantially during the
director’s tenure on the Board, the director must tender his or her resignation for consideration

by the Governance and Nominating Committee. The Committee will recommend to the Board
whether to accept or reject the resignation.

Service on Other Boards

Ordinarily, directors should not serve on the boards of more than three other public companies in
addition to the Company’s Board. Directors who are serving as executive officers of public



companies should not serve on the boards of more than one other public company in addition to
the Company’s Board. The Governance and Nominating Committee shall review and approve
all directorships (and similar governance oversight positions) offered to directors of the
Company, the CEO or other executive officers of the Company at: (a) other public companies,
and (b) other entities that issue public debt or hold ratings from Moody’s Investors Service.
Directors should advise the Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the Governance and
Nominating Committee in advance of accepting an invitation to serve on another such board.

Majority Voting

The Company has adopted majority voting in the uncontested election of directors and plurality
voting in contested elections. In uncontested elections, directors are elected by a majority of the
votes cast, which means that the number of shares voted “for” a director must exceed the number
of votes cast “against” that director. The Company also has adopted procedures to address
situations where a director does not receive a majority vote, under which a director subject to
election must submit a contingent resignation which becomes effective if the director fails to
receive a majority of the votes cast and the Board accepts the resignation. The procedures are set
forth in a separate Director Resignation Policy and described in the Company’s proxy statement.

2. FUNCTIONING OF THE BOARD
Meetings and Agendas

The Chairman approves the agenda for each Board meeting in consultation with the CEO and
with the understanding that certain items pertinent to the advisory and monitoring functions of
the Board are brought to the Board periodically by the CEO for review and/or decision. Agenda
items that fall within the scope of responsibilities of a Board committee are reviewed with the
chairman of that committee. Directors are encouraged to suggest the inclusion of items on the
agenda. Directors are also free to raise subjects at a Board meeting that are not on the agenda for
that meeting,

Directors are also expected to attend Board meetings and meetings of the Board committees on
which they serve and spend the time necessary to properly discharge their responsibilities.

Distribution and Review of Board Materials

Board materials related to agenda items are provided to directors sufficiently in advance of
Board meetings to allow directors to review and prepare for discussion of the items at the
meeting. In some cases, due to timing or the sensitive nature of an issue, materials are presented
only at the Board meeting.

Director Access to Management, Employees and Advisors

At the invitation of the Board, members of senior management recommended by the CEO may
attend Board meetings or portions of meetings for the purpose of participating in discussions,
Generally, presentations of matters to be considered by the Board are made by the manager
responsible for that area of the Company’s operations. Directors also have full and free access to
other members of management and to employees of the Company.



The Board has the authority to engage outside counsel, accountants, experts and other advisors as
it determines appropriate to assist it in the performance of its functions.

Executive Sessions of Independent Directors

The independent directors routinely meet in executive session at regularly scheduled Board
meetings. The Chairman establishes the agenda for and presides at these sessions and has the
authority to call additional executive sessions as appropriate.

Director Compensation

The Compensation and Human Resources Committee annually reviews the compensation of
directors and recommends any changes for approval by the Board, which has the authority to set
director compensation. Non-management directors receive a combination of cash and equity
compensation for service on the Board.

Stock Ownership Guidelines

The Board has established stock ownership guidelines for directors and executives of the
Company, which are set forth in a separate policy and described in the Company’s proxy
statement.

Strategic Planning and Risk Oversight

The Board reviews the Company’s long-term strategic plan at least annually. The Board
oversees the Company’s enterprise-wide approach to the major risks facing the Company, and
oversees the Company’s policies, procedures and practices for assessing and managing its
exposure to risk.

The Board periodically reviews the Company’s major risks and the Company’s risk management
processes, including in connection with its review of the Company’s strategy.

Succession Planning

The Board plans for succession to the position of CEO as well as certain other senior
management positions. The Board, in conjunction with the Compensation and Human Resources
Committee, anmually reviews the Company’s succession plans regarding the selection of
individuals to fill these positions. The Board’s review involves succession planning both in the
context of a sudden and unplanned absence or inability of the CEO or of other senior executives
to fill their positions and in the context of planned promotions or retirements.

Formal Evaluation of CEO and Other Executive Officers

The Compensation and Human Resources Committee is responsible for setting annual and long-
term performance goals for the CEO and for evaluating, in consultation with the Chairman, the
performance of the CEO against those goals. The Compensation and Human Resources
Committee both sets the CEO’s goals and evaluates the CEOQ’s performance against those goals
in executive session. The Chairman shares the results of the evaluation with the CEO, and the



Compensation and Human Resources Committee uses the results in considering and approving
the compensation of the CEO.

The Compensation and Human Resources Committee also is responsible for reviewing and
approving annual and long-term performance goals for other executive officers of the Company.
The Compensation and Human Resources Committee reviews with the CEO the performance of
these executive officers against the goals and based upon that review, and considering
recommendations from the CEQ, sets the executive officers’ compensation.

Annual Meeting of Stockholders
Directors are expected to attend the annual meeting of stockholders.
Director Orientation and Continuing Education

The Company has an orientation process for Board members that includes extensive materials
and meetings with key management designed to familiarize new directors with various aspects of
the Company’s business, including the Company’s strategy, operations, finances, risk
management processes, compliance program, and governance practices.

Continuing education for current directors may take a variety of forms, including in-house
presentations and briefings on developments relevant to the Company and the Board, as well as
participation in external programs. The Board encourages directors to participate in education
programs to assist them in performing their responsibilities as directors, and associated expenses
are reimbursed by the Company.

The Governance and Nominating Committee oversees the orientation program for new directors
and continuing education for current directors.

Annual Performance Evaluation

The Board and each of the Audit Committee, the Governance and Nominating Committee, and
the Compensation and Human Resources Committee conducts an annual self-evaluation to
assess its performance. The Governance and Nominating Committee oversees the evaluation
process.

Conflicts of Interest

If a director has a personal interest in a matter before the Board, the director will disclose the
interest to the full Board, recuse himself or herself from participation in discussion of the matter
and will not vote on the matter.

3. STRUCTURE AND FUNCTIONING OF COMMITTEES
Number, Structure and Independence of Committees

It is the general policy of the Company that all major decisions be considered by the Board as a
whole. As a consequence, the committee structure of the Board is limited to those committees



considered to be necessary and appropriate for the Company. Currently the Board’s standing
committees are the Audit Committee, the Governance and Nominating Committee, the
Compensation and Human Resources Committee and the Executive Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the standing committees include:

¢ The Audit Committee oversees the integrity of the Company’s financial statements, the
Company’s financial reporting processes and internal controls, the relationship with the
independent auditors and the performance of the internal audit function, and the
Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

¢ The Governance and Nominating Committee performs a leadership role in shaping the
Company’s corporate governance, engages in succession planning for the Board,
identifies individuals qualified to become Board members and recommends director
candidates for election or appointment to the Board.

s The Compensation and Human Resources Committee evaluates the performance of the
CEO and other executive officers and sets their compensation, oversees senior
management succession planning in conjunction with the Board, and reviews the
compensation of directors and recommends changes for approval by the Board.

The Audit Committee, the Governance and Nominating Committee and the Compensation and
Human Resources Committee are made up solely of independent directors under the standards
reflected on Attachment A, In addition, directors who serve on the Audit Committee and the
Compensation and Human Resources Committee must be “independent” within the meaning of
the New York Stock Exchange independence criteria for audit committee members and
compensation committee members, respectively, both as reflected on Attachment A.

The Board may also establish and maintain other committees of the Board from time to time as it
deems necessary and appropriate.

Assignment and Rotation of Committee Members

The Governance and Nominating Committee considers and makes recommendations to the
Board regarding committee size, structure, composition and functioning. Committee members
are recommended to the Board by the Governance and Nominating Committee and appointed by
the full Board. Committee chairmen are elected by the Board. It is the policy of the Board that
consideration be given to rotating committee members periodically, but the Board does not
believe that rotation should be mandated as a policy.

Responsibilities

All committees report regularly to the full Board with respect to their activities. Each of the
Audit Committee, the Governance and Nominating Committee, the Compensation and Human
Resources Committee and the Executive Commitiee operates under a written charter that sets
forth the purposes, goals and responsibilities of the committee as well as qualifications for
committee membership. Each of these committees assesses the adequacy of its charter annually
and recommends changes to the Board as appropriate. Each of these committees also has the



authority to retain outside advisors as it determines appropriate to assist it in the performance of
its functions.

Meetings and Agendas

The chairman of each committee determines the frequency, length and agenda of the
committee’s meetings. Materials related to agenda items are provided to committee members
sufficiently in advance of meetings to allow the members to review and prepare for discussion of
the items at the meeting,

Annual Performance Evaluation

In accordance with their respective charters, the Audit Committee, the Governance and
Nominating Committee and the Compensation and Human Resources Committee, each conduct
an annual self-evaluation to assess their performance.

4, STOCKHOLDER ENGAGEMENT; COMMUNICATIONS WITH DIRECTORS

The Company welcomes feedback from its stockholders and endeavors to create an environment
that fosters open communication and constructive dialogue with its stockholders. To enable the
Company to speak with a single voice, as a general matter, senior management serves as the
primary spokesperson for the Company and is responsible for communicating with various
constituencies, including stockholders, on behalf of the Company. Directors may participate in
discussions with stockholders and other constituencies on issues where Board-level involvement
is appropriate.

Stockholders and other stakeholders may communicate with the Board, or with a specific
director or directors, by writing to them c/o the Corporate Secretary, Moody’s Corporation, 7
World Trade Center at 250 Greenwich Street, New York, NY 10007.



Attachment A

An “independent” director is a director whom the Board of Directors has determined has no
material relationship with Moody’s Corporation or any of its consolidated subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Company’), either directly, or as a partner, stockholder or officer of an
organization that has a relationship with the Company. For purposes of this definition, the Board
has determined that a director is not independent if:

1.

the director is, or in the past three years has been, an employee of the Company, or an
immediate family member of the director is, or in the past three years has been, an
executive officer of the Company;

(a) the director, or an immediate family member of the director, is a current partner of the
Company’s outside auditor; (b) the director is a current employee of the Company’s
outside auditor; (¢} a member of the director’s immediate family is a current employee of
the Company’s outside auditor and personally works on the Company’s audit; or (d) the
director or an immediate family member of the director was in the past three years a
partner ot employee of the Company’s outside auditor and personally worked on the
Company’s audit within that time;

the director, or a member of the director’s immediate family, is or in the past three years
has been, an executive officer of another company where any of the Company’s present
executive officers serves or served on the compensation committee at the same time;

the director, or 2 member of the director’s immediate family, has received, during any 12-
month period in the past three years, any direct compensation from the Company in
excess of $120,000, other than compensation for Board service, compensation received
by the director’s immediate family member for service as an employee (other than an
executive officer) of the Company, and pension or other forms of deferred compensation
for prior service with the Company;

the director is a current executive officer or employee, or a member of the director’s
immediate family is a current exccutive officer, of another company that makes payments
to or receives payments from the Company, or during any of the last three fiscal years,
has made payments to or received payments from the Company, for property or services
in an amount that, in any single fiscal year, exceeded the greater of $1 million or 2% of
the other company’s consolidated gross revenues; or

the director, or the director’s spouse, is an executive officer of a non-profit organization
to which. the Company or the Company foundation makes, or in the past three years has

. made, contributions that, in any single fiscal year, exceeded the greater of $1 million or

2% of the non-profit organization’s consolidated gross revenues. (Amounts that the
Company foundation contributes under matching gifts programs are not included in the
contributions calculated for purposes of this standard.)

An “immediate family” member includes a director’s spouse, parents, children, siblings,
mother and father-in-law, sons and daughters-in-law, brothers and sisters-in-law, and
anyone (other than a domestic employee) who shares the director’s home.



In addition, a director is not considered independent for purposes of serving on the Audit
Committee, and may not serve on the Audit Committee, if the director: (a) accepts, directly or
indirectly, from Moody’s Corporation or any of its subsidiaries, any consulting, advisory, or
other compensatory fee, other than Board and committee fees and fixed amounts of
compensation under a retirement plan (including deferred compensation) for prior service with
Moody’s Corporation; or (b) is an “affiliated person” of Moody’s Corporation or any of its
subsidiaries; each as determined in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission
regulations.

In addition, in determining whether a director is considered independent for purposes of serving
on the Compensation and Human Resources Committee, the Board must consider all factors
specifically relevant to determining whether the director has a relationship with the Company
that is material to that director’s ability to be independent from management in connection with
the duties of a compensation committee member, including, but not limited to: (a) the source of
the director’s compensation, including any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fec paid
by the Company to the director; and (b) whether the director is affiliated with Moody’s
Corporation, any of its subsidiaries or an affiliate of any subsidiary; each as determined in
accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission regulations.



Mooby’s

Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy

Issued by: Moody's Legal Department
Applicable to:  All Moody's Employees
Effective Date:  December §, 2016

POLICY

It is the policy of Moody's (as defined below) to comply with all applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption
laws, including but not limited to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), the U.K. Bribery Act
("UKBA?), and all applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws where Moody’s operates, and to accurately
reflect all transactions in Moody’s books and records. It is also Moody’s policy to require certain third-party
intermediaries, agents, consultants and business partners who work on Moody’s behalf to comply with these
same laws and practices. This policy applies to Moody’s Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
(collectively, Moody’s). Moody’s majority-controlled subsidiaries have adopted substantially similar policies in
consultation with Moody’s Legal and Compliance Departments.

Making actual payments or even offering business courtesies (as described below) or anything else of value, such
as gifts, enterrainment or other hospitality, to public officials (as defined below) may violate the FCPA, the
UKBA or other anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws. Commercial bribery (not involving public officials) is
also illegal in many countries. This Policy prohibits all commercial or public sector bribery.

Moody’s employees are prohibited from offering or paying bribes. Moody’s employees are also prohibited from
providing any business courtesy or other thing of value for the purpose of rewarding a person for performing a
function or activity that he or she is otherwise required to perform, or for inducing or rewarding the improper
performance of a function or activity. Whether a function or activity is performed “improperly” is judged by
whether it breaches a reasonable person’s expectation in relation to the performance of that function or activity,
such as the expectation that a person will perform a function or activity impartially and in good faith.
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For purposes of this Policy, outreach to and engagement with public officials (including legislators and regulators)
for the purpose of advancing Moody’s legitimate business interests is not considered improper, provided that such

outreach or engagement complies with this Policy.

If you have questions about this Policy, please refer to the Anti-Bribery Resource Center for contacr information.

PUBLIC OFFICIALS

Although this Policy prohibits both commercial and public sector bribery, payments to or on behalf of, and the
offering of business courtesies to, public officials warrant close scrutiny and must undergo advance review and
approval by Compliance (unless exempted pursuant to the exemptions below). For purposes of this Policy,
“public official” is construed broadly and includes not only elected officials of a government, but also any officer
or employee of a government or any department, agency or “instrumentality” thereof (such as a government-
controlled company or other commercial enterprise) or of a public international organization. “Public official”
also includes any person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of any such government or department,
agency or instrumentality, or for or on behalf of any such public international organization. Examples of public
officials include the following:

»  Head of state

»  Royal family member

»  Ministry or agency official

»  Judge, magistrate or legislator

»  Officer or employee of 2 government-controlled company, including government-controlled financial,
banking, healthcare and transportation institutions and utilities

»  Private person acting officially on behalf of a government department, agency or instrumentality

»  Official of a public international organization (e.g., World Bank, IMF, UN)

» Employee of any government agency

»  Political party, party official, or candidate for public office

»  Employee of a government-sponsored pension or retirement plan
ploy: g p

For purposes of the anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, it is irrelevant whether a person is considered a public
official by the government at issue.

If you have questions whether a particular person is considered to be a public official, or whether a particular
entity is considered to be an “instrumentality,” please refer to the Anti-Bribery Resource Center for the
appropriate contact.
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BUSINESS COURTESIES

Bribery is not limited to the payment of cash with corrupt intent, but also may include the provision of business
courtesies or other things of value, such as gifts, hospitality or entertainment, for an improper purpose. It is never
permissible to pro_vide any business courtesy fora corrupt or improper purpose. In addition, no business courtesy
may be given, directly or indirectly, to a public official except in cases that are approved by Compliance in

advance, as provided below (unless exempted pursuant to the exemptions below).

Business courtesies could include, among other things:

»

»

»

»

»

»

»

Gifts

Promotional items

Travel expenses

Meals, entertainment, recreation and other hospirality

Tickets to sporting, cultural or other events

Charitable donations — whether in cash or various forms of sponsorship (such as dinners or golf tournaments)
Business opportunities

Discounted or free products or services

Internships, secondment or employment for public officials or their family members

Loans

Assistance with medical care

Restrictions on Providing Business Courtesies To Business Contacts That Are Not Public Officials

Employees may provide business courtesies to any business contact only if the following general requirements are

met:

1. The cost of the business courtesies must be reasonable and justifiable under the circumstances;
2. The business courtesies must comply with applicable laws;

3. The business courtesies must not reasonably be interpreted as an attempt to obtain or retain an improper
business advantage, and must not reflect negatively on the reputation of Moody’s or the recipient;

4. The business courtesies must be bona fide and must directly relate to a legitimate business purpose such as:
a. the promotion, demonstration or explanation of Moody’s products and services, or
b. the execution or performance of a contractual obligation; and

5. 'The business courtesics must be supported by receipts and must be properly documented in accordance
with any applicable expense reimbursement and accounting procedures, such as Moody’s Travel &
Entertainment Policy.

ANTI-BRIBERY AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY



Restrictions on Providing Business Courtesies To Public Officials

Employees may provide business courtesies to public officials only if all of the general requirements listed above
are met and under the following additional conditions:

a. The business courtesies must be pre-approved by Compliance (unless exempted pursuant to the
exemptions below);

b. The business courtesies must be given in an open and transparent manner and must not be given to
induce or reward the improper performance of an official function or activity;

c. The business courtesies must not involve the transfer of cash; any business courtesies involving cash
equivalents, such as gift cards or gift certificates, require pre-approval by Compliance; and

d. In the case of an actual gift, such as a holiday gift, the business courtesies must not be extravagant in
value, must be provided only to reflect esteem or gratitude, and must be infrequent (no more than two
times per year).

To obtain Compliance pre-approval, you must complete a Request for Pre-Approyal to Provide Business
Courtesies to Public Officials, found on the Anti-Bribery Resource Center.

Exemptions from Pre-Approval Requirement for Certain Routine, Reasonable Business Courtesies Provided to
Public Officials

From time to time, in the ordinary course of conducting its businesses, Moody’s may provide routine, reasonable
business courtesies to public officials that are exempted from the pre-approval requirement described above,
provided that they are directly related to a legitimate business purpose and otherwise comply with all requirements
set forth in this Policy, including compliance with local laws.

The exemptions are:

a. Meals and refreshments provided to attendees, participants and speakers at Moody’s conferences and
events, provided that the costs of such meals and refreshments are reasonable given the venue;

b. Meals and refreshments provided incidental to meetings with public officials, regardless of venue,
provided that such meals and refreshments are of nominal value (less than or equal to US $50 per
person or the relevant local equivalent);

¢. Moody’s-branded items that are provided at Moody’s events and conferences, provided that such items
are of nominal value (less than US $50 per person or the relevant local equivalent); and

d. Moody’s research, provided that such research has already been published.
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IFYOU HAVE ANY DOUBT ABOUT WHETHER A BUSINESS COURTESY FALLS WITHIN THESE
EXEMPTIONS, CONTACT COMPLIANCE; REFER TO THE ANTI-BRIBERY RESOURCE CENTER FOR THE
APPROPRIATE CONTACT.

COMMON SITUATIONS INVOLVING PUBLIC OFFICIALS
Advisory Boards/Committees

Moody’s invites external parties to sit on a variety of Advisory Boards/Committees. Such an invitation, whether
paid or voluntary, may be deemed to have value to the recipient. Accordingly, before offering such a position to a
public official (or to a known family member or designee of a public official), you must obtain pre-approval.

Fees or payments for participation on such Advisory Boards/Committees may be permissible in exceptional
circumstances. Before offering a public official (or a known family member or designee of a public official) a fee
for participating on an Advisory Board/Committee, you must obtain pre-approval.

To obtain pre-approval, you must complete 2 Request for Pre-Approval to Provide Busingss Courtesies to Public
Officials, found on the Anti-Bribery Resource Center.

Employment; Internships

Employment decisions, including paid or unpaid internships and secondments, must be based on merit and not
made to improperly influence public officials. Accordingly, if a known family member or designee of a public
official is secking employment at Moody’s, including a secondment or internship, you must obtain pre-approval
before proceeding with the recruiting or employment process.

To obtain pre-approval, you must complete a Request for Pre-Approval to Provide Business Courtesies to Public

Officials, found on the Anti-Bribery Resource Center.

Charitable Contributions and Donations

Requests from public officials for donations to specific charities or non-profit organizations, even if well-known,
may be considered bribes if the donation is made to improperly influence any act or decision of thart official. Any
requests for such charitable contributions or donations must be pre-approved.

To obrain pre-approval, you must complete a Request for Pre-Approval to Provide Business Couttesies to Public
Officials, found on the Anti-Bribery Resource Center.

Conference and Event Sponsorships; Delegation Trips

Conference and Event Sponsorships and any associated payments may be considered bribes if made to improperly
influence any act or decision of a public official. Requests by public officials for Moady’s to sponsor conferences
or other events must be pre-approved.

O S
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Complimentary admissions and discounted registration fees for public officials to attend Moody’s-sponsored
conferences and events must be pre-approved. To obtain pre-approval, you must complete a Request for Pre-
Approval to Provide Business Couttesies to Public Officials, found on the Anti-Bribery Resource Center.

Where public officials are invited as speakers at Moody’s-sponsored conferences and events, paying for such public
official’s travel, meals and lodging must be pre-approved. To obtain pre-approval, you must complete a Request

for Pre-Approval to Provide Business Courtesics to Public Officials, found on the Anti-Bribery Resource Center.

Where a delegation of public officials is invited to visit Moody’s offices, this Policy generally prohibits the
payment by Moody’s of such public officials’ travel, meals and lodging expenses. In exceptional cases, Moody’s
may approve such expenses and business courtesies, but pre-approval is required. To obtain pre-approval, you

must complete a Request for Pre-Approval to Provide Business Courtesies to Public Officials, found on the Anti-
Bribery Resource Center.

Family Members

Providing business courtesies to the family members of a public official is generally prohibited. In exceptional
cases, Moody’s may approve such business courtesies, but pre-approval is required. To obtain pre-approval, you
must complete a Request for Pre-Approval to Provide Business Courtesies to Public Officials, found on the Anti-
Bribery Resource Center.

FACILITATION PAYMENTS

The UKBA prohibits “facilitation payments,” which are commonly defined as payments to governmental officials
for routine governmental action to which the individual or company is legally entitled, such as processing papers,
issuing visas and providing phone service. In other words, the official is ordinarily and commonly required to
perform the duty but requires a relatively small “additional” payment to carry out that duty.

Facilitation Payments are prohibited under this Policy as a general matter. However, such payments may be made
only in exceptional circumstances when, for, example, an employee is placed under duress and faces potential
safety issues or personal harm. Under such circumstances you must report the payment to the Legal Department
immediately and provide a description of the circumstances under which the payment was made. Such payments
must be accurately described and recorded in Moody’s books and records.

THIRD PARTY INTERMEDIARIES

Moody’s must not make payments through third parties that, if made by Moody’s itself, would violate this Policy
or any applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws. Accordingly, before entering into or renewing contracts

with agents, consultants and other third party intermediaries who represent Moody’s in customer or governmental

matters, you must follow Moody’s Covered Third Parcy Anti-Corruption Due Diligence and Contracting

Procedures.
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Global anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws cover a broad range of conduct. If you encounter a situation in

which you are unsure about the appropriate course of action, or a situation not addressed in this Policy or the
Moody’s Code of Business Conduct, please refer to the Anti-Bribery Resource Center for the appropriate contact.
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COUNTY OF NASSAU
CONSULTANT'S, CONTRACTOR'S AND VENDOR'S DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name of the Entity: Moody's Analytics, Inc.

Address: 7 World Trade Center at 250 Greenwich Street

City:  New York State: NY Zip Code: 10007

2. Entity's Vendor Identiﬁbation Number: 13-3851829

3. Type of Business: _Public Corp {(specify)

4. List names and addresses of all principals; that is, all individuals serving on the Board of Directors or comparable
body, all partners and limited partners, all corporate officers, all parties of Joint Ventures, and all members and
officers of limited liability companies (attach additional sheets if necessary):

See attached file(s):
YES | |NO | X |

5. List names and addresses of all shareholders, members, or pariners of the firm. If the shareholder is not an
individual, list the individual shareholders/partners/members. If a Publicly held Corporation, include a copy of the
10K in lieu of completing this section.

If none, explain.

I l

6. List all affiliated and related companies and their relationship to the firm entered on line 1. above (if none, enter
“None"). Attach a separate disclosure form for each affiliated or subsidiary company that may take part in the
performance of this contract. Such disclosure shall be updated to include affiliated or subsidiary companies not
previously disclosed that participate in the performance of the contract.

[ None

7. List all lobbyisis whose services were utilized at any stage in this matter (i.e., pre-bid, bid, post-bid, etc.). If none, ente
"None." The term "lobhyist" means any and every person or organization retained, employed or designated by any client
to influence - or promote a matter before - Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads,
legislators or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee and Planning
Commission. Such matters include, but are not limited to, requests for proposals, development or improvement of real
property subject to County regulation, procurements. The term "lobbyist" does not include any officer, director, trustee,
employee, counsel or agent of the County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

Are there lobbyists involved in this matter?
YES | |NO | X |

(a) Name, title, business address and telephone number of lobbyist(s):

{h) Describe lobbying activity of each lobbyist. See below for a complete description of [obbying activities.

(c) List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau County, New
| York State):

8. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or Vendor authorized as a
signatory of the firm for the purpose of executing Contracts.
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The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they are, to
his/her knowledge, true and accurate.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Michael McDermott [MICHAEL.MCDERMOTT@MOODYS.COM]

Dated: 07/03/2019 11:29:30 AM

Title: Director
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The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County
Legislature, or any member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local
legislation or resolution; any determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove any
local legislation or resolution, whether or not such iegislation has been intfroduced in the County Legislature; any
determination by an elected County official or an officer or employee of the County with respect to the procurement of
goods, services or construction, including the preparation of contract specifications, including by not limited to the
preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or administration of a contract or with respect to the
solicitation, award or administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving the disbursement of public monies; any
determination made by the County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies, boards,
commissions, department heads or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory
Committee, the Planning Commission, with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real property
subject to County regulation, or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to
requests for proposals, bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an
elected county official or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition
by the county of any interest in real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the
county, or with respect to a franchise, concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or
rejection by an agency of any rule having the force and effect of iaw; the decision to hold, timing or outcome of any
rate making proceeding before an agency; the agenda or any determination of a board or commission; any
determination regarding the calendaring or scope of any legislature oversight hearing; the issuance, repeal,
modification or substance of a County Executive Order; or any determination made by an elected county official or an
officer or employee of the county to support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or regulation, including any
determination made to support or oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation, rule or regulation,
whether or not such legislation has been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or regulation has been
formally proposed.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

The following terms, abbreviations and acronyms are used to identify frequently used terms in this report:

TERM

DEFINITION

Acquisition-Related
Amortization

Acquisition-Related
Expenses

Adjusted Diluted EPS
Adjusted Net Income

Adjusted Operating
Income

Adjusted Operating
Margin

Al
Ameticas
AOC|

AR

ASC

ASC 805
Asia-Pacific

ASR
ASU

Basel 111

Board
BPS

Bureau van Dijk

CCAR

CCXI

4 MOODY'S 2018 10-K

Amortization of definite-ived intangible assets acguired by the Company from all business combination transactions

Consists of expenses incurred {o complete and integrate the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk for which the integration will be a
multi-year effort

Diluted EPS excluding the impact of certain items as detailed in the section entitled."Non-GAAP Financial Measures”
MNet Income excluding the impact of certain items as detailed in the section entitled "Non-GAAP Financial Measuras”

Operating income excluding depreciation and amortization
Adjusted Operating Income divided by revenue

Avrtificial Intelligence

Represents countries within North and South America, excluding the U.S.

Accumuilated other comprehensive income (loss); a separate component of shareholders’ equity (deficif)
Accotnts recelvable

The FASB Accounting Standards Codification; the sole source of authoritative GAAP as of July 1, 2009 except for rules and
interpretive releases of the SEC, which are also sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants

The U.S. GAAP authoritative guidance for revenue accounting prior to the adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (ASC Topic 608).

Represents Australia and countries in Asia including but not limited to: China, India, Indonesia, Japan, Korea, Malaysia,
Singapore, Sri Lanka and Thailand

Accelerated Share Repurchase

The FASB Accounting Standards Update to the ASC. It also provides background information for accounting guidance and
the bases for conclusions on the changes in the ASC. ASUs are not considered authoritative until codified into the ASC

A global regulatory standard on bank capital adequacy and liquidity agreed by the members of the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervisicn. Basel Ill was developed in a response to the deficiencies in financial regulation revealed by the global
financial crisis. Basel |ll strengthens bank capital requirements and introduces new regulatory requirements on bank liquidity
and bank leverage

The board of directors of the Company
Basis pcints

Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing, B.V.; a global provider of business intelligence and company information; acquired by
the Company on August 10, 2017 via the acquisiticn of Yellow Maple | B.V., an indirect parent of Bureau van Dijk.

Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review; annual review by the Federal Reserve in the U.S. to ensure that financlal
institutions have sufficient capital in times of econemic and financial stress and that they have robust, ferward-looking capital-
planning processes that account for their unigue risks.

China Cheng Xin [nternational Credit Rating Co. Ltd.; China's first and largest domestic credit rating agency approved by the
People's Bank of China; the Company acquired a 49% interest in 2006; currently Moody’s owns 30% of CCXI.
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CCXI Gain In the first quarter of 2017 CCXI, as part of a strategic business reafignment, issued additional capital to its majority
shareholder in exchange for a ratings business wholly-owned by the majority shareholder and which has the right to rate a
different class of debt instrument in the Chinese market. The capital issuance by CCXI in exchange for this ratings business
diluted Moody's ownership interest in CCXI to 30% of a larger business and resulted in a $59.7 million non-cash, non-taxable

gain.
CFG Corporate finance greup; an LOB of MIS
CLO Collateralized loan obligation
CwMBS Commercial mortgage-backed securities; part of the CREF asset class within SFG
Commission European Commission
Common Sfock The Company’s commen stock
Company Moody’s Carporation and its subsidiaries; MCO; Mocdy's
Content A reporting unit within the MA segment that offers subscription based research, data and analytical products, including credit

ratings produced by MIS, credit research, quantitative credit scores and other analytical tools, economic research and
forecasts, business intelligence and company information products, and commercial real estate data and analytical tools

Coungil Council of the European Union

CP Commercial Paper

CP Notes Unsecured commercial paper issued under the CP Program

CP Program A program entered into on August 3, 2016 allowing the Company to privately place CP up to a maximum of $1 billion for
which the maturity may not exceed 397 days from the date of issue and which Is backstopped by the 2018 Faciliiy.

CRAs Credit rating agencies

CREF ggneqmercial real estate finance which includes REITs, commercial real estate CDOs and mortgage-backed securities; part of

[DE&A Depreciation and amartization

D&B Dun & Bradstraet

DBPPs Defined benefit pensicn plans

EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

EMEA Represents countries within Europe, the Middle East and Africa

EPS Earnings per share

ERS Enterprise Risk Solutions; an LOB within MA, which offers risk management software solutions as well as related risk
managemeant advisory engagements services

ESA Econemics and Structured Analytics; part of the RD&A line of business within MA

ESG Environmental, Social and Gavernance

ESMA European Securities and Markets Authority

ETR Effective tax rate

EU European Union

EUR Euros

EURIBOR The Euro Interbank Offered Rate

Eurozone Monetary union of the EU member states which have adopted the euro as their commeon currency

Excess Tax Benefits The difference between the tax benefit realized at exercise of an option or delivery of a restricted share and the fax benefit

recorded at the time the option or restricted share is expensed under GAAP

MOCDY'S 2018 10-K 8
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Exchange Act The Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
External Revenue Revenue excluding any intersegment amounts
FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board

FIG Financial institutions group; an LOB of MIS

Financial Reform Act
Free Cash Flow
FSTC

FTSE

FX

GAAP

GBP

ICRA

ICRA Gain

ICR Chile
1ASB

IFRS

IRS

IT

KIS

KIS Pricing

K15 Research
Korea
Legacy Tax Matters

LIBOR
LOB
M&A
MA

Make Whole Amount

6 MOODY'S 2018410-K

Dodd-Frank Wall Sireet Reform and Consumer Protection Act

Net cash provided by operating activities less cash paid for capital additions
Financial Sarvices Trainiﬁg and Certifications; now referred to as MALS
Financial Times Stock Exchange

Foreign exchange

U.8. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

British pounds

ICRA Limited; a leading provider of credit ratings and research in India. The Company previously held 28,5% equity
ownership and in June 2014, increased that ownership stake to just over 50% through the acquisition of additional shares

Gain relating to the ICRA Acquisition; U.S. GAAP requires the remeasurement to fair value of the previously held
nan-controlling shares upon: obtaining a contrelling interest in a step-acquisition. This remeasurement of the Company’s
equity investment in ICRA to fair value resulted in a pre-tax gain of $102.8 million ($78.5 million after tax) in the secand
quarter of 2014

Aleading provider of domestic cradit ratings in Chile
Internaticnal Accounting Standards Board
Internaticnal Financial Reperting Standards

Internal Revenue Service

Informaiion technology

Korea Investors Service, Inc.; a leading Korean rating agency and consclidated subsidiary of the Company

Korea Investors Service Pricing, Inc,; a leading Korean provider of fixed income securities pricing and consolidated subsidiary

of the Company
Korea Investors Service Research; a Korean provider of financial research and consolidated subsidiary of the Company
Republic of Socuth Korea

Exposures to certain potential tax liabilities assumed in connection with the Company's spin-off from Dun & Bradstreet in
2000

London Interbank Offered Rate
Line of business
Mergers and acquisitions

Maody's Analytics—a reportable segment of MCO; provides a wide range of products and services that support financial
analysis and risk management activities of institutional participants in global financial markets; consists of three LOBs—
RD&A, ERS and PS8

The prepayment penalty amount relating to the Series 2007-1 Nates, 2010 Senior Notes, 2012 Senior Notes, 2013 Senior

MNotes, 2014 Senicr Notes (5-year), 2014 Senior Notes (30-year), 2015 Senior Notes, 2017 Senior Notes and 2018 Senior

Notes, which is a premium based on the excess, if any, of the discounted value of the remaining scheduled payments over
the prepaid principail



Table of Contents

TERM DEFINITION

MAKS Moody's Analytics Knowledge Services; formerly known as Copal Amba; provides offshore research and analytic services to
the global financial and corporate sectors; part of the PS LOB and a reporting unit within the MA reportable segment

MALS Moaody's Analytics Learning Solutions; a reporting unit within the MA segment that includes on-line and classroom-based
training services as well as credentialing and certification services; formerly known as FSTC

MCO Moody's; Mocdy’s Corporation and its subsidiaries; the Company

MD&A Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

MIS Moody's Investors Service—a reportable segment of MCQ;, consists of five LOBs—SFG, CFG, FIG, PPIF and MIS Other

MIS Other Consists of non-ratings revenue from ICRA, KIS Pricing and KIS Research. These businesses are components of MIS; MIS
Other is an LOB of MIS

Moody's Moody's Corporaticn and its subsidiaries; MCO; the Company

Net Income Net income attributable to Moody's Corporation, which excludes net income from consolidated noncontrolling interests
belonging to the minority interest holder

New D&B The New D&B Corperation—comprises the D&B business after September 30, 2000

New Revenue Accounting Updates to the ASC pursuant to ASU No, 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC Topic 606)". This new

Standard accounting guidance significantly changes the accounting framework under U.S. GAAP relating to revenue recognition and to
the acceunting for the deferral of incremental costs of obtaining or fulfilling a contract with a customer

N/A Not applicable

NM Percentage change is not meaningful

Non-GAAP A financial measure not in accordance with GAAP; these measures, when read in conjunction with the Company’s reported
results, can provide useful supplemental information for investors analyzing period-to-period comparisons of the Company's
performance, facilitate comparisons to competitors’ operating results and to provide greater transparency to investors of
supplemental information used by management in its financlal and operational decision making

NRSRO Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization, which is a credit rating agency registered with the SEC,

oClI Other comprehensive income (foss); includes gains and losses on cash flow and net investment hedges, unrealized gains and

Omega Performance
Opaerating segment

Other Retirement Plans
PCS8

FPIF

Profit Participation Plan
PS

Purchase Price Hedge

losses on avaitable for sale securities (in periods prior to January 1, 2018}, certain gains and Josses relating to pension and
other retirement benefit cbligations and foreign currency transtation adjustments

A leading provider of online cradit training, acguired by the Company in August 2018

Term defined in the ASC relating to segment reporting; the ASC defines an operating segment as a component of a business
entity that has each of the three following characteristics: i) the component engages in business activities from which it may
recognizs revenue and incur expenses; ii) the aperating results of the component are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief
operating decision maker; and iii} discrate financial infermation about the component is available.

The U.8. retirement healthcare and U.S. retirement life insurance plans

Post-Contract Customer Support

Public, project and infrastructure finance; an LOB of MIS

Defined contribution profit participation plan that covers substantially all U.S. employees of the Company

Professional Services, an LOB within MA censisting of MAKS and MALS that provides offshore analytical and research
services as well as learning selutions and certification programs

Foreign currency collars and forward contracts entered inte by the Company te economically hedge the Bursau van Dijk eurc
denominated purchase price
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DEFINITION

Purchase Price Hedge
Gain

RD&A

Reform Act

REIT-

Reis, Inc. (Reis)
Relationship Revenue

Reporting unit

SaaS
SCDM

SEC
Securities Act
Series 2007-1 Notes

Settlement Charge

SFG
SG&A
SSP
T&M
Tax Act

Total Debt
Transaction Revenue

UK
U.8.
ush
UTPs
VSOE
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Gain on foreign currency collars and ferward contracts to economically hedge the Bureau van Dijk euro denominated
purchase price

Research, Data and Analytics; an LOB within MA, that offers subscription based research, data and analytical products,
including credit ratings produced by MIS, credit research, quantitative credit scores and other analytical tools, economic
research and forecasts, business intelligence and company information products, and commercial real estate data and

analytical tools

Credit Rating Agency Reform Act of 2006
Real Estate Investment Trust
Aleading provider of U.S. commercial real estate (CRE) data; acquired by the Company in October 2018.

For MIS, represents recurring menitoring fees of a rated debt obligation andfor entities that issue such obligaticns, as well as
revenue from programs such as commercial paper, medium-term notes and shelf registrations. For MIS Other represents
subscription-based revenue. For MA, represents subscription-based revenue and software maintenance revenue

The level at which Moody's evaluates its goodwill for impairment under U.S. GAAP; defined as an operating segment or one
level below an operating segment

Software-as-a-Service

SCDM Financial, a leading provider of analytical tocls for participants in securitization markets. Moody's acquired SCDM's
structured finance data and analytics buainess in February 2017

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
Securities Act of 1933, as amended

Principal amount of $30C million, 6.06% seniar unsecured notes due in September 2017 pursuant to the 2007 Agreement;
prepaid in March 2017

Charge of $863.8 million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2016 related to an agreement entered into on January 13, 2017 with
the U.5. Department of Justice and the attorneys general of 21 U.S. states and the District of Columbia to resolve pending
and potential civil claims related to credit ratings that MIS assigned to certain structured finance instruments in the financial
crisis era

Struetured finance group; an LOB of MIS
Selling, general and adminﬁstrative expenses
Standalone selling price

Time-and-Material

The “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act’ enacted into U.S. law on December 22, 2017, which significantly amends the tax code in the
u.s.

All indebtedness of the Company as reflected on the congolidated balance sheets

For MiS, represents the initial rating of a new debt issuance as well as other one-time fees. For MIS Other, represents
revenue from professional services as well as data services, research and analytical engagements. For MA, reprasents
perpetual software license fees and revenue from software implementation services, risk management advisory projects,
training and certification services, and research and analytical engagements

United Kingdom
United States

U.8. dollar

Uncertain tax positions

Vendor gpecific objective evidence; as defined in the ASC, evidence of selling price limited to either of the following: the price
charged for a deliverable when it is scid separately, or for a deliverable not yet being sold separately, the price established by
management having the relevant authority
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WACC Weighted Average Cost of Capital
2007 Agreement Note purchase agreement dated September 7, 2007, relating to the Series 2007-1 Notes
2010 Indenture Supplemental indenture and related agreements dated August 19, 2010, relating to the 2010 Senior Notes
2010 Senior Notes Principal amount of $500 million, 6.50% senior unsecured notes due in September 2020 pursuant to the 2010 Indenture

2012 Indenture
2012 Senior Notes
2013 Indenture '
2013 Senior Netes
2014 Indenture

2014 Senior Notes
(5-Year)

2014 Senior Notes
(30-Year)

2015 Facility

2015 Indenture
2015 Senior Notes

2017 Bridge Credit
Facility

2017 Floating Rate
Seniar Notes

2017 Indenture

2017 Senior Notes Due
2023

2017 Senior Notes Due
2028

2017 Senior Notes Due
2021

2017 Term Loan
2018 Facility

2018 Senior Notes

2018 Senior Notes
(10-year)

2018 Senior Notes
(30-year)

TWTC

Supplemental indenture and related agreements dated August 18, 2012, relating to the 2012 Senior Notes

Principal amount of $500 million, 4.50% senior unsecurad notes due in Septernber 2022 pursuant to the 2012 Indenture
Supplemental indenture and related agreements dated August 12, .2013, relating to the 2013 Senior Notes

Principal amount of the $500 million, 4.875% senior unsecured notes due in February 2024 pursuant to the 2013 Indenture
Supplemental indenture and related agreements dated July 16, 2014, relating to the 2014 Senior Notes

Principal amount of $450 million, 2,75% senior unsecured notes due in July 2019

Principal amount of $80C million, 5.25% senior unsecured notes due in July 2044

Five-year unsecured revolving credit facility, with capacity to borrow up to $1 billion; backstops CP issued under the CP
Program

Supplemental indenture and related agreements dated March @, 2015, relating to the 2015 Senior Notes
Principal amaunt of € 500 million, 1.75% seniar unsecured notes issued March 9, 2015; repaid in 2018

Bridge Credit Agreement entered Into in May 2017 pursuant to the definitive agreement to acquire Bureau van Dijk; this
facliity was terminated in June 2017 upoen issuance of the 2017 Private Placement Notes Due 2023 and 2028

Principal amount of $300 million, floating rate senior unsecured notes due in September 2018

Collectively the Supplemental indenture and related agreements dated March 2, 2017, relating to the 2017 Floating Rate
Senior Notes and 2017 Notes Due 2023 and 2028, and the supplemental indenture and related agreements dated June 12,
2017, relating to the 2017 Notes Due 2023 and 2028

Principal amount of $500 millicn, 2.625% senior unsecured notes due January 15, 2023

Principal amount of $500 million, 3.25% senior unsecured notes due January 15, 2028

Principal amount of $500 million, 2.75% senicr unsecured notes due in December 2021

$500 millicn, three-year term loan facility entered into on June 6, 2017 for which the Company drew down $500 million on

August 8, 2017 to fund the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk; amounts under the 2017 Term Loan were repaid in 2018

Five-year unsecurad revalving credit facility, with capacity to borrow up to $1 billion; replaced the 2015 Facility; backstops CP
issued under the CP Program

Principal amount of $300 million, 3.25% senior unsecurad notes due June 7, 2021
Principal amount of $4C0 million, 4.25% senior unsecured notes due February 1, 2029

Principal amount of $400 million, 4.875% senior unsecured notes due December 17, 2048

The Company's corperate headquarters located at 7 World Trade Center in New York, NY
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PARTI

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

BACKGROUND

As used in this report, except where the context indicates otherwise, the terms “Moody's” or the “Company” refer to Moody's Carporation, a Delaware
corporation, and its subsidiaries. The Company's executive offices are located at 7 World Trade Center at 250 Greenwich Street, New York, NY 10007
and its telephone number is (212) 553-0300.

THE COMPANY

Moody's Is a provider of (i) credit ratings; (if) credit, capital markets and economic research, data and analytical tools; jii) software solutions that suppart
financial risk management activities; (iv) quantitatively derived credit scores; (v) lzaming solutions and certification services; (vi) offshore financial
research and analytical services; and (vii} company information and business intelligence products. Moody's reports In two repartable segments: MIS and
MA. Financial information and operating results of these segments, including revenue, expenses and operating income, are included in Part I, ltem 8.
Financial Statements of this annual report, and are herein incorporated by reference.

MIS publishes credit ratings on a wide range of debt obligations and the entities that issue such obligations in markets worldwide, including various
corporate and governmental obligations, structured finance securities and commercial paper programs. Ratings revenue is derived from the originators
and issuers of sueh transactions who use MIS ratings to support the distribution of their debt issues to investors. MIS provides ratings in more than 130
countries. Ratings are disseminated via press releases to the public through a variety of print and electronic media, including the internet and real-time
infarmation systems widely used by securities traders and investars. As of December 31, 2018, MIS had the following ratings relationships:

» Approximately 4,800 rated non-financial corporate issuers;

» Approximately 4,100 rated financial institutions issuers:

» Approximately 17,600 rated public finance issuers {including sovereign, sub-sovereign and supranational issuers);
» Approximately 9,600 rated structured finance ransactions; and

» Approximately 1,000 rated infrastructure and project finance issuers.

Additionally, MIS earns revenue from certain non-ratings-related operaticns, which primarily consist of financial instruments pricing services in the Asia-
Pacific region as well as revenue from [CRA non-rating operations. The revenue from these operations is included in the MIS Other LOB and is not
material to the results of the MIS segment.

The MA segment develops a wide range of products and services that support financial analysis and risk management activities of institutional
participants in global financial markats. Within its RD&A business, MA offers subscription based research, data and analytical preducts, including credit
ratings produced by MIS, credit research, quantitative credit scores and other analytical tacls, economic research and forecasts, business intelligence
and company information products, and commarcial real estate data and analytical tools. Within its ERS business, MA provides software solutions as well
as related risk management services. The PS business provides offshore analytical and research services along with learning solutions and certification
programs. MA customers represent more than 11,100 institutions worldwide operating in over 150 countries. During 2018, Moody’s research website was
accessed by over 281,000 individuals including 38,000 customer users.

PROSPECTS FOR GROWTH

Over recent decades, global fixed-income markets have grown significantly both in terms of the amount and types of securities or other obligations
culstanding. Beginning in mid-2007, there was a severe market disruption and associated financial crisis both in the devel-

10 MQODY'S 2018 10-K



Table of Contents

oped and emerging markets resulfing in a global decline in debt issuance activity for some significant asset classes and weak economic performance in
advanced economies. Since this financial crisis, many markets and economias have recovered and Moody's believes the overall long-term outlook
remains faverable for cortinued growth of the global fixed-income market and related financial information market, which includes information such as
credit opinions, research, data, analytics, risk management teols and related services.

Moody’s growth is influenced by a number of trends that impact financial information markets including:
» Health of the world's major economies;

» Debt capital markets activity;

» Disintermediation of credit markets;

» Fiscal and monetary policy of governments; and

» Business investment spending, including mergers and acquisitions,

In an environment of increasing financial complexity and heightened attention to credit analysis and risk management, Moody’s is well positioned to
benefit fram continued growth in global fixed-income mariket activity and a maore widespread use of credit ratings, research and related analytical
products. Moody’s expects that these developments will support continued long-term demand for high quality, independent credit opinions, research,
data, analytics, risk management tools and related services.

Strong secular trends should centinue to provide long-term growth opportunities. For MIS, key growth drivers include debt market issuance driven by
global GDP growth, continued disintermediation of fixed-income markets in both developed and emerging economies driving issuance and demand for
new ratings products and services. Growth in MA is likely to be driven by deeper and broader penetration of the customer base as data demands,
regulatory compliance and other analytical requirements drive demand for MA’s products and expertise. Moreover, pricing opportunities aligned with
customer value creation and advances in information technology present growth opportunities for Moody's.

Growth in global fixed income markets in a given year is dependent cn many macroeconomic and capital market factors including interest rates, business
investment spending, corporate refinancing needs, merger and acquisition activity, issuer profits, cansumer borrowing levels and securitization activity.
Rating fees paid by debt issuers account for most of the revenue of MIS. Therefore, a substantial portion of MIS’s revenue is dependent upon the dollar-
equivalent volume and number of ratable debt securities issued in the global capital markets. MIS's resulfs can be affected by factors such as the
performance and prospects for growth of the major world economies, the fiscal and monetary policies pursued by their governments, and the decisions of
issuers to request MIS ratings to aid investors in their investment decisions. However, annual fee arrangements with frequent debt issuers, annual debt
monitoring fees and annual fees from commercial paper and medium-term note programs, bank deposit ratings, insurance company financial strength
ratings, mutual fund ratings, and cther areas partially mitigate MIS’s dependence on the volume or number of new debt securities issued in the global
fixed-income markets, Furthermore, the strong growth seen in the issuance of structured finance securities from the mid-1990’s reversed dramatically in
2008 due to market turmoil, with continued declines seen in 2009 and 201G, before stabilizing in 2011 with Moody's experiencing revenue growth in this
market beginning in 2012. Despite significant declines from peak market issuance levels, Moody's believes that structured finance securities will continue
to play a role in global fixed-income markets and provide opporiunities for long-term revenue growth,

The pace of change in technology and communicaticn over the past twe decades makes information about investment altematives widely available
throughout the werld and facilitates issuers’ ahility to place securities outside their national markets and similarly investors' ability to obtain infermation
about securities issued outside their national markets. Technolegy also allows issuers and investors the ability to more readily obtain information abeout
new financing techniques and new types of securities that they may wish ta purchase or sell, which in the absence of the appropriate technology might
not be readily or easily obtainable. This availability of information promotes the ongoing integration and expanston of financial markets worldwide, giving
issuers and investors access to a wider range of both established and newer capital markets. As technology provides broader access to worldwide
markets, it also results in a greater need for credible, globally comparakle opinions about credit risk, data, analytics and related services. Additionaily,
information technology also provides opportunities to further build a global platform to support Moody's continued expansion in developing markets.

An ongaing trend in the world’s capital markets is the disintermediation of financial systems. Issuers increasingly raise capital in the global public capital
markets, in addition to, or in substitution for, traditional financiat intermediaries. Moreover, financial intermediaries have sold assets in the global public
capital markets, in addition to, or instead of, retaining those assets. Moody's believes that issuer use of global debt capital markets offer advantages in
capacity and efficiency compared to traditional banking systems and that the trend of increased disintermediation will continue. Further, disintermediation
has continued because of the historically low interest rate envirenment and bank deleveraging, which has encouraged a number of corporations and
other entities to seek alternative funding in the bond markels.
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Moody's also observes disintermediation in key emerging markets where ecencmic growth may outpace internal banking system capacity. Thus,
disintermediation is expected to continue over the longer-term, with Moody’s targeting investment and resources to those markets where
disintermediation and bond issuance is expected to remain robust.

In the aftermath of the global financial crisis, banking, insurance and capital markets authorities promulgated a wide range of new regulations to restore
stability and confidence in financial institutions under their oversight. Programs such as Basel Ill, Sclvency 11, and CCAR -~ among many othars —
prompted banks, insurers, securities dealers, and asset managers to invest in mora robust risk management practices and systems. Many of these
investments drew on expertise and tools offered by MA, resulling in strong revenue growth in the post-crisis period. As banking and capital markets
continue to stabilize, and with financial institutions better capitalized, regulatory-driven demand for MA products has moderated. Nonetheless, we axpect
that MA products and services that enable compliance with financial regulation and accounting standards will continue to be adopted by institutions
worldwide, prompted by periodic revisions to regulatory frameworks such as the Basel capital adequacy protocols. Moreover, having respendad to
regulatory imperatives, financial institutions are increasingly seeking to leverage investments in regulatory compliance systems to gain business insights
and front-office efficiencies; MA is well positioned to realize revenue growth by assisting in these efforts to apply back-office analytics in support of front-
lin¢ business decisions. Finally, in order to respond io other sources of demand and drive growth, MA is actively investing in new products, including
enhanced data sets and improved delivery methods (2.9., software-as-a-service). These efforts should support broader distribution of MA’s capabilities,
deepen relationships with existing customers and facilitate more new customer acquisition.

Legislative bodies and regulators in the U.S., Rurope and other jurisdictions continue to conduct regulatory reviews of CRAs, which may result in, for
example, an increased number of competitors, changes to the business model or restrictions on certain business activities of MIS, removal of references
to ratings In cettain regulations, or increased costs of doing business for MIS, At present, Moody's is unable to assess the nature and effect that any
regulatory changes may have on future growth opportunities.

Moody's operations are subject to various risks, as more fully described in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors,” inherent in conducting business on a global
basis. Such risks include currency fluctuations and possible nationalization, expropriation, exchange and price controls, changes in the availability of data
from public sector sourcas, limits on providing information across berders and other restrictive governmental actions,

COMPETITION

MIS competes with other CRAs and with investment banks and brokerage firms that offer credit opinions and research. Many users of MIS's ralings also
have in-house credit research capabilities. MIS's largest competitor in the global credit rating business is S&P Global Ratings (S&P), a division of S&P
Global. There are some rating markets, based cn industry, geography and/or instrument type, in which Moody’s has made investments and obtained
markef positions superior to S&P, while in other markets, the reverse is true,

In addition to S&P, MIS’s competiters in the U.S. include Fitch Ratings, Dominion Bond Rating Service (DBRS), AM. Best Company, Kroll Bond Rating

Agency Inc,, and Morningstar Inc. In Europe, there are approximately 45 companies currently registered with ESMA, which include both purely domestic
European CRAs and Internaticnal CRAs such as S&P, Fitch and DBRS. There are additional competitors in other regions and countries, some of which
are global entities and compete across regions and asset classes, while others focus on particular asset classes and regions,

MA competes broadly in the financial information industry against diversified competitors such as Refinitiv, Bloomberg, S&P Global Market Intelligence,
Fitch Solutions, D&B, IBM, Wolters Kluwer, Fidelity National Information Senvices, SAS, Fiserv, MSCI and [HS Markit among others. MA’s main
competitors within RD&A include S&P Global Market Intelligence, CreditSights, Refinitiv, Intex, IHS Markit, BlackRock Solutions, FactSet and other
providers of fixed income analytics, valuations, economic data and research, In ERS, MA faces competition from both large sofiware providers such as
IBM Algorithmics, Fidelity National Information Services, SAS, Oracle, Misys, Oliver Wyman, Verisk Analytics and various other vendors and in-house
solutions. Within Professional Services, MA competes with a host of financial training and education firms and providers of offshore research and
analytical services such as Evalueserve and CRISIL Global Research & Analytics.

MOODY’'S STRATEGY

Moody's corporate mission is to be the world’s most respected authority serving financial risk-sensitive markats. The key aspects to implement this
sfrategy are to:

» Defend and enhance the core ratings and research business of MIS;
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» Build MA's position as a leading provider of data, analytics and risk management selutions to financial institutions, corperations, and governmental
authorities; and

» Invest in strategic growth opportunities.

Meody's will make invesiments to defend and enhance its core businessas in an aitempt to position the Cempany to fully capture market opportunities
resulting from global debt capital market expansion and increased business investment spending. Moody's will also make strategic investments to
achleve scale in atiractive financial information markeis, move into attractive product and service adjacencies where the Company can leverage its brand,
extend its thought leadership and expand its geographic presence in high growth emerging markets.

To broaden the Company’s potential, MA provides a wide range of products and services to enable financial institutions, corporations and govermental
authorities to better manage risk. As such, MA adds to the Company’s value proposition in three ways. First, MA’s subscription businesses provide a
significant base of recurring revenue to offset cyclicality in ratings issuance volumes that may result in volatility in MIS's revenues, Second, MA products
and servicas, such as financial training and professional services on research and risk management best practices, provide opportunities for entry into
emerging markets before banking systems and debt capital markets fully develop and thus present long-term growth opportunities for the ratings
business. Finally, MA’s integrated risk management software platform embeds Moody's solutions deep into the technology infrastructure of banks and
insurance companies warldwide.

Moody's invests in initiatives to implement the Company's strategy, including intemnally led organic development and targeted acquisitions. Example
initiatives include:

» Enhancements to ratings quality and product exlensions;
» Investments that extend ownership and participation in joint ventures and strategic alliances;

» New products, services, content (e.g., non-credit risk assessments such as ESG and cybersecurity risk), and technology capabilities to meet customer
demands;

» Selective bolt-on acquisitions that accelerate the ability to scale and grow Moedy's businesses; and

» Expansion in emerging markets.

During 2018, Moody's continued to invest in and acquire complementary businesses in MIS and MA. In May 2018, Moody's acquired a minority stake in
QuantCube Technology, an innovative provider of real-time, Al-based pradictive analytics for corporate customers, financial institutions and investment
managers, The investmant complements a series of initiatives across the company to harness innovative and emerging technologies. In August 2018,
Moody's acquired Omega Performance, a leading provider of online credit training. The acquisition adds to MA's suite of industry-leading learning
sofutions and reinforces MA as a market standard in credit preficiency for financial institutions worldwide. [n October 2018, Moody's invested in Team8
Partners 11, L.P., the second vehicle raised by Team8, a leading think tank and company creation piatform specializing in cybersecurity and data
resilience. The investment builds on Moody's investments and initiatives in cybersecurity and emerging technolegies. Alsc in October 2018, Moody's
completed the acquisition of Reis, Inc., a leading provider of U.S. cemmercial real estate (CRE) data, The acqulsition further expands MA's network of
data and analytics providers in the CRE space, Including investments in start-ups that apply innovative approaches and new technologies to source data
and deliver tools to the market. In November 2018, Moody's announced it had enterad an agreement to acquire a minority stake in ICR Chile, a ieading
provider of domestic credit ratings in Chile. The transaction adds to Moocdy's growing presence across Latin America.

REGULATION

MIS and many of the securities that it rates are subject to extensive regulation in both the U.S. and in other countries {including by state and local
authorities). Thus, existing and proposed laws and regulations can impact the Company's operations and the markets for securities that it rates.
Additional laws and regulations have been adopted but not yet implemented or have been proposed or are being considered, Each of the existing,
adopted, proposed and potential laws and regulations can increase the costs and legal risk associated with the issuance of credit ratings and may
negatively impact Moody's operations or profitability, the Company’s ability tc compete, or result in changes in the demand for credit ratings, in the
manner in which ratings are utilized and in the manner in which Moody’s operates.

The regulatory landscape has changed rapidly in recent years, and centinues to evolve. In the EU, the CRA industry is registered and supervised through
a pan-Eurepean regulatory framewocrk, The European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA} has direct supervisory responsibility for the registered
CRA industry throughout the EU. MIS is a registered entity and is subject to formal regulation and periodic inspection. Applicable rules include procedural
requirements with respect to ratings of sovereign issuers, liability for intenticnal
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or grossly negligent failure to abide by applicable regulations, mandatory rotation requirements of CRAs hired by issuers of securities for ratings of
resecuritizations, resfrictions on CRAs or their shareholders if certain ownership thresholds are crossed, reporting requirements to ESMA regarding fees,
and additional procedural and substantive requirements on the pricing of services. In 2016, the Commission published a report concluding that no new
European legislation was needed for the industry at that time, but that it would continue to monitor the credit rating industry and analyze approaches that
may strengthen existing regulation. In addition, from time 1o time, ESMA publishes interpretive guidance, or thematic reports regarding various aspects of
the regulation. Twao such reports were published in the first half of 2018. The first report provided further guidance from ESMA ragarding the endorsement
mechanism that CRAs will need to employ for those ratings that are produced outside of the EU but are used inside the EU by EU-regulated entities. The
second report discussed ESMA's observations on CRA's fee practices. Further, in March 2018, ESMA published a consultation report seeking feedback
on the extent to which EU regulation should be applied to CRAs operating outside of the EU to make their ratings eligible for regulatory use in the EU. In
July 2018, ESMA published its final guidance on the applicability of EU regulation to endorsed ratings, with an effective date of January 1, 2019. In the
final guidance, ESMA indicated that as long as the underlying principles of the EU rules were adhered to, ESMA, did not expsct that the EU's CRA rules
would need to be exported to non-EU jurisdictions for endarsement purposes.

Separately, on June 23, 20186, the U.K. voted through a referendum to exit the EU. The U.K, officially launched the exit process by submitting its Article
50 letter to the EU, informing it of the U.K.'s intention to exit. The submission of this letter started the clock on the negotiation of the terms of exit, which
originally was expected to take up to twe years, but may take longer.

The longer-term impacts of the decision to leave the EU cn the overall regulatory framework for the UK. will depend, in part, on the relationship that the

U.K. negotiates with the EU in the future. In the interim, however, the U.K.'s markets regulator (the Financial Conduct Authority) has indicated ihat all EU
financial regulations will stay in place and that firms must continue to abide by their existing obligations. As a consequence, at this point in time, there is

no change to the regulatory framework under which MIS operates and ESMA remains MIS’s regulator both in the EU and in the UK,

In the U.S., CRAs are subject to extensive regufation primarily pursuant to the Reform Act and the Financial Reform Act. The SEC is required by these
legislative acts to publish twe annual reports to Congress on NRSROs. The Financial Reform Act requires the SEC to examine each NRSRO once a year
and issue an annual report summarizing the examination findings, among other requirements. The annual report required by the Reform Act details the
SEC's views on the state of compelition, transparency and conflicts of inferests among NRSROs, among other requirements. The SEC voted in August
2014 to adopt its final rules for NRSROs as required by the Financial Reform Act. The Company has made and continues to make substantial IT and
other investments, and has implemented the relevant compliance ohligations.

In light of the regulations that have gone into effect in both the £U and the U.S. (as well as many other countries), periodically and as a matter of course
pursuant to their enabling legislation, these reguiatory authorities have and will continue to publish reports that describe their oversight aciivities over the
industry. In addition, other legislation and/or interpretation of existing reguiation relating to credit rating and research services is being considered by
local, national and multinational bodies and this type of aclivity is likely to continue in the future. Finally, in certain countries, governments may provide
financial or other support to locally-based rating agencies. For example, governments may from time to time establish official rating agencies of credit
ratings criteria or procadures for evaluafing local issuers. If enacted, any such legislation and regulation could change the competitive landscape in which
MIS aperates. The legal status of rating agencies has been addressed by courts in varicus decisions and is likely to be considered and addressed in legal
proceedings fram time to time in the future. Management of the Company cannot predict whether these or any other proposals will be enacted, tha
outcome of any pending or possible future legal proceedings, or regulatery or legislative actions, or the ultimate impact of any such matters an the
compelitive position, financial positicr: or results of operations of Moody's,

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Moody's and its affillates own and control a variety of intellectual property, including but not limited to proprietary information, trademarks, research,
software tools and applications, models and methodologies, databases, domain names, and other proprietary materials that, in the aggregate, are of
matarial importance to Moody's business. Management of Moady's believes that each of the trademarks and related corporate names, marks and logos

containing the term "Moody’s” are of material importance to the Company.

The Company, primarily through MA {including its Buraau van Dijk business), licenses certain of its databases, software applications, credit risk models,
training courses in credit risk and capital markets, research and other publications and services that contain intellectual property to its customers. These
licenses are provided pursuant to standard fee-bearing agreements containing customary restrictions and intellectual property protections.

In addition, Moody's licenses from third parties certain technolegy, data and other intellectual property rights. Specifically, Moody's obtains licensas from
third parties to use financial information (such as market and index data, financial statement data, research data,
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defauit data, and security identifiers) as well as software development tools and libraries. In addition, the Company’s Bureau van Dijk business obtains
from third party information providers certain financial, credit sisk, compliance, management, ownership and other data on companies worldwide, which
Bureau van Dijk distributes through its company information products. The Company obtains such technology and intellectual property rights from
generally available commercial sources. The Company also utilizes generally available open source software and libraries for internal use and also,
subject to appropriately permissive open source licenses, to carry cut routine functions in certain of the Company's software products. Most of such
technology and intellectual property is available from a variety of sources. Although certain financial information (particularly security identifiers, certain
pricing or index data, and certain company financial data in selected geographic markets sourced by Bureau van Dijk) is available from a limited number
of sources, Moody’s does not believe it is dependent cn any one data source for a material aspect of its business.

The names of Moody’s products and services referred te herein are trademarks, service marks or registered trademarks or service marks owned by or
licensed to Moody's or one or more of its subsidiaries. The Company owns two patents. None of the Intellectual Property is subject to a spacific expiration
date, except to the extent that the patents and the copyright in items that the Company authers (such as credit reports, research, software, and other
written opinions) expire pursuant to relevant law,

The Company considers its Intellectual Property to be proprietary, and Moody's relies on a combination of copyright, trademark, trade secret, patent,
non-disclosure and other contractual safeguards for protection. Meedy's alse pursues instances of third-party infringement of its Intellectual Property in
order to protect the Company's rights.

EMPLOYEES
As of December 31, 2018 the number of fuli-time equivalent employees of Moody's was approximately 13,000,

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Moody's investor relations internet website is hitp:/ir. moodys.com/. Under the “SEC Filings” tab at this website, the Company makes available free of
charge its annual reperts on Form 10-K, quartery reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports as soon as
reasonably practicable after they are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.

The SEC maintains an internet site that contains annual, quarterly and currant reports, proxy and other information statements that the Company files
alectronically with the SEC. The SEC's internet site is hitp:/ivww.sec.gov/.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Name, Age and Position Biographical Data
Mark E. Almeida, 59 Mr, Almeida has served as President of Moedy’s Analytics since January 2008. Prior to this position, Mr. Almeida
President, Moody's Analytics was Senior Vice President of Moody's Corporation from August 2007 to January 2008, Senior Managing Director of

the Invester Services Group (ISG) at Moody's Investors Service, Inc. from December 2004 to January 2008 and
was Group Managing Director of ISG from June 2000 to December 2004. Mr. Almeida joined Moody’s Investors
Service, Inc. in April 1288 and has held a variety of positions with the company in both the U.S. and overseas.

Richard Cantor, 61 Mr. Cantor has served as the Company’s Chief Risk Officer since December 2008 and as Chief Credit Officer of

Chief Risk Officer Moady's Investors Service, Inc. since November 2008, From July 2008 to November 2008, Mr. Cantor served as
Acting Chief Credit Officer. Prior thereto, Mr, Cantor was Managing Director of Moody's Credit Policy Research
Group from June 2001 o July 2008, after serving as Senior Vice President in the Financial Guarantors Rating
Group. Mr. Cantor joined Moody's in 1997 from the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, where he served as
Assistant Vice President in the Research Group and was Staff Director at the Discount Window. Prior to the
Federal Reserve, Mr. Cantor taught Economics at UCLA and Ohio State and has taught on an adjunct basis at the
business schools of Columbia University and New York University.
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Name, Age and Position

Biographical Data

Robert Fauber, 48
FPresident, Moody’s Investors
Setvice

John J. Goggins, 58
Executive Vice President and
General Counsel

Melanie Hughes, 56
Senior Vice President and
Chief Human Resources Officer

Mark Kaye, 39
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., 61
President and
Chief Executive Officer

Caroline Sullivan, 50
Senior Vice President and
Corporate Controlfer
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Mr. Fauber has served as Fresident--Moady’s Investors Service, Inc. since June 1, 2016, He served as Senior
Vice President—Corporate & Commercial Development of Moody's Corporation from April 2014 to May 31, 2016
and was Head of the MIS Commercial Group from January 2013 to May 31, 2016. From April 2009 through April
2014, he served as Senicr Vice President—Corporate Development of Moody's Corporation. Mr. Fauber served as
Vice President—Corporate Development from September 2005 to April 2009. Prior to joining Moody's, Mr. Fauber
served in several roles at Cifigroup and its investment banking subsidiary Salomon Smith Barney from 1999 to
2005, From 1992 to 1996, Mr. Fauber worked at NationsBank (now Bank of America) in the middle market
cemmercial banking group,

Mr. Goggins has served as the Company’s Executive Vice President and General Counsel since April 2011 and
the Company's Senior Vice President and General Counsel from October 2000 until Aprit 201 1. Mr. Goggins joined
Moody's Investors Service, Inc. in February 1999 as Vice President and Associate General Counsel.

Ms. Hughes has served as the Company’s Senior Vice President—Chief Human Resources Officer since
September 2017. Pricr to joining the Company, Ms, Hughes was Chief Human Resource Officer and Executive
Vice President, Human Resources at American Eagle Outfitters from July 2016 to September 2017 and served as
Executive Vice President, Human Resources at Tribune Media from May 2013 to June 2016. She has held several
senicr management roles for many different companies such as Coach, Gilt Group, DoubleClick and UBS
Warburg.

Mr. Kaye has served as the Company's Senior Vice President—Chief Financial Officer since August 2018. Prier to
joining the Company, Mr. Kaye was Serior Vice President and Head of Financial Planning and Analysis at
Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company {(MassMutual) since February 2016, and Chief Financial Officer of
MassMutual U.S. since July 2015. Prior to that, Mr. Kaye served as Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vige
Prasident, Retirement Sclutions, at Voya Financial from 2011 to 2015, Mr, Kaye previously held various senior
financial and risk reporting positions at ING .S, and ING Group, and was in the investment banking division of
Credit Suisse First Boston.

Mr. McDaniel has served as the Cempany’s President and Chief Executive Officer since April 2012, and served as
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer from April 2005 until April 2012. He currently serves on the Executive
Committze of the Beard of Directars. Mr. McDaniel served as the Company’s Prasident from October 2004 until
April 2005 and the Company's Chief Operating Officer from January 2004 until April 2005. He has served as Chief
Executive Cfficer of Moody's Investers Service, Inc. since October 2007, He held the additional titles of President
from November 2001 to August 2007 and December 2008 to November 2010 and Chairman from October 2007
until June 2015. Mr. McDaniel served as the Company’s Executive Vice President from April 2003 to January 2004,
and as Senior Vice President, Global Ratings and Research from November 2000 untit April 2003, He served as
Senior Managing Directer, Global Ratings and Research, of Moody's Investors Service from November 2000 until
November 2001 and as Managing Directer, Intemational from 1996 to Novemnber 2000. Mr. McDaniel currently is a
director of John Wiley & Song, Inc. and a member of the Board of Trustees of Muhlenberg College.

Ms. Sullivan has served as the Company’s Senlor Vice President—Corporate Controller since December 2018.
Prior to joining the Company, Ms, Sullivan served in several roles at Bank of America, where her last position held
was Managing Director and Global Banking Controller. Prior te that role, Ms. Sullivan supported the Global
Wealth & Investment Management business from 2015 te 2017 in a variety of positions including Controller and
was Chief Financial Officer for the Latin America region from 2014 to 2015. From 2011 to 2013, sha served as the
Legal Entity Controller for the bank’s main broker dealer and other Merrill Lynch entities. Ms. Suilivan previously
held varicus senior positions at several banks and a major accounting firm, and is a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors and other information included in this annual report on Form 10-K should be carefully considered. The risks and uncertainties
described below are not the only ones the Company faces. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company or that the Company's
management currently deems minor or insignificant also may impair its business operations. If any of the following risks occur, Moody’s business,
financial condition, operating results and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected. These risk facters should be read in conjunction with the
other information in this annual report on Form 10-K.

U.S. Laws and Regulations Affecting the Credit Rating industry and Moody's Customers May Negatively Impact the Nature and Economics of
the Company’s Business.

Moody's operates in a highly regulated industry and is subject to extansive regulation by federal, state and local authorities in the U.S., including the
Reform Act and the Financial Reform Act. These regulations are complex, centinually evolving and have tended to become mare stringent over time. See
“Regulation” in Part 1, ltem 1 of this annual report on Form 10-K for more information, These laws and regulations;

» seek to encourage, and may result in, increased competition among rating agencies and in the credit rating business;

» may result in alternatives to credit ratings or changes in the pricing of credit ratings;

» restrict the use of information in the development or maintenance of cradit ratings;

» increase regulatory oversight of the credit markets and CRA operaticns;

» provide for direct jurisdiction of the SEC over CRAs that seak NRSRO status, and grant authority to the SEC to inspect the operations of CRAs; and

» authorize the adoption of enhanced oversight standards and new pleading standards, which may resuit in increases in the number of legal
proceedings claiming liability for losses suffered by investors on rated securities and aggregate legal defense costs,

These laws and regulations, and any future rulemaking or court rulings, could result in reduced demand for credit ratings and increased costs, which
Moody's may be unable to pass through to customers. In addition, there may be uncertainty over the scope, interpretation and administration of such
laws and regutations. The Company may be required to incur significant expenses in arder to ensure compliance and mitigate the risk of fines, penalties
or other sanctions. Legal proceedings could beceme increasingly lengthy and there may be uncertainty over and exposure to liability, it is difficult to
accurately assess the future impact of legislative and regulatery requirements on Moody's business and its customers’ businesses. For example, new
laws and regulations may affect MIS's communications with issuers as part of the rating assignment process, alter the manner in which MIS’s ratings are
developed, assignaed and communicated, affect the manner in which MIS cr its customers or users of ¢redit ratings operate, impact the demand for MIS's
ratings and alter the economics of the credit ratings business, including by restricting or mandating business models for rating agencies. Further,
speculation concerning the impact of legislative and regulatory initiatives and the increased uncertainty aver potential liability and adverse legal or judicial
determinations may negatively affect Moody's stock price. Although these legislative and regulatory initiatives apply to rating agencies and credit markets
generaily, they may affect Moody's in a disproportionate manner. Each of these developments increase the costs and legal risk associated with the
issuance of credit ratings and may have a material adverse effect on Moody’s operations, profitability and competitiveness, the demand for credit ratings
and the manner in which such ratings are utilized.

In addition, MA derives a significant amount of its sales in the ERS and Professional Services segments from banks and other financial services providers
who are subject to regulatory oversight. U.S. banking regulators, including the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and the Consumer Financial Protection Board, as well as many state agencies have
issued guidance to insured depository institutions and other providers of financial services on assessing and managing risks assoclated with third-party
relationships, which include all business arrangements between a financial services provider and another entity, by confract or otherwise, and generally
requires banks and financial services providers o exercise comprehensive oversight throughout each phase of a bank or financial service provider's
business arrangement with third-party service providers, and instructs banks and financial service providers to adopt risk management processes
commensurate with the level of risk and complexity of their third-parly relationships. In kght of this, MA's existing or potential bank and financial servicas
customers subject to this guidance may continue to revise their third-party risk management policies and processes and the tarms on which they do
business with MA, which may delay or reduce sales to such customers, adversely affect MA's relationship with such customers, increase the costs of
doing business with such customers and/er result in MA assuming greater financial and legal risk under service agreements with such custemers,

Financial Reforms Qutside the U.S. Affecting the Credif Rating Indusitry and Moody's Customers May Negatively Impact the Nature and
Economics of the Company'’s Business, ’

In addition to the extensive and evolving U.S. laws and reguiations goveming the industry, foreign jurisdictions have taken measures te increase
regulation of rating agencies and the markets for ratings. In particular, the EU has adopted a common regulatory framework
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for rating agencies operating in the EU. As a result, ESMA has direct supervisory autherity for CRAs in the EU and has the power to take enforcement
action against non-compliant CRAS, including through the issuance of public notices, withdrawal of registration and, in some cases, the imposition of
fines. Although the Commission published a report in 2016 concluding that no new European legislation was needed for the industry at that time, the
report also stated that it would continue to maenitor the credit rating industry and analyze approaches that may strengthen existing regulations. For
example, in 2018, ESMA published final guidance on the applicability of EU regulation to endorsed ratings which became effective on January 1, 2019.
See “Regulation” in Part 1, ltem 1 of this annual report on Farm 10-K fer more information.

MIS is a registered entity and is therefore subject to formal regulation and periodic inspection in the EU. Applicable rules include procedural requiremants
with respect to ratings of sovereign issuers, liability for intentional or grossly nagligent failure to abide by applicable regulations, mandatory rotation
requirements of CRAs hired by issuers of securities for ratings of resecuritizations, and restrictions on CRAs or their shareholders if certain ownership
thresholds are crossed. Additional procedural and substantive requirements include conditions for the issuance of credit ratings, ruies regarding the
organization of CRAs, restrictions on activities deemed to create a conflict of interest, including fees that are based on costs and are non-discriminatory,
and special requirements for the rating of structured finance Instruments, Compliance with the EU regulations may increase costs of operations and could
have a significant negative effect on Moody’s operations, profitability or ability to compete, or the markets for its preducts and services, including in ways
that Moody's presently is unable to predict, In addition, exposure to increased liability under the EU regulations may further increase costs and legal risks
associated with the issuance of credit ratings and materially and adversely impact Moody's results of operations.

In addition, regulators in Europe and other forgign markets in which MA is active have issued guidance similar to that issued in the U.S. relating to
financial institutions’ assessment and management of risks associated with third-party relationships. Such guidelines include the Commitiee of European
Banking Supervisors Guidelines on Cutsourcing and the European Banking Authority Recommendations on Qutsourcing to Cloud Providers (each of
which is expected to be superseded by the European Banking Authority’s Guidelines on Qutsourcing, currently under development and expected to be
issued in early 2019). In light of this, MA’s existing or potential bank and financial services customers subject to this guidance may continue to revise their
third-party risk management policies and processes and the terms on which they do business with MA, which may delay or reduce sales to such
customers, adversely affect MA's relationship with such customers, increase the costs of doing business with such customers and/or result in MA
assuming greater financial and legal risk under service agreements with such custemers.

The EU and other jurisdictions engage in rulemaking on an ongeing basis that could significantly impact operations or the markets for Moody's products
and services, including regulations extending to products and services not currently regulated and regulations affecting the need for debt securities 1o be
rated, expansion of supervisory remit to include non-EU ratings used for regulatory purposes, increasing the level of competition in the market for credit
ratings, establishing criteria for credit ratings or limiting the entities authorized to provide credit ratings, and laws and regulations related te collection, use,
accuracy, correction and sharing of personal infermation by CRAs. Additionally, as of the date of the filing of this annual report on Form 10-K, there
remains uncertainty regarding the impact that Brexit will have on the credit rating industry within the U.K., the EU and other jurisdictions. Although
Moody’s will monitor these developmenis, Meody's cannot predict the extent of such future laws and regulations, and the effect that they will have cn
Moody's business or the potential for increased exposure te liability could be significant. Financial reforms in the EU and other foreign jurisdictions may
have a material adverse effect on Mcody's business, operating rasults and financial condition,

The Company Faces Exposure to Litigation and Government Regulatory Proceedings, Investigations and Inquiries Related to Rating Opinions
and Other Business Practices.

Moody's faces exposure to litigation and govemment and regulatory proceedings, investigations and inquiries related to MIS’s ratings acficns, as well as
other business practices and products. If the market value of credit-dependent instruments declines or defaults, whether as a result of difficult economic
times, turbulent markets or otherwise, the number of investigations and legal proceedings that Moody's faces could increase significantly. Parties who
invest in securities rated by MIS may pursue claims against MIS or Moody's for losses they face in their porifolios, Moody's has faced numerous class
action lawsuits and other litigation, government investigations and inquiries concerning events linked to the U.S. subprime residential mortgage sector
and broader deterioration in the credit markets during the financial crisis of 2007-2008. Legal proceedings impose additional expenses on the Company
and require the attention of senior management fo an extent that may significantly reduce their ability to devote time addressing cother business issues,
and any of these proceedings, investigations or inquiries could ultimately result in adverse judgments, damages, fines, penallies or activity restrictions,
Risks relating fo legal proceedings may be heightened in foreign jurisdictions that lack the legal protections or liability standards comparable to these that
existin the U.S. In addition, new laws and regulations have been and may continue to be enacted that establish lower liability standards, shift the burden
of proof or relax pleading requirements, thereby increasing the risk of successful litigations in the U.S. and in foreign jurisdictions. These litigation risks
are often difficult to assess or quaniify. Moody’s may not have adequate insurance or reserves to cover these risks, and the existence and magnitude of
these risks often remains unknown for substantial periods of time. Furthermore, to the extent that Moody's is unable to achieve dismissals at an early
stage and litigation matters proceed to trial, the aggregate legal dafense costs incurred by Moody’s increase substantially, as does the risk of an adverse
outcome.
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Additionally, as litigation or the process 1o resolve pending matters progresses, Moody's will continue to review the latest information available and may
change its accounting estimates, which could require Moody's to record liabilities in the consolidated financial statements in future periods. See Note 20
to the consolidated financial statements for mare information regarding ongaing investigations and civil litigation that the Company currently faces. Due to
the number of these proceedings and the significant amount of damages sought, there is a risk that Moody's will be subject to judgments, settlements,
fines, penallies or other adverse results that could have a material adverse effect on its business, operating resuits and financial condition.

The Company is Exposed fo Legal, Economic, Operational and Regulatory Risks of Operating in Multiple Jurisdictions.,

Moody's conducts operations In various countries outside the U.S. and derives a significant portion of its revenue from foreign sources. Changes in the
economic condition of the various foreign economies in which the Company operates may have an impact on the Company’s business. For example,
economic uncertainty in the Eurozone or elsewhere, including in Latin America, could affect the number of securities offerings undertaken within those
particular areas. n addition, operations abroad expose Moody's to & number of legal, economic and regulatory risks such as:

» exposure to exchange rate movements between foreign currencies and USD:

» restrictions on the ability to convert local currency into USD and the costs, including the tax impact, of repatriating cash held by entities outside the
u.s,

» U.8. laws affecting overseas operations, including domestic and foreign export and import restrictions, tariffs and other trade barriers and restrictions,
such as those related to the U.S.'s relationship with China;

» differing and potentiafly conflicting legal or civil liability, compliance and regulatory standards, inciuding as a result of the U.K.'s referendum vote to
withdraw from the EU, Brexit;

» an extension or delay of the U.K.'s withdrawal from the EU, or the U.K. [eaving the EU with no agreement in place ("hard Brexit™);
» current and future regulations relating o the imposition of mandatory rotation requirements on CRAs hired by issuers of securities;

» uncertain and evolving laws and regulations, including those applicable to tha financial services industries, such as the European Union's
implementation of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive Il, MiFID 11, in January 2018, and to the protection of intellectual property;

» the transition away from LIBOR to the Secured Ovemight Financing Rate, SOFR, as a benchmark reference for short-term interests:
» economig, political and geopolitical market conditions;
» the possibility of nationalization, expropriaticn, price contrels and other restrictive governmental actions;

» competition with local rating agencies that have greater familiarity, longer operating histories and/or support from local governments or other
institutions;

» uncertainties of obtaining data and creating products and services relevant to particular geographic markets;

» reduced protection for intellectual property rights;

» longer payment cycles and possikle problems in collecting receivables;

» differing accounting principles and standards;

» difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, including the expected relocation and/or restaffing of employees due to Brexit;
» difficulties and delays in translating documentatien into foreign languages; and

» potentially adverse tax consequences.

Additionally, Moody's is subject to complex U4.S., forsign and other local laws and regulations that are applicable to its operations abroad, such as the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, the UK. Bribery Act of 2010 and other anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, Although the Company has
implemented infernal controls, policies and procedures and employee training and compliance programs to deter prohibited practices, such measures
may not be effective in preventing employees, contractors or agents from violating or circurnventing such internal policies and violating applicable laws
and regulations. Any determination that the Company has violated anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws could have a material adverse effact on Moody's
business, operating results and financial condition. Compliance with international and U.S. laws and regulations that apply to the Company's intematicnal
operations increases the cost of doing business in foreign jurisdictions. Viclations of such laws and regulations may result In severe fines and penalties,
criminal sanctions, administrative remedies, restrictions on business conduct and could have a material adverse effect on Moody’s reputation, its ability to
aftract and retain employees, its business, operating results and financial condition.
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Moody’s Operations and Infrastructure May Malfuncifon or Fail.

Moody’s ability to conduct business may be materially and adversely impacted by a disruption in the infrastructure that supports its businesses and the
communities in which Moody's Is located, including New York City, the locaticn of Moody's headquarters, major cities worldwide in which Moady's has
offices, and lecations in China used for certain Moody’s back office werk. This may include a disruption involving physical or technological infrastructure
(whether or not controlled by the Company), including the Company's elecironic delivery systems, data center facllities, or the Internet, used by the
Company or third parties with or through whom Moody’s cenducts business, Many of the Company’s products and services are delivered electronically
and the Company’'s customers depend on the Company’s ability to receive, siere, process, transmit and otherwise rapidly handle very substantial
quantities of data and transactions on computer-based networks. Some of Moody's operations require complex processes and, although the Gompany
has instituted extensive controls to reduce the risk of error inherent in our operations, such risk cannot be completely eliminated. The Company’s
customers alse depend on the continued capacity, reliability and security of the Company's telecommunications, data centers, networks and other
slectronic delivery systems, including its websites and conneclions to the Intemet. The Company’s employees also depend on these systems for internal
use. Any significant failure, compramise, cyber-breach, interruption or a significant slowdown of operations of the Company's infrastructure, whether due
to hurnan error, capacity constraints, hardware failure or defect, natural disasters, fire, power loss, telecommunication failures, break-ins, sabotage,
intentional acts of vandalism, acts of terrorism, political unrest, war or otherwise, may impair the Company's ability to deliver its products and services,

Moody's efforts to secure and plan for potential disruptions of its major operating systems may not be successful. The Company relies on third-party
providers to provide certain essential services. While the Company believes that such providers are reliable, the Company has limited contral over the
performance of such providers. To the extent any of the Company's third-pasty providers ceases to provide these services in an efficient, cost-effective
manner or fails to adequately expand its services to meet the Gompany's needs and the needs of the Company's customers, the Company could
experience lower revenues and higher costs, Additionally, although the Company maintains processes to prevent, detect and recover from a disruption,
the Company also does not have fully redundant systems for most of its smaller office locations and low-risk systems, and its disaster recovery plan does
not include restoration of non-essential services. If a disruption occurs in one of Moody's locations or systems and its personnel! in those lacations or
those who rely on such systems are unable to utilize other systems or communicate with or travel to other locations, such persons’ ability te service and
interact with Moody's customers may suffer, The Company cannot predict with certainty all of the adverse effects that could result from the Company's
faflure, or the failure of a third party, to efficiently addrass and resolve these delays and interruptions, A disruption to Moody's operations or infrastructure
may have a material adverse effect on its reputation, business, operaling results and financial condition.

The Company is Exposed to Risks Related to Cybersecurity and Protection of Confidential Information.

The Company’s operations rely on the secure precessing, storage and transmissicn of confidential, sensitive, proprietary and other types of information
refating to its business operations and confidantial and sensitive information about its customers and employees in the Company's computer systems and
networks, and in those of its third party vendors. The cyber risks the Company faces range from cyber-attacks common to most industries, to more
advanced threats that target the Company because of its prominence in the global marketplace, or due to its ratings of sovereign debt. Breaches of
Moody's or Moody's venders’ technology and systems, whether from circumvention of security systems, denial-of-service attacks or other cyber-attacks,
hacking, “phishing” attacks, computer viruses, ranscmware, or malware, employee or insider error, malfeasance, social engineering, physical breaches or
other actions, may resuit in manipulation or corrupticn cof sensitive data, material interruptions or malfunctions in the Company's or such vendors’ web
sites, applications, data processing, or disruption cf other business operations, or may compromise the confidentiality and integrity of material information
held by the Company (including information about Moody's business, employees or customers), as well as sensitive personally identifiable information
(P11}, the disclosure of which could lead to identity theft. Measures that Moody’s takes to avoid, detect, mitigate or recover from material incidents can be
expensive, and may be insufficient, circumvented, or may become ineffective. To conduct its operations, the Company regularly moves data across
national borders, and consequently is subject to a variety of continuously evolving and developing laws and regulations in the United States and abroad
regarding privacy, data protection and data security. The scope of the laws that may be applicable to Moady's is often uncertain and may be conflicting,
particularly with respect to foreign laws. For example, the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), which became effective on
May 25, 2018, greatly Increased the jurisdictional reach of European Union privacy law and added a broad array of requirements for processing personal
data, including the public disclosure of significant data breaches. Failure to comply with GDPR requirements could result in penalties of up to 4% of
annual worldwide revenue. Additionally, other countries have enacted or are enacting data localization laws that require data to stay within their borders.
Further, California recantly enacted legislation, the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA), that will, among other things, require covered companies
to provide new disclosures to California consumers, and afford such consumers new abilities to opt-out of certaln sales of personal information, when it
goes into effect on January 1, 2020, Legislators have stated that they intend to propose amendments to the CCPA before it goes into effect, and it
remains unclear what, if any, modifications will be made to this legislation or how it will be interpreted. The effects of the CCPA potentially are significant,
however, and may require us to modify our data precessing prastices and policies and to incur substantial costs and expenses. All of these evolving
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compliance and operational requirements have required changes to certain business practices, thereby increasing costs, may result in negative publicity
or increased operating costs, require significant management time and attention, and subject the Company to remedies that may harm is business,
including fines or demands or orders that we modify or cease existing business practices, and expose it to litigation, regulatory actiens, sanctions or other
statutory penalties.

The Company has invested and continues to invest in risk management and information security measures in order to protect its systems and data,
including employee training, disaster plans, and technical defenses. The cost and operational consequences of implementing, maintaining and enhancing
further data or system protection measures could increase significantly to overcome increasingly intense, complex, and sophisticated global cyber
threats. Despite the Company's best efforts, it is not fully insulated from data breaches and system disruptions. Recent well-publicized security breaches
at other companies have led to enhanced government and regulatory scrutiny of the measures taken by companies to protect against cyber-attacks, and
may in the future result in heightened cybersecurity requirements, including additional regulatory expectations for oversight of vendors and service
providers. Any material breaches of cybersecurity, including the accidental loss, inadvertent disclosure or unapproved dissemination of proprietary
information or sensitive or confidential data, or media reports of perceived security vulnerabilities to the Company’s systems or those of the Company's
third parties, even if no breach has been attempted or cceurred, could cause the Company to experience reputational harm, loss of custemers and
revenue, fines, regulatory actions and scrutiny, sanctions or other statutory penalties, litigation, liability for failure to safeguard the Company's customers’
information, or financial losses that are either not insured against or not fully covered through any insurance maintained by the Company. Any of the
foregoing may have a material adverse effect on Moody's business, cperating results and financial condition,

The Company is Dependent on the Use of Third-Party Software, Data, Hosted Solutions, Data Centers, Cloud and Network

Infrastructure (Together, “Third Party Technology”), and Any Reduction In Third-Party Product Quality or Service Offerings, Could Have a
Material Adverse Effect on the Company’s Business, Financial Condition or Resulfts of Operations.

Moody's relies on Third Party Technology in connection with its product development and offerings and operations. The Company depends oh the ability
of Third Party Technology providers to deliver and support reliable products, enhance their current products, develop new products on a fimely and cost-
effective basis, and respond to emerging industry standards and cther technological changes. The Third Party Technology Moody's uses may become
obsolete, incompatible with future versions of the Company’s preducts, unavailable or fail to operate effectively, and Moody’s business could be
adversely affected if the Company is unable to timely or effectively replace such Third Party Technology. The Company also monitors its use of Third
Party Technolagy to comply with applicakle license and cther contractual requirements. Despite the Company's efforts, the Company cannot ensure that
such third parties will permit Moody's use in the future, resulting in increased Third Party Technology acquisition costs and loss of rights. In addition, the
Company’s operafing costs could increase if license or other usage fees for Third Party Technology increase or the efforts to incorporate enhancements
fo Third Party Technology are substantial. Some of these third-party suppliers are also Moody’s competitors, increasing the risks noted above. If any of
these risks materialize, they could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

Changes in the Volume of Debt Securities Issued in Domestic and/or Global Capital Markets, Asset Levels and Flows Into Iinvestment Levels
and Changes in Interest Rates and Other Volatility in the Financial Markets May Negatively Impact the Nature and Economics of the
Company’s Business.

Moody's business is impacted by general economic ¢conditions and volatility in the U.8. and world financial markets. Furthermore, issuers of debt
securities may elect to issue securities without ratings or securities which are rated or evaluated by non-traditional parties such as financial advisors,
rather than traditional CRAs, such as MIS. A majority of Moody's credit-rating-based revenue is transaction-based, and therefore it is especiaily
dependent on the number and dollar velume of debt securities issued in the capital markets. Market disruptions and economic slowdown and uncertainty
have in the past, and may in the future, negatively impacted the vclume of debt securities issued in global capital markets and the demand for credit
ratings. The Tax Act, in addition to other changes te U.S, tax laws and policy, could negatively affect the volume of debt securities issued in the U.S. For
example, the Tax Act limits deductibility on interest payments and significantly reduce the tax cost associated with the repatriation of cash held outside
the U.S., both of which could negatively affect the volume of debt securities issued. Conditions that reduce issuers’ ability or willingness to issue debt
securities, such as market volatility, declining growth, currency devaluations or other adverse economic trends, reduce the number and dollar-eguivalent
volume of debt issuances for which Moody’s provides ratings services and thereby adversely affect the fees Moody's ears in its ratings business.

Economic and government factors such as a long-term continuation of difficult economic conditions, a re-emergence of the sovereign debt crisis in
Europe, the uitimate Brexit outcome and current uncertainty in various other jurisdictions, may have an adverse impact on the Company’s business.
Future debt issuances also could be negatively affected by increases in interest rates, widening credit spreads, regulatory and political developments,
growth in the use of alternative sources of credit, and defaults by significant issuers. Declines or other changes in the markets for debt securities may
materially and adversely affect the Company’s business, eperating results and financial condition.
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Moody's initiatives to reduce costs to counteract a decline in its business may not be sufficient and cost reductions may be difficult or impossible to obtain
in the short term, due in part to rent, technology, compliance and other fixed costs associated with some of the Company’s operations as well as the need
to monifor outstanding ratings. Further, cost-reduction initiatives, including those under-taken to date, could make it difficult for the Company to rapidly
expand operations In order to accommaodate any unexpected increase in the demand for ratings. Volatility in the financial markets, including changes in
the volumes of debt securities and changes in inierest rates, may have a material adverse effect on the business, operating results and financial
condition, which the Company may not he able to successfully offset with cost reductions.

The Company Faces Increased Pricing Pressure from Competitors and/or Customers.

There is price competition in the credit rating, research, credit risk management markets, research and analylical services and financial training and
certification services. Moody's faces competition globally from other CRAs and from investment banks and brokerage firms that offer credit epinions in
research, as well as from in-house research operations. Competition for customers and market share has spurred more aggressive tactics by scme
competitors in areas such as pricing and services, as well as increased competition from non-NRSROs that evaluate debt risk for issuers or investors. At
the same time, a challenging business environment and consclidation among customers, particularly those involved in structured finance preducts, and
other factors affecting demand may enhance the market power of competitors and reduce the Company’s customer base. Weak economic growth
intensifies competitive pricing pressures and can result in customers’ use of free or lower-cost information that is available from alternative sources or
their development of alternative, proprietary systems for assessing credit risk that replace the products currently purchased from Moody's. While Moody's
seeks to compete primarily on the basis of the quality of its products and sarvices, it may lose market share if its pricing is not sufficiently competitive. In
addition, the Reform Act was designed to encourage competition among rating agencies. The formation of additional NRSRQOs may increase pricing and
competitive pressures, Furthermore, in some of the countries in which Moody's operates, governments may provide financial or other support to local
rating agencies. Any inability of Moody's to compete successfully with respect fo the pricing of its products and services could have a material adverse
impact on its business, aperating results and financial condition,

The Company is Exposed to Reputation and Credibility Concerns.

Moody’s reputation and the strength of its brand are key competitive sirengths. To the extent that the rating agency business as a whole or Moody's,
relative to its competitors, suffers a loss in credibility, Meody's business could be significantly impacted. Factors that may have already affected credibility
and could potentially continue to have an impact in this regard include the appearance of a conflict of interest, the performance of securities relative to the
rating assigned to such securities, the timing and nature of changes in ratings, a major compliance failure, negative perceptions or publicity and increased
criticism by users of ratings, regulaters and legislative bodies, including as to the ratings process and its implementation with respect tc one or more
sacurities and intentional or unintentional misrepresentations of Moody's products and services in advertising materials, public relaticns information,
social media or other external communications. Operational errars, whether by Moody's or a Moody's competitor, could also harm the reputation of the
Company or the credif rating industry. Damage to reputation and credibilily could have a material adverse impact on Moody’s business, operating results
and financial condition, as well as on the Company's ability to find suitable candidates for acquisition,

The Introduction of Competing Products or Technologies by Other Companies May Negatively Impact the Nature and Economics of the
Company’s Business.

The markets for credit ratings, research, credit risk managemant services, research and analytical services and financial training and certification services
are highly competitive and characterized by rapid technolegical change, changes in customer demands, and evolving regulatory requirements, industry
standards and market preferences. The abllity to develop and successfully launch and maintain innovative products and technologies that anticipate
customers' changing requirements and utilize emerging technological trends in a timely and cost-effective manner is a key factor in maintaining market
share. Moody's competitors include both established companies with significant financial resources, brand recognition, market experience and
technological expertise, and smaller companies which may be better poised to quickly adopt new or emerging technologies or respond to customer
requirements. Competitors may develep quantitative methodologies or related services for assessing credit risk that customers and market parlicipants
may deem preferable, more cost-effective or more valuable than the credit risk assessment methods currently employed by Moody’s, or may position,
price or market their products in manners that differ from those utilized by Mocdy's. Moody's also competes indirectly against consulting firms and
technology and information providers; these indirect competitors ceuld in the future choose to compete directly with Moody’s, cease doing business with
Moody's or change the tarms under which it does husiness with Moody's in a way that could negatively impact our business, In addition, customers or
others may develop alternative, proprietary systems for assessing credit risk. Such developments could affect demand for Moody's products and services
and its growth prospects. Further, the increased availability in recent years of free or relatively inexpensive internet information may reduce the demand
for Moody’s products and services. Moody's growth prospects also couid be adversely affected by Moody's failure to make necessary or optimal capital
infrastructure expenditures and improvements and the inability of its information technologies to provide adequate capacity and capabilities to meet
increased demands of producing guality ratings and research products at levels achieved by competitors. Any inability of Moody to compete successfully
may have a material adverse effect on its business, operating resulis and financial condition.
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Possible Loss of Key Employees and Related Compensation Cost Pressures May Negatively Impact the Company.

Moody's success depends upon its ability to recruit, retain and motivate highly skilled, experienced financial analysts and other professionals.
Competition for skilled individuals in the financial services industry is intense, and Moody's ability to attract high guality employees could be impaired if it
is unable to offer competitive compensation and other incentives or if the regulatery environment mandates restrictions on or disclosures about individual
employaes that would not be necessary in competing industries. As greater focus has been placed on executive compensation at public companies, in
the future, Moody's may be required to alter its compensation practices in ways that could adversely affect its ability to attract and retain talented
employees. Investment hanks, investors and competitors may seek to alfract analyst talent by providing more favorable working conditions or offering
significantly more attractive compensation packages than Moody’s. Moody's also may not be able to identify and hire the appropriate qualified employees
in some markets outside the U.S. with the required experience or skills te perform sophisticated credit analysis. Additionally, relocation and/or restaffing
of employees due to Brexit could adversely affect our ability to attract and retain talent for our European operations. There is a risk that even if the
Company invests significant resources in attempling te attract, train and retain qualified personnel, it will not succeed in its efforts, and its business could
be harmed.

Moody’s is highly dependent on the continued services of Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., the President and Chief Executive Officer, and other senior officers
and key employees., The loss of the services of skilled personnel fer any reason and Moody's inability to replace them with suitable candidates quickly cr
at all, as well as any negative market perception resulting from such loss, couid have a material adverse effect on Moody’s business, operating results
and financial condition.

Moody’s Acquisitions, Dispositions and Other Strategic Transactions or infernal Techinology investments May Not Produce Anficipated
Results Exposing the Company to Future Significant Impairment Charges Relating fo jits Goodwill, Intangible Assets or Property and
Equipment.

Moody's has entered into and expects to continue {o enter inte acquisition, disposition or other strategic transactions and expects to make various
investments to strengthen its business and grow the Company. Such transactions as well as internal technology investments present significant
challenges and risks. The market for acquisition targets, dispositions and other strategic transactions is highly competitive, especially in light of industry
consclidation, which may affect Moecdy’s ability to complete such transactiocns and complete such transactions on favorable terms. If Moody's is
unsuccessful in completing such transacticns on favorable terms or if opportunities for expansion do not arise, its business, operating results and
financial condition could be materially adversely affected. Additionally, the Company makes significant investments in technology including software
developed for internal-use which is time-intensive and complex to implement. Such investments may not be successful or may not result in the
anticipated benefits resulting in assef write-cffs,

In August 2017, Moody's acquired Bureau van Dijk for $3,542.0 million. The anticipated growth, synergies and other strategic objectives of the Bursau
van Dijk acquisition, as well as other completed transactions, may not be fully realized, and a variety of factors may adversely affect any anticipated
benefits from such transactions. Any strafegic transaction can involve a number of risks, including unanticipated challenges regarding integration of
operations, technologies and new employees; the existence of liabilities or contingencies not disclosed to or otherwise known by the Company prior to
closing a transaction; unexpected regulatory and cperating difficuities and expenditures; scrutiny from competition and antitrust authorities; failure to
retain key personnel of the acquired business; future developments that impair the value of purchased goodwill or intangible assets; diversion of
management's focus from other business operations; failure to implement or remediate controls, procedures and policies appropriale for a larger public
company at acquired companies that prior to the acquisition lacked such controls, procedures and policies; challenges retaining the customers of the
acquired business; coordination of product, sales, markating and program and systems management functions; integration of employees from the
acguired business into Moody’s arganization; integration of the acquired business's accounting, information technology, human resources, legal and
other administrative systems with Moody's; and for foreign transactions, additional risks related to the integration of operations across differant culiures
and languages, and the economic, political, and regulatory risks associated with specific countries. The anticipated benefits from an acquisition or other
strategic transaction may not be realized fully, cr may take longer to realize than expected. As a result, the failure of acquisitions, dispositions and other
strategic transactions to perform as expected may have a material adverse effect cn Moody’s business, operating results and financial cendition.

At December 31, 2018, Moody’s had $3,781.3 million of goodwilt and $1,566.1 miilion of intangible assets on its balance sheet, both of which increased
significantly due to the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk In 2017. Approximately 94% of the goodwill and intangible assets reside in the MA business,
including those related te Bureau van Dijk, and are allocated {o the six reporting units within MA: Content; ERS; MALS; MAKS,; Bureau van Dijk; and
Reis. The remaining 6% of goodwill and intangible assets reside in MIS and primarily relate to ICRA. Failure to achieve business objectives and financial
projections in any of these reporting units could result In a significant assel impairment charge, which would result in a non-cash charge fo operating
expenses. Goodwill and intangible assets are tested for impairment on an annual basis and also when events or changes in circumstances indicate that
impairment may have occurred. Determining whether an impairment of goodwill exists can be especially difficult in periods of market or economic
unceartainty and turmail, and requires significant management estimates and judgment. In addition, the potential for goodwill impairment is increased
during periods of economic uncertainty. An asset impairment charge could have a material adverse effect on Moody’s business, operating resuits and
financial condition,
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The Company’s Compliance and Risk Management Programs May Not be Effective and May Result in Outcomes That Could Adversely Affect
the Company's Reputation, Financial Condition and Operating Results.

Moody's operates in a number of countries, and as a result the Company is required to comply and quickly adapt with numerous international and U.S.
federal, state and local laws and regulations, The Company’s ability to comply with applicable laws and regulations, including anti-corruption laws, is
largely dependent on its establishment and maintenanca of compliance, review and reporting systems, as well as its ability to attract and retain qualified
compliance and risk management personnel. Moody's policies and precedures te identify, evaluate and manage the Company's risks, including risks
resulting from acquisitions, may not be fully effective, and Moody's employees or agents may engage in misconduct, fraud or other errors. It is not always
possible to deter such errors, and the precautions the Company takes to pravent and detect this activity may not be effective in all cases. If Moocdy's
employees violate its policies or if the Company's risk management metheds are not effective, the Company could be subject to criminal and civil liability,
the suspension of the Company’s employees, fines, penalties, regulatory sanctions, injunctive relief, exclusion from certain markets or other penalties,
and may suffer harm to its reputation, financial condition and operating results.

Legal Protections for the Company’s intellectual Property Rights may not be Sufficient or Available to Protect the Company’s Competitive
Advantages.

Moody's considers many aspects of its products and sarvices to be proprietary. Failure to protect the Company's intellectual property adequately could
harm its reputation and affect the Company’s ability to compete effectively. Businesses the Company acquires also involve intellectual property pertfolios,
which increase the challenges the Company faces in protecting its strategic advantage. In addition, the Company’s operating results may be adversely
affected by Inadequate or changing legal and technclogical protections for intellectual property and proprietary rights in some jurisdictions and markets.
On January 6, 2015, a rule with direct relevance to the CRA industry was published in the Official Journal of the European Union regarding the types of
information that CRAs are to provide about certain ratings (those that were paid for by issuers) for publication on a central website administered by ESMA
{the European Ratings Platform). This rule directly relates to the Company's intellectual property as it requires that the Company provide proprietary
information at no cost that the Company currently sells, which could resuli In lost revenue. ESMA launched the European Rating Platform for public use
on December 1, 2016.

Unauthorized third parties may also try to obtain and use technolegy or ather information that the Company regards as proprietary. It is also possible that
Moody's competitars or other entities could obtain patents related to the types of products and services that Moody's offers, and attempt to require
Moody's to stop developing or marketing the preducts or services, to modify or redesign the products or services to avoid infringing, or to obtain licenses
from the holders of the patents in order to continue developing and marketing the products and services. Even if Moody's altempts to assert or protect its
inteflectual property rights through litigation, it may require considerable cost, time and resources to do so, and there is ne guaraniee that the Company
will be successful. The Campany’s ability to establish, maintain and protect its intellectual property and proprietary rights against theft, misappropriation or
infringemnent could be materially and adversely affected by insufficient and/or changing proprietary rights and intellectual property legal protections in
some jurisdictions and markets. These risks, and the cost, time and resources needed to address them, may increase as the Company's business grows
and its profile rises in countries with intellectual property regimes that are less protective than the rules and regulations applied in the United States.

Changes in Tax Rates or Tax Rules Could Affect Future Results.

As a global company, Moody's is subject to taxation in the United States and various other countries and jurisdictions. As a result, our effactive tax rate is
determined based on the pre-tax income and applicable tax rates in the various jurisdictions in which the Company operates. Moody's future 1ax rates
could be affected by changes in the composition of earnings in countries or states with differing tax rates or other factors, including by increased earnings
in jurisdictions where Moody's faces higher tax rates, losses incurred in jurisdictions for which Moody's is not able to realize the related tax benefit, or
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Changes in the {ax, accounting and other laws, treaties, regulations, policies and administrative practices, or
changes to their interpretation or enforcement, including changes applicable to multinational corporations such as the Base Erosion Profit Shifting
initiative being conducted by the Organization for Economic Ce-operation and Develepment, which requires companies to disclose more information to
tax authorities on operations around the warld, and the European Union’s state aid rulings, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
effective tax rate, results of operations and financlal condition and may lead to greater audit scrutiny of profits earned in various countries.

For example, the Tax Act made significant changes to the U.S. federal tax laws. Many aspects of the new legislation are currently uncertain or unclear
and may not be clarified for some time. As additicnal regulatory guidance is issued interpreting or clarifying the Tax Act or if the tax accounting rules are
modified, there may be adjustments or changes ta the Company’s determinafion of its mandatory one-time: deemed repatriation tax liability (“transition
tex’) on previously untaxed accumutated earnings of foreign subsidiaries recordad in 2017. Additional regulatory guidance may also affect the Company’s
expected future effective tax rates and tax assets and liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on Moody's business, results of operations,
cash flows and financial condition. Furthermore, the Tax Act may impact the volume of debt securities issued as discussed in the Risk Factor, Changes in
the Volumne of
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Debt Securities Issued in Domestic andior Global Capital Markets, Asset Levels and Flows into Investment Levels and Changes in Interest Rates and
Other Volatility it the Financial Markets May Negatively impact the Nature and Economics of the Company’s Busingss.

In addition, Moody’s is subject to regular examination of its income tax retumns by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities, and the
Company is experiencing increased scrutiny as its business grows. Moody's regularly assesses the likelihood of favorable or unfavorable outcomes
resulting from these examinations to determine the adeguacy of its provision for income taxes, including unrecognized tax benefits; however,
developments in an audit or litigation could materially and adversely affect the Company. Although the Company believes its tax estimates and accruals
are reasonable, there can be no assurance that any final determinaticn will not be materially different than the treatment reflected in its historical income
tax pravisions, accruals and unrecognized tax benefits, which could materially and adversely affect the Company’s business, operating results, cash
flows and financial condition.

ITEM 1IB. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Moody's corporate headquarters is located at 7 World Trade Center at 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10007, with approximately 797,537
square feet of leased space. As of December 31, 2018, Moody's operations were conducted from 21 U.S. offices and 105 non-U.S. office locatiens, all of
which are leased. These properties are geographically distributed to meet operating and sales requirements worldwide. These properties are generally
considered to be both suitable and adequate to meet current cperating requirements.

ITEM 3. LEGAIL PROCEEDINGS

For information regarding legal proceedings, see Part I, ltem 8 —*Financial Statements®, Note 20 “Contingencies” in this Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Nat applicabls,
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PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Information in response to this Item is set forth under the capticns below.

MOODY'S PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
For the three months ended December 31, 2018:

Total Number of Approximate Dollar
Shares Purchased as Value of Shares That May
Total Number Average Price Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased Under

Perled oo of Shares Purchased (1) Paid per Share Announced Program The Program (2}
November 1 127,843

e 457 *

Total 363,04 $ 158,20

{1) Includes surrender to tha Company of 447, 255 and 604 shares of common stock in Ocfober, November and December, respectively, to salisfy tax withhelding obligations in
connection with the vesting of restricted stock issuad to employees.

{2)  As of the last day of each of the months. On December 15, 2015, the Beard autherized a $1 killon share repurchase program, which at December 31, 2018 had approximately
$324 million of remaining authority. On October 22, 2018, the Board approved an additional $1 billion for the share repurchase program, which may commence following the
campletion of tha existing program. There Is no established expiration date for the remaining authorization,

During the fourth quarter of 2018, Moady's issued a net 57 thousand shares under employee stock-based compensation plans.

COMMON STOCK INFORMATION

The Company's common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “MCO”. The number of registered sharehoiders of record at
January 31, 2019 was 1,902. A substantially greater number of the Company's commeoen stock is held by beneficial holders whose shares of record are
held by banks, brokers and other financial institutions.
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
The table below sets forth, as of Decamber 31, 2018, certain information regarding the Company’s equity compensation plans.
Number of Securities

Remaining Avallable for
Future Issuance Under

Numbker of Securlties to Weighted-Average Equity Compensation

be Issued Upon Exarclse Exercise Price of Plans {excluding

of Cutstanding Optlons, OQutstanding Options, Securlties Reflected In

Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights (2} Column (a}]

Plan Category (a) {b} [5]
: 2

E')c;uiAty compensation plans not approved by
sacurity holders — $ — —

Eratars

{1} Includes 4,299,113 aptions and unvested resiricted shares outstanding under the Company’s 2001 Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan and 9,145 unvested restricted shares
outstanding under the 1898 Non-Employee Dirsctors’ Stock Incentive Flan. This number alse includes a maximum of 1,138,121 performance shares outstanding under the
Company's 2001 Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Flan, which is the maximum number of shares issuable pursuant to performance share awards assuming the maximum payout
at 225% of the target award for performance shares granted in 2016 and 2017 and the maximum payout of 200% of the target award for performance shares granted in 2018,
Assuming payout at target, the number of shares to be issued upon tha vesting of outstanding performance share awards is 520,534.

{2)  Does not reflect unvested restricled shares or performance share awards included In column (a) because these awards have no exercise price.

(3)  Includes 15,500,780 shares available for issuance as under the 2001 Stock [ncentive Plan, of which all may be issued as options and 9,183,720 may be Issued as restricted siock,
performance shares or other stock-based awards under the 2001 Stock Incentive Flan and S03,463 shares available for issuance as options, shares of restricted stock or
performance shares under the 1998 Directors Plan, and 2,762,835 shares available for Issuance under the Company's Employse Stock Purchasa Plan, No new grants may be
mada under the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan, which expired by its terms in June 2008,
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the tolal cumulative shareholder return of the Company to the performance of Standard & Poor's Stock 500 Composite
Index and the Russell 3000 Financlal Servicas Index. Both of the aforementioned indexes are easily accessible to the Company's sharehaolders in
newspapers, the internet and other readily available sources for purposes of the following graph.

The comparison assumes that $100.00 was invested in the Company’s common stock and in each of the foregoing indices on December 31, 2013, The
comparison also assumes the reinvastment of dividends, if any. The total retum for the common stock was 90% during the performance period as
compared with a total refurn during the same period of 101% for the Russell 3000 Financial Services Index and 50% for the S&F 500 Composite Index.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return

COMPARISON OF 5§ YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Moody’s Corparation, the S&P 500 Index
and the Russell 3000 Financial Services Index
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The comparisons in the graph above are provided in response te disclosure requirements of the SEC and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of
future performance of the Company’'s comimon stock.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The Company’s selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “MD&A” and the Moody's Corporation consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto.

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

amounts In
Revenue $4,442.7 $4,204.1 $ 3,604.2 $3,484.5
Expen:

Operating and 8

usiiTERElE

Seitlemenl Chargé

ot

1,788.9

Income before provision for Income taxes (2)
Net income (2)

= Netince i s pcetollgIntEey
Income attributable to Moody's (2)(8)

5 e b e

iEBiliee
Welghted average shares outstanding

Diluted N
Biultends deciaredpd
Operating margin (2}
Dperating:

December 31,
2018 2017 2018 2015 2014
Total assets $9,626.2 $8,604.2 $ 53273
Egrgeim 5 i
Total shareholders’ equity (deficit) $ 6565 $ (114.9) ${1,027.3) $ {333.0) $ 429

{1} Pursuant to the adoption of a new accounting standard relating to penslon accounting as mere fully discussed in Note 1, enly the service cost component of net periodic expense

is classified within aperating and SG&A expenses with the remaining compenents being classified as non-operating {expenses) Income, Prior period rasults have been restated tc
reflect this classification.

(2}  The significant decrease in 2016 is primarily driven by the 2016 $863.8 million Settlement Charge ($700.7 million, net of tax, or $3.59 per diluted share),

(3t The 2017 amount Includes a $111.1 million Purchase Price Hedge Gain as well as the $59.7 million CCXI Gain. The 2016 amount includes a $34.8 million FX gain ralating to the

substantial liquidation of a subsidiary. The 2015 and 2014 amounis Include benefits of $7.1 million each, related to the favorable resolution of certain Legacy Tax Matters. The
2014 amount alse includes the ICRA Galn of $162.8 million,

[4)  Provision for income taxes in the year ended December 31, 2018 includes a charge of $63.9 million relating to an increase In non-U.5, UTPs, partially offset by a $58.0 million
benefit from potential realization of foreign tax credits and other adjusiments to previous astimates refating to the Tax Act. Provision for income taxes in the year endad

December 31, 2017 includes a net charge of $245.6 million related to the impact of U.S. tax reform and a statutery tax rate raduction in Belgium as more fully discussed in Note 16
to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
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The 2018 amount includes: i} a $59.0 million ($0.3C per share) benefit related to the impact of U.S, tax reform, 1) a $63.9 million ($0.33 per share) charge related to an increase to
nen-U.S UTPs; and jii} $36.8 million {$0.19 per shars) net restructuring charge, The 2017 amount includes: i) a $245.6 million (§1.27 per share) charge related to the impact of
U.S. tax reform and a statutory tax rate reductien in Selglum; i) a $72.3 million ($0,37 per share) Purchase Price Hedge Gain; and i) the $59.7 million {$0.21 per share) CCXI
Galn. The 2016 amount Includes: i} a $700,7 million {$3.59 per share) Sattlement Charge; 1) an $8.1 million ($0.04 per share) restructuring charge; and IIi) a $34.8 millicn (30.18
per share) FX gain relating to the substantial liquidation of a subsidiary. The 2015 and 2014 amounts include benefits of $6.4 milllon (30.03 per share) each ralated fo the
resolution of cartain Legacy Tax Malters. Also, the 2014 amount includes the ICRA Gain of $78.5 million ($0.37 per share}.

The decline in operating cash flow in 2017 Is primarily due to payments made relating to the Settlement Charge. Additionally, in the first quarter of 2017, the Company adopted
ASLU No. 2016-09 “Improvements fo Empleyee Share=Based Payment Accounting”, As required by ASU 2016-09, Excess Tax Benefits or shortfalls refating to employee stock-
based compensation are reflected In operating cash flow and the Company has applied this provision on a retrospective basis. Under previous accounting guidance, Excess Tax
Benefits or shortfalls were shown as a reduction to operating cash flow and an Increase te financing cash flow.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the Moody's Corporation consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K,

This MD&A contains Forward-Looking Statements. See “Forward-Looking Statements” commencing on page 57 and item 1A. “Risk Factors”
commencing on page 17 for a discussion of uncertainties, risks and other faclors associated with these statements.

THE COMPANY

Mdody’s is a provider of (i) credit ratings; {ii) credit, capital markets and sconomic research, data and analytical tools; (jii) software solutions that support
financial risk management activities; (iv} quantitatively derived credit scores; (v) learning solutions and certification services; (vi) offshare financial
research and analytical services; and (vii) company information and business intelligence products. Moody's reports in two reportable segments: MIS and
MA.,

MIS, the credit rating agency, publishes credit ratings on a wide range of debt obligations and the entities that issue such obligations in markets
worldwide, Revenue is primarily derived from the originaters and issuers of such transactions who use MIS ratings in the distribution of their debt issues
to investors. Additionally, MIS earns revenue from ceriain non-ratings-related operations, which consist primarily of financial instrument pricing services in
the Asia-Pacific region as well as revenus from ICRA's nen-ratings operatiens. The revenue from these operations is included in the MIS Cther LOB and
is not material to the results of the MIS segment.

The MA segment develops a wide range of products and services that support financial analysis and risk management activities of institutional
participants in global financial markets. Within its RD8&A business, MA offers subscription based research, data and analytical products, including credit
ratings produced by MIS, credit research, quantitative credit scores and other analytical tools, economic research and forecasts, business intelligence
and company information products, and commercial real estate data and analytical tools. Within its ERS business, MA provides software solutions as well
as related risk management services. The PS business provides offshore analytical and research services along with learning solutions and certification
programs.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Moody's discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operaticns are based on the Company’s consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with acgounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements
requires Moody’s to make estimates and judgments that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities and related disclesures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. These estimates are based on historical
experience and on other assumptions that are believed to be reasonakle under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, Moody's evaluates its
astimates, including those related to revenue recognition, accounts receivable allowances, contingencies, restructuring, goodwill and acquired intangible
assets, pension and other retirement benefits, and income taxes. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions. The following accounting estimates are considered critical because they are particularly dependent on management's judgment about matters
that are uncertain at the time the accounting estimates are made and changes to those estimates could have a material impact on the Company's
consolidated results of operations or financial condition.

Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets
On July 31st of each year, Moody's evaluates its goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level, defined as an operating segment (l.e., MIS and MA),
or one level below an operating segment (i.e., a component of an cperating segment}.

The Company has eight primary reporting units: two within the Company's ratings business (one for the ICRA business and one thal encompasses all of
Moody's other ratings operatiens) and six reporting units within MA: Content, ERS, MALS (formerly FSTC), MAKS, Bureau van Dijk and Reis, The
Content reporting unit offers subscription based research, data and analytical preducts, including credit ratings produced by MIS, credit research,
quantitative credit scores and other analytical tools, ecanomic research and forecasts, business intelligence and company information products, and
credit analytical tools. The ERS reporiing unit providas produats and services that support the credit risk management and regulatory compliance
activities of financial institutions and also provides advanced actuarial software for the life insurance industry. These products and services are primarily
delivered via software that is licensed on a perpetual basis or sold on a subscription basis. The MALS reporting unit consists of the pertion of the MA
business that offers both credit training as well as other professional development training. The MAKS reporting unit provides offshors research and
analytical services, The Bureau van Dijk reporting unit consists of the Bureau van Dijk business, which was acquired on August 10, 2017, and primarily
provides business intelligence and company information products. The Reis reporting unit, consists of the newly acquired Reis business, and provides
commercial real estate market information and analytical tools.
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The Company evaluates the recoverability of goadwill using & two-step impairment test approach at the reporting unit level. In the first step, the Company
assesses various qualitative factors to determine whether the fair value of a reporting unit may be less than its carrying amount. If a determination is
made based on the qualitative factors that an impairment does not exist, the Company is not required to perform further testing. If the aforementioned
qualitative assessment results in the Company concluding that it is mere likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit may be less than its carrying
amount, the fair value of the reporting unit will be quantitatively determined and compared to its carrying value including goodwill, If tha fair value of the
reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to that unit, goodwill is not impaired and the Company is not required to perform
further testing. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, the Company will record a goodwill impairment charge for the amount
by which the carmying value exceeds the reparting unit's fair value in accordance with

ASU No. 2017-04, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), Simplifying the Test for Goodwill iImpairment”. The Company evaluates its reporting
units on an annual basis, or more frequently if there are changes in the reporting structure of the Company due to acquisitions, realignments or if there
are indicators of potential impairment. For the reporting units where the Company is consistently able to conclude that no impairment exists using only a
qualitative approach, the Company’s acceunting policy is to perform the second step of the aforementioned goodwill impairment assessment at least
once every three years.

Al July 31, 2018, the Company performed quantitative assessments of the ERS, MALS, MAKS and ICRA reporting units and a qualitative assessment for
the remaining reporting units. No quantitative assessment resulted in the carrying valus of the reporting unit exceeding its fair value. Each gualitative
analysis resulted in the Company determining that it was not more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit was less than its carrying amount.

The Company guantitatively tested the ERS, MALS, MAKS and [CRA reporting units as of July 31, 2018 due to the factors outlined below:

» ERS —this reporting unit was quantitatively assessed to update its valuaticn to reflect the current assumptions relating fo the fiming of a strategic shift
in the business away from lower margin sales of highly customized software solutions to higher margin SaaS sales. This migration to Saa$ sales is
expacted to contribute to a more stable and more prefitable base of recuring revenue over the medium to fong~term. In 2018, the Company revised its
projections for ERS to reflect a faster deterioration of the lower margin sales of highly customized software solutions than was previcusly projected in
2017,

» MALS and MAKS — these reporting units were quantitatively assessed at the discretion of the Company as they have historically been the reporting
units with the lowest amount by which the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds ifs carrying valus,

» |CRA —this reporting unit was tested quantitatively due to it having a readily available fair value based on its stock price.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit or an indefinite-lived acquired intangible asset (including its estimated useful life) involves the use of
significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include projections of future operating results and cash flows of each reparting
unit that are based on intemnal budgets and strategic plans, expected long-term growth rates, terminal values, weighted average cost of capital, the
effects of extemal factors and market conditions as well as appropriate comparable market metrics. However, as these estimates and assumptions are
unpredictable and inherently uncertain, actual future results may differ from these estimates and the time frame of such changes may be rapid. In
addition, the Company also makes certain judgments and assumptions in allocating shared assets and liabilities to determine the carrying values for each
of its reparting units.

Other assets and liabilities, including applicable corporate assets, are allocated to the extent they are related to the operation of respective reporting
units.
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Sensitivity Analyses and Key Assumptions for Deriving the Fair Value of a Reporting Unit

The following table identifies the amount of goodwill allocated to each raporting unit as of December 31, 2018 and the amount by which the net assets of
each reporting unit would exceed the fair value under Step 2 of the gocdwill impairment test as prescribed in ASC Topic 350, assuming hypothetical
reductions In their fair values as of the date of the [ast quantitative goodwill impairment assessment for each reporting unit (July 31, 2018 for ERS, MALS,
MAKS and ICRA; July 31, 2016 for MIS and Content).

Sensitivity Analysls
Deflcit Caused by a Hypothetical Reduction to Fair Value

Content

(1} Omega Performance was acquired subsequent te the Company’s annual goodwill impainment assessment as of July 31, 2018, Goodwill velated to this acquisition is reported within
the MALS reporting unit.

{2} Bureau van Dijk was acquired in August 2017 and has not yet been subject to 2 quantiative goodwifl assessment. The purchase price approximates the fair value of the reporing
unit at July 31, 2018, and accordingly, Bureau van Dilk was not subject to the sensitivity analysis abova.

{8} Reis was acquired in October 2018, subsequent to the Company's annual goodwlll impairment assessment as of July 31, 2018. Due to the close proximity of the Rels acquisition
to December 31, 2018, the purchase price approximates the fair value of the reporting unit.

Methodologies and significant estimates utilized in determining the fair value of reporting units:

The following is a discussion regarding the Company’s methodology for determining the fair value of its reporting units, excluding ICRA, as of the date of
each reporting unit’s last quantitative assessment (July 31, 2018 for ERS, MALS, and MAKS and July 31, 2018 for MIS and Content). A3 ICRAis a
publicly traded company in India, the Company was able to observe its fair valus based on its market capitalization.

The fair value of each reporting unit, excluding [CRA, was estimated using a discounted cash fiow methodology and comparable public company and
precedent transaction multiples. The discounted cash flow analysis requires significant estimates, including projections of future operating results and
cash flows of each reporting unit that are based con internal budgets and strategic plans, expected long-term growth rates, terminal values, weighted
average cost of capital and the effecis of external factors and market conditions. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the
estimated fair value of each reporting unit that could result in an impairment charge to reduce the carrying value of goodwill, which could ba material to
the Company's financial position and results of operations. Moody's allocates newly acquired goodwill to reporting units hased on the reporting unit
expected to benefit from the acquisition,

The sensitivity analyses on the future cash flows and WACC assumpticns described below are as of each reporting unit's last quantitative goodwill
impairment assessment. The following discusses the key assumptions utilized in the discounted cash flow valuation methodology that requires significant
management judgment:

» Fufure cash flow assumptions —The projections for future cash flows utilized in the models are derived from historical experience and assumptions
regarding future growth and profitability of each reporting unit. These projections are consistent with the Gompany’s operating budget and strategic
plan. Cash flows for the five years subsequent to the date of the quantitative goodwill impairment analysis were utilized in the determination of the fair
vaiue of each reporting unit. The growth rates assumed a gradual increase in revenue based on a continued improvement in the global economy and
capital markets, new customer acquisition and new products. Beyond five years, a terminal value was determined using a perpetuity growth rate
based on inflation and real GDP growth rates, A sensitivity analysis of the revenue growth rates was performed on all reporting units. For each
reporting unit analyzed, a 10% decrease in the revenue growth rates used would nof have resulfed in its carrying value exceeding its estimated fair
value.

» WACC —The WACC is the rate used teo discount each reporting unit's estimated future cash flows, The WACC is calculated based on the
proportionate weighting of the cost of debt and equity. The cost of equity is based on a risk-free interest rate and an equity risk factor, which is derived
frem public companies similar te the reporting unit and which captures the perceived risks and uncertainties assoclated with the reporting unit's cash
flows. The cost of debt component is calculated as the weighted average cost associated
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with all of the Company’s outstanding borrawings as of the date of the impairment test and was immaterial to the computation of the WACEG. The cost of
debt and equity is weighted based on the debt to market capitalization ratio of publicly traded companies with similarities to the reporting unit being
tested. The WACC for all reporting units rangad from 8.5% to 10.5% as of the date of the reporting unit's most recent quantitative assessment.
Differences in the WACC used befween reporting units is primarily due to distinct risks and uncertainties regarding the cash flows of the different
reporting units. A sensitivity analysis of the WACC was performed on all reporting units as of the date of the reporting unit's last quantitative goodwill
impairment assessment. For each reporting unit analyzed, an increase in the WAGC of one percentage point would not result in its carrying value
exceeding its fair value.

Income Taxes

The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions. The Company's tax assets and liabilities are affected by the
amounts charged for services provided and expenses incurred as well as other tax matters such as intercompany transactions, The Company accounts
for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASG Topic 740. Therefore, income tax expense is based on reported income
before income taxes, and deferred income taxes reflect the effect of temporary differences between the amounts of assets and liabilities that are
recoghized for financial reporting purposes and the amounts that are recegnized for income tax purposes,

The Company is subject to tax audits in varfous jurisdictions, The Company regularly assesses the iikely outcomes of such audits in order to determine
the appropriateness of liabilities for UTPs. The Company classifies interest related to income taxes as a component of interest expense in the Company's
consolidated financial statements and associated penalties, if any, as part of other non-operating expenses.

For UTPs, ASC Topic 740 requires a company to first determine whether it is more-likely-than-not (defined as a likelihood of more than fifty percent) that
a tax position will be sustained based on its technical merits as of the reporting date, assuming that taxing authorities will examine the position and have
full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax pesition that meets this morelikely-than-not threshold is then measured and recognized at the largest
arnount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely to be realized upon effective settlement with a taxing authority. As the determination of liabilities
related to UTPs and assoclated Interest and penalties requires significant estimates to be made by the Company, there can be no assurance that the
Company will accurately predict the outcomes of these audits, and thus the eventual outcomes could have a material impact on the Company’s cperating
results or financial condition.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into law, which resulted in significant changes to U.S. corporate tax laws. The Tax Act includes a
mandatory one-time deemed repatriation ax (“transition tax") on previously untaxed accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries and reduces the
statutory federal corporate income tax rate frem 35% to 21%. Due to the complexities involved in applying the provisions of the Tax Act, in 2017 the
Company recorded a provisional estimate of $247.3 million related to the transition tax in 2017. In 2018, the IRS issued notices clarifying certain aspects
of the transition tax. As a result, the Company reduced its prevision for the transition tax by $10.9 million. The IRS may issue additional regulations or
notices in future periods to clarify or amend provisions of the Tax Act and such guidance could result in revisions in future periods to the amounts
recorded for the existing provisions and interpretations of the Tax Act. in addition, in 2018 the Company recorded a deferred tax asset of $48.1 millicn
refated to potential foreign tax credits which could be realized if certain UTPs resulted in tax assessments. The transition tax liability reported on the
Company's 2017 tax return is payable over eight years starting in 2018 and will not accrue interest. Due to the reduction in U.S. corporate inceme tax
rates beginning ih 2018, a decrease of $56.2 million was recorded to net deferred tax assels in 2017, The above amounts may be impacted by a number
of additional considerations, including but not limited to the issuance of regulations and the Company's engoing analysis of the new law.

Pursuant to the Tax Act being signed into law, all previously undistributed forelgn eamings became subject to U.S. tax. In light of U.S tax reform, the
Company has reassessed Its capital allocation strategy, including reevaluating its global cash position and revising its plans for repatriating or reinvesting
foreign eamings. The Company regularly evaluates in which entities it will indefinitely reinvest earnings outside the U.S, The Company has provided
non-U.S. deferred taxes for those entities whose earnings are not considered indefinitely reinvested outside of the U.S.

Revenue Recognition and Costs to Obtain a Contract with a Customer
Revenue is recognized when contrel of promised goods or services is transferred to the customer, in an amount that reflects the consideration the
Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

The discussion below cutlines areas of the Company’s revenue recognition process that require significant management judgment and astimatas, Refer
to Note 2 of the consolidated financial stalements for a comprehensive discussion regarding the Company’s accounting policies relating to the recegnition
of revenue and costs to ebtain 2 contract with a customer.
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Determination of performarnce obligations:

When contracts with customers contain multiple performance abligations, the Company accounts for individual performance obligations separately if they
are distinct.

In the Company's MIS segment, revenue arrangements with multiple elements are generally comprised of two distinct performance chbligations, initial
rating fees and the related monitoring services. Revenue attributed to initial ratings of issued securities is generally recognized when the rating is
dslivered to the issuer, whereas revenue from monitoring related to MIS's ratings is recognized ratably over the period in which the monitoring is
performed,

In the MA segment, contracts with customers often include promises to transfer multiple products and services to a customer. When arrangements for
software, content or Saas licenses also include related implementation services, the Company may be required to exercise significant judgment in
determining the level of integration and interdependency between the promise to grant the software license and the promise to deliver the related
implementation services. This determination influences whether the software license is considered distinct and accounted for separately (with revenue
generally being recognized at the time the product mastar or first copy is delivered or transferred to the customer), or not distinct and accounted for
together with the implementation services {with revenue being recognized con a percentage-of-completion basis as implementation services are
performed).

Allocating consideration to performance obligations:

Management judgment is also required in the determination of the SSP, which is ulilized to allocate the consideration from a contract with a customer fo
each distinct performance obligation.

In the MIS segment, the Company allocates the transaction price within arrangements that include multiple elements based upon the relative SSP of
each service at confract inception. The SSP for monitoring fees in these arrangements is generally based upon directly observabie selling prices where
the monitoring service is sold separately. The Company generally utilizes management's best estimate of SSP for initial rating fees and considers all
available data points. MIS generally provides Initial ratings only in transactions with customers that include monitoring services related to the rating.

In the MA segment, revenue is generally allocated to all performance obligations based upon the relative SSP at contract inception. For performarice
obligations where an obsarvable price exists, such as PCS, the observable price is utilized. If an observable price does not currently exist, the Company
will utilize management's best estimate of SSP for that good or service using estimation methods that maximize the use of observable data peints.

The SSP in both segments is usually apportioned along the lines of class of customer, nature of product/services, and other aftributes related to those
products and services. Once SSP is determined for each performance obligation, the transaction price, including any discount, is allocatad based on the
relative SSP of the separate performance obligations.

Costs to Obtain a Confract with a Customer;

Costs incurred to obtain customer contracts, such as sales commissions, are deferred and recorded within other current assets and other assels when
such costs are determined to be incremental to obtaining a contract, would not have been incurred otherwise and the Company expects to recover these
costs. These costs are amortized to expense consistent with the recognition pattern of the related revenue over time, Depending on the line of business
to which the contract relates, this amoriization pericd may be based upon the average economic life of the products sold or average pericd for which
services are provided, inclusive of anticipated contract renewals. Determining the estimated economic life of the products sold requires judgmant with
respect to anticipated future technological changes/product enhancaments.

Contingencies

Accounting for contingencies, including those matters described in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, is highly subjective and requires the
use of judgments and estimates in assessing their magnitude and likely outcoma, In many cases, the cutcomes of such matters will be determined by
third parties, including governmental or judicial bodies. The provisions madz in the consalidated financial statements, as well as the related disclosures,
represent management's best estimates of the current status of such matters and their potential outcome based on a review of the facis and in
consultation with outside legal counsel where deemed appropriate. The Company regularly reviews contingencies and as new information becomes
available may, in the fufure, adjust its associated liabilities,

For clalms, litigation and preceedings and governmental investigations and inguiries not related to income taxes, where it is both probable that a liability
has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated, the Company records liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
perfodically adjusts these as appropriate, When the reasonable estimate of the loss is within a range of amounts, the minimum amount of the range is
acerued unless some higher amount within the range is a better estimate than another amount within the range. In other instances, where a loss is
reasanably possible, management does net record a liability because of uncertainties related to the probable outcome and/for the amount or range of
loss, but discloses the contingency if material.
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As additional information becomes available, the Cempany adjusts its assessments and estimates of such matters accordingly. In view of the inherent
difficulty of predicting the outcome of litigation, regulatory, governmental investigations and inquiries, enforcement and similar matters and contingencies,
particularly where the claimants seek large or indeterminate damages or where the parties assert novel legal theories or the matters involve a large
number of parties, the Company cannot predict what the eventual cutcome of the pending matters will be or the timing of any resclution of such matters.
The Company also cannot predict the impact (if any) that any such matters may have on how its business is conducted, on its competitive position or on
its financial position, results of operations or cash flows. As the process to resclve any pending matters progresses, management will continue to review
the latest information available and assess its ability to predict the outcome of such matters and the effacts, if any, on its operations and financial
condition. However, in light of the large or indeterminate damages sought in some of them, the absence of similar court rulings on the theocries of law
asserted and uncertainties regarding apportiecnment of any petential damages, an estimate of the range of possible losses cannot be made at this time.

The Company’s wholly-owned insurance subsidiary Insures the Company against certain risks including, but not limited to, deductibles for worker's
compensation, employment practices litigation, employee medical claims and terrorism, for which the claims are not material to the Company. In addition,
for claim years 2008 and 2009, the insurance subsidiary insured the Company for defense costs related to professional liability claims. For matters
insured by the Company’s insurance subsidiary, Moody's records liabilities based on the estimated total claims expected to be paid and tctal projected
costs to defend a claim through its anticipated conclusion. The Company determines liabilities based on an assessment of management's best estimate
of claims to be paid and legal defense costs as well as actuarially determined esfimates. Defense costs for matters not self-insured by the Company’s
wholly-owned insurance subsidiary are expensed as services are provided.

Accounts Receivable Allowances and Contract Assets

Moody's records variable consideration in respect of estimated future adjustments to customer billings as an adjustment to revenue, using the expected
value method based on analysis of similar contracts in the same line of business, Such amounts are reflacted as additions to the accounts recaivable
allowance, or to contract assets. Additionally, estimates of uncollectible accounts are recorded as bad debt expense and are reflected as additions to the
accounts receivable allowance. Actual billing adjustments are recorded against the allowance, or confract asset, depending on the nature of the
adjustment. Actual uncollectible account write-offs are recorded against the allowance. Moody's evaluates its accounts receivable allowance by reviewing
and assessing historical collection and adjustment experience and the current status of customer accounts. Moody's also considers the ecenomic
environment of the customers, both from an industry and geographic perspective, in evaluating the need for allowances. Based on its analysis, Moody's
adjusts its allowance as considered appropriate in the circumstances. This process involves a high degree of judgment and estimation and could invelve
significant dollar amounts. Accordingly, Mocdy’s results of operations can be affected by adjustments to the allowance, Managementi believes that the
allowance is adequate to cover anticipated adjustments and write-offs under current conditions. However, significant changes in any of the above factors,
or actual write-offs or adjustments that differ from the estimated amounts, could impact the Company’s consolidated results of operations.

Pension and Other Retirement Benefits
The expenses, assets and liabilities that Meody's reports for its Retirement Plans are dependent on many assumptions concerning the outcome of future
events and circumstances. These significant assumpfiions include the following:

» future compensation increases based on the Company’s long-term actual experience and future cutlook;

» long-term expected retum on pension plan assets based on historical portfolio results and the expected future average annual return for each major
asset class within the plan's portfolic (which is principally comprised of equity and fixed-income investments); and

» discount rates based on current yields on high-grade corparate long-term honds.

The discount rates used to measure the present value of the Company’s benefit obligation for its Retirement Plans as of December 31, 2018 wera
derived using a cash flow matching method whereby the Company compares each plan's projected payment obligations by year with the corresponding
yield on the FTSE pension discount curve. The cash flows by plan are then discounted back to present value to determine the discount rate applicable to
aach plan.

Moody’s major assumptions vary by plan and assumptions used are set forth in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. In determining these
assumptions, the Company consults with third-party acluaries and ather advisors as deemed appropriate. While the Company believes that the
assumptions used in its calculations are reasonable, differences in actual experience or changes in assumptions could have a significant effect on the
expenses, assels and liabilities related to the Company's Retirement Plans. Additianally, the Campany has updated its mertality assumption by adopting
the newly released mortality improvement scale MP-2018 to accempany the RP-2014 mortality tables to reflect the latest information regarding future
mortality expectations by the Society of Actuaries.

When actual plan experience differs from the assumptions used, actuarial gains or losses arise. Excluding differences between the expected long-term
rate of return assumption and actual retums on plan assets, the Company amortizes, as a component of annual
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pension expense, fofal cutstanding actuaral gains or [osses over the estimated average future working lifetirme of active plan participants to the extent
that the gainfloss exceeds 10% of the greater of the beginning-cf-year projected benefit obligation or the market-related value of plan assets. For Moody's
Retirement Plans, the total actuarial losses as of December 31, 2018 that have not been recognized in annual expense are $83.5 million, and Moody's
expects to recognize a net periodic expense of $3.6 million in 2019 related to the amortization of actuarial losses.

For Moody's funded U.S. pension plan, the differences between the expected long-term rate of return assumption and actual returns could also affect the
net periodic pension expense. As permitied under ASC Topic 715, the Company amortizes the impact of asset returns over a five-year peried for
purposes of calculating the market-related value of assets that is used in determining the expected return on assets’ component of annual expense and in
calculating the total unrecognized gain or loss subject to amortization. As of December 31, 2018, the Company has an unrecognized asset [oss of

$12.5 million, of which $4.3 million will be recognized in the market-related value of assets that is used to calculate the expected return on assets’
component of 2020 expense.

The table below shows the estimated effect that a one percentage-point decrease in each of these assumptions will have on Moody's 2019 income
before provision for income taxes. These effects have been calculated using the Company’s current projections of 2019 expenses, assets and liabilities
related to Moody's Retirement Plans, which could change as updated data becomes available,

Estlmated Impact on
2019 Income before Provision
for Income Taxes

{dollars in millions} Assumption Used for 2019 (Decrease)Increase
Welahted Avérage Riscaunt Rate AR By

Waighted Average Assumed Compensatio
gl [N e T L L
{1) Weighted average discount rates of 4.07% and 4.10% for pension plans and Other Retirement Plans, respectively.

A one percentage-point increase in assumed healthcare cost trend rates will net affect 2019 projected expenses. Based on current projections, the
Company estimates that expenses related to Retirement Plans will be approximately $24 million in 2019, a decrease compared to the $30.7 miltion
recognized in 2018.

Restructuring

The Company has engaged, and may continue to engage, in restructuring actions, which require management to utilize significant estimates related to
expenses for severance and other employee behefil costs, contract termination costs and asset impairments. If the actual amounts differ from these
estimates, the amount of the restructuring charge could be impacted. For a full description of Moody’s restructuring actions, refer to Note 10 {o the
consolidated financial statements.

Other Estimates

In addition, there are other accounting esfimates within Moody’s censolidated financial statements, including recoverability of deferred tax assets,
valuation of investments in affiliates and the estimated lives of amertizable intangible assets. Management believes the current assumptions and other
considerations used to estimate amounts reflected in Mcody's consolidated financial statements are appropriate. However, if actual experience differs
from the assumptions and other considerations used in estimating amounts reflectad in Moody’s consolidated financial statements, the resulting changes
could have a material adverse effect on Moody's consolidated results of operaticns or financial condition.

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for further information on significant accounting policies that impact Moody's.

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS
The Company Is organized into two reperiable segments at December 31, 2018: MIS and MA.

The MIS segment is comprised primarily of all of the Company’s ratings operations consisting of five LOBs - GFG, SFG, FIG, PPIF and MIS Other. The
ratings LOBs generate revenue principally from fees for the assignment and cngoing monitoring of credit ratings on debt obligations and the entities that
issue such obligations in markets worldwide. The MIS Other LOB consists of certain non-ratings operations managed by MIS, which consists of
nan-rating revenue from ICRA and fixed income pricing service operations in the Asia-Pacific region.

The MA segment develops a wide range of products and services that support financial analysis and risk management activities of instifutional
participants in global financial markets as well as serving as provider of business intelligence and company information. The MA segment consists of
three lines of business — RD&A, ERS and PS. The results of operations for MA for the year ended December 31, 2018 include the financial resuits from
Omega Performance and Reis, which were acquired in August 2018 and Cctober 2018, respectively. Revenue for the PS LOB includes financial results
from Omega Performance and revenue for RD&A LOB includes financial results from Reis.
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The following is a discussion of the results of operations of the Company and its reportable segments. Total MIS revenue and total MA expenses include
the intersegment royalty revenue for MIS and experse charged to MA for tha rights to use and distribute content, data and products developed by MIS.
The royalty rate charged by MIS approximates the fair value of the aforementioned content, data and products developed by MIS, Total MA revenue and
total MIS expenses include intersegment fees charged to MIS from MA for the use of certain MA products and services in MIS's ratings process. These
fees charged by MA are generally equal to the costs incurred by MA to provide these products and services. Overhead charges and corporate expenses
that exclusively benefit one segment are fully charged to that segment. Additionally, overhead costs and corporate expenses of the Company that benefit
both segments are generally allocated to each segment based on a revenus-split methodology. Overhead expenses include costs such as rent and
occupancy, information technology and support staff such as finance, human rescurces and legal.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year ended Decomber 31, 2018 compared with year ended December 31, 2017

Executive Summary

» Moody’s completed the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk on August 10, 2017. Moody's results of operations include Bureau van Dijk's operating results
beginning as of August 11, 2017, Additionally, Moody's completed the acquisitions of Omega Performance and Reis on August 16, 2018 and
Oclober 15, 2018, respectively. in the discussion below, reference to inorganic revenue growth refers to Bureau van Dijk's operating results from
January 1, 2018 through and including August 10, 2018 as well as Reis and Omega Performance revenue from their respective acquisitions dates
through December 31, 2018.

» Moody's revenue in 2018 totaled $4,442.7 million, an increase of $238.6 million, or 6%, compared to 2017, reflecting growth in MA being partially
offset by declines in MIS.

»  MIS external revenue was 2% lower compared to the prier year reflecting:

» lower non-financial corporate and infrastructure rated issuance volumes reflecting the confluence of unfavorable market factors, with the
impact mast notable in the fourth quarter of 2018;

» adecline in U.S, public finance issuance resulting from certain provisions of the Tax Act;
parlially offsef by:
»  benefits from a favorable product mix and pricing increases;
» anincrease in new ratings mandates; and
» demand for floating rate instruments {most notably in the first half of 2018), which resulted in strong CLO formation,
»  MA external revenue grew 21% compared fo the prior year primarily reflecting:

» approximately $202 million of inorganic revenue growth from the acquisitions of Bureau van Dijk, Reis and Omega, or approximately 14
percentage points of the growth; and

»  strong growth in the credit research and rating data feeds product lines within RD&A.

» Total operating and SG&A expenses increased $123.1 million, or 6% compared to 2017, with the most notable driver being approximately $120 million
of inorganic expense growth from the aforementicned acquisitions.

» The restructuring charge in 2018 relates to a restructuring program approved in the fourth quarter of 2018, which is more fully discussed in Note 10 tc
the consolidated financial statements.

» D&A increased $33.6 million primarily due to amartization of intangible assets acquired as part of the Bureau van Dijk acquisition.

» Operating income of $1,868.2 million in 2018 increased $47.4 million compared to 2017 and resulted in an operating margin of 42.1%, compared to
43.3% in the prior year. Adjusted Operating Income of $2,117.1 million in 2018 increased $115.5 million compared to 2017, resulting in an Adjusted
Operating Margin of 47.7% comparad to 47.6% in the prier year.

» The change in total non-operating {expense) income, net compared to the prior year is primarily due to the $59.7 million CCXI Gain and $111.1 million
Purchase Price Hedge Gain in 2017.

» The ETR in 2018 was 21.0%, down from 43.6% for the prior-year period, The ETR in 2018 benefitted from the impact of an enacted lower carporate
tax rate in the U.S. pursuant to the Tax Act and lower nen-U.S. effective tax rates. The ETR in 2017 included a net charge of approximately
$246 million related to the impacts of tax reform in the U.S. and Belgium partially offset by the non-taxable CCXI Gain.
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» Diluted EPS and Adjusted Diluted EPS in 2018 of $6.74 and $7.39, respectively, increased 31%, and 22%, respectively, compared to 2017, with
approximately 10 percentage points of the growth due te the faverable impact of the Tax Act on the ETR. Refer to the section entitled “Non-GAAP
Financial Measures” of this MD&A for items excluded in the derivation of Adjusted Diluted EPS.

Moady’s Corporation

Year Ended December 31

tEAr ENGed Lecemper o1, % Change Favorable

Rireciive g rat = ,
(1} Adjusted Operating Income, Adjusted Operating Margin and Adjusted Diluted EPS aftributable to Moody's commeon sharehelders are non-GAAP financlal measures, Refer to the
section entifled "Non-GAAP Financial Measures” of this Management Discussion and Analysis for further information regarding these measures,

gt et

The fable below shows Maody's global staffing by geographic area:

December 31,
2018 2017 % Change

it

(1}  Includes approximately 275 employees from the acqulsition of Rels and Omega Peiformance

Global revenue of $4,442.7 million in 2018 increased $238.6 million, or 6%, compared to 2017 reflecting growth in MA partially offset by declines in MIS.
Refer to the section entitled “Segment Results” of this MD&A for a mare fulsome discussion of the Company's segment revenue.
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Transaction Revenue accounted for 44% of glohal MCO revenue in 2018 compared to 50% in 2017,
U.S. revenue of $2,329.6 million in 2018 decreased $18.8 million over the prior year reflecting declines in MIS belng partially offset by growth in MA,

Nor-L1.8. revenue of $2,113.1 millien increased $257.4 millicn from 2017 refiecting growth in both reportable segments, and included approximately
$167 million of inorganic revenue growth frem Bureau van Dijk.

Operating expenses were $1,245.5 million in 2018, up $28.9 million from 2017, reflecting increases in non-compensation of approximately $38 millian,
partially offset by a decline in compensation cost of approximately $9 million. The increase in non-compensation costs is primarily due to inorganic
expense growth related to the acquisitions of Bureau van Dijk, Reis and Omega. The decline in compensation costs reflects lower incentive
compensation resulting from lower achievement against full-year targeted results compared to the prior year, parllally offset by higher salaries and
employee banefits expenses, which includes the impact of salary adjustments and hiring as well as inorganic expense growth related 1o the
aforementioned acquisitions.

SGRA axpenses of $1,080.1 million in 2018 increasad $94.2 million from the prior year reflecting increases in non-compensation and compensation costs
of approximately $65 million and $30 miltion, respectively. The increase in non-compensation costs primarily reflects inorganic expense growth related to
the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk and higher legal costs. The increase in compansation costs reflects an increase in salaries and employee benefits
expenses, which includes the impact of salary adjustments and hiring as well as inorganic expense growth related to the Bureau van Dijk, Rais and
Omega Performance acquisitions. These increases were partially offset by lower incentive compensation reflecting lower achievement against full-year
targeted results compared to the prior year.

The restructuring charge of $48.7 million relates to a restructuring program approved in the fourth quarter of 2018, which s more fully discussed in Note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

D&A increased $33.6 million primarily due to amortization of intangible assets acquirad as part of the Bureau van Dijk acquisition.

Operating income of $1,868.2 million in 2018 increased $47.4 million compared to 2017 and resulted in an operating margin of 42.1%, compared to
43.3% in the prior year. Adjusted Operating Income of $2,117.1 millior: in 2018 increased $115.5 million compared to 2017, resulting in an Adjusted
Operating Margin of 47.7% compared to 47.6% in the prior year.

Interest expense, net in 2018 was $216.C miltion, a $7.5 million increase in expense compared to 2017, primarily due to interest and fees on additional
debt issued in 2017 to fund the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk and the issuance of additional notes issued in the second and fourth quarter of 2018, all of
which are more fully discussed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. Refer to the section entitled “Liquidity and Capital Rescurces” of this
MD&A far further discussion regarding cash flows refating to the Company’s indebtedness. This increase was partially offset by benefits from cross-
currency swaps executed in 2018, which are more fully discussed in Note & to the consolidated financial statements. Additlonally, interest expense in
2017 included approximately $7 million due to the Make Whole Amount on the prepayment of the Series 2007-1 Notes.

Other non-cperating income, net was $18.8 million in 2018, & $15.1 million increase compared to 2017 primarily reflecting lower FX losses of
approximately $5 million coupled with gains on the Company’s investments in certain mutual funds.

Additionally, Moody’s recognized the $58.7 million CCXI Gain and the $111.1 million Purchase Price Hedge Gain in 2017.

The reduction in the ETR fo 21.0% in 2018 primarily reflects the impact of an enacted lower corporate tax rate in the U.S. pursuant to the Tax Act.
Additionally, the 2018 ETR includes additional UTPs of approximately $64 million relating to certain non-U.S. matters partially offset by a decrease
relafing to the transition tax liability of approximately $59 million. Furthermere, the 2018 ETR includes the benefit from lower non-U.S. effactive tax rates.
The ETR in 2017 was 43.6% and included a net charge of approximately $246 million related to the impacts.of tax reform in the U.S. and Belgium and fax
on the Purchase Price Hedge Gain, which was taxed in a higher tax jurisdiction. These items were partially offset by the non-taxable CCX| Gain in 2017,

Diluted EPS in 2018 of $6.74, which included a $0.19 restructuring charge, increased $1.59, or 31%, compared to 2017, which included both the $0.31
CCXI Gain and the $0.37 Purchase Price Hedge Gain. Adjusted Diluted EPS of $7.39 in 2018 increased $1.32, or 22%, compared to 2017 (refer to the
section entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” of this MD&A for items excluded in the derivation of Adjusted Diluted EPS). The favorable impact of the
Tax Act on the ETR contributed approximately 10 percentage peints of the growth for both Diluted EPS and Adjusted Diluted EPS.
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Segment Resulis

Moody's Investors Service
The table below provides a summary of revenue and operaling results, followed by further insight and commentary:

Year Ended December 31, % Change
Favorable

2013 2017

Relghos
Caorporate finance (Cl

S TR TSR

$1,334.1

E=NIS Other
Tatal external revenue 2,712.4 2773.8 (2%}

“REs Gk

B ﬁépreciation and amortlzation

The following is a discussion of external MIS revenue and operating expenses:

Global MIS revenue of $2,712.4 million in 2018 was down 2% compared te 2017, reflecting declines in CFG and PPIF being partially offset by grawth in
SFG and FIG and the favorable impact of changes in product mix and pricing increases.

Transaction Revenue for MIS was 62% in 2018, compared ta 65% in 2017.
In the U.S., revenue was $1,619.2 million in 2018, down $83.6 million from 2017 reflecting declines in CFG and PPIF.

Non-U.S. revenue was $1,093.2 million in 2018, an increase of $22.2 millicn or 2%, compared to 2017, primarily reflecting strength in non-U.S. SFG
revenue.

Global CFG revenue of $1,334.1 million in 2018 declined 4% compared to 2017 and reflected lower corporate debt issuance (both investment-grade and
speculative-grade) resulting from a confluence of unfavorable cyclical market factors which included: i) higher U.S. benchmark interest rates; iy increased
capital market volatility; iii) widening of credit spreads; and iv) an increase in U.5. corporate sector liquidity subsequent to U.S. tax reform. These declines
were partially offset by changes in product mix and pricing increases coupled with growth in new ratings mandates, which resulted in higher monitoring
fees in all regions. Additionally, the decline compared to 2017 was partially offset by higher bank loan revenue in the first half of 2018 in the U.S, and
EMEA resulting from favorable changes in product mix, M&A financing activity and investor demand for floating rate debt instruments earlier in the year.
Transaction Revenue represented 69% and 73% of total CFG revenue in 2018 and 2017, respectively. In the U.S,, revenue was $852.3 million, or 6%
lower compared to the prior year. Non-U.S. revenue of $481.8 million was approximately flat compared to the prior year.

Global SFG revenue of $526.5 million in 2018 increased $31.0 millien, or 6%, compared te 2017. In the U.S., revenue of $342.9 million increased

$2.8 million over 2017 and reflected strength in CLO formation resuiting from an increase in the supply of collateral and favorable market conditions in the
first half of 2018, which facilitated both new securitizations and ongoing refinancing activity. These increases were pariially offset by declines in REIT
issuance compared to record issuance in 2017 coupled with lower CMBS issuance. Non-U.8. revenue in 2018 of $183.6 million increased $28.2 million
compared to the prior year, This growth primarily reflects increases across most asset classes in the EMEA region, most notably in structured credit
which has benefited from increased availability cf loan
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collateral resulting from strength in leveraged loan issuance late in 2017 into early 2018, Transaction Revenue was 65% of tota! SFG revenue in both
2018 and 2017.

Glabal FIG revenue of $441.7 million in 2018 increased $5.9 million, or 1%, compared to 2017 primarily due to growth in the Insurance sector reflecting
issuance to fund M&A and refinancing activity as well as benefits from changes in product mix and pricing increases. These increases were partially
offset by lower banking-related revenue in Asla-Pacific reflecting a decline in issuance from Chinese financial institutions. In the U.S., revenue of

$194.8 million increased 5% compared to the prior year. Non-U.8. revenue was $247.1 million in 2018, down 1% compared to 2017, Transaction revenue
was 42% of total FIG revenug in 2018, compared to 45% in the same period in 2017.

Global PPIF revenue was $391.1 million 1n 2018 and decreased 9% compared to 2017. In the U.S., revenue in 2018 was $228.8 million, a decrease of
$37.6 million compared to 2017, primarily due te lower U.S. public sector supply following the enactment of the Tax Act, which disallowed certain tax
exemptions for advance refunding transactions. Additionally, the decline reflects lower infrastructure finance rated issuance volumes. These decreases
were partially offset by benefits from changes in product mix and pricing increases. Qutside the .S., PPIF revenue was $162.3 millien and declined
modestly compared to 2017, Transaction Revenue was 61% in 2018, compared to 65% in the same period of 2017,

Operating and SG&A expenses in 2018 decreased $56.6 million comparad to 2017 primarily due to approximately $98 millien in lower incentive
compensation accruals reflecting lower achievement against full-year {argeted results compared to the prior year. This decrease was partially offset by
higher salaries and employee benefits costs reflecting salary adjustments and hiring coupled with higher legal costs.

The restructuring charge relates te a restructuring program approved in the fourth quarter of 2018, which is mare fully discussed in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements,

Adjusted Operating Income and operating income in 2018, which includes intersegment royalty revenue and intersegment expanses, were

$1,657.4 million and $1,560.3 million, respectively, and ware generally in line with the prior year. Operating income in 2018 included a $32.2 million
restructuring charge. Adjusted Operating Margin was 58.4%, or 130BPS higher than the prior year. Operating margin was 55.0% in 2018 compared {o
54.5% in the prior year.

Moody’s Analytics
The table below provides a summary of revenue and operating resulis, followed by further insight and commentary:

Year Ended December 31, % Change
Favorable

2018 2047 [Unfavorable)

h, data and ana

I Eninse HEk SOl

Tl
Expenses:

Global MA revenue increased $300.0 millian, or 21%, compared te 2017, primarily due to growth in RD&A, which included approximately $202 million of
inorganic revenue growth from the acquisitions of Bureau van Dijk, Reis and Omega Performance, or 14
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percentage points of the growth. Additionally, the growth over the prior year reflects benefits from higher fees within MA’s recurring revenue base due fo
enhanced content and confinued alignment of usage and licensing paramaters. Recurring revenue comprised 84% and 78% of total MA revenue in 2018
and 2017, respectively.

In the U.S., revenue of $710.4 millien in 2018 increased $64.8 million, mainly reflecting growth in RD&A.

Non-U.S. revenue of $1,019.9 million in 2018 was $235.2 million higher than in 2017 primarily reflecting growth in RD&A, which included approximately
$167 million of inorganic growth from Bureau van Dijk.

Global RD&A revenue of $1,134.1 million, which comprised 66% and 58% of total extemal MA revenue in 2018 and 2017, respectively, increased
$301.4 million, or 36%, over the prior year period. RD&A revenue in 2018 included approximately $198 million of inorganic revenue growth, or 24
percentage points of the growth, from the Bureau van Dijk and Rels acquisitions, RD&A revenue growth also reflects strong results In the credit research
and rating data feeds product lines, where enhanced content and continued alignment of usage and licensing parameters have generated higher fees,
coupled with strong organic growth from Bureau van Dijk. U.S. revenue of $480.4 miillion and non-U.S. revente of $653.7 milllon increased 13% and
60%, respectively, compared to 2017,

Global ERS revenue of $437.4 million in 2018 decreased $11.2 million, or 2%, compared to 2017. This decrease primarily reflects a decline in perpetual
softwars [icense sales and related implementaticn services as the business continues to transition to SaaS products sold on a subscription basis. These
decreases were partially offsef by continued strong demand for subscription-based preducts and benefits from pricing increases within ERS's recurring
revenue base. In the U.5., revenue of $178.0 million increased 2% compared 1o the prior year. Non-U.S. revenue of $267.4 million decreased 5%
compared to the prior year.

Global P'S revenue of $158.8 million in 2018 increased $9.8 million compared to 2017 reflecting higher revenue from analytical and research services in
EMEA, which benefited from strong new sales and improved customer retention, coupled with grawth in U.S. learning solutions revenue mainly due to the
acquisition of Omega Performance. In the U.S,, revenue in 2018 was 560.0 million, up 10% compared to 2017. Nen-U.S, revenue was $98.8 million, up
5% compared to 2017.

Operating and SG&A expenses in 2018 increased $179.7 millicn compared to 2017 primarily due to approximately $120 million of inorganic expense
growth from the Bureau van Dijk, Reis and Omega Perfermance acquisitions. Additionally, the increase reflects higher compensation costs primarily
resulting from salary adjustments and hiring as well as higher incentive compensation reflecting higher achievement against full-year targeted results
compared to the prior year,

The restructuring charge relates to a restructuring program approved in the fourth quarter of 2018, which is more fully discussed in Note 10 to the
consclidated financial statements.

Depreciation and amortization increased $43.4 million primarily due to the amortization of Bureau van Dijk's intangible assets.

Adjusted Operating Income was $459.7 million in 2018 and increased $104.3 million compared to the same period in 2017. Operating income of
$307.9 million in 2018, which included a $18.5 million restructuring charge, increased $58.6 million compared to the same period in 2017, Adjusted
Operating Margin in 2018 was 26.4%, up 180BPS from 2017. Cperating margin was 17.7% in 2018, up 50BPS from the prior year, with the margin
expansion being suppressed by the restructuring charge in 2018. Adjusted Operating Income and operating income both include intersegment revenue
and expehse.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year ended December 31, 2017 compared with year ended December 31, 2016
Executive Summary

» Moody’s completed the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk on August 10, 2017. Mocdy’s results of operations include Bureau van Dijk's operating results
beginning as of August 10, 2017.

» Moody’s revenue in 2017 totaled $4,204.1 miilicn, an increase of $599.9 million, or 17%, compared to 2016 reflecting strong growth in both segments.

»  MIS revenue was 17% higher compared to the prior year with growth across all ratings LOBs. The most notable growth was in the CFG LOB
mainly due to strong leveraged finance issuance across all regions reflecting favorable market conditions and increased investor demand for
higher yielding securities.

»  MA revenue grew 16% compared to the prior year reflecting growth acress all LOBs. The most notable growth was in the RD&A LOB, which
reflected increases in credit research subscriptions and licensing of credit data as well as an approximate $92 million contribution from Bureau
van Dijk {net of an approximate $36 million reduction relating to a deferred revenue adjustment required as part of acquisition accounting as
further described in Note 8 to the financial statements, providing approximately seven additional percentage points to growthj}.
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» Total operating expenses excluding D&A decreased $801.8 millien, or 21% compared to 2016 reflecting the $863.8 million Setilement Charge in 2016.

»

»

»

»

This decrease is partially offset by higher compensation costs in 2017, which reflects growth in performance-based compensation resulting from
strong financial performance in 2017 coupled with annual merit increases. Additionally, there was approximately $64 million in Bureau van Dijk
operating expenses and $22.5 million in Acquisition-Related Expenses in 2017.

D&A increased $31.6 million primarily due to amortization of infangible assets acquired as part of the Bureau van Dijk acquisition.

Operating income of $1,820.8 million in 2017 increased $1,169.% million compared to 2016 and resulted in an operating margin of 43.3%, compared to
18.1% in the prior year. Operating income and cperating margin in 2016 were suppressed by the $863.8 million Seitlement Charge. Adjusted
QOperating Income of $2,001.8 million in 2017 increased $348.2 million compared to 2016, resulting in an Adjusted Operating Margin of 47.6%
compared to 45.9% in the prior year.

The decrease in non-operating expense, net, compared to the prior year is primarily due to;
» the $59.7 million CCXI Gain in 2017;
»  the $111.1 million Purchase Price Hedge Gain in 2017;
Parfialfy offset by:

»  higher interest expense of §51.2 million primarily reflecting additional financing in 2017 utilized to fund the payment of the 2016 Settlement
Charge, repay the Series 2007-1 Notes and fund the Bureau van Dijk acquisition; and

»  FXlosses of approximately $17 million in the 2017 compared fo FX gains of approximately $50 million in the prior year, The FX gdins in 2016
included approximately $35 million related to the liquidation of a non-U.S. subsidiary.

The ETR of 43.6% in 2017 includes a net charge of approximately $246 million in the fourth quarter related to the impacts of tax reform in the U.S. and
Belgium partially offset by the non-taxable CCX| Gain and an approximate $40 million benefit relating to Excess Tax Benefits on stock-based
compensation. The 2016 ETR of 50.6% included the non-deductible nature of the federal portion of the Setflament Charge,

Full year 2017 Diluted EPS of $5.15 was up from $1.36 in 2016. Adjusted Diluted EPS of $6.07 was up 23% from $4.94 in 2016. Refer to the section
entitled "Non-GAAP Financial Measures” of this MD&A for a full list of items excluded in the derivation of Adjusted Diluted EPS.
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Woody's Corporation

Year Ended December 31

__rear Enced Ugcember v, | % Change Favorable

2017 2018

Unlted States

CCXI Galn
HEEkbh-operating TeRerE T

Net income attributable to Moody's
e 15

Effective tax rate 43.6% 50.6%

(1) Adjusted Operating Income, Adjusted Operating Margin and Adjusted Dilutad EPS attributable to Moody's common sharehoiders are non-GAAP financial measures, Refer tg the
section antitled “Mon-GAAP Financial Measurss” of this Management Discussion and Analysis for further Information regarding these measures.

The table below shows Moody's global staffing by geographic area:

December 31,

(1) Includes 874 employees from the acguisition of Bureau van Dijk
Global revenue of $4,204.1 million in 2017 increased $599.9 million, or 17%, compared to 2016 and reflected strong growth in both MIS and MA.

The $403.0 million increase in MIS revenue primarily reflects strong global leveraged finance rated issuance volumes in CFG as issuers fook advantage
of favorable market conditions to refinance obligatiens in 2017 as well as growth in the banking sector within FIG and in CLO issuance in SFG.
Additionally, the increase over prior year reflects benefits from changes in the mix of fee type, new fee initiatives and pricing increases. These increases
were partially offset by lower U.S. public finance refunding volumes.
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The $196.9 million increase in MA revenue primarily reflects higher RD&A revenue across all regions driven by growth in credit research subscriptions
and Hcensing of ratings data as well as the contribution from the Bureau van Dijk acquisition of approximately $92 million (net of an approximate

$36 million reduction relating fo a deferred revenue adjustment required as part of acquisition accounting as further described in Note 8 to the financial
statements).

Transaction revenue accounted for 50% of global MCO revenue in 2017 compared to 49% in 20186.
U.S. revenue of $2,348.4 million in 2017 increased $242.9 million over the prior year, reflecting growth in both reportable segments.
Non-LLS. revenue increased $357.0 million from 20186 reflecting growth in both reportable segments.

Operating expenses were $1,216.6 millicn in 2017, up $197.0 million from 20186, primarily due to an increase in performance-based expenses (including
annual bonuses, a profit sharing contributicn and performance-based equily compensation), which is correlated with the sfrong financtal performance of
the Company in 2017. This increase alsc reflects higher salaries and employee benefit expenses resulting from the impact of annual compensation
increases and increases in headcount caupled with Bureau van Dijk expenses.

3G&A expenses of $985.9 million in 2017 increased $54.7 million frem the prier year period primarily due to higher performance-based correlated costs
(including annual bonuses, a profit sharing contribution and performance-based equity compensation), which is consistent with the strong financial
performance of the Company in 2017 coupled with Bureau van Dijk expenses. These Increases were partially offset by the impact of cost management
initiatives implemented in 2016 that have benefited 2017 as well as lower legal costs.

D&A increased $31.6 million primarily due io amortizaticn of intangible assets acquired as part of the Bureau van Dijk acquisition.
Acquisition-Related Expenses represent expenses incurred to complete and integrate the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk.

Operating income of $1,820.8 million increased $1,169.9 million from 2018. Operating margin was 43.3% compared to 18.1% in 2016, Operating income
and operating margin in 2016 were suppressed by the $863.8 million Settlement Charge. Adjusted Operating Income was $2,001.6 million in 2017, an
increase of $348.2 million compared to 2016. Adjusted Cperating Margin of 47.6% increased 170 BPS compared fo the prior year.

Interest (expense) income, net in 2017 was ${208.5) million, a $51.2 million increase in expense compared to 2016 primarily due to: i} interest on the
2017 Senior Notes and 2017 Floating Rate Senior Notes which were issued in the first quarter of 2017 to fund the payment of the 2016 Settlement
Charge and repayment of the Series 2007-1 Notes; i} interest on the 2017 Private Placement Notes Due 2023 and 2028 both issued in June 2017
coupled with interest on the 2017 Term Loan drawn down in August 2017, all of which were issued to fund the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk; and iii) fees
on the undrawn 2017 Bridge Credit Facility also related to the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk.

Other non-operating (expense) income, net was $3.7 million in 2017, a $60.7 millicn change compared to 2016 primarily reflecting approximately
$17 million in FX losses in 2017 compared o appreximataly $50 million in FX gains in the prior year. The FX gains in 2016 included an approximate
$35 million gain related to the liguidation of a non-U.S. subsidiary.

Additionally, Moody's recognized the $59.7 million CCXI Gain and the $111.1 million Purchase Price Hedge Gain in 2017,

The ETR of 43.6% in 2017 includes a nat charge of approximately $246 million in the fourth quarter related to the impacts of corporate tax reform in the
U.S. and Belgium partially offset by the non-taxable CCXI Gain and an approximate $40 million benefit reflecting the adoption on a prospective basis of a
new accounting standard relating to Excess Tax Benefits on stock-based compensation. In accordance with a new accounting standard, these Excess
Tax Benefits are now recoirded to the provision for income taxes, whereas in the prior year were recorded to capital surplus {refer to Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements for further discussion on this new accounting standard). The 2016 ETR of 50.6% included the non-deductible nature of
the federal portion of the Settlement Charge. The impact of the aforementioned tax reform in the U.S. is expected to reduce the Company’s ETR in years
subsequent to 2017. Far the full-year ended December 31, 2018, the Company expects the ETR to be between 22% and 23%.

Full year 2017 Diluted EPS of $5.15 was up from $1.36 in 2018. Adjusted Diluted EPS of $6.07 was up 23% from $4.94 in 2016, Refer to the secfion
entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” of this MD&A for a full list of items excluded in the derivation of Adjusted Diluted EPS.
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Segment Results

Moody’s Investors Service
The lable below provides a summary of revenue and operating results, followed by further insight and commentary:

Year Ended
Dacember 31, % Change Favorable

2017 2016 {Unfavorable)

HBaReERRE
Financial Institutions {FIG)

Estuchired:

2,885.5

‘ dﬁeratillg and SG&A (external)
ol il L R R e

T
1,363.2

1,646.2 ;

& Settiom 63 {
Operating income $1,571.5 $ 4154 278%
Opérating mérgin 54.5%
The following is a discussion of external MIS revenue and operating expenses:

Global MIS revenue of §2,773.8 millien in 2017 was up 17% comparad te 2016, most notably from strong leveraged finance rated issuance volumes
within CFG coupled with strong growth in banking-related revenue in FIG and increases across most asset classes in SFG. Also contributing io the
growth was the favorable impact of changes in product mix, new fee initiatives and pricing increases.

Transaction revenue for MIS was 65% in 2017 compared to 61% in 2016.

In the U.S., revenue was $1,702.8 million in 2017, an increase of $200.9 million or 13%, compared to 2016 primarily reflecting strong growth In CFG,
SFG and FIG revenue being partially offset by declines in PPIF and MIS Other revenue.

Non-U.8, revenue was $1,071.0 million in 2017, an increase of $202.1 million or 23%, compared to 2016 reflecting growth across all LOBs excluding MiS
Cther.

Global CFG revenue of $1,392.7 million in 2017 was up 24% compared fo 2016 primarily due to strength in leveraged finance issuance in the U.S.,
EMEA and Asia-Pacific as issuers took advantage of favorable market conditions te refinance obligations and fund M&A activily. The growth in leveraged
finance revenue also reflects benefiis from a favorable product mix in 2017 compared to the prior year where issuance volumes included a greater
number of lower-yielding jumbo deals. The increase cver the prior year also reflects higher investment-grade corporate debt revenue in the U.S. reflecting
continued favorable market conditions and benefits fram changes in product mix, new fee initiatives and pricing increases as well as growth in monitoring
fees across all regions. Transaction revenue represented 73% of total CFG revenue in 2017, compared to 68% in the prior year period. In the U.S.,
revenue was $908.7 million, or 19% highar compared to the prior year. Non-U.S. revenue of $483.0 million increased 34% compared to the prier year.

16.8%

Global SFG revenue of $495.5 million in 2017 increased $58.7 million, or 13%, compared to 2016. In the U.S., revenue of $340.1 millicn increased
$46.8 million aver 2016 primarily due tc strong growth in CLO issuance raflecting an increase in bank loan supply and favorable market conditions which
enabled both new securitizations and a surge in refinancing acfivity. Non-U.S. revenue in 2017 of $155.4 million increased $11.8 millicn compared to the
prior year primarily reflecting arowth across most asset classes in the EMEA region. Transaction revenue was 65% of total SFG revenue in 2017

compared to 62% in the prior year.
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Global FIG revenue of $435.8 million in 2017 increased $66.9 million, or 18%, compared to 2016. In the U.S., revenue of $186.1 million increased

$26.0 million compared to the prior year primarlly reflecting higher issuance in the banking sector and benefits from changes in product mix, new fee
initiatives and price increases. Nen-U.S. revenue was $24%.7 million in 2017, up $40.9 million compared to 2016 primarily due to higher banking revenue
in EMEA from opportunistic issuance amidst current favorable market conditions as well as benefits from changes in product mix, new fee initiatives and
pricing increasas. The non-U.3. growth also reflects strength in banking revenue in the Asia-Pacific region reflecting higher cross-border issuance from
Chinese banks and the non-bank financial sector. Transaction revenue was 45% of fotal FIG revenue in 2017 compared to 37% in 2016.

Global PPIF revenue was $431.3 million in 2017 and increased $19.1 million, or 5%, compared to 2016, In the U.S., revenue in 2017 was $266.4 miilion
and decreased $9.8 million compared to 2016 primarily due to strong PFG refunding volumes in 2016, These decreases were parlially offset by growth in
infrastructure finance revenue coupled with benefits from changes in product mix, new fee initiatives and pricing increases. QOutside the U.8,, PPIF
revenue was $164.9 million and increased $28.9 million compared to 2018 reflecting strong growth in infrastructure finance revenue in the Asia-Pacific
region and growth in public finance revenue in EMEA. Transaction revenue was 65% of total PPIF revenue in 2017 comparad to 63% in the prior year,

Operating and SG&A expenses in 2017 incraased $129.0 million compared to 2016 primarily due to growth in performance-based compensation rasulting
from strong financial performance in 2017 coupled with increased headcount and higher salaries and employee benefits costs reflecting annual
compensation increases. These increases were partially offset by lower legal fees and continued cost control initiatives.

Adjusted Operating Income and operating income in 2017, which includes intersegment royaity revenue and intersegment expenses, were

$1,646.2 million and $1,571.5 million, respectively, and increased $283.0 million and $1,156.1 million, respectively, compared to 2016, Adjusted
Operating Margin was 57,1% or 180 BPS higher than the prior year, Operating margin was 54.5% in 2017 compared to 16.8% in the prior year. Operating
income and operating margin in 2016 were suppressed due to the Sefilement Charge.

Moody's Analytics
The table below provides a summary of revenue and operating results, followed by further insight and commentary:

Year Enced December 31, % Change Favorable
2047 2016 {Unfavorable)

o ErpisE Rak sl

Professional services (PS

e

cublSitoh-Helated Expehsss:

M

DeApreciation and amortization i 52.9 (éa%}
Preralingneome

The following is a discussion of external MA revenue and operating expenses:

Global MA revenue increased $196.9 million, or 16%, compared to 2016 primarily due to growth in RD&A (which included approximately $92 million in
revenue, or 7 percentage points of the growth, from the Bureau van Dijk acquisition) coupled with growth in ERS, which included revenue from the first
quarter 2016 acquisition of GGY. Additionally, the growth over the prior year reflects benefits from higher fees within MA's recuning revenue base due to
enhanced content and continued alignment of usage and licensing parameters. Recurring revenue comprised 78% and 75% of total MA revenue in 2017
and 2016, respectively.
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In the U.S., revenue of $645.6 million in 2017 increased $42.0 million, and reflected growth across all LOBs,

Non-U.8S. revenue of $784.7 million in 2017 was $154.9 million higher than in 2016 reflecting growth in RD&A, which Included approximately $82 miltion
in non-U.S, Bureau van Dijk revenue, and higher ERS revenue,

Global RD&A revenue of $832.7 million, which comprised 58% and 54% of total external MA revenue in 2017 and 2018, respectively, increased

$165.1 million, or 25%, over the prior year period. In the U.S., revenue of $424 .4 million increased $35.1 million compared to 2016. Non-U.S. revenue of
$408.3 million increased $130.0 million compared to the prior year. RD&A revenue in 2017 included approximately $92 million in revenue, or 14
percentage points of the growth, from the Bureau van Dijk acquisition (net of an approximate $36 million reduction relating to a deferred revenue
adjustment required as part of acquisition accounting as further described in Note 7 to the financlal statements). RD&A revenue growth also reflects
sfrong results in the credit research and rating data feeds product lines, where enhanced content and continued alignment of usage and licensing
parameters have generated higher fees. :

Global ERS ravenue of $448.6 millicn in 2017 increased $29.8 million, or 7%, over 2016. The growth is primarily dug to higher revenue from risk and
finance analytics products coupled with incremental revenue from GGY, which was acquired in March 2016. Additionally, the revenue growth reflects
benefits from pricing increases within ERS's recuring revenue base. Revenue in ERS is subject to quarterly volatility resulting from the variable nature of
project timing and the concentration of software implementation and license revenue in a relatively small number of engagements. in the U.S., revenus of
$166.6 million increased $3.7 million comparsd to the prior year. Nan-U.S. revenue of $282.0 million increased $26.1 million compared to the prior year.

Global P3 revenue of $149.0 million in 2017 increased 1% compared to 2016 reflecting higher revenue from analytical and research services in the U.S,
mostly offset by lower revenue from these services internationally. In the U.S., revenue in 2017 was $54.6 million, up 6% compared to 2016. Non-U.S.
revenue was $94.4 million, down 1% compared to 2016.

Operating and SG&A expenses in 2017 Increased $122.7 million compared to 2016. The expense growth includes an approximate $74 million increase in
compensation costs reflecting $32 million in Bureau van Dijk compensation costs coupled with annual salary increases, higher performance-based
compensation and higher severance costs partially offset by the impact of cost control initiatives. Non-compensation costs Increased approximately

$48 million primarily due to Bureau van Dijk expenses.

There were $22.5 million in Acquisiticn-Related Expenses incurred to complete and integrate the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk.
Depreciation and amortization increased $30.7 million primarily due to the amortization of Bureau van Dijk’s intangible assets.

Adjusted Operating Income was $355.4 million in 2017 and increased $65.2 million compared to the same period in 2018, Operating income of

$249.3 million in 2017 increased $13.8 million compared to the same period in 2016. Adjusted Operating Margin in 2017 was 24.6%, up 130BPS from
2016, Operating margin was 17.2% in 2017, down 170BFS from the prior year reflecting the aforementioned $22.5 million in Bureau van Dijk Acquisition-
Related Expenses coupled with approximately $31 million of higher 2&A primarily relating to Bureau van Dijk's intangible assets. Adjusted Operating
Income and operating income both include intersegment revenue and expensa.

MARKET RIiSK

Forelgn exchange risk;
Moody’s maintains a presence in 42 countries. In 2018, approximately 43% of both the Company’s revenue and expenses were denominated in

functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally in the British peund and the euro. As such, the Company is exposed to market risk from
changes in FX rates. As of December 31, 2018, approximately 71% of Moody's assets were located outside the U.S., making the Company susceptible to
fiuctuations in FX rates. The effects of translating assets and liabilities of non-U,S. operations with non-U.S. functional currencies to the U.S. dollar are
charged or credited to OCL.

The effects of revaluing assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies cther than a subsidiary’s functional currency are charged to other
non-operating income (expense), net in the Company's consclidated statements of operations. Accordingly, the Company enters into foreign exchange
forwards to partially mitigate the change in fair value on certain assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than a subsidiary’s functional
currency. The following table shows the impact to the fair value of the forward contracts if foreign currencies strengthened against the U.S. dollar:

Forelgn Currency Forwards (1)
Sell Buy
LElaE Titsh: poy
U.S. dallar i

iavsEDl ¢
n unfavorable impact

LS odallaE= g ]
.8. dollar $2 millio
(1} Referto Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements in ltem 8 of this Form 10-K for further detail on the forward contracts.
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The change in fair vaiue of the foreign exchange forward contracts would be offset by FX revaluation gains or losses on underlying assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than a subsidiary’s functional currency.

Euro-denominated debt and cross-currency swaps designated as net investment hedges:

The Company has designated € 500 millicn of tha 2015 Senior Notes as a net investment hedge to mitigate FX exposure relating to euro denominated
net investments in subsidiaries. If the euro were to strengthen 10% relative to the U.S. dollar, there would be an approximate $57 million unfavorable
adjustment to OCl related to this net investment hedge. This adjustment would be offset by favorable translation adjustrents on the Company’s euro net
investment in subsidiaries.

During 2018, the Company entered into cross-currency swaps to exchange an aggregate amount of € 710.2 million with corresponding interest based on
the floating 3-moenth EURIBOR for an aggregate ameunt of $830.0 million with corresponding interest based on the floating 3-month U.S. LIBOR, which
were designated as net investment hedges under ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging . The purpose of these cross-currency swaps is to mitigate
FX exposure related to a portion of the Company’s eura net investments in certain foreign subsidiaries against changes in euro/USD exchange rates. If
the euro were to strengthen 10% relative {0 the U.S. dollar, there would be an approximate $81 million unfavorable impact to the fair value of the cross-
currency swaps recognized in OCI, which would be offset by favorabie currency translation gains on the Company’s euro net investment in foreign
subsidiaries.

Credit and Interest rate risk:

Interost rate swaps designated as a fair value hedge:

The Company's interest rate risk management objectives are te reduce the funding cost and volatility fo the Company and to alter the interest rate
exposure to the desired risk profile. Moody's uses interest rate swaps as deemed necassary to assist in accomplishing these objectives. The Company is
exposed to interest rate risk on its various cutstanding fixed-rate debt for which the fair value of the outstanding fixed rate debt fluctuates based on
changes in interest rates, The Company has entered into interest rate swaps te convert the fixed interest rate on certain of its long-term debt 1o a floating
interest rate based on the 3-moenth LIBOR. These swaps are adjusted to fair market value based on prevailing interest rates at the end of each reporting
period and fluctuations are recorded as a reduction or addition to the carrving value of the borrowing, while net interest payments are recorded as interest
expensefincome in the Company's consolidated statement of operations. A hypothetical change of 100 BPS in the LIBOR-based swap rate would result
in an approximate $36 million change 1o the fair value of the swap, which wauld be offset by the change in fair value of the hedged item.

Additional information on these interest rate swaps is disclased in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements located in ltem 8 of this Form 10-K.

Moody’s cash equivalents consist of investments in high-quality investment-grade securities within and cutside the U.S. with maturities of three months or
less when purchased. The Company manages its credit risk exposure by allocating its cash equivalents among various money market mutual funds,
money marke! deposit accounts, certificates of deposit and issuars of high-grade commercial paper and by limiting the amount it can invest with any
single issuer. Short-term investrments primarily consist of certificates of deposit.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESQURCES

Cash Flow
The Company is currently financing its operations, capital expenditures, acquisitions and share repurchases from operating and financing cash flows,

The fallowing is a summary of the changes in the Company’s cash flows followed by a brief discussion of these changes:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, Decembar 31,

$ Change $ Changs
Favorable Favorable

$

$(3.420.0) §

3,013.8 102.0
i Ingiastiviies S : ORGSO T
Free Cash Flow (1) $1,370.7 $  664.0 7087 § 6640 $1,1440 5§ {480.0)

(1) Free Cash Flow is a non-GAAP measure and is defined by the Company as het cash provided by operating activities minus cash paid for capital expenditures, Refer to
“Non-GAAP Financial Measures” of this MD&A for further information on this financial measure,

(3,622.0)
TR
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Net cash provided by operating activities

Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017:

Net cash flows from operating activities increased $706.5 million compared to the prior year primarily due to the approximate $864 million payment for the
Selttiement Charge in 2017. This increase was partially offset by higher incentive compensation payments of approximately $90 million in 2018 compared
fo the prior year and a decrease of approximately $30 million due to timing of tax payments.

Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016:
Net cash flows from operating activities decreased $504.6 million compared to the prior year primarily due to the approximate $864 millicn payment for
the Settlement Charge in 2017. This was partially offset by an increase in cash flows primarily relating to the Company's strong earnings growth in 2017.

Net cash {used in} provided by investing activities

Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017:
The $3,013.6 million decrease in cash flows used in investing activities compared to 2017 primarily reflects:

» a net $3.2 billion decrease in cash paid for acquisitions comparad to the prior yaar primarily reflecting the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk for
approximately $3.5 billion in 2017, partially cffset by approximately $289 million paid in 2018 for the acquisitions of Reis and Omega Performance;

Partially offset by:
» $111.1 million of cash received in 2017 relating o the Purchasa Price Hedge; and

» higher net purchases of investments ¢f $100.8 million in 2018.

Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016:
The $3,522.0 million increase in cash flows used in investing activities compared to 2016 primarily reflects:

» a $3.4 billion increase in cash paid for acquisitions campared te the prior year primarily reflecting the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk in the third quarter
of 2017,

» lower net maturities of investments of $251.2 million in 2017;

Partially offset by:
» cash received of $111.1 million relating to the Purchase Price Hedge in 2017.

Net cash {(used in) provided by financing activities

Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017:
The $2,011.6 million increase in cash used in financing activities was primarily attributed to:

» net proceeds of $158.5 million in 2018 relating to the issuance of the 2018 Senior Notes in June and December 2018, partially offset by repayment of
the 2017 Term Loan, the 2017 Fleating Rate Senior Notes and net repayments of CP; and

» net proceeds of $2.1 billion in 2017, which included debt and commersial paper issued to fund the acquisition of Bureau van Dilk and the payment of
the Settlement Charge, partially offset by the early repaymeant of the 2007-1 Notes and repayments of CF in 2017,

Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016:
The $2,643.0 million increase in cash provided by financing activities was primarily attributed to:

» proceeds of $1.5 hillion from notes and a term loan issued as well as $0.1 billion in net proceeds from commercial paper to fund the acquisition of
Bureau van Dijk. Additionally, reflects $0.8 billion of notes issued in the first quarter of 2017 fo fund the payment of the 2016 Settlement Charge and
the early repayment of the Series 2007-1 Notes;

» treasury shares repurchased of $199.7 million in 2817 comparad te $738.8 million in 2016;
partialfy offset by:
» repayment of the $300 million Serles 2087-1 Notes in 2017.

Cash and short-term investments held in hon-l.8. jurisdictions

The Company's aggregate cash and cash equivalents and shori-term investments of $1.8 billion at December 31, 2018 included approximately

$0.9 billion located outside of the U.S. Approximately 21% of the Company's aggregate cash and cash equivalents and shori-term investments is
denominated in euros and British pounds. The Company manages both its U.S. and non-U.S. cash flow to maintain sufficient liquidity in ali regions to
effectivety meet its operating needs.
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As a result of the Tax Act, all previousiy net undistributed fereign earnings have now been subject to U.S. tax. The Company continues to evaluate which
entities it will Indefinitely reinvest earnings outside the U.S. The Company has provided deferred taxes for those entities whose earnings are not
considered indefinitely reinvested. Accordingly, the Company has commenced repatriating a portion of its non-b).5. cash in these subsidiaries and will
continue to repatriate certain of its offshore cash in a manner that addresses compliance with local statutory reguirements, sufficient offshore working
capital and any other factors that may be relevant in certain jurisdictions. Notwithstanding the Tax Act, which generally eliminated federal income tax on
future cash repatriation to the U.S., cash repatriation may be subject to state and local taxes or withholding or similar taxes.

Other Material Future Cash Requirements

The Company believes that it has the financial resources needed to meet its cash requirements and expects to have positive operating cash flow in 2019,
Cash requirements for periods beyond the next twelve months will depend, among other things, on the Company’s profitability and its ability to manage
working capital requirements. The Company may alsc borrow from various sources.

The Gompany remains committed to using its strong cash flow to create value for shareholders by investing in growing areas of the business, reinvesting
in ratings quality initiatives, making selective acquisitions, repurchasing stock and paying a dividend, all in a manner consistent with maintaining sufficient
liquidity after giving effect to any additional indebtedness that may be incurred.

Dividends and Share Repurchases
On February 12, 2019, the Board approved the declaration of a quarterly dividend of $0.50 per share for Moody's common stock, payable March 18,

2019 to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 25, 2019. The continued payment of dividends at this rate, or at all, is subject to the
discretion of the Board,

On December 15, 2015, the Board authorized a $1.0 billion share repurchase program, which at December 31, 2018 had a remaining authority of
approximately $324 million. Additionaily, in Octeber 2018, the Board autherized an additional $1.0 billion share repurchase program, which may
commence following the completion of the existing program.

On February 20, 2019, the Company entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement (ASR) with a financial institution counterparty to
repurchase $500 million of its outstanding common steck. The final settlement of the transaction under the ASR agreement is expected to be completed
no later than April 2019. The ASR was entered into pursuant to the Company's existing share repurchase program, as further discussad in Note 18 of the
Company's financial statements.

Fullyear 2019 total share repurchases (including shares repurchased via the aforementioned ASR) are expected to be approximately $1 Eillion, subject
to available cash, market conditions and other ongoing capital allocation decisions.

Restructuring

On October 26, 2018, the Company approved a restructuring program that is estimated to result in an annualized savings of approximately $40 to

$50 million a year, a portion of which will benefit 2019, This restructuring program is estimated to result in total pre-tax charges of approximately $70 to
$80 million, of which approximately $35 to $40 million is estimated te result from personnelrelated activities. A majority of the cash outlays for these
personnel-related activities will be paid in the year ended December 31, 2019, This restructuring pregram is more fully discussed in Note 10 fo the
consolidated financial statements.

Qther cash requirements
The Company has future cash requirsments, including cperating leases and debt service and payments, as noted in the tables that follow as well as

future payments related to the transition tax under the Tax Act.

Indebtedness

At Dacember 31, 2018, Moody’s had $5.7 billion of outstanding debt and approximately $1 billion of additional capacity available under the Company’s
CP program, which is backstopped by the 2018 Facility as more fully discussed in Note 17 to the consolidated finandial statements. At December 31,
2018, the Company was in compliance with all covenants containad within all of the debt agreements. All of the Company's long-term debt agreements
contain cross default provisions which state that default under one of the aforementioned debt instruments could in turn permit lenders under other debt
instruments to declare borrowings outstanding under those instruments to be immediately due and payable. At December 31, 2018, there were no such
cross defaulfs.

During 2018, the Company issued $1.1 billion in unsecured senicr notes via public offerings, the terms of which are more fully discussad in Note 17.
Additionally, the Company repaid the 2017 Term Loan of $500 million and the 2017 Floating Rate Senior Notes of $300 million. Furthermore, in January
2019, the Company also repaid the 2014 Senior Note (5-year) of $450 million.

The Company has fulfilled its commitment to delever its balance sheet following additional financing obtained in 2017 to partially fund the acquisition of
Bureau van Dijk,
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The repayment schedule for the Company's borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2018 is as follows:

2014 2014
2010 2012 2013 Benfor Senlor 2015 2017 2017 2017 2018 2018 2018
Senlor Senler Senlor Notes Notes  Senior Senlor Senfor Senior Senior Senior Senlor
Notes  Notes  Notes (Swear) (30-year) Notes Notes Motes Notes Notes Notes  Notes
Year Ending due due due due due due due due due due due due

December 31, 2020 2023 2024 2018 (1) 2044 2027 2021 2023 2028 2021 2029 2048 Total

Thereafter B00.0 5718 400,0

400.0

(1} I January 2019, the Company repaid the 2614 Senior Notes (5-year) of $450 million.

Management may consider pursuing additional long-term financing when it is appropriate in light of cash requirements for operations, share repurchases
and other strategic opportunities, which would result in higher financing costs.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangementis

At December 31, 2018, Moody's did not have any relationships with unconsclidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as
special purpose or variable interest entities where Moody's is the primary beneficiary, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitafing
off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. As such, Moody’s is not expesed to any financing, liquidity, market or
credit risk that could arise if it had engaged in such relaticnships.

Contractual Obligations
The following table presents payments due under the Company’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2018:

Payments Due by Perlod

Less Than 1

B85
Operating lease obligations
) SblEEbRs =
Pension obligations (2)
FGIETHEE :
{1} Reflects principal payments, related interest and applicable fees due cn all indettedness outstanding as described in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

(2} Reflects projected kensfit payments relating to the Company's U.S. unfunded DBPRs and Retirement and Other Plans described In Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements,

B The table above does not include the Company's net long-term tax lizbilities of $494.8 millicn relating to UTPs, since the expected cash outflow of such amounts by period cannot
he reasonably estimated. Additionally, the table abeve does not include approximately $1£8 millfon relating to the remaining unpaid deemed repatriation liakility resulting from the
Tax Act enacted into law in the LS. in December 2017.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures:

In addition to its reported results, Mcody's has included in this MD&A certain adjusted resulis that the SEC defines as “non-GAAP financial measures.”
Management believes thal such non-GAAP financial measures, when read in conjunction with the Company’s reported results, can provide useful
supplemental information for investors analyzing period to period comparisons of the Company’s performance, facllitate comparisons to competitors’
operating results and can provide greater transparency to investors of supplemental information used by management in its financial and operational
declsion-making. These non-GAAP measures, as defined by the Company, are not necessarily comparable to similarly defined measures of other
campanies. Furthermore, these non-GAAR measures should not be viewed in isolation or used as a substitute for other GAAP measures in assessing the
operating performance or cash flows of the Company. Below are descriptions of the Company’s non-GAAP financial measures accompanied by a
reconciliation of the non-GAAP measure to its most directly comparable GAAP measure:

Adjusted Operating Income and Adjusted Operating Margin:
The Company presents Adjusted Operating Income because management deems this metric to be a useful measure of assessing the operating
performance of Moody's. Adjusted Operating Income excludes depreciation and amortization, restructuring, and Acquisition-
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Related Expenses. Depreciation and amortization are excluded hecause companies utilize productive assets of different ages and use different methods
of acquiring and depreciating productive assets. Restructuring charges are excluded as the frequency and magnitude of these charges may vary widely
across periods and companies. Acquisition-Related Expenses consist of expenses incurred fo complete and integrate the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk
and are excluded due to the material nature of these expenses on an annual basis, which are not expected to recur at this dollar magnitude subsequent
to the completion of the multi-year integration effort. Acquisition-Related Expenses from other acquisitions were not material. Management believes that
the exclusion of depreciation and amortization, restructuring charges, and Acquisition-Related Expenses, as detailed in the reconciliation below, allows
for an additional perspective on the Company’s operating results from period to period and across companies. The Company defines Adjusted Operating
Margin as Adjusted Operating Income divided by revenue.

Year Ended Dacomber 31,

_ Depreciation and amortization 191.9 158.3 126,7
Echiidiomelaet ERseses

Settlement Charge
Rdusted Opsrating n
Operating margin__
tisted:Operating Mary

Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted EPS atfribufable o Moody's common shareholders:
The Company prasents Adjusted Net Incoma and Adjusted Diluted EPS because management deems these metrics to be useful measures to provide

additional perspective on the operating performance of Moody's. Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted ERPS exclude the impact of amortization of
acquired intangible assets, Acquisiticn-Related Expenses, restructuring charges, the Purchase Price Hedge Gain, the CCXI Gain, the effects of U.S. tax
reform and certain adjustments relating to the Company’s non-U.S. UTPs.

The Company excludes the impact of amortization of acquired intangible assets as companies utilize intangible assets with different ages and have
different methods of acquiring and amortizing intangitle assets. Furthermore, the timing and magnifude of business combination transactions are not
predictable and the purchase price allocated to amoertizable intangible assets and the related amortization period are unique to each acquisition and can
vary significantly from period to period and across companies, Also, management believes that excluding acquisition-related amortization expense
provides additional perspective when comparing operating results from period to period, and with both acquisitive and non-acquisitive peer companies.
Additionally Acquisition-Relatad Expenses are excluded due to the material nature of these expenses on an annual basis, which are not expected to
recur at this dollar magnitude subsequent to the completion of the multi-year integration effort relating fo Bureau van Dijk. Acguisition-Related Expenses
from other acquisitions were not material.

The Company excludes the Purchase Price HHedge Gain, the CCX] Gain and restructuring charges to provide additional perspective on the Company's
operating results from period to period and across companies as the frequency and magnitude of similar transacticns may vary widely across periods.

Furthermore, U.S. tax reform as well as changes in fax laws in Europe were both enacted in the fourth quarter of 2017, resulting in significant
adjustments to the provision for income taxes. The Company excludes these adjustments as well as the impact of 2018 adjustments pursuant to U.S, tax
reform and certain adjustments relating to the Company’s non-U.S. UTPs, which resulted in significant adjustments to the provision for income taxes in
2018. The Company excludes these Items fo provide additional perspective when comparing net income and diluted EPS from period to pericd and
across companies as the frequency and magnitude of similar transacticns may vary widely across periods.
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Below is a reconciliation of this measure to its most directly comparabie U.S, GAAP amount:

Year ended Decembor 31,

TresTax Purchase Piice Hadge e
Tax on Purchase Price Hadge Gain

Tax on Acquisition-Related Inléngible
Amor‘tizatlon Expenses

Adj usted Net Income
(1} Certain of these Acquisition-Related Expenses are not deductible for tax.
The tax impacts in the fable above were calculated using tax rates in effect in the jurisdiction for which the item relates.
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Year endod December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Tax
Intangiby

{:] faxe:
Increase to nen-U.S. UTPs 0.33 —_ -
Tax on Restructuring
NetREstrlCTiheg ===
Pre<tax Settlement Charge
ek Selliement Ehare:
Net Settlement Charge

AdJusted Diluted EPS $ 7.39 $ 6.07 $ 494

(1} Certain of these Acquisition-Related Expenses are not deductible for tax

The tax impacts in the table above were calculated using tax rates in effect in the jurisdiction for which the item relates,
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Eree Cash Flow:

The Company defines Free Cash Flow as net cash previded by operating activities minus payments for capital additions. Management believes that Free
Cash Flow is a useful metric in assessing the Company’s cash flows to service debt, pay dividends and to fund acquisitions and share repurchases.
Management deems capital expenditures essential to the Company's product and service innovations and maintenance of Moody’s operational
capabiliies. Accordingly, capital expenditures are deemed to be a recurring use of Moody's cash flow. Below is a reconciliation of the Company’s net
cash flows from operating activities fo Free Cash Flow:

Year Ended December 31,

Capital additions ~ (90.4) (90.5) (115.2)
BEgECastrFlow = AT T
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncaments

Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements located in Part Il, ltem 8 on this Form 10-K for a discussion on the impact to the Company
relating to recently issued accounting pronouncemeants.

CONTINGENCIES
For information regarding legal proceedings, see Part ll, ltem 8 — "Financial Statements”, Note 20 “Contingencies” in this Form 10-K.

Forward-Locking Statements

Certain statements contained in this quarterly report on Form 10-K are forward-ocking statements and are based on future expectations, plans and
prospects for the Company’s business and operations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Such statements involve estimates, projections,
goals, forecasts, assumptions and uncertainties that could cause actual results or cutcomes to differ materially from those contemplated, expressed,
projected, anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. Those statements appear at various places throughout this annual report on Form
10-K, including in the sections entitled “Contingencies’ under ltam 7, “MD&A”, commencing on page 31 of this annual report on Form 10-K, under “Legal
Proceedings” in Part |, Item 3, of this Form 10-K, and elsewhere in the context of statements containing the words “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”,
“intend”, “plan”, “will”, “predici”, “potential®, “continue”, “strategy”, "aspire”, “targat’, “forecast’, “project”, “estimate”, “should"”, “could”, "may” and similar
expressions or words and variations thereof relating to the Company's views cn future events, trends and contingencies. Stockholders and investors are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these farward-looking statements, The forwardHlocking statements and other information are made as of the
date of this annual report on Form 10-K, and the Company undertakes no cbligation {nor does it intend) to publicly supplement, update or revise such
statements on a geing-forward basis, whether as a result of subsequent developments, changed expectations or otherwise, except as required by law. In
connection with the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, the Company is identifying examples of factors, risks
and uncertainties that could cause actual results fo differ, perhaps materially, frem those indicated by these forward-looking statements.

Those factors, risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, credit market disruptions or economic slowdowns, which could affect the veluime of
debt and other securities issued in domestic and/or global capital markets; other matters that could affect the volume of debt and other securities issued
in domestic and/or global capital markets, including regulation, credit quality concems, changes in interest rates and other volafility in the financial
markets such as that due to the U.K.'s planned withdrawal from the EU; the level of merger and acquisiticn activity in the U.S. and abroad; the uncertain
effectiveness and possible collateral consequences of U.S. and foreign government actions affecting credit markets, international trade and ecenomic
policy; concerns in the marketplace affecting our cradibility or otherwise affecting market perceptions of the integrity or utility of independant credit agency
ratings; the introduction of competing products or technologies by ather companies; pricing pressure from competitors andfor customers; the level of
success of new product development and global expansion; the impact of regulation as an NRSRQ, the potential for new U.S,, state and local legislation
and regulations, including provisions in the Financial Reform Act and regulations resulting from that Act; the potential for increased competition and
regulation in the EU and cther foreign jurisdictions; exposure te litigation related to our rating opinions, as well as any other litigation, government and
regulatery proceedings, investigations and inguires to which the Cempany may ke subject from time to time; provisions in the Financial Reform Act
legislation modifying the pleading standards, and EU regulations modifying the liability standards, applicable to credit rating agencies in a manner
adverse to credit rating agencies; provisicns of EU regulatians imposing additional procedural and substantive requirements on the pricing of services
and the expansion of supervisory
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remit to include non-EU ratings used for regulatory purposes; the possible loss of key employees; failures or malfunctions of our operations and
infrastructure; any vulnerabilities to cyber threats or other cybersecurity concerns; the cutcome of any review by controlling tax authorities of the
Company’s glohal tax planning initiatives; exposure o potential criminal sanctions or civil remedies if the Company fails fo comply with foreign and U.S.
laws and regulations that are applicable in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates, including data protection and privacy laws, sanctions laws,
anti-corruption laws, and local laws prohibiting corrupt payments to government officials; the impact of mergers, acquisitions or other business
cambinations and the ability of the Company to successfully integrate such acquired businesses; currency and foreign exchange volatility; the level of
future cash flows; the levels of capital investments; and a decline in the demand for credit risk management tools by financial institutions. These factors,
risks and uncertainties as well as other risks and uncertainties that could cause Moody’s actual results to differ materially from those contemplated,
expressed, projected, anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements are described in greater detail under “Risk Factors” in Part |, Item 1A of the
Company’s annual report on Farm 10-K for the year ended Daecember 31, 2018, and in other filings made by the Company from time to time with the SEC
or in materials incorporated herein or therein. Stockholders and investors are cautioned that the occumence of any of these factors, risks and
uncertainties may cause the Company's actual results te differ materially from those contemplated, expressed, projected, anticipated or implied in the
forward-looking statements, which could have a material and adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
New factors may emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for the Company to predict new factors, nor can the Company assess the potential effect
of any new factors on it.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Information in response to this item is set forth under the caption “Markef Risk” in Part [I, item 7 on page 49 of this annual report on Form 10-K.
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Schedules are omitted as not required or inapplicable or because the required information is provided in the consolidated financial statements, including
the notes thereto.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Moody's Gorporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting and far the
assessment of the effectiveness of Internal control over financial reporting. As defined by the SEC in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f} under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company's principal exscutive
and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the Company’s Board, management and other personnei, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Moody's internal control over financial reporting includes those pelicies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detall, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accerdance with authorizations of Moody’s management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstaternents. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadeguate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management of the Company has undertaken an assessment of the design and operational effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporling as of December 31, 2018 based on criteria established in the Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Commitiee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0},

Based on the assessment performed, management has concluded that Moedy’s maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2018.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reparting as of December 31, 2018 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein,

isf RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.

Raymend W. McDaniel, Jr.
President and Chief Exacufive Officer

fsf MARK KAYE

Mark Kaye
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 22, 2019
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Shareholders and Board of Directors of Moody's Gorporation:
Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Contro] over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Moody’s Corporation {the Company) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended Decernber 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control-~Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Spensoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred fo above present fairly, in all miaterial respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Alse in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material raspects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in internal Confrol—Iintegrated Framework (2013) issued
hy the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statemeants, the Company changed its method of accounting for revenue recognition effective
January 1, 2018 due to the adopiion of Accounting Standard Update {ASU) 2014-019 and all related amendments, which established the Accounting
Standard Codification (ASC) Topic 606, Revenus—Revanue from Coniracts with Customers .

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effactivenass of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal
Control over Financiai Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations cf the Securities and Exchange Cemmission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. These standards require that we plan and perform the audit te obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether
effective internal control aver financial reporting was maintained in all matetial respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and perfoerming procedures that respond o those risks. Such procedures included examining, cn a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as welf as evaluating the overall presentation of the censolidated financial siatements.
Qur audit of internal cantrol over financial reporting included cbtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinicns.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting inciudes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; {2) provide reasenable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary fo permit preparation of financial statements in accerdance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company, and {3) provide reasenable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal cantrol over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

fsf KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2008,

New York, New York
February 22, 2012
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

{Amounts in millions, except per share data}

Year Endoed Decembar 31,

Operating income 1,868.27 1,820.8

NofEoparating X panse) income,

Interest expense nel

Ko

Earnlqgs per share

saBEslcraiy
Diluted

Waliiea avsragestia

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consclidated financlal statements
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Amounts in millions)

Yaar Ended December 31, 2018 Year Ended December 31, 2017 Year Ended December 31, 2018

Pre-tax Tax  After-stax Pre-tax Tax  Afterdax Pre-tax Tax  Afterstax
ounts nts

Ret

Other Cqmprehenswe Income (Loss)

Forelgncurr*encylranuslaﬂon adjustments het $ (27400 $ (7.2) {281.2) $ 1662 § 231 1803 % (222) $ (54) (27.8)

é&i&fﬁs@ ﬁ@a_,wg

] ga”?mifnvﬂua”ed}&“ﬁél THEEHTES

Penslon and Other Retirement Benef[ts

Comprehensive Income Attributable to Moody’s $1,057.8 $1,193.3 $ 2442
The accompanylng netes are an integral part of the consolidated financial staterents,
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MOQODY'S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Amounts in millions, except share and per share data}

December 31,
2018 2017

EESET:

Cumant assets:

Current portlon of long
Tolal current I[abllmes 2,098.5 2,083,3

Uncertain tax posltlons 494.6 380.1

Total liabilities 8,869.7 87001

g
‘Treasury stock, at cost; 151,588,695 and 151,932,157 shares of common stock at December 31, 2018
and Dec&mber 31 201? respectwely (8,312, 5) (8,152.2)

§ Hs @I@s&%

hareholleres equibiz -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

MOODY’S 2018 10-K 85



Table of Contents
MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{Amounts in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

1,007.7

Legacy Tax Matters
ST LT g h i e 1T
Accounts reoel vable (136. 1 )

Cagitq[addltions )
b e e e

Sales and maturities of investments 160.6 238.5 889.5

(3.611.0)

2,291.¢

Cash and cash equwa]ents, end of penod $ 1,685.0 $ 1,071.5 3 2.051.5

The accompanying netes are an integral part of the consolidated financlal statemants
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY (DEFICIT)

{Amounts in millions)

Sharehalders’ of Moody's Corporation

Accumulated Tota
Other Total Moody's Non- Sharehelders
Comprehenslve Shareholders’ Controlling Equit
Common Stock Treasury Stock Loss Deficit Intorests {Deflc|
. Capital Retained
Shares Amount Surplus Eamings Shares Amount

ExEiviterids
Stock-based
compensation 98.

S

Net excess
tax benefits

upon
settlement of
stock-based
compensation

Treasury
shares
repurchased {7.7) (738.8) {738.8) (738,

Net actuarial
gains and
prior service
cost {net of
tax of $0.1
milli

Net
unrealized
gain on
available for
sale
securities

The accompanying notes are an Integral part of the consolidated financial statemants.

{contintied on next pags)
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) continued

{(Amounts in millians)

Shareholders’ of Moody’s Corporation

Accumulated

Other Total Mocdy's Mon- Tot
Comprehenslve Shareholders’ Controlling  Shareholder
Common Stock Treasury Stock Loss Deflcit Interosts Defli
Capital Ratained
Shares Amount Surplus Earnings Shares Amount

Adoption of
ASU
2016-16 {See
Note 1) 4

Shares

issued for

stock-based

compensation

plans at

average cost,

net 87.1) 1.8

* “Treasury
shares
repurchased

Net actuarial

gains and

prior service

cost (net of

tax of $8.3
il

126 12,6 12

unrealized

gain on

available for

sale

securities (!

Balance at
December 31,
2017 3429 § 3.4 8 5286 $ 74654 (151.9) §  {8152.9) § {172.2) § {(327.7) § 2123 § {114

The accempanying notes are an integral part of the consclinated financtal statements.

{continued on next page)
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M OODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY (DEFICIT) continued

{Amounts in milliens}

Sharaholders’ of Moody’s Corporation

Accumulated Total Moody’s Tot

Other Sharecholders’ Non- Shareholder

Comprehensive {Deflclt} Controlling {Deficl

Commeon Stock Treasury Stock Loss Equity Interests Equl

Capital Retained
]

Amount

EDijdendy=
Adoption of
ASU
2014-09 {See

i

“Stock-based

Treasury
sharas
repurchased

{202.6) (202.6}

ettt
= Emilion
Met actuarial

gains and

prior service

cost {net of

tax of $1.6

million}) 4.2
A2l

Net realized
gain on cash
flow hadges
(net of tax of
$0.5 million)

The accempanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

MOQDY'S 2018 10-K L]



Table of Content:

MOODY’S CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(tabular dollar and share amounts in millions, excapt per share data)

NOTE 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Moody's ts a provider of (i) credit ratings; (i) credit, capital markets and ecencmic research, data and analytical tools; (iii) software selutions that support
financial risk management activities; {iv) quantitatively derived credit scores; (v} leaming solutions and certification services; (vi) offshore financial
research and analytical services; and (vii) company information and business intelligence products. Moody's repoits in two reportable segments: MIS and
MA,

MIS, the credit rating agency, publishes credit ratings on a wide range of debt obligations and the entities that issue such obligations in markets
worldwide. Revenue is primarily derived from the originators and issuers of such transactions who use MIS ratings in the distribution of their debt issues
to investors. Additionally, MIS earns revenue from certain non-ratings-related operations which consist primarily of financial instrument pricing services in
the Asia-Pacific region as well as revenue from ICRA's non-ratings cperations. The revenue from these pperations is included in the MIS Cther LOB and
is not material to the results of the MIS segment.

The MA segment develops a wide range of products and services that support financial analysis and risk management activities of institutional
participants in global financial markets. Within its RD&A business, MA offers subscription based research, data and analytical products, including credit
ratings produced by MIS, credit ressarch, quantitative credit scores and other analytical tools, economic research and forecasts, business inteiligence
and company information products, and commercial real estate data and analytical toals. Within its ERS business, MA provides software solutions as well
as related risk management services. The PS husiness provides cffshore analytical and research services along with learning solutions and certification
programs.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amzunts to conform to the current presentation,

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

In the first quarter of 2017, the Company adopted ASU Ne, 2016-16, “Income Taxes (Topic 740}): Intra-Entity Asset Transfers of Assets Other than
Inventory.” Under previous guidance, the tax effects of intra-entity asset transfers (intercompany sates) were deferred until the transferred asset was sold
to a third party or otherwise recoverad through use, The new guidance eliminates the exception for all intra-entity sales of assets other than inventory.
Upon adoption, a cumulative-effect adjustment is recorded in retained eamings as of the beginning of the period of adoption. The net impact upon
adoption is a reduction to retained earnings of $4.6 million. The Company does not expect any material impact on its fulure operations as a result of the
adoption of this guidance.

In the first quarter of 2017, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-0g "Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee
Share-Based Payment Accounting”. As required by ASU No, 2016-09, Excess Tax Benefits or shortfalls recognized on stock-based compensation are
reflected in the consolidated statement of operations as a component of the provision for income taxes on a prospective basis. Prior to the adoption of
this ASU, Excess Tax Benefits and shorifalls were recorded to capital surplus within shareholders’ equity (deficit). The impact of this adopiion was a
$38.1 millien and a $39.5 million henefit to the provision for income taxes for the years end December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

Additionally, in accordance with this ASU, Excess Tax Benefits ar shartfalls recognized on stock-based compensation are classified as operating cash
flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows, and the Company has applied this provision on a retrospective basis. Under previous accounting
guidance, the Excess Tax Benefits or shortfalls were shown as a raduction to operating activity and an increase to financing activity. Furthermore, the
Company has elected to continue to estimate the number of stock-based awards expected to vest, rather than accounting for award forfeitures as thay
aceur, to determine the amount of stock-based compensation cost recognized in each period. As a rasult of the change, net cash provided by operating
activities was higher and net cash used in financing activities was lower by $38.1 million and $39.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively, than would have been reported under the previous guidance. The impact to the Company’s statement of cash flows for
the year prior to the adoption of this provision of the ASU is set forth in the table belaw:

As Reported Dacamber 31, 2016
o ) December 31, 2016 Reclassification As Adjusted
R B T = : o = B
Net cash used in financing $ ,009. $ $ (1,042.9)

On January 1, 2018, the Company adapted ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC Topic 608)" using the modified
retrospective approach, which Moody's has elected to apply only to these contracts which were not completed as of
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January 1, 2018, Additionally, the Company has not retrospectively restated contract positions for contract modifications made prior to the adoption. ASU
No. 2014-09 also includes updates related io the accounting for the deferral of incremental costs of obtaining or fulfilling a contract with a customer ("ASC
Subtopic 340-40"). Hereunder, discussion of the provisions of ASC Topic 606 and ASC Sublopic 340-40 are both individually and collectively referred io
as the “New Revenue Accounting Standard.” Resuits for reporting periods baginning on January 1, 2018 are presented under the guidance set forth in
the New Revenue Accounting Standard, while prior perlod amounts have not been adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with the previous
accounting guidance,

The most significant impacts to the Company's financial statements from adapting the New Revenue Accounting Standard are primarily relatad te: i} the
accounting for certain installed software subscription revanue in MA whereby the license rights within the arrangement are recognized at the inception of
the contract hased on SSP with the remainder racognized over the subscription period (compared to ASC Topic 805 whereby all installed software
subscription revenue was previously recognized over the subscription period}; if) the accounting for certain ERS and ESA revanue arrangements where
VSOE was not available under ASC Topic 605 row results in the accelsration of revenue recognition (compared to ASC Topic 605 whereby revenus was
deferred due to lack of VSOE until all elements without VSOE had been delivered); iii} sales commissions incurred in the MA segment will be capitalized
and amortized over an extended pericd which is generally based upon the average econamic life of products/services sold and incorperates anticipated
subscription renewals (compared to previcus accounting guldance whereby capitalized sales commissions were amortized over the committed
subscription period only); iv) the immediate expensing of software implementation project costs to fulfill a contract for its ERS and ESA businesses, which
under previous accounting guidance were capitalized and expensed when ralated project revenue was recegnized; v) the capitalization of
work-in-process costs for in-progress MIS ratings at the end of each reporting period, which under ASC Topic 605 were expensed as incurred; vi) the
timing of when revenue for certain MIS ratings products is recegnized; and vii) the estimation of variable consideration at contract incepticn whereas
under ASC Topic 605 companies were not required to consider the amount of consideration for which it expected to be entitled.

The table below provides detail relating to the adjustment to the Company's retained earings balance upon adoption of the New Revenue Accounting
Standard:

Benefit to ! {reduction of]
January 1, 2018 Refained
Earnings oot Line tem

6 7 FPanE

Total post-tax adjustment $156

(1} Represents deferred revenue as of December 31, 2017 as well as ameunts then unbilled that would have been recognized as revenue in 2017 or earller if the New Revenue
Accounting Standard was then in effect. These amounts will not be recogrized as revenue In future statements of operations. Convarsely, revenua will be recorded to the
Company's statement of operations in 2018 under the New Revenue Accounting Siandard, which otherwlse would have been recognized in periods subsequent te 2018 7f
accounted for under ASC Topic 605,

(2) Represents sales commissions that would have been capitalized as of December 31, 2017 if the New Revenue Accouniing Standard was then in effect, but had previously been
expensed by the Company under the previous accounting guidance, These sales commissions, as well as sales commissions incuired in 2018 related to new sales and renewals,
will ba amartized to expense In the statements of operations beginning in 2018 over an extended period generally hased upon the average economic life of the products sold or
aver the perlod in which implementation and advisory services will be provided,
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The table below presents the cumulative effect of the changes made to the Company’s consclidated balance sheet at January 1, 2018 for the adoption of
the New Revenue Accounting Standard:

Ad]ustment Due to ’
As Reported New Revenue Balance at
December 31, 2017 Accounting Standard January 1, 2018

ASSET

Current assets:

STGeoIvaNIG NOLOr BlOWANGS

Other current assets 250.1 32.0 283.0

Current portion of long-term debt

s e
Total cu reent liabilities

Unrecognlzed tax benefits
DiheEiEbie:
Total liabilities

Common sntock
AR

Retained sarnings

aSHn
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Vesarehaldar R sauie

Noncontrolllng mterests

Total I|ab||lt|es noncontmlllng interests and shareholders’ {deficit}
equity $ B8,594.2 $ 121.0 $ 8,715.2
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The below table presents the impacts on the Company’s statement of operations for the current reporling period from applying the provisions of the New
Revenue Accounting Standard compared to the accounting standard in effect before the change:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Effect of
As Under previous Change
Reported accounting guldance Higheri(Lower)

Réienus

Expenses

Depreciation and amortization
EdsHoT RS EaneaE

Total expenses
Non-operatlng (expense) Income, nat

Weighted average shares outstanding

EEHAR

Diluted 194.4 194.4
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The below table presents the impacts an the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at the end of the current reporting period from applying the
provisions of the New Revenue Accounting Standard compared to the accounting standard in effect before the change:

As Under previous Effect of
Reported accounting guidance Change
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2018 Higheri(Lower}

RESETS

Current assets:

Other current assets

i

,-[ !E,.m" o
Common SiOCK

Total liabilities, noncontralling interests and shareholders’ equity .
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The below table prasents the impacts en various line items within the operating cash flow within the Company’s statement of cash flows for the current
reporting period from applying the provisions of the New Revenue Accounting Standard compared to the accounting standard in effect before the change.

Year Ended December 31, 2018

Under
previous
accounting Effect of
Chi

Cashfiows oM operating activitios:
Net Income

3 1,318.4 $ 1,300.6 $ 18.8

Net cash provided by operating activities

1,461,

The New Revenue Accounting Standard did not have any impact on individual line items within investing or financing cash flows in the Company's
consolidated statement of cash flows.
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On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-07, “Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net
Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost'. As required by this ASU, the components of net periodic pension costs were
disaggregated in the statement of operations on a retrospective basis. The Company has continued to reflect the service cost component in either
Operating or SG&A expenses in Moody's statements of operations. The other components of net benefit cost are presented within non-operating
(expense) income, net, within the statements of operations. The adoption of this ASU has no impact on Net Income in the Company’s statements of
operations. The impact to the Company's statemenis of operations for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 related to the adeption of this
ASU are set forth in the table below:

Year Ended Year Ended
Dacember 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Under
previous Under pravious
accounting Effect of As accounting Effect of

Citfnge Al ed

Year Ended
December 31, 2018

Under pravious

As accounting Effect of
Adjusted guldance

Interest expense, net
Dthar TGO paFATIGE TG0 (e
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-01 “Financial Instruments—OveraII (Subtopic 825-10) Recognltlon and Measurement of
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” ("ASU 2016-01". The amendments in thfs ASU update various aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosures relating to financial instruments. Upon adoption, the Company recorded a $2.3 million cumulative adjustment to reclassify
net unrealized gains on investments in equity securities previously classified as avallable-for-sale under the previous guidance from AQCI fo retained
earnings. Beginning on January 1, 2018, the Company will measure equity investments with readily determinable fair values (except those accounted for
under the equity method, those that result in consclidation of the investee and certain other investments) at fair value and recognize any changes in fair
value in net income. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2018.

In March 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-05, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Amendments ta SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 118", This ASU adds SEC paragraphs to the codification pursuant to the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, which address the
application of U.S. GAAP in situations when a registrant dees not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed (including
computations) in reasonable detail to finalize the calcuiations for the 2017 income tax effects of the Tax Act. This ASU provided entities with a one year
measurement period from the December 22, 2017 enaciment date, in crder to complete the accounting for the effects of the Tax Act. The Company
recorded a provisional estimate for the transition tax relating to the Tax Act in its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, and
subsequently refined its determination of the fransition tax during the measurement period in 2018, The impact of the Company’s accounting for the Tax
Act is mare fully described in Note 16.

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash
Payments (a Consensus of the Emerging issues Task Force)” on a retrespective basis, This ASU reduces diversily in practice in how certain transactions
are reflected in the statement of cash flows. Pursuant to the adoption of this ASU, the Company reclassified $7.1 million in cash paid in 2017 relating to a
Make-¥Whole provision upon the repayment of the Series 2007-1 Notes from cash flows used in operations to cash flows provided by financing activities.

During the second quarter of 2018, the Company early adopted ASU No. 2017-12, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to
Accounting for Hedging Activities”. This ASU fosters enhanced transparency relating to risk management activilies
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and simplifies the application of hedge accounting in certain circumstances. The adoption of this ASU did not have an impact on the Company's financial
statements at the date of adoption. Refer to Note 6 for further discussion on the prospective impact of this ASU on the Company’s financial statements.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Consolidation

The consclidated financial statements include those of Moody's Cerporation and its majority- and wholly-owned subsidiaries. The effects of all
intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Investments in companies for which the Company has significant influence over operating and financial
policies but not a controlling interest are accounted for on an equity basis whereby the Company records its proportional share of the investment's net
income or Joss as part of other non-cperating incame (expense), net and any dividends received reduce the carrying amount of the investment. The
Company applies the guidelines set forth in Topic 810 of the ASC in assessing its interests in variabie interest entities to decide whether to consolidate
that entity. The Company has reviewed the potential variable interest entities and determined that there are no consolidation requirements under Topic
810 of the ASC. The Company consclidates its ICRA subsidiaries on a three month lag.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents principally consist of investments in money market mutual funds and money market deposit accounts as well as high-grade commercial
paper and certificates of deposit with maturities of three months or less when purchased.

Short-term Investments

Shoit-term investments are securities with maturities greater than 90 days at the time of purchase that are available for operations in the next 12 months.
The Company’s short-term investments primarily congist of certificates of deposit and their cost approximates fair vaiue due to the shori-term nature of
the instruments. Interest and dividends on these investmants are recorded into income when earned.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Expenditures for
maintenance and repairs that do not extend the economic useful life of the related assets are charged to expense as incurred.

Resaarch and Development Costs
All research and development costs are expensed as incurred. These costs primarily reflect the development of credit processing software and
quantitative credit risk assessment producis sold by the MA segment,

Research and development costs were $51.1 million, $42.0 million, and $40.1 millicn for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2018,
respectively, and are included in operating expenses within the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. These osts generally consist of
professional services provided by third parties and compensation cosis of employees.

Costs for internally developed computer software that will be sold, leased or otherwise marketed are capitalized when technological feasibility has been
established. These costs primarily relate to the development or enhancement of products in the ERS business and generally consist of professicnal
services pravided by third parties and compensation costs of employees that develop the software. Judgment is required in determining when
technological feasibility of a product is established and the Company believes that technological feasibility for its software products is reached after all
high-risk development issues have been resolved threugh coding and testing. Generally, this occurs shortly before the products are released to
customers. Accordingly, costs Tor internally developed computer scftware that will be sold, leased or otherwise marketed that were eligible for
capitalization under Topic 985 of the ASC wers immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use

The Company capitalizes costs related to software developed or obtained for internal use. These assets, included in property and equipment in the
congolidated halance sheets, relate to the Company’s financial, website and cther systems. Such costs generally consist of direct costs for third-party
license fees, professional services provided by third parties and employee compensation, in each case incurred either during the applicaticn development
stage or in connection with upgrades and enhancements that increase functienality. Such costs are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage of development as well as maintenance costs are expensed as incurmred.

Long-Lived Assets, Including Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangibie Assets

Moody's evaluates its goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level, defined as an operating segment {i.e., MIS and MA), or one level below an
operating segment (i.e., a component of an operating segment), annually as of July 31 or more frequently if impairment indicators arlse in accordance
with ASC Topic 350.
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The Company evaluates the recoverability of goodwill using a two-step impairment test approach at the reporting unit fevel. In the first step, the Company
assesses various qualitative factors to determine whether the fair value of a reporting unit may be less than its carrying amount, If a determination is
made that, based on the gualitative factors, an impairment does not exist, the Company is not required to perform further testing. If the aforementioned
qualitative assessment results in the Company cencluding that it is mere likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit may be less than its carrying
amount, the fair value of the reporting unit will be datermined and compared fo its carrying value including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporiing unit
exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to that unit, gocdwill is not impaired and the Company is not required to perform further testing. {f
the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, the Company will recognize the difference as an impairment charge.

The Company evaluates its reporting units for impairment cn an annual basis, or more frequently if there are changes in the reporting structure of the
Company due to acquisitions or realignments cr if there are indicators of potential impairment. For the reporting units where the Company is consistently
able to conclude that an impairment dces nof exist using only a qualitative appreach, the Company's accounting policy is to perform the second step of
the aforementioned goodwill impairment assessment at least once every three years. Goodwill is assigned to a reporting unit at the date when an
acquisition is integrated into one of the established reporting units, and is based con which reporting unit is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition.

For purposes of assessing the recoverability of goodwill, the Company has eight primary reporting units at December 31, 2018: fwo within the Company’s
ratings business (one for the ICRA business and one that encompasses all of Moody's other ratings operations) and six reporting units within MA:
Caontent, ERS, MALS, MAKS, Bureau van Dijk, and Reis.

Amortizable intangible assets are reviewed for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

Rent Expense

The Company records rent expense an a siraight-line basis over the life of the lease. In cases where there is a free rent period or future fixed rent
escalations the Company will recerd a deferred rent liability. Additionally, the receipt of any lease incentives will be recorded as a deferred rent liability,
which will be amortized over the lease term as a reduction of rent expense.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company records compensation expense for all share-based payment award fransactions granted to employees based on the fair value of the equity
instrument at the time of grant. This includes shares issued under stock option and restricted stock plans.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Based on the Company’s risk management pelicy, from time to time the Company may use derivative financial instruments to reduce expesure to
changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. All
derivative financial instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at their respective fair values on a gross basis. The changes in the value of derivatives
that qualify as fair value hedges are recerded in the same income statement line item in earnings in which the corresponding adjustment to the carrying
value of the hedged item is presented, The enlire change in the fair value of derivatives that qualify as cash flow hedges is recorded to OCl and such
amounts are reclassified from AOCI to the same income statement line in earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction
affects income. Effective with the Company's early adoption of ASC 2017-12, the Company changed the method by which it assesses effectivaness for
net investment hedges from the forward-method to the spot-method. The Company considers the spot-method an improved method of assessing hedge
effectiveness, as spot rate changes relating to the hedging instrument's notional amount perfectly offset the cusrency translation adjustment on the
hedged net investment in the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. The entire change in the fair value of derivatives that qualify as net investment hedges is
initially recorded to OCI. Those changes in fair value attributable to components included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness in a net investmant
hedge are recorded in the currency transiation adjustment component of OC| and remain in ACCI until the period in which the hedged item affects
eamings. Those changes in fair vaiue attributable to components excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness in a net investment hedge are
recorded to OCIl and amortized to earnings using a systematic and raficnal method over the duration of the hedge. Any changes in the fair value of
derivatives that the Company does not designate as hedging instruments under Topic 8§15 of the ASC are recorded in the consolidated statements of
operations in the period in which they oceur.

Revenue Recognition and Costs te Obtain or Fulfill a Contract with a Customer

Revenue recognition:
Revenue is recognized when control of promised gocds or services is transferred {o the customer, in an amount that reflects the consideration the
Company expects fo be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

Whan contracts with customers contain multiple perfoermance obligations, the Company accounts for individual performance obligations separately if they
are distinct. The transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation on a relative SSP basis. The Company determines the SSP by
using the price charged for a deliverable when sold separately or uses management’s best
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estimate of SSP for goods or services not sold separately using estimation technigues that maximize observable data points, including: internal factors
relevant to its pricing practices such as costs and margin cbjectives; standalone sales prices of similar products; pricing policies; percentage of the fee
charged for a primary product or service relative to a related product or service; and customer segment and geography. Additional consideration is alsc
given to market conditions such as competitor pricing strategies and market trends.

Sales, usage-based, value added and cther taxes are excluded from revenues,
MIS Revenue

In the MIS segment, revenue arrangements with multiple elements are generally comprised of two distinct performance obligations, an initial rating and
the related monitoring service. Revenue attributed to initial ratings of issuad securities is generally recognized when the rating is delivered to the issuer.
Revenue attributed to monitoring of issuers or issued securities is recognized ratably over the period in which the monitoring is performed, generally one
year. In the case of certain structured finance products, primarily CMBS, issuers can elect to pay all of the annual menitoring fees upfront. These fees are
deferred and recognized over the future monitoring periods based cn the expected lives of the rated securities.

MIS arrangements generally have standard centractual terms for which the stated payments are due at conclusion of the ratings process for initial ratings
and either upfront or in arrears for menitoring services; and are signed by customers either on a per issue basis or at the beginning of the relationship
with the customer. In situations when customer fees for an arrangement may be variable, the Company estimates the variable consideration at inception
using the expected value method based on analysis of similar coniracts in the same line of business, which is constrained hased on the Company's
assessment of the realization of the adjustment amount.

The Company allocates the transaction price within arrangements that include multiple elements based upon the relative 8SP of each service. The
Company generally uses management’s best estimate of 8SP for its initial ratings and considers all available data points. The Company generally
provides initial ratings only in transactions that include monitoring services. The SSP for monitoring fees in these arrangements are generally based upon
directly observable selling prices where the menitoring service is sold separately,

MA Revente

[n the MA segment, preducts and services offered by the Company include hosted research and data subscriptions, installed software subscriptions,
nerpetual installed software licenses and related maintenance, or PCS, and professional services. Subscription and PCS contracts are generally invoiced
in advance of the contractual coverage period, which is principally one year, but can range from 3-5 years; while perpetual software licenses are
generally invoiced upon delivery and professional services are invoiced as those services are provided. Payment terms and conditions vary by contract
type, but primarily include a requirement of payment within 30 to 60 days.

Revenue from research, data and other hosted subscriptions is recognized ratably over the related subscription peried. A large portion of these services
are invoiced in the months of November, December and January.

Revenue from the sale of a software license, when considered distinct from the related software implementation services, is generally recognized at the
time the product master or first copy is delivered or transferred to the customer. However, in instances where the software license (perpetual or
subscription} and related implementation services are considered to be one ¢embined performance obligation, revenue is recognized cn a
percentage-of-completion basis (input mathod) as implementation services are performed over time, which is consistent with the pattern of recognition for
the software implementation services if considered tc be a separate distinct performance obligation. The Company exercises judgment in determining the
level of integration and interdependsncy belween the promise to grant the software license and the promise to deliver the related implemantation
services, This determination influences whether the scftware license is considered distinct and accounted for separately, or not distinct and accounted for
together with the implernentation services and recegnized over time. PCS is generally recognized ratably over the contractual period commencing when
the software license is fully delivered. Revenue from installed software subscriptions, which includes PCS, is bifurcated into a software license
performance obligation and a PCS perfermance cbligaticn, which follow the patterns of recognition described above.

For implementation services and other service projects within the ERS and ESA LOBs for which fees are fixed, the Company determined progress
towards completion is most accurately measured on a percentage-cf-completion basis (input method) as this approach utilizes the most direclly
observable data peints and is therefore used to recognize the related revenue, Far implementation services where price varies based on time expended,
a time-based measure of progress towards completion of the performance obligation is utilized.

Revenue from professional services rendered within the PS LOB is generally recognized as the services are performed over time,

Products and services offered within the MA segment are sold either stand-alone or together in various combinations. In instances where an arrangement
contains multiple performance obligations, the Company accounts for the individual perfermance obligations separately if they are considered distinct.
Revenue is generally allocated to all performance chligations based upon the relative SSP at contract inception. Judgment is often requirad to determine
the SSP for each distinct performance cbligation. Revenue is recegnized for each performance obligation based upon the conditions for revenue
recognition noted above.
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In the MA segment, customers usually pay a fixed fea for the products and sarvices based on signed contracts. However, accounting for variable
consideration is applied mainly for: i) estimates for cancellation rights and price coneessions and i) T&M based services.

The Company estimates the variable censideration associated with cancellation rights and price concessions based on the expected amount to be
provided to customers and reduces the amount of revenue to be recognized. T&M based contracts represent about half of MA's service projects within
the ERS and ESA LOBs. The Company provides agreed upon services at a contracted daily or hourly rate. The commitment represents a series of goods
and services that are substantially the same and have the same pattem of transfer to the customer. As such, if T&M services are sold with other MA
products, the Company allocates the variable censideration entirely to the T&M performance obligation if the services are sold at standard pricing orata
similar discount level compared to other performance obligations in the same revenue contract. If these criteria are not met, the Company estimates
variable consideration for each performance obligation upfront. Each form of variable consideration is included in the transaction price enly to the extent
that it is probable that a significant reversal of any incrementat revenue will not occur,

Costs to Obtain or Fulfill a Contract with a Gustomer:

Costs incurred to obtain customer contracts, such as sales commissions, are deferred and recorded within other current assets and other assets whan
such costs are determined to be incremental to obtaining a centract, would net have been incurred otherwise and the Company expects to recover those
costs. These costs are amortized to expense consistent with the recogniticn pattern of the related revenue over time, Depending on the line of business
to which the contract relates, this may be based upon the average economic life of the products sold or average period for which services are provided,
inclusive of anticipated contract renewals. Determining the estimated economic life of the products sold requires judgment with respect te anticipated
future technological changes. The Company had a balance of $109.6 millicn in such deferred costs as of December 31, 2018 and recognized

$38.0 million of related amortization during the year ended December 31, 2018, which is included within SG&A expenses in the consolidated statement of
operations. Costs incurred to obtain customer contracts are only in the MA segment,

Costs incurred to fulfill customer contracts, are deferred and recorded within other current assets and other assets when such costs relate direcily to a
contract, generate or enhance resources of the Company that will be used in satisfying performance obligations in the future and the Company axpects to
recover those costs.

The Company capitalizes work-in-process costs for in-progress MIS ratings, which is recognized consistent with the rendering of the related services to
the customers, as ratings are issued. The Company had a balance of $10.6 miilion in such deferred costs as of December 31, 2018 and recognized
$40.4 miflion of amortization of the costs during the year ended December 31, 2018, respectively, which is included within operating expenses in the
consolidated statement of operations.

In addition, within the MA segment, the Company capitalizes royaity costs related to third-party information data providers associated with hosted
company information and business intelligence products. These costs are amertized to expense consistent with the recognition pattern of the related
revenue over time. The Company had a balance of $35.0 millicn in such deferred costs as of December 31, 2018 and recognized $54.0 million of related
amortization during the year ended December 31, 2018, respectively, which is included within operating expenses in the consoclidated statement of
operations.

Accounts Receivable Allowances and Contract Assets

Moody's records variable consideraticn in respect of estimated future adjustments to customer billings as an adjusiment to revenue using the axpecled
value method based on analysis of similar contracls in the same line of business. Such amounts are reflected as additions to the accounts receivable
allowance or to confract assets. Additicnally, estimates of uncollectible accounts are recorded as bad debt expense and are reflected as additions to the
accounts receivable allowance. Actual billing adjustments are recorded against the allowance or the contract asset, depending on the nature of the
adjustment, Actual uncollectible account write-cffs are recorded against the allowance. Moody's evaluates its accounts receivable allowance by reviewing
and assessing historical collection and adjustment experience and the current status of customer accounts. Moody's also considers the economic
environment of the: customers, both from an industry and geographic perspective, in evaluating the need for allowances. Based on its analysis, Mocdy's
adjusts its allowance as considered appropriate in the circumstances.

Contingencies

Moody's is involved in legal and tax proceedings, governmental, regulatory and legislative investigations and inquiries, claims and litigation that are
incidental to the Company’s business, including claims based on ratings assigned by MIS. Moody's Is also subject to ongoing tax audits in the nermal
course of business, Management periodically assesses the Company's liabilities and contingencies in connection with these matters based upon the
latest information available. Moody's discloses material pending legal preceedings pursuant to SEC rules and ofther pending matters as it may determine
to be appropriate.

For claims, litigation and proceedings and governmental investigations and inquires not related to income taxes, where it is both probable that a liability
has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reascrably estimated, the Company records liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
periodically adjusts these as appropriate. When the reasonable estimate of the loss is within a range
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of amounts, the minimum amount of the range is accrued unless some higher amount within the range is a better estimate than another amount within
the range. In other instances, where a loss is reasonably possible, management may not record a liability because of uncertainties related to the probable
outcome and/or the amount or range of loss, but discloses the contingency if significant. As additional information becomes available, the Company
adjusts its assessments and estimates of such matters accordingly. In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of litigation, regulatory,
governmantal investigations and inguirles, enforceament and similar matters, particularly where the claimants seek large or indeterminate damages or
where the parties assert novel legal theories or the matters involve a large number of parties, the Company cannot predict what the eventual cutcome of
the pending matters will be or the timing of any resolution of such matiers. The Company also cannot predict the impact (f any) that any such matters
may have on how its business is conducted, on its competitive position or on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows. As the process to
resolve any pending matters progresses, management will confinue to review the latest information available and assess its ability to predict the outcome
of such matters and the effects, if any, on its operaticns and financial condition. However, in light of the large or indeterminate damages scught in scme
of them, the absence of similar court rulings on the theories of law asserted and uncertainties regarding apportionment of any potential damages, an
estimate of the range of possible losses cannot be made at this time,

The Company’s wholiy-owned insurance subsidiary insures the Company against certain risks including but not limited to deductibles for worker's
compensation, employment practices litigation and employee medical claims and terrorism, for which the claims are not material to the Company. In
addition, for claim years 2008 and 2008, the insurance subsidiary insured the Company for defense costs related to professional liability claims. For
matters insured by the Company's insurance subsidiary, Moody's records liabilities based on the estimated total claims expected to be paid and total
projected costs to defend a claim through its anticipated conclusion. The Company determines liabilities based on an assessment of managemsnt’s best
estimate of claims to be paid and legal defense costs as well as actuarially defermined estimates, Defense costs for matters not self-insured by the
Company's wholly-owned insurance subsidiary are expensed as services ara provided.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses include costs associated with the develepment and production of the Company’s products and services and their delivery to
customers. These expenses principally include empioyee compensation and benefits and travel costs that are incurred in connection with these activities,
Operating expenses are charged to Income as incurrad, axcept for certain costs related to software implementation services, which may be deferred until
related revenue is recognized. Additionally, certain costs incurred to develop intemal use software are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated
useful life,

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A expenses include such items as compensatien and benefits for corporate officers and staff and compensation and other expenses related {o sales.
They also include items such as office rent, business insurance, professianal fees and gains and losses from sales and disposals of assets, SG&A
expenses are charged te income as incurred, except for certain expenses incurred to develop internal use software (which are capitalized and
depreciated over their estimated useful life) and the defarral of sales commissions in the MA segment (which are recognized in the peried in which the
related revenue is recognized).

Foreign Gurrency Translation

For all operations cutside the U.S. whera the Company has designated the local currency as the functional currency, assets and liabilities are translated
into W.S. doltars using end of year exchange rates, and revenue and expensas are translated using average exchange rates for the year, For these
foreign operations, currency translation adjustments are recorded to other comprehensive income.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income represents the change in net assets of a business enterprise during a peried due to transactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources including foreign currency translation impacts, net actuarial losses and net prior service costs related to pensicn
and other retirement plans, gains and losses cn derivative instruments designated as net investment hedges or cash flow hedges and unrealized gains
and losses on securities designated as ‘available-for-sale’ under ASC Topic 320 {for periods prior to January 1, 2018). Comprehensive income items,
including cumulative translation adjustments of entities that are less-than-wholly-cwned subsidiaries, will be reclassified to noncontrolling interests and
thereby, adjusting accumulated other comprehensive income proportionately in accordance with the percentage of ownership interest of the NCI
shareholder.

Income Taxes

The Gompany aceounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC Topic 740. Therefore, income tax expense is
based on reported income befare income taxes and deferred income taxes reflect the effect of temporary differences belween the amounts of assets and
liabilities that are recognized for financial reporting purposes and the amounts that are recognized for income tax purposes.
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The Company classifies interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of interest expense in its consolidated statements of operations.
Penalties are recognized in other non-operating expenses. For UTPs, the Company first determines whether it is more-likely-than-not {defined as a
likelihnood of more than fifty percent) that a tax position will be sustained based on its technical merits as of the reporting date, assuming that taxing
authorities will examine the position and have full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position that meets this more-likely-than-not threshold is
then measured and recognized at the largest ameunt of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely to be realized upon effective settfement with a
taxing authority,

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into law, resulting in ail previcusly undistributed foreign earnings being subject to U.S, tax. The Company
has provided non-U.5. deferred taxes for those antities whose eamings are not considered indefinitely reinvested.

Fair Yalue of Financial Instruments
The Company's financial instruments include cash, cash equivalents, trade receivables and payables, and certain short-term investmants consisting
primarily of certificates of deposit, all of which are shart-term in nature and, accordingly, approximate fair value.

The Company alsc has certain investmants in mutual funds in India, which are accounted for as equity securities with readily determinable fair values
under ASC Topic 321. Beginning in the first quarter of 2018, the Company will measure these investments at fair value with both realized gains and
losses and unrealized holding gains and losses for these investments included in net income.

Prior to January 1, 2018, the investments in mutual funds in India were designated as ‘available for sale’ under Topic 320 of the ASC. Accordingly,
unrealized gains and losses on these investments were recorded to other comprehensive income and were reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income to the statement of eperations when the investment matured or was sold using a specific identification method.

Also, the Company uses derivative instruments to manage certain financial exposures that occur in the normal course of business. These derivative
instruments are carried at fair value on the Company’s consclidated balance sheets.

Fair value is defined by the ASC 820 as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid {o transfer a liability {i.e., an exit price} in an ordetly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The determination of this fair value is based on the principal or most advantageous
market in which the Company could commence transactions and considers assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions and risk of ncnperformance. Also, determination of fair value assumes that market participants will
consider the highest and best use of the asset.

The ASC establishes a fair value hierarchy whereby the inputs contained in valuation techniques used to measure fair value are categorized into three
broad levels as follows:

Level 1: quoted market prices in active markets that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the date of the fair value measuremeant;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted market prices described in Level 1 that are obsarvable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, such as
guoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liakilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by obsarvable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities;

Level 3: unchservable inputs that are supported by little or no market acfivity and that are significant to the fair value measurement of the asseats or
liahilities.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk principally consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments, trade receivables and derivatives.

The Company manages its credit risk exposure by allocating its cash equivalents among various monay markat mutual funds, money market deposit
accounts, certificates of deposits and high-grade commercial paper. Short-term investments primarily consist of certificates of deposit as of December 31,
2018 and 2017. The Company manages its credil risk exposure on cash equivalents and short-term investments by limiting the amount it can invest with
any single entity. No customer accounted for 10% or more of accounts receivable at December 31, 2018 or 2017,

Earnings (Loss) per Share of Common Stock

Basic shares outstanding is calculated based on the weighted average number of shares of commeon stock outstanding during the reperting period.
Diluted shares outstanding is calcufated giving effect to ail potentially dilutive commaon shares, assuming that such shares were outstanding and dilutive
during the reporting period.

Pension and Other Retirement Benefits
Moody’s maintains various noncontributory DBPPs as well as other contributory and noncontributory retirement plans. The expense and assets/liabilities
that the Company reports for ifs pensicn and other retirement benefits are dependent on many assumptions
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concerning the outcome of future events and circumstances. These assumptions represent the Company's best estimates and may vary by plan. The
differences between the assumptions for the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and actual experience is spread over a five-year period fo
the market-related value of plan assets, which is used in determining the expecied return on assets component of annual pension expense. All other
actuarial gains and losses are generally deferred and amortized over the estimated average future working life of active plan participants.

The Company recognizes as an asset or liability in its consolidated balance sheet the funded status of its defined benefit retirement plans, measured cn a
plan-by-plan basis. Changes in the funded stafus due 1o actuarial gains/losses are recorded as part of other comprehensive income during the period the
changes occur,

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reporied
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, revenue recognition,
accounts receivable allowances, incoma taxes, contingencies, valuation and useful lives of long-lived and intangible assets, goodwill, pension and other
retirement benefits, stock-based compensation, restructuring and depreciable lives for property and equipment and computer software.

Recently lssued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No, 2018-02, “Leases (Topic 842) requiring lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and lease liability for all
leases with terms of more than 12 months. Recegnition, measurement and presentation of expenses and cash flows will depend on classification as
either a finance or operating lease. During July 2018, the FASB issued additional updates o the new lease accounting standard, ASU No. 2018-10,
"Codification Improvements to Topic 842, |.eases” clarifies certain aspects of the new lease accounting standard. In addition, ASU No. 2018-11, “Leases
(Topic 842): Targeted Improvements” pravides companies with the option to apply the provisions of the new lease accounting standard on the date of
adoption (effective date of January 1, 2019 for Moody's), and recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the
period of adoption, without adjusting the comparative periods presented, as initially required.

The Company will adopt the new lease accounting standard as of January 1, 2019 and has elected to apply the provisions of the standard on the date of
adoption. Accordingly, the Company will not restate prior year comparative periods for the impact of the new lease accounting standard, The Company
will elect the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new lease accounting standard, which permits the
Company nat fo reassess the following for any expired or existing contracts: i) whether any confracts contain leases, i) lease dassification (i.e. operating
lease or finance/capital lease); and Iif) initial direct costs,

The Company is in the process of finalizing the implementation of a software soluticn, which will support the accounting under the new lease accounting
standard.

The Company anticipates that the adaption of the new lease accounting standard will result in the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
approximately 3520 million and $625 million, respectively, at January 1, 2019, consisting primarily of operating leases relating to real estate. Pursuant to
this transition adjustment, the Company also anticipates recognizing approximately $150 million and approximately $125 million in additicnal deferred tax
assets and liabilities, respectively. The Company doas not anticipate that the new lease accounting standard will materially impact its statement of
operations or statement of cash flows in periods subsequent to adopticn. The aforementioned estimates related to the adoption of the new lease
accounting standard are based on the Company’s assessment and bast estimates to date.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments—Credit Losses {Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments”. The amendments in this ASU require the use of an “expected credit loss” impairment model for most financial assets reported at amortized
cost, which will require entities to estimate expected credit losses over the lifetime of the ingtrument. This may result in the earlier recognition of
allowances for losses. For available-for-sale debt securities with unrealized lcsses, an allowance for credit losses will be recognized as a contra account
to the amortized cost carrying value of the asset rather than a direct reduction to the carrying value, with changes in the allowance impacting earnings. In
November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-19 “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses,” which clarifies that
receivables arising from operating leases are not within the scope of Sublopic 326-20, but instead should be accounted for in accordance with Topic 842,
Leases.

ASU Ne, 2016-13 is effective for annual and interim reporting pericds beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted in annual and
interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Entities will apply the standard’s provisions as a cumulative-effect adjusiment to retained
earnings as of the beginning of the first effective reporting pericd, The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this ASU en its financial statements.
Currently, the Company believes that the most notable impact of this ASU will relate to its processes around the assessment of the adequacy of its
allowance for doubtful accounts on accounts receivable.

in February 2018, FASB issued ASU No. 2018-02, "Income Statement—-Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Redassification of Certain Tax
Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income”, Under current GAAP, adjustments to deferred tax assets and liabilities related to a change in
tax laws or rates are included in
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income from continuing operations, even in situations where the related items were originally recognized in OC| (commonly referred to as a “stranded tax
effect”. The provisions of this ASU permit the reclassification of the stranded tax effect related to the Tax Act from AOCI to retained earnings. This ASU
is effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted.
Adoption of this ASU is to be applied either in the pericd of adoption cr retrospectively to each period in which the effect of the Tax Act were recognized.
The Company expects to make adjustments to its opening retained earnings and AOCI balances as of January 1, 2019, to reclassify approximately

$20 million of tax benefits from AQCI te retained esamings relating to the aforementioned stranded tax effect of the Tax Act.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU Ne. 2018-07, “Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based
Payment Accounting”, which simplifies the accounting for nonemployse share-basad payment transactions, The amendments specify that ASC Topic 718
applies to all share-based payment transactions in which a grantor acquires goods or services to be used or consumed in a grantor's own operations by
issuing share-based payment awards. The ASU is effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within
those fiscal years, with early adoption permiited. The Cempany does not anticipate that the adoption of this ASU will have a significant impact on its
consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issuad ASU No. 2018-15, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internail-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer's Accounting
for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cleud Comgputing Arrangement that is a Service Contract”, which requires implementation costs incurred by
customers in cloud computing arrangements {i.e., hosting arrangements) to be capitalized under the same premises of authoritative guidance

for internal-use software, and deferred over the ncn-cancellable term of the cloud computing arrangements plus any option renewal pericds that are
reasonably certain to be exercised by the customer or for which the exsrcise is controlled by the service provider. The ASU is effective for all entities for
fiscal years heginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of this ASU on its financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-14, “Compensation—Retirernent Benefits—Defined Benefit Plans—General (Subtopic 715-20):
Digclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans”. This ASU eliminates requirements for certain disclosures
and requires additional disclosures under defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement plans. The ASU is effective for all entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2020 on a retrospective basis to all periods presented, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating
the impact of this ASU on its financial statements,

In October 2018, the FASB issued ASU Na, 2018-16, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): [nclusion of the Secured Overnight Financing Rate {(SOFR}
Ovemight index Swap (OIS) Rate as a Benchmark Interest Rate for Hedge Accounting Purposes”. The amendments in this ASU permit the use of the
OIS rate based on SOFR as a U.S. benchmark interest rate for hedge accounting purposes under ASC 815, in addition to the currently permissible
benchmark interest rates. This ASU will provide the Company the ability to utilize the QIS rate based on SOFR as the benchmark interest rate on certain
hedges of interest rate risk. For entities, such as the Company, that have already adopted ASU 2017-12, this ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The ASU is to be adopted on a prospective basis
for qualifying new or redesignated hedging relationships entered inio on or after the date of adoption. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption
of this ASU will have a significant impact cn its consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 3 REVENUES
Revenue by Category
The following table presents the Company's revenues disaggregated by LOB:

Year Ended December 31,
1

Corporate fi inance (CFG)
Haga

' Banking

Total FIG
Bl prse s vaslteirsin e (PPIEE

Public finance / soverelgn

Total external revenue
{HEsrseamant reven

Total MA
Elfeiatng i
Total MCO $ 4,442 7 $ 4,204.1

{1}  Prior period amounts have not been adjusted under the modified retrospective method of adoption for the New Revenue Accounting Standard.

(2} Otherincludes: recurring monltoring fees of a rated debt chligation and/or entities that Issue such obligations as well as fees from programs such as commercial paper, medium
term notes, and ICRA corporate finance revenue,
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The following table presents the Company's revenues disaggregated by LOB and geographic area:

Year Ended Dacember 31, 2018 Year Ended December 31, 2017 {1)

MisE:
Corporate finance {CFG) $ 852.3 $ . $ 1,334.1 $ 9098.7 $ 483.0 5 1,802.7
mammﬁﬁwsm : = - - il

F1nanmal

1,702.3

Total MCO $ 23206  $  2113.1 $__ 44427 § 23484 $ 18857 $ 42041

Year Ended December 31, 2016 {1)
LS. Non-i).S. Tofal

=

Gorporate flnance (CFG)

Total ratings revenue
Total MIS
A=
Research, data and analytlcs {(RD&A)

Enterpriserishs SRS
Professional services (P3)

Total MCO N $ 21065 § 14987 $ 36042

(1)  Prior pertod amounts have not heen adjusted undsr the modified ratrospective method of adoption for the New Revenue Accounting Standard.
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The tables below summarize the split between transaction and relaticnship revenue. In the MIS segment, excluding MIS Other, fransaction revenue
represents the initial rating of a new debt issuance as well as other one-time fees while relationship revenue represents the recurring monitoring fees of a
rated debt obligation and/or entities that issue such obligatiens, as well as revenue from programs such as commercial paper, medium-term notes and
shelf registrations. In MIS Other, transaction revenue represents revenue from professional services and outsourcing engagements and refationship
revenue represents subscription-based revenues. In the MA segment, relationship revenue represents subscription-based revenues and software
maintenance revenue. Transaction revenue in MA represents perpetual software license fees and revenue from software implementation services, risk
management advisory projects, training and certification services, and cutsourced research and analytical engagements.

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 (2)
Transaction Relationship Total Transaction Relationship

502

Year Ended December 31,

20186 (2)

Kotal Moot sCorp

{1} Revenue from software implementation services and risk management adviscry projects, while classified by management as transactional revenue, is recognized over time under
the New Revenus Accounting Standard (please alse refer to the iable below).

{2} Prior pariod amounts have not been adjusted under the modifled retrospective method of adeption for the New Revenue Accounting Standard.
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The following table presents the timing of revenue recognition:

Year Ended December 31, 2018

B&

Revenue recognized aver time

Unbilled Receivables, Deferred Revenue and Remaining Performance Obligations

Unbilled receivables .

At December 31, 2018, accounts receivable included approximately $311.8 miflion of unbilled receivables related to the MiS segment'. Certain MIS
arrangements contain contractual terms whereby the customers are billed in arrears for annual moenitoring services and rating fees, requiring revenue to
be accrued as an unbilled receivable as such services are provided.

In addition, for certain MA arrangements, the timing of when the Company has the unconditional right to consideration and recognizes revenue occurs
prior to invoicing the customer. Consequently, at December 31, 2018, accounts receivable included approximately $59.5 million of unbitled recelvables
related to the MA segment,

Deferred revenue
The Company recognizes deferred ravenue when a contract requires a customer to pay consideration to the Company in advance of when revenue is

recognized. This deferred revenue is relieved when the Company satisfies the related performance obligation and revenue is recognized.
Significant changes in the deferred revenue balances during the year ended December 31, 2018 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2818
MIS MA Total

BiEnce dE e A 20 et oW BevenUB Aetobntice Stendamaransiom SsenE
Changes in deferred revenue
G E G

sle and Cmsjadcu Tlicrsdarng e parlnd=
Effect of exchange rate changes

b= 5 I5E

Balance at December 31, 2018 .
Beterad revenie=Eeng 57 554
Deferred revenue—noncuirent $ 118.2 $ 44 $ 1223

For the MA segment, for the year ended December 31, 2018, the increase in the deferred revenue balance was primarily due to organic growth and the
Reis acquisition in the fourth guarter of 2018.

Eemaining performance obligations
The following tables inciude the expescted recognition period for the remaining performance obligations for each reportable segment as of December 31,

2018:

MIS

L.ess than

16-20 years Over 20 Years

50

The balances in the MIS table above largely reflect deferred revenue related to monitoring fees for certain structured finance products, primarily CMBS,
where the issuers can elect lo pay the monitoring fees for the life of the security in advance. With respect to the
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remaining petformance obligations for the MIS segment, the Company has applied a practical expedient set forth in ASC Topic 606 permitting the
omission from the table above for unsatisfied performance obligations relating to contracts with an original expected length of one year or less.

MA

i—
Total Less than 1 Year o - 2 Years

The halances in the MA table above mclude both amounts recerded as deferred ravenue on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2018 as well as
amounts not yet invoiced to customers as of December 31, 2018 largely reflecting future revenue related to signed multi-year amrangements for hosted
and installed subscription based products.

NOTE 4 RECONCILIATION OF WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING
Below is a reconciliation of basic to diluted shares cutstanding:

Year Ended December 31,

R R

uable under stock-based com

Antidilutive options to purchase common shares and restricted steck as well as
contingently issuable restricted stock which are excluded from the table above 0.4 0.6 0.6

The calculation of diluted EPS requires certain assumptions regarding the use of both cash proceeds and assumed proceeds that weuld be received
upon the exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock outstanding as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. The assumed proceeds In 2018
and in 2017 do not include Excess Tax Benefits pursuant to the prospective adoption of ASU 2016-09 in the first quarter of 2017. The assumed proceeds
in 2016 include Excess Tax Benefits.

NOTE 5§ CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS
The table below provides additional informaticn on the Company’s >ash equivalents and investments:

As of December 31, 2018
Gross Balance sheet location

Unrealized Cash and cash Short-term Other
Gi i Ivalents : t

$

Certificates oj deposit and money market deposit accounts (1)

As of December 31, 2017

Gross Balance sheet location
Unrealized Cash and cash Short-term Other
Cost Gains Falr Value equivalents investments assets

(1) Conslsts of time deposits and moeney market deposﬁ accounts, The remammg cunlractual maturities fcrlhe certlficates of deposits classmed as shori term Invesimenis were cne tc
12 months at December 31, 2018 and at Dacembsr 31, 2017. The remaining contractual maturities for the certificates of depasits classified in other assets are 14 to 36 months i
December 31, 2018 and 15 to 48 months at December 31, 2017. Time depaosits with a maturity of less than 80 days at ime of purchase are classified as cash and cash
equivalents.

(2y At December 31, 2017, the remaining coniractual maturities for the fixed maturity instruments were six months 1o seven months,

MOQDY'S 2018 10-K 88



Table of Contents

As a result of the adoptien of ASU 2016-01, as further discussed in Note 1 and Note 2, the money markel mutual funds and the fixed maturity and open-
ended mutual funds in the table above are deemed to be equity securities with raadily determinable fair values with changes in the fair value recognized
through net incerne under ASC Topic 321. The fair value of these instruments is determined using Level 1 inputs as defined in ASC 820.

NOTE 6 DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The Company is exposed to global market risks, including risks from changes in FX rates and changes in interest rates. Accordingly, the Company uses
derivatives in certain instances to manage the aforementianed financial exposures that occur in the normal course of business. The Company dees not
hold or issue derivatives for speculative purpeses.

Derivatives and non-derivative instruments designated as accounting hedges:

Interest Rate Swaps Designated as Fair Value Hedges

The Company hag entered into interest rate swaps to convert the fixed interest rate on certain of its [ong-term debt to a floating interest rate based con the
3-month LIBOR. The purpose of these hedges is to mitigate the risk asscciated with changes in the fair value of the leng-term debt, thus the Company
has designated these swaps as fair value hedges, The fair value of the swaps is adjusted quarterly with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying value
of the debt. The changes in the fair value of the swaps and the underlying hedged item generally offset and the net cash settlements on the swaps are
recorded each period within interest expense, net in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations,

The following table summarizes the Company's interest raie swaps designaled as fair value hedges:

Notlonal Amount
As of December 31,

Hedged Item Nature of Swap 2018 2017 Floating Interest Rate
2010 Senior Notes dug 2020 Pay Floating/Recelve Fixed § 500.0 $ 500.0 3-month LIBOR
2012 Senior Notes due 2022 Pay Floating/Receive Fixed $ 3300 $ 80.0 3-menth LIBOR
2014 Senior Notes dus 2019 Pay Fleating/Receiva Fixed $ - $ 450.0 3-menth LIBOR
2017 Senlor Notes due 2021 Pay Floating/Receive Fixed $ 500.0 $ — 3-menth LIBOR

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Company terminated the interest rate swaps associated with the 2014 Senior Notes Due 2019 in advance of the early
repayment of the notes in January 2019.

Refer o Note 17 for informaticon on the cumulative amount of fair value hedging adjustments included in the carrying amount of the above hedged items.

The following table summarizes the impact to the statemant of operations of the Campany’s interast rate swaps designated as fair value hedges:

Amount of income
Recognized In the Consclidated
Statements of Operations
Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2018

s eSCHD!

Net interest settlements and acoruals on

interest rate swaps Interest expense, net $ (2.4} 3 6.7 $ 1.2
T L LR L BT R R N w2

Fair value changes on hedged debt Interest expense, net $ 2.2) $ 9.2

Cash flow hedges

In conjunction with the issuance of the 2015 Senior Netes, the Company entered into a cross-currency swap to exchange € 100 million for U.S. dollars en
the date of the setilement of the notes. The purpese of this cress-currency swap was to mitigate FX risk on the remaining principal balance on the 2015
Senior Notes that initially was not designated as a net investment hedge. Under the terms of the swap, the Company paid the counterparty interest on the
$110.5 million received at 3.945% per annum and the counterparty paid the Company interest on the € 100 million paid at 1.75% per annum. These
interest payments were seitled in March of each year,
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beginning in 2016, until early termination cof the cross-currency swap in 2017, which was at the discretion of the Company. In March 2018, the Cempany
designated these cross-currency swaps as cash flow hedges. Accordingly, changes in fair value subsequent to the date the swaps were designated as
cash flow hedges were recognized in OCI. Gains and losses on the swaps initially recognized in OC| were reclassified to the statement of operations in
the period in which changes in the underlying hedged item affected net income. On December 18, 2017, when the Company terminated the cross-
currency swap, it designated the full € 500 million principal of the 2015 Senior Notes as a net investment hedge as discussed below.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Company entered inte and settled $250 millicn noltfonal amount treasury rate locks, which were designated as cash flow
hedges and used to manage the Company's interest rate risk associated with the anticipated issuance of the 2018 Senior Notes Due 2029, which are
more fully discussed in Note 17. The Company sattled these treasury rate locks In December 2018 In conhection with the issuance of the 2018 Senior
MNotes Due 2029. The loss on these treasury rate locks was recorded in comprehensive income (see tables below relating to gains and losses on cash

. flow and net investment hadges) and will be amortized to interest expense over the term of the 2018 Senior Notes Due 2029,

Net Investment Hedges
The Company has entered into cross-currency swaps to mitigate FX exposure related to a portion of the Company’s euro net investment in certain
foreign subsidiaries against changes in eurc/USD exchange rates.

The Company has designated € 500 million of the 2015 Senior Notes Due 2027 as a net investment hedge. This hedge is designated as an accounting
hedge under the applicable sections of ASC Topic 815 and will end upon the repayment of the notes in 2027, unless terminated early at the discretion of
the Company.

In 2018, the Company entered into cross-currancy swaps to exchange an aggregate amount of € 710.2 million with corresponding interest based on the
floating 3-month EURIBOR for an aggregate amount of $830.0 million with corresponding interest based on the floating 3-month U.S, LIBOR, These
hedges were designated as net invesiment hedges undar ASC Topic 815 and the purpose of these hedges is to mitigate FX exposure related to a portion
of the Company’s euro net investments in certain foreign subsidiaries against changes in euro/USD exchange rates. These hedges will expire and be
settled in 2021 and 2022 for € 422.5 million and € 287.7 million of the total notional amount, respectively, unless terminated early at the discration of the
Company.

Beginning in 2018 with the Company’s initial application of ASU 2017-12, net periodic interest seltlements and accruals on the cross currency swaps
(which would include any cross-currency basis spread adjustment) are reported directly In interest expense, net. Changes in the fair value of the cross-~
currency swaps resulting from changes in the fareign exchange spot rate will continue to be recorded within the cumulative translation compenent of QCI,

The following table provides information on the gains/{(lesses) on the Company's net investment and cash flow hedges:

Amount of Gain/{l.oss) Amount of Galn/{l.oss) Galnf{Loss) Recognized In
Recognlzed In AQOCI on Reclassifled from AQCI Into Income on Derivatlve
Darlvative, Income, {Ameunt Excluded from
net of Tax net of fax Effectlvaness Testing)
Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31, Year Endad Decembear 31,
Derlvatives and Non-Derivative Instruments In Net 2017 2016 2017 2016 2018 2617 2016
) (1 2018

2018

o {1)

Total net investment hedges

Derivatives In Cash Flow Hedging Relationships

o T

$33.3 $§{3c1) % (5.1) $02 3 67 $ 87 $MMo0 § — § —

(1) For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, amount of galn or (loss) represents oniy the effective portion of the hedging relationship as this period was prior fo the
Company’s 2018 initial application of ASU 2017-12,

(2) Effective with the adoption of ASU 201712, the Company has elected to assess the effectiveness of its net Investment hedges based on changes in spot exchange rates.
Accordingly, amounts recognized directly into Net Income during the year ended December 31, 2018 related to its cross-currency swaps represent net periodic interest settlements
and accruals, which are recognized in interest expense, net.

3) Forthe year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, amount of gain or ffoss) recognized directly inte inceme represents the ineffective portion of the hedging relationship, Mo
hedging instruments for which ineffectiveness was recognized directly into Net Incoma in 2017 or in years prior were cutstanding at the date of adoption of ASU 2017-12.
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The cumulative amount of net investment hedge and cash flow hedge gains (losses) remaining in AOCI is as follows:

Cumulative Gains/{Losses), net of tax
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Heemvestnent hedge
Cross currency swaps

Torar At vves meat iadees
Cash ﬂow hedges )

Cross currency swap 2.5 1.3
SR AR R GEY SRl
Total net gain (loss) in AOCI X 3 (0.3}

Derivatives not designated as accounting hedges:

Foreign exchange forwards

The Company also enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate the change in fair value on certain assets and liabilities denominated in
currencies other than a subsidiary's functional currency. These forward contracts are not designated as accounting hedges under the applicable sections
of Topic 815 of the ASC. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of these centracts are recognized immediately in other nen-operating {expensa) income,
net in the Company’s consolidated statements of aperations along with the FX gain or loss recognized on the assets and liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the subsidiary’s functional currency. These contracts have expiration dates at various times through April 2019,

The following table summarizes the notional amounts of the Company’s cutstanding foreign exchange forwards:

December 31, 2018 Decembar 31, 2017
Sell Buy

Notlonal Amount of Currency Palr

Eentasisto sl s

Contracts to sefl USD for Singapore dollars
Contracts fosel S B for EURE

NOTE: € = Euro, £ = British pound, $§ = Singapore dollar, $ = U.S. dollar, ¥ = Japanese yen, C$ = Canadian dollar

Foreign Exchange Options and forward contracts reiating to the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk

The Company entered into a foreign currency collar in 2017 consisling of option contracts to economically hedge the Bureau van Dijk eurc denominated
purchase price (as discussed further in Note 8§ of the financial statements}. These option contracts were not designated as accounting hedges under the
applicable sections of Topic 815 of the ASC, The foreign currency oplion contracts consisted of separate put and call options each in the aggregate
notional amount of € 2.7 billion. This collar was settled at the end of July 2017, in advance of the August 10, 2017 closing of the Bureau van Dijk
acquisition.

The Company entered into foreign exchange forwards te hadge the Bureau van Dijk purchase price for the period from the seftlement of the
aferementioned foreign currency collar until the closing date on August 10, 2017. These forward contracts were not designated as accounting hedges
under the applicable sections of Toepic 815 of the ASC. The fereign exchange contracts were to sell $2.8 billion and buy € 2.4 billion and sell $41 million
and buy £31 million.
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The following table summarizes the impact {o the consclidated statements of operations relating to the net gain (loss) on the Company’s derivatives
which are not designated as hedging instruments:

Year Ended December 31,

Derlvatives Not Deslgnated as Accounting Hedges Lucatlon on Statement of Operatlons 2018 2017 2016

$ {52.3) 3 132.6 § (7.2)

The table below shows the classificaticn between assets and liabiliies on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets for the fair value of the derivative
instrument as well as the carrying value cf its non-derivative debt instruments designated and qualifying as net investment hedges:

Derivatlve and Non-derlvative Instruments

December 21, December 31,
Balance Sheet Location 2018 2017

Asset

Denvatives designated as accounﬂng hed’ges

Total assets

Fra s
mﬂmaasﬁsma@%%ﬁm%mtmg«

Interest rate swaps

Derival‘ives not designated as accounﬂhg hedges,

Total liabliitles $ 588.0 $ 605.9

NOTE 7 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Properly and equipment, net consisted of:

Decamber 31,
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Depreciation and amortization expense related 1o the above assets was §90.2 million, $96.2 million, and $92.5 million for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2018, respectively.

NOTE 8 ACQUISITIONS

The business combinations described below are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting whereby assets acquired and liabilities
assumed were recognized at fair value on the date of the transaction. Any excass of the purchase price over the fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed was recorded to goodwill. Goodwill typically results threugh expected synergies from combining operations of an acquiree and an
acquirer, anticipated new customer acquisition and products, as well as from intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition. For alt
acquisitions excluding Bureau van Dijk, the Company has not presented pre forma combined results for these acquisitions because the impact on
previously reported staternents of operations would not have been material. Additionally, for all acquisitions excluding Bureau van Dijk, the impact {o the
Company’s operations from the acguisitien date through the end of the fiscal year in which each acquisition was completed was not material,

Reis

On October 15, 2018, a subsidiary of the Company acquired 100% of Reis, Inc., a provider of commercial real estate market information and analytical
tools fo real eslate professionals. The cash payment of $278.0 million was funded with cash on hand. The acquisition further expands Moody’s Analytics’
network of data and analytics providers in the commercial real estate space.

Shown below Is the preliminary purchase price allocation, which summarizes the fair value of the assets and liabilities assumed, at the date of acquisition:

Lstorar relatanshins HE e e e By

ase (5 year vﬁ[ghted average life)

Otherassets
e
Deferred revenue

Net assets acquired $278.0

The Company has performed a preliminary valuaticn analysis of the fair market value of assets and liabilities of the Reis business. The final purchase
price allocation will be determined when the Company has completed and fully reviewed the detailed valuations. The final allocation could differ materially
frem the preliminary allocation, The final allocation may include changes in allecations to acquired intangible assets as well as goodwill and other
changes to asseis and liabilities including deferred tax liabilities. The estimated useful lives of acquired intangibles assets are also preliminary.

Current assets in the fable above include acquired cash of $23.9 million. Additicnally, current assets include accounts receivable of approximately
$6 million.

Goodwill

The goodwill recognized as a resulf of this acquisition includes, among other things, the value of combining the complementary product portfolics of the
Company and Reis, which is expected to extend the Company's reach to new and evolving market segments as well as cost savings synergies, expected
new customer acquisitions and products.

Goodwill, which has been assigned to the MA segment, is not deductible for tax purposes.
Reis will be a separate reporting unit for the purposes of the Company’s annual goodwill impairment assessment.
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Transaction costs
Transaction costs directly related to the Refs acquisition were not material.

Cmega Performance

On August 16, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of Omega Perfoermance, a provider of online credit training. The aggregate purchase price was not
material and the near term impact to the Company’s operations and cash flows Is not expected to be material. This business operates in the MA
repartable segment and goodwill related to this acquisition has been allocated to the MALS reporting unit.

Bureau van Dijk

On August 10, 2017, a subsidiary of tha Company acquired 100% of Yellow Maple [ B.V., an indirect parent company of Bureau van Dijk Elactronic
Publishing B.V., a global provider of business intelligence and company information products. The cash payment of $3,542.0 millicn was funded with a
combination of cash on hand, primarily offshore, and new debt financing. The acquisition extends Moody's position as a leader Inrisk data and analytical
insight.

Shown below is the final purchase price allocation, which summarizes the fair value of the assets and liabilities assumed, at the date of acquisition:

{ApGntE i pAlaT: =g

_(_3__1_4__|jrenl assets

Intangi e asseté:

e T T R et Y T Gl e

Product technology (12 year weightad averaga life)
T

Goodwill . 2,614.7
Gt

Accounts payabile and accrued liabillties (4:{.'3)
ahiliNeseeetsas :

S

Net assets acquire: $3,542.0

The Company completed the valuation analysis of the fair market value of assels and fabilities of the Bureau van Dijk business, Current assets in the
table above include acquired cash of $36.0 million. Additicnally, current assets include accounts receivable of approximately $88.0 million {net of an
allowance for uncollectible accounts of $3.7 million).

The acquired deferred revenue balance of approximately $154 million was reduced by $53 million as part of acquisition accounting to establish the fair
value of deferred revenue. This reduced reported revenue by $53 million over the remaining contractual period of in-progress customer arrangements
assumed as of the acquisition date, and resulted in approximately $17 million and $36 million less in reported revenue in the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively. Amortization of acquired intangible assets was $71.4 million and $28.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively.

Googwill

The goodwill recognized as a result of this acquisition includes, ameng other things, the value of combining the complementary product portfolics of the
Company and Bureau van Dijk, which is expected to extend the Company's reach to new and evolving market segments as well as cost savings
synergies, expected new customer acquisitions and products.

Goaodwill, which has been assigned to the MA segment, is net deductible for tax purposes.
Bureau van Dijk is a separate reporting unit for purposes of the Company’s annual goodwill impairment assessment.
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Other Liabilities Assumed
In connection with the acquisition, the Company assumed liabilities relating to UTPs as well as deferred tax liabilities which relate to acquired intangible
assets. UTPs are included in other liabilities in the table above.

Supplementary Unaudited Pro Forma Information

Supplemental infermation on an unaudited pro forma hasis is presented below for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 as if the acquisition of
Bureau van Dijk occurred on January 1, 2018, The pre ferma financial infermation is presented for comparative purposes only and is based on cerlain
estimates and assumptions, which the Company believes to be reascenable but not necessarily indicative of future results of operations or the results that
would have been reported if the acquisition had been completed at January 1, 2016. The unaudited pro forma information includes amertization of
acquired intangible assets based on the purchase price allocation and an estimate cof useful lives reflected above, and incremental financing costs
resulting from the acquisition, net of income tax, which was estimated using the weighted average statutory tax rates in effect in the jurisdiction for which
the pro forma adjustment relates.

For the year ended For the year ended
(Amounts in milions) D r31, 2017 er 31, 2046

Biitamiee vy B
Pro forma Net Income attributable fo Moody's i 1.011.8 $

The unaudited pro forma results do not include any anticipated cost savings or other effects of the planned integration of Bureau van Dijk, Accordingly,
the pro forma results above are not necessarily indicative of the results that would have been reported if the acquisition had occurred on the dates
indicated, nor are the pro forma results indicative of rasults which may oceur in the future, The Bureau van Dijk results included in the table above have
been converted to U.S. GAAP from IFRS as issued by the IASB and have been translated to USD at rates in effect for the periods presented. As the
unaudited pro forma results give effect to the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk as if it had occurred on January 1, 20186, the Bureau van Dijk amountis in the
pro forma results include a reduction in revenue of approximately $58 millicn and $1 million relating to a fair value adjustment to deferred revenue
required as part of acquisition accounting for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. In additicn, a corresponding pro forma
adjustment was included to add back the approximate $36 million reduction te reported revenue for the period from August 10, 2017 to December 31,
2017 relating fo the deferred revenue adjustment required as pari of acquisition aceounting as of the actual August 10, 2017 acquisition date.

SCDM Financial

On February 13, 2017, a subsidiary of the Cempany acquired the structured finance data and analytics business of SCDM Financial. The aggregate
purchase price was not material and the near term impact te the Company’s operations and cash flow is not expected to be material. This business unit
operates in the MA reportable segment and goodwill related to this acqguisition has been allocated to the RD&A reporting unit.

Korea Investor Service {KIS)

In July 2016, a subsidiary of the Company acguired the non-centrolliing interest of KIS and additional shares of KIS Pricing. The aggregate purchase price
was not material and the near term impact to the Company's operations and cash flow is not expected to be material. KIS and KIS Pricing are a part of
the MIS segment,

Gilliland Gold Young {GGY)

On March 1, 2018, subsidiaries of the Company acquired 100% of GGY, a leading provider of advanced actuarial software for the life insurance industry.
The cash payments noted in the table below were funded with cash on hand. The acquisition of GGY will allow MA to provide an industry-leading
enterprise risk offering for global life insurars and reinsurers.

The table below details the total consideration relating to the acquisition:

{1} Represents additicnal consideration paid to the sellers for amounts withheld at closing pending the completion of certain administrative matters
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Shown below is the purchase price allocation, which surnmarizes the fair valus of the assets and liabilities assumed, at the date of acquisition:

Current assets in the table above include acquired cash of $7.5 million. Additionally, current assets include accounts receivable of $2.9 million. Goodwill,

which has been assigned to the MA segment, is not deductible for tax,

In connection with the acquisition, the Company assumed liabilities relating to UTPs and certain other tax exposures which are included in the liabilities

assumed in the table above. The sellers have centractually indemnified the Company against any potential payments that may have to be made
regarding these amounts. Accordingly, the Company carries an indemnification asset on its consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017.

GGY is part of the ERS reporting unit for purposes of the Company’s annual goodwill impairment assessment.

NOTE 2 GOODWILL AND OTHER ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The following table summarizes the activity in goodwill:

Yaar Ended December 31, 2018

MIS MA Consolidated

Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated
Gross impairmant Net Gross Impairment Net Gross impalrment Net
goodwill charge goodwill goodwill charge goodwill goodwill charge goodwill

Balne at gl

Ending balance 5 2578 §

$ 2578 § 3,535.7 § (12.2) $ 3,523.56 § 379385 $ {12.2) § 3,781.3

Year Ended December 31, 2017
MIS MA Consolidated
Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated

Impairmant impalrment impalrment
i i charge

Ending balance $ 2852 § — 3 2882 § 34802 § {(12.2) § 3,468.0 § 3,7654 § (12.2) $ 3,753.2
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The 2018 additions/adjustments for the MA segment in the table above primarily refate to the acquisitions of Omega Performance and Reis.

The 2017 additions/adjustments for the MA segment in the table above relate to the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk and the structured finance data and
analytics business of SCDM,

Acquired intangible assets and related amortization consisted of:

December 31,

bustomer ralationshipe =

Accumulated amortization

SENeETIsomEETalAtionsh

Net trade secrets

Botware/podics
Accumulated amortlzatlon

' 1,566.1
{1) Other iltangible assats primarily consist of databases, covenants not to compete, and acquired ratings methodologies and models.

Amortization expense relating to acquired intangible assets is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Estimated future annual amoriization expense for mtanglble assets subject to amortization is as follows:

Year Ending December 31,

Thereafter

Fotesfimated

Amortizable intangible assets are reviewed for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicale that the carrying amount may net be
recoverable. If the estimated undiscounted future cash flows are lower than the carrying amount of the related assef, a loss is recognized for the
difference between the carrying amcunt and the esfimated fair value of the asset. There wera no impairments to intangible assets during 2018, 2017 or
2016.

NOTE 10 RESTRUCTURING

On October 26, 2018, the chief executive officer of Moody's approved a restrueturing program {(the “2018 Restructuring Program”) that the Company
astimates will result in annualized savings of approximately $40 to $50 million a year, a portion of which will benefit
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2019. The 2018 Restructuring Program is estimated to result in total pre-tax charges of $70 to $80 million, of which approximately $49 million was
recorded in the fourth quarter 2018. The Program is expected to be substantially completed by June 30, 2019. The 2018 Restructuring Program includes
relocation of certain functions from high-cost to lower-cost jurisdictions, a reduction of staff, including from recent acquisitions and pursuant to a review of
the business criticality of certain positions, and the raticnalization and exit of certain real estate leases due to consolidation of various business activities.
The exit from certain leased office space began in the fourth quarter of 2018 and will entail approximately $35 to $40 million of the chargas to either
terminate or sublease the affected real estate leases, The 2018 Restructuring Program is anticipated also to represent approximately $35 to $40 million
of personnelrelated restructuring charges, an amount that includes severance and related costs primarily determined under the Company's existing
severance plans. Cash outlays associated with the employee terminaticn cost component of the 2018 Restructuring Program are anticipated te be
approximately $35 to $40 million, the majority of which will be paid in 2019.

In September 2016, the Company approved a restructuring program (the “2016 Restructuring Program”) relating to cost management Initiatives in the
MiS segment as well as in certain corperate overhead functions. This restructuring program consisted solely of headcount reductions. Actions under
these plans were substantially complete at September 30, 20186,

Total expenses included in the accompanying consoclidated statements of operations relating to each of the aforementioned restructuring plans are as

follows:
Year Ended December 31,
o 2018 2017 2018
B RASACATg PGB :
2018 Restructuring Program $ $ — _

Changes to the restructuring liability were as follows:

Employee Termination Costs

oL DecambEr et A0l6

_______ _oturmg Program:

Erredrdinst e ad
Cash payments and adjustments

g

2078 RestaCHng £
Cumulative expense incurred to
date $ 32.8 $ 15.9

(1) Excludes $3.5 millian of non-cash acceleration of amortization of loaseheld improvements relating to the rationallzation and exit of certain real estate leases,

As of December 31, 2018, majority of the remaining $42 million restructuring liakility is expected to be paid out during the year ending December 31,
2019.
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NOTE 11 FAIR VALUE
The table below presents information about items which are carried at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

Falr Value Measurement as of December 31, 2018
11

Description

Derivatives {1}
S TS

Oben ended mutual funds

Fair Value Measurgment as of December 31, 2017
Description Balance Level 1 Level 2

Deﬁatlvesﬁ) R
= Maneydiadetmulliatiends s aana
Fixed maturlty and open ended mutual
funds

POk

Berivativesittes:
Total

{1y Information on the Company's derivative instruments Is more fully described in Nete & to the conselidated financial statements.

The following are descriptions of the methodologies utilized by the Company to estimate the fair value of its derivative contracts, fixed maturity plans, and
money market mutual funds:

Derivatives:

In determinirxg the fair value of the derivative contracts in the table above, the Company utilizes industry standard valuation models. Where applicable,
these models project future cash flows and discount the future amounts to a present value using spot rates, forward points, currency valatilities, interest
rates as well as the risk of non-performance of the Company and the counterparties with whom it has derivative contracts. The Company established
strict counterparty credit guidelines and only enters inte transactions with financial institutions that adhere to these guidelines. Accordingly, the risk of
counterparty default is deemed to be minimal.

Fixed maturity and open-ended mutual funds:

As a result of the adoption of ASU 2018-01, as further discussed in Note 1 and Nete 2, the fixed maturity and open-ended multual funds in the table above
are deemed to be equity securities with readily determinable fair values with changes in the fair value recognized through net income under ASC Tapic
321, Prior to the Company's adoption of ASU No. 2016-01, any unrealized gains and losses were recognized through OCH until the instruments maturad
or were scld. The fair value of these instruments is determined using Level 1 inputs as defined in the ASC.

Money market mutual funds:

Similar to fixed maturity and open-endad mutual funds, the money market mutual funds in the table above are deemed to be squity securities with readily
determinable fair values with changes in the fair value recognized through net income under ASC Topic 321 as required by ASU 2016-01. The money
market mutual funds represent publicly traded funds with a stable $1 net asset value.
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NOTE 12 OTHER BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS INFORMATION

The following tables contain additional detail related to certain balance sheet captions:

Decembar 31,

2018 2017

FRrepald expanges T 0
Capitalized costs to obtain and fulfill sales contracts (1)

Total other current assets 282.3 3 250.1
December 31,
2018 2017
iicEassels:
Investments in non-consolidated affillates $ 104.6 3 99,1

LENeposie i realastate Toasas
Indemnification assets rel
e

Total other assets $ 274.3 $ 159.9

(1) The 2018 amount reflects capitalized costs to obtain sales contracts (sales commissions) pursuant to the adoption of the New Revenue Accounting Standard, which are amertized
over an average 7 year period as well as costs incurred and capitalized for In precess ratings {current assets only).
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December 31,

2017

ln’teres’c accrued on UTFs
B : 5
] Income tax liability — non-current (2) 125.3 232.2

'I:oiél o“t.t-1er liabilities $ 576.5 3 664.0

(2)  Primarily reflects the transition tax pursuant to the Tax Act, which was enacted info law in December 2017.

Changes in the Company’s self-insurance reserves for claims insured by the Company’s wholly-owned insurance subsidiary, which primarily relate to
legal defense costs for claims from pricr years, are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017

Accruals (reversals), net
SR ayments
Balance December 31,
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NOTE 13. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The following table provides details about the reclassifications out of AQCI:

Yoar Ended December 31, L.ocatlon In the
consolidated statement of
oratl

Atjustomen

* Other non-cperating
income {expense), net

Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges

Interest rate contract {0.1) {1.1) — Interast expense, net

Income tax affact of item above Provision for income
0.2} . {4.8) 2.3 taxes

Hotakiatd T =

Galns on available for sale securlties

oy ava able fors: I TNCoNeE(EXRenseT Ik

Income tax effect of item above Provision for income
—_ o e taxes

Amorhzatlon of actuarial losses and prior service
in net income

) Income tax effect of item above Provision for incoma
3.3 3.7 taxes

b R T T L CH T SR B 5z
Total (losses} gains included in Net [ncoms attributable to
reclassifications out of AOGI $ {4.2) $ 3.1 § 26.9
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The following table shows changes in AOCI by companent (net of tax):

Year Ended Dacember 31, 2018

Pension and Other Gains / {Losses) Foreign Currency
Retirement on Cash Flow Translation Galns on Avallable

Hakiise e
Adoption of ASU 2016—01 [Rafer to Note 1
andNota 2) N — nm —_
= :

Amounts reclassified

from AQCI 42 (0.2} - — 4.0
Balance December 31, 2018 $ {53.1) $ 0.1 $ {373.3) $ — $(426.3)

Year Ended December 31, 2017

Hhlan

Other comprehens]ve Incomef(loss) before
Ficati

0.8) 192.7

Other comprehenswe Incomef{loss) befora
recla33|f|cat|ons 3 0.2 0.9) 2.4 0.2) 1.5

(0.2) (25 4)

NOTE 14 PENSION AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS

U.S. Plans

Moody’s maintains funded and unfunded noncontributery Defined Benefit Pension Plans. The U.S. plans provide defined benefits using a cash balance
farmula based on years of service and career average salary or final average pay for selected executives. The Company also provides certain healthcare
and life insurance benefits for retired U.S. employees. The retirement healthcare plans are contributory; the life insurance plans are noncentributory.
Moody's funded and unfunded U.S. pensicn plans, the U.S. retirement healthcare plans and the U.S. retirement life insurance plans are collectively
referred to herein as the "Retirement Plans”. The U.S. retirement healthcare plans and the U.S. retirement life insurance plans are collectively referred to
herein as the “Other Refirement Plans”, Effective at the Distribution Date, Moody’s assumed responsibility for the pension and other retirement benefits

relating to its active employees. New D&B has assumed responsibility for the Company’s retirees and vested terminated employees as of the Disiribution
Date.

Through 2007, substantially all U.S. employses were eligible to participate in the Company’s DBPPs. Effective January 1, 2008, the Company no lenger
offers DBPPs to U.S. employees hired or rehired on or after January 1, 2008 and new hires in the U.S. instead will receive a retirement contribution in
similar benefit value under the Company's Profit Participation Plan. Current participants of the Company’s Retirement Plans and Other Retirement Plans
continue to acerue benefits based on exisling plan benefit formulas.
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Following is a summary of changes in henefit chligations and fair value of plan assets for the Retirement Plans for the years ended December 31:

Pension Plans Other Retirement Plans
2018 2017 2018 2017

(5181) $ (489.5) $ 31.2) %
= fEAY 0

Change in plan assets:

Fair vaiue of plan éssels Vérr\d of tha perlod $ 348.2 % 357.4 $ — 3 —
Efde S SEERE [55:4 EEg 3
Amountirmgcorded on the consollctated bdlance sheet

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of the period $ (457 B) 3 (461 5)

The following information is for those pensien plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:

December 31,
2018 2017

Koorsgateprolectettheiefitobligation:
Aggregate accumulated benefit oblligation
EoarsqaiEvalia o
The following table summarizes the pre-tax net actuarial losses and prior service cost racognized in AQCI for the Company’s Retirement Plans as of
December 31:

Pension Plans Other Retirement Plans
2018

Y,

Net pnor senrlce costs
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The following table summarizes the estimated pre-tax net actuarial losses and prior service cost for the Company’s Retirement Plans that will be
amortized from AOC! and recognized as components of net periodic expense during the next fiscal year:

Pension Plans Other Retlrement Plans

Toal e e TeRD aPiR A BT ARSI DF At peiodics

Net periodic benefit expenses recognized for the Retirement Plans for years ended December 31:

Pension Plans Othsr Retirement Plans
2018 2017 2018 2018 2017 2016

arisEpetinds
Amortization of net prior service costs
from earlier periods {0.3) — 0.1 (0.3) (0.3) {0.3)

Kt perndicexpe

The following table summarizes the pre-tax amounts recorded in OCI related to the Company's Retirement Plans for the years ended Dacember 31:

Penslon Plans Other Retirement Plans
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2018

Total recognized in OCI ~ pre-tax 8.0 % 107 % 2.7 0.7
ADDITIONAL INFOCRMATION:
Assumpftions—Retirement Plans
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit cbligations at December 31:
Pension Plans QOther Retlrament Plans

2018 2018

Diseadiitrate -

Rate of compansation increase

%
Weighted-average assumptions used to delermine net periodic benefit expense for years ended December 31:

Penslon Plans Other Retirement Plans
2018 2018 2017 2016

DEEoORERe =
d return on plan assets I
Als SEeanES s A nCeaRe S hAUE L
The expected rate of return on plan assets reprasents the Company's best astimate of the long-tarm return on plan assets and is determined by using a
building block appreach, which generally weighs the underlying long-term expected rate of return for each major
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asset class based on their respective allocation targel within the plan pertfolio, net of plan paid expenses. As the assumption reflects a long-term time
horizon, the plan performance in any one particular year does not, by itself, significantly influence the Company’s evaluation. For 2018, the expected rate
of return used in calculating the net periodic benefit costs was 4.50%. For 2019, the Company’s expected rate of return assumption is 5.65% 1o reflect the
Company’s current view of long-term capital market outleck. In addition, the Company has updated its mortality assumption by adopting the newly
released mortality improvement scale MP-2018 to accompany the RP-2014 mortality tables to reflect the latest information regarding future mortality
expectations by the Society of Actuaries, Additionally, the assumed healihcare cost trend rate assumption is not material fo the valuation of the other
retirement plans.

Plan Assets

Moody’s investment objective for the assets in the funded pension plan is to 2am total returns that will minimize future contribution requirements over the
long-term within a prudent level of risk. The Company works with its independent investment consultants to determine asset allocafion targets for its
pension plan investment portfolio based on its assessment of business and financial conditions, demographic and actuarial data, funding characteristics,
and related risk factors. Other relevant facters, including historical and forward locking views of inflation and capital market returns, are also considered.
Risk management practices include monitoring plan asset performance, diversification across asset classes and investment styles, and periodic
rebalancing toward asset allocation targets. The Cempany's Asset Management Commiittee is respensible for overseeing the investment activities of the
plan, which includes selecting acceptable asset classes, defining allowable ranges of holdings by asset class and by individual investment managers,
defining acceptable securities within each asset class, and establishing investment performance expectations. Ongoing rmonitoring of the plan includes
reviews of investment performance and managers on a regular basis, annual liability measurements, and periodic assetfliability studies.

The Company's investment policy uses risk-controlled investment strategies by increasing the plan’s asset allocation to fixed income securities and
specifying ranges of acceptable target allocation by asset class based on different levels of the plan’s accounting funded status. In addition, the
investment policy also requires the investment-grade fixed income assets be rebalanced between shorter and longer duration bonds as the interest rate
environment changes. This investment policy is designed 1o help protect the plan’s funded status and to limit volatility of the Company’s contributions.
Based on the policy, the Company’s currant target asset allocation is approximately 49% (range of 44% to 54%) in equity securities, 45% (range of 40%
to 50%) in fixed income securities and 8% (range of 3% to 9%) in other investments and the plan will use a combination of active and passive investment
strategles and different investment styles for its Investment portfolics within each asset class. The plan's equity investments are diversified across U.S.
and non-U.S. stocks of small, medium and targe capitalization. The plan’s fixed income investments are diversified principally across U.S. and non-U.8,
government and corporate bonds, which are expectad to help reduce plan exposure fo interest rate variation and to better align assets with obligations.
The plan alsc invests in other fixed income investments such as debts rated below investment grade, emerging market debt, and convertible securities.
The plan's other investment, which is made through a private real estate debt fund, is expected to provide additional diversification benefits and absolute
return enhancement to the plan assets.
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Fair value of the assets in the Company’s funded pensicn plan by asset category at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Falr Value Measurement as of December 31, 2018

Measured
using NAV
practical % of total

exggdient {1} N assets

£ s&?ﬁéﬁ;mmatkw T
Total equity Investments 161.1 — 161.1 - 47%

Biviarding

Commonicollectlve trust funds—fixed fncome
securities

Other Investment—private real estate fund

Fair Value Measurement as of December 31, 2017

Measured
using NAV
practical % of total

Asset Category ) Balance Level 1 Level 2 expedisnt {1} assats
Bashiand cashiequivalgit’ Y v : ;
Commeon/collective trust funds—equity

securlties

Private investment fund—high yleld securities 9.7 — — 9.7 3%
Foral comeinveastnants : L
Other investment—private real estate debt

fund 20.4 — —_— 20.4 8%

(1) Investments are measured using the net asset value per share {or its equivalent} practical expedient and have not been categorized in the fair value hierarchy. The falr vatus
amourts presented in the table are intended to permit a recenciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the value of the total plan assets.

108 MOODY'S 2018 10-K



Table of Contents

Cash and cash equivalents are primarily comprised of investments in money market mutual funds. In determining fair value, Level 1 investments are
valued based on quoted market prices in active markets. Investments in common/colleciive frust funds are valued using the net asset value {NAV) per
unit in each fund. The NAV is based on the value of the underlying investments cwned by each trust, minus its liabilities, and then divided by the number
of shares outstanding, Common/collective trust funds are categorized in Level 2 {o the extent that they are considered to have a readily detarminable fair
value. Investments for which fair value is esfimated by using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient are not categorized in the fair
value hierarchy.

Except for the Company’s U.S. funded pension plan, all of Moody’s Retirement Plans are unfunded and therefore have no plan assets,

Cash Flows

The Company contributed $15.6 million and $25.9 million te its U.8. funded pension plan during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The Company made payments of $4.6 millicn and $5.1 million related fo its U.S. unfunded pension plan obligaticns during the years endad
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respegtively. The Company made payments of $0.5 million and $1.0 million to its Other Retirement Plans during the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Company is currently evaluating whether to make a contribution to its funded pension plan in
2018, and anticipates making payments of $5.4 million related to its unfunded U.S. pensicn plans and $1.0 million related to its Other Retirement Plans
during the year ended December 31, 2019,

Estimated Future Benefits Payable
Estimated future benefits payments for the Retirement Plans are as follows as of year ended December 31, 2018:

Other Retlremant

Year Ending Dacember 31 Pension Plans Plans

2024 — 2028

Defined Contribution Plans

Moody's has a Profit Participation Plan covering substantially all U.S. employees. The Profit Participation Plan provides for an employee salary deferral
and the Company maiches employee contributions, equal to 50% of employae contribution up to a maximum of 3% of the employee’s pay. Moody's also
makes additional contributions to the Profit Participation Plan based on year-fo-year growth in the Company's EPS (i.e. profit sharing coniributicn), The
Company did not make this profit sharing contribution in 2018. Effective January 1, 2008, all new hires are automatically enrolled in the Profit
Participation Plan when they meet eligibility requirements unless they decline participation. As the Company’s U.S. DBPPs are closed to new entrants
effective January 1, 2008, all eligible new hires will instead receive a retirement contribution into the Profit Participation Plan in value similar to the
pensian benefits. Additionally, effective January 1, 2008, the Company implemented a deferred compensation plan in the U.S., which is unfunded and
provides for employee deferral of compensation and Company matching contributions related to compensation in excess of the IRS limitations an
benefits and contributions under qualified retirement plans. Total expenses associated with U.S. defined contribution plans were $26.6 million,

$43.3 million and $28.3 million in 2018, 2017, and 2018, respectively. The full year 2018 expense included an accrued profit sharing contribution.

Effective January 1, 2008, Moody's has designated the Moody’s Steck Fund, an investment option under the Profit Participation Plan, as an Employee
Stock Ownership Plan and, as a result, participants in the Moody's Stock Fund may receive dividends in cash or may reinvest such dividends into the
Moody's Stock Fund. Moody's paid approximately $0.7 milliers during each of the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2018, respectively, for the
Company’s common shares held by the Moody's Steck Fund. The Company recerds the dividends as a reduction of retained earnings in the
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity {Deficif). The Moody's Stock Fund held approximately 435,500 and 457,000 shares of Moody's
common stock at Decamber 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively,

Non-U.5. Plans

Certain of the Company's non-U.S. operations provide pension benefits to their employees. The non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans are immaterial.
For defined contribution plans, company contributions are primarily determined as a percentage of employees’ eligible compensation. Moody's also
makes contributions to hon-U.S. employees under a profit sharing plan which is based on year-to-year growth in the Company’s diluted ERS, The
Company did not make this profit sharing contribution in 2018. Expenses related to these defined contribution plans for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016 were $26.0 million, $23.9 millian and $24.5 million, respectively.
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NOTE 16 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Under the 1998 Plan, 33.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock have been reserved for issuance. The 2001 Plan, which is shareholder
approved, permits the granting of up te 50.6 million shares, of which not more than 14.0 million shares are available for grants of awards other than stock
options. The Stock Plans also provide for the granting of restricted stock. The Stock Plans provide that options are exercisable not later than ten years
from the grant date. The vesting period for awards under the Stock Plans is generally determined by the Board at the date of the grant and has been four
years except for employees who are at or near retirement aligibility, as defined, for which vesting is between one and four years. Additionally, the vesting
period is three years for certain performance-based restricted stock that confain a condition whereby the number of shares that ultimately vest are based
on the achievement of certain non-market based performance metrics of the Cempany. Options may not be granted at less than the fair market value of
the Company's common stock at the date of grant.

The Company maintains the Directors’ Plan for its Beard, which permits the granting of awards in the form of non-qualified stock options, restricted stock
or performance shares. The Directors’ Plan provides that options are exercisable not later than ten years from the grant date. The vesting period is
determined by the Board at the date of the grant and is generally one year for both options and restricted stock. Under the Directors’ Plan, 1.7 million
shares of common stock were reserved for issuanca. Any director of the Company who is not an employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries as
of the date that an award is granted is eligible {o participate in the Directors’ Plan.

Presented below is a summary of the stock-based compensaticn expense and associated tax benefit in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of

Operations:
Year Ended Dacember 31,
N 2018 2017 2016
Plockibassd companaatt T eaaises 75 =
Tax benefit $ M9 $ 13.3(1 $31.9

(1) Amount includes a decrease in deferved tax assets resulting from & future reduction in the LS, federal corporate income tax rate in accordance with the Tax Act, more fully
described in Note 16,

The fair value of each employee stock option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model that uses the
assumptions noted below. The expected dividend vield is derived from the annual dividend rate on the date of grant. The expected stock volatility is
hased on an assessment of historical weekly stock prices of the Company as well as implied volatility from Moody’s traded options. The risk-free inlerast
rale is based on U.S. government zerc coupon bonds with maturities similar to the expected holding period. The expected holding period was determined
hy examining historical and projected post-vasting exercise behavior activity.

The following weighted average assumpticns were used for opticns granted:

Year Ended December 31,

Expatt i
Expected stock volatility
Risktiedintarssriates
Expected holding period -in years

B i
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A summary of option activity as of December 31, 2018 and changes during the year then ended is presented below:

Welghted
Woeighted Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Price Contractual Aggregate
Optlons Shares Per Share Term trinslc Valu

pitstandiig:écamber 3420

Cutstanding, December 31, 2018 2.2 $ 68.88 4.7 years $ 160.2
Ve SRS s DA beE: ; e :

Exercisable, December 31, 2018 1.8 $ 51.81 3.5 years $ 137.8

The aggregate intrinsic value in the fable above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between Moody's closing stock price an the last
trading day of the year ended December 31, 2018 and the exercise prices, multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would have been
received by the option holders had all opticn helders exercised their options as of December 31, 2018. This amount varies based on the fair value of
Moody's stock. As of December 31, 2018 there was $5.8 million of lotal unrecognized compensation expense related to options. The expense is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.1 years.

The following table summarizes information relating to stock option exercises:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Aggm gat i
Ia&;izgjmgea Be B

A summary of nonvested restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 is presented below:

Welghted Average Grant
Nonvested Restricted Stock Shares Date Falr Value Per Share

e R e ey
Granted

Forfaited

Balaicei Decembers

As of December 31, 2018, there was $140.0 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested restricted stock, The expense is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.4 years.

The following table summarizes infermation relating to the vesting of restricted stock awards:

Year Ended December 31,

;Fax benefit realized upan vesting
A summary of performance-based restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 is presented below:

Weig hted Average Grant

Per Share

i
162,00

Performance-based restricted s

103,74

Balance, ‘December 31 2018
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The following table summarizes information relating to the vesting of the Company’s performance-based restricted stock awards:

Year Ended Decembar 31,
2017 2018

§ 8.

A aaleds TR
Tax benefit realized upon vesting $ 8.9

As of December 31, 2018, there was $27.3 million of total unrecegnized compensation expense related fo this plan. The expense is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 1.6 years.

The Company has a policy of issuing freasury stock to satisfy shares issued under stock-based compensation plans.

In addition, the Company also sponsors the ESPP. Under the ESPP, 6.0 millicn shares of common stock were reserved for issuance. The ESPP allows
eligible employees to purchase commaon stock of the Company on a monthly basis at a discount to the average of the high and the low trading prices on
the New York Stock Exchange on the last trading day of each menth. This discount was 5% in 2018, 2017 and 2016 resulting in the ESPP qualifying for
nan-compensatory status under Topic 718 of the ASC. Accordingly, no compensation expense was recognized for the ESPP in 2018, 2017, and 2018,
The employee purchases are funded through after-tax payroll deductions, which plan participants can elect from one percent to ten percent of
compensation, subject to the annual federal limit.

NOTE 16 INCOME TAXES

Components of the Company's income tax provision ars as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

B

Total deferred
Bt el TR T £ 71

A reconciliation of the L).S, federal statutory tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate on income before provision for income taxes is as follows:

Year Ended December 21,

8o Teeigroparaion
Settlement Charg
i w?ﬁa,,

ct impact
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The source of income before provision for income taxes is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Dacember 31,
2018 2017

Detdrreditaassets
N Account receivable allowances

Total net deferred tax liabilities $ {154.5) 3 (197.8)

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into law, which resulted in significant changes to U.S. corporate tax laws. The Tax Act includes a
mandatory one-ime deemed repatriation tax (“transition tax”) on previously untaxed accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries and beginning in 2018
reduces the stafutory federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. Due to the complexities of the Tax Act, the SEC issued guidance requiring that
companies pravide a reasonable estimate of the impact of the Tax Act to the extent such reasonable estimate has been determined. Accoerdingly, as of
December 31, 2017 the Company recorded a provisional estimate for the transition tax of $247.3 millien. In September, 2018, the Company filed its 2017
federal income fax refurn and revised its determination of the transition tax io $236.4 million, a reduction of $10.9 million from the estimate at

December 31, 2017. The reduction is primarily due to prepesed regulations issued by the Internal Revenue Service and the finalization of earnings and
profits calculations. A portion of the transition tax will be payable cver eight years, starting in 2018, and will net accrue interest. The above revised
determination of transition tax may be impacted by a number of additional considerations, including but not limited to the issuance of additional
reguiations.

As a result of the Tax Act, all previously net undistributed fereign earnings have now been subject to U.S. tax. The Company regularly evaluates which
entities it will indefinitely reinvest earnings. The Company has provided deferred taxes for those entities whose earnings are nof considered indefinitely
reinvested.
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The Company has recorded reductions in its income tax pravision of approximately $38 million, or 233BPS, for the full-year of 2018, and approximately
$40 millior, or 220BPS, for the full-year of 2017, relating to Excess Tax Benefits on stock-based compensation.

The Company had valuation allowances of $22.4 million and $12.8 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, related fo foreign net operating
losses for which realization is uncertain.

As of December 31, 2018 the Company had $494.6 million of UTPs of which $443.4 million represents the amount that, if recognized, would impact the
effective tax rate in future periods. The increase in UTPs primarily resulted from the additional reserves established for non-U.S. tax exposures and an
adjustment to the transition tax under U.S. tax reform. The Company has recorded a deferred fax asset in the amount of $48.1 million for potential
transition tax benefits if certain non-U.S. UTPs are not sustained.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of UTPs is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

Addltions for tax positions
Aadia e posiiens aipHoEyes
Reductions for tax positions of prior years

effiemsnts Wi taxing atthorite

The Company classifies interest related to UTPs in interest expense in its consolidated statements of operations. Penalties, if incurred, would be
recognized in other non-operating expenses. During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company incurred a net interest expense of
$15.2 miliion and $15.3 million respectively, related to UTPs. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the amount of accrued interest recorded in the
Company's consolidated balance sheeis related to UTPs was $69.6 million and $54.7 million, respectively.

Moody's Corporation and subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax in various state, local and foreign jurisdictions. The
Company's U.S, federal income tax returns for 2013 and 2015 through 2017 remain open to examination, The Company's New York State tax returns for
2011 through 2014 are currently under examinalicn and the Company’s New York City tax return for 2014 is currently under examination. The Company's
UK. tax return for 2012 is currenfly under examinaticn and its returns for 2013 through 2017 remain open to examination.

For current ongoing audits related fo open tax years, the Company estimates that it is possible that the balance of UTPs could decrease in the next
fwelve months as a result of the effective settlement of these audits, which might involve the payment of additional taxes, the adjustment of certain
deferred taxes and/or the recognition of tax benefits. It is alsc possible that new issues might be raised by tax authorities which might necessitate
increases to the balance of UTPs. As the Cempany is unable to predict the timing of conclusion of these audits, the Company is unable to estimate the
amount of changes to the balance of UTPs at this time.
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NOTE 17 INDEBTEDNESS

The following table summarizes total indebtedness:

Dacember 31, 2018

Falr Value of Unamortlized Unamortized
Principal Interest Rate {Discount) Debt Issuanca Carrying
t b )

$ (173

Total long-term debt $5,226.1
December 31, 2017
Falr Value of Unamortized Unamortized
Princlpal Interest Rate {Discount) Debt Issuance Carrying
Amount Swaps (1) Premium Costs Value

Total debt
Total long-term debt $5,111.1

(t} The Company has entered into interest rate swaps on the 2010 Senlor Notes, the 2012 Senlor Noles, the 2014 Senlor Notes (8-Year) and the 2017 Senior Notes due 2021 which
are more fully discussed in Note 6 above. These amounts reprasent the cumulative amount of fair value hedging adjustments included in the carrying amount of the hedged debt.

Term Loan Facility

On June 6, 2017, the Company entered inte a three-year term laan facility with the capacity to borrow up to $500.0 million. At the Company’s election,
interest on borrowings under the 2017 Term Loan was payable at rates that were based on either (a) Alternate Base Rate (as defined in the 2017 Term
Loan Facility agreement) plus an applicabie rate (ranging from 0 BPS to 50 BPS per annum) or (b) the Adjusted LIBO Rate {(as defined in the 2017 Term
Loan Facllity agreement) plus an applicable rate (ranging from 87.5 BPS to 150 BPS per annhum), in each case, depending on the Company's index debt
rating, as set forth in the 2017 Term Loan agreement,
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The 2017 Term Loan contained covenants that, among other things, restricted the ability of the Company to engage in mergers, consolidations, asset
sales, transactions with affiliates, sale and leaseback transactions or te incur liens, with exceptions as set forth in the 2017 Term Loan Facility agreement.
The 2017 Term Loan also contained a financial covenant that required the Company to maintain a debt to EBITDA ratio of not more than: {i} 4.5 to 1.0 as
of the end of each fiscal quarter ending on September 30, 2017, December 31, 2017 and March 31, 2018 and (ii) 4.0 to 1.0 as of the end of the fiscal
quarter ended on June 30, 2018. The 2017 Term Loan also contained customary events of default,

The $500 million borrowed under the 2017 Term Loan as of December 31, 2017 was fully repaid during 2018.

Credit Facility

On May 11, 2015, the Company entered into a five-year senlor, unsecured revolving credit facility with the capacity to borrow up to

$1 billion. On June 6, 2017, the Company entered into an amendmeni to the 2015 Facility. Pursuant fo the amendment, the applicable rate for borrowings
under the 2015 Facility ranged from 0 BPS to 32.5 BPS per annum for Altermate Base Rate loans (as defined in the 2015 Facility agreement) and 79.5
BPS to 132.5 BPS per annum for Eurocurrency loans (as defined in the 2015 Facility agreement) depending on the Company's ratio of total debt to
EBITDA. In addition, the Campany also paid quarterly facility fees, regardless of borrowing activity under the 2015 Facility. Pursuant to the amendment,
the facility fee paid by the Company ranged frem 8 BPS to 17.5 BPS on the daily amount of commitments {whether used or unused), in each case,
depending on the Company’s index debt rating. The amendment alse modified, among other things, the existing financial covenant, so that, the
Company's debt to EBITDA ratio shall not exceed 4.5 to 1.0 as of the end of each fiscal quarter ending on September 30, 2017, December 31, 2017 and
March 31, 2018 and shall not exceed 4.0 to 1.0 as of the end of the fiscal quarter ended on June 30, 2018 and each fiscal quarter thereafter. Upon the
occurrence of certain financial or economic events, significant corporate events ar cartain other events of default constituting a default under the 2015
Facility, all loans outstanding under the 2015 Facility (including accruzd interest and fees payable thereunder) may be declared immediately due and
payable and all lending commitments under the 2015 Facility may be terminated. In addition, certain other events of default under the 2015 Facility would
automatically result in amounts outstanding becoming immediately due and payable and the termination of all lending commitments. In the fourth quarter
of 2018, the 2015 Facility was terminated and replaced with the 2018 Facility.

On November 14, 2018, the Company entered into a five-year senior, unsecurad revolving credit facility with the capacity to borrow up to $1 billicn, which
expires November 2023. The 2018 Facility replacas the terminated $1 billien five-year 2015 Facility that was scheduled to expire in May 2020. Interest on
borrowings under the Facility may range from ¢ BPS to 22.5 BPS par annum for Alternate Base Rate loans {(as defined in the 2018 Facllity agreement} or
payable at rates that are based on the London InterBank Cffered Rate (“LIBCR") plus a premium that can range from 80.5 BPS to 122.5 BPS depending
on the Company's index debt ratings, as set forth in the Facility agreement. The Company also pays quarterly facility fees, regardless of horrowing
activity under the Facility, The quarterly fees for the 2018 Facility can range from 7 BPS of the Facility amount to 15 BPS, depending on the Company’s
index debt ratings. The 2018 Facility contains covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries, without the
approval of the lenders, to engage in mergers, consaolidations, asset sales, transactions with affiliates, sale and leaseback transactions or to incur liens,
as set forth in the 2018 Facility agreement. The 2018 Facility alse contains a financial covenant that requires the Company to maintain a total debt to
EBITDA ratio of (i) not more than 4 to 1 at the end of any fiscal quarter or (i) not mere than 4.5 to 1 as of the end of the first three consecutive guarters
immediately following any acquisition with consideration in excess of § 500,000,000, subject to certain conditions as set forth in the 2018 Facility
agreement. Upon the cccurrence of certain financial or econemic events, significant corporate events or certain other events of default constituting an
event of default under the 2018 Facility, all loans outstanding under the 2018 Facillity (including acerued interest and fees payable thereunder) may be
dectared immediately due and payable and all commitments under the 2018 Facility may be terminated. In addition, certain other events of default under
the 2018 Facility would automatically result in amounts due becoming immediately due and payable and all commitments being terminated. There were
no outstanding borrowings under the 2018 Facility as of December 31, 2018.

Commercial Paper

On August 3, 20186, the Company enterad into a private placement commercial paper program under which the Company may issue CP notes up to a
maximum amount of $1.0 billion. Borrowings under the CP Program are backstopped by the 2018 Facility. Amounts under the CP Program may be
re-borrowed. The maturity of the CP Notes will vary, but may not exceed 397 days from the date of issue. The CP Notes are sold at a discount from par,
or alternatively, sold at par and bear inferest at rates that will vary based upon market conditions, The rates of interest will depend on whether the CP
Notes will be a fixed or floating rate. The interest on a floating rate may be based on the following: {a) certificate of deposit rate; {b) commercial paper
rate; (c) the federal funds rate; (d) the LIBOR; (&) prime rate; {f) Treasury rate; or (g) such other base rate as may be specified in a supplement to the
private placement agreement. The CP Program contains certain events of default including, among other things: nen-payment of principal, interest or
fees; entrance into any form of moratorium; and bankruptcy and insolvency events, subject in certain instances to cure periods. At December 31, 2017,
the weighted average remaining maturity and intergst rate on CP outstanding was 15 days and 1.76% respectively. As of December 31, 2018, the
Company has no CF borrowings outstanding.
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Notes Payable

On August 19, 2010, the Company issued $500 million aggregata principal amount of senior unsecured notes in a public offering. The 2010 Senior Notes
bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.50% and mature on September 1, 2020. Interest on the 2010 Senior Notes is due semi-annually on September 1 and
March 1 of each year, commencing March 1, 2011. The Company may prepay the 2010 Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at any time at a price equal to
100% of the principal amount being prepaid, plus accrued and unpaid interest and a Make-Whole Amount. Additionally, at the option of the holders of the
notes, the Company may be required to purchase all er a portion of the notes upon ocourrence of a "Change of Control Triggering Event,” as defined in
the 2010 Indenture, at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest {o the date of purchase. The 2010
indenture contains covenants that limit the ahility of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur or create liens and enter
into sale and leaseback transactions. In addition, the 2010 Indenture contains a covenant that limits the ability of the Company to consolidate or merge
with another entity or to sell all or substantially all of its assets to another entity. The 2010 Indenture contains customary default provisions, In addition, an
event of default will occur if the Company or certain of its subsidiaries fail to pay the principal of any indebtedness (as defined in the 2010 Indenturs)
when due at maturity in an aggregate amount of $50 million or more, or a default occurs that results in the acceleration of the maturity of the Company's
or certain of its subsidiaries’ indabtedness in an aggregate amount of $50 million or more. Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an event of
default under the 2010 Indenture, the notes may beceme immediately due and payable either automatically or by the vote of the holders of more than
25% of the aggregate principal amount of all of the notes then outstanding,

On November 4, 2011, in connection with the acquisition of Copal, a subsidiary of the Company issued a $14.2 million hon-interest bearing note to the
sellers which represented a portion of the consideration transferred to acquire the Copal entities. If a seller subsequently transfers to the Company all of
its shares, the Company must repay the seller its proportion of the principal on the later of (i} the fourth anniversary date of the note or (i} within a time
frame set farth in the acquisition agreement relating to the resolution of certain income tax uncertainties pertaining to the transaction. The Company has
the right to offset payment of the note against certain indemnification assets associated with UTPs related to the acquisition. Accordingly, the Company
has offset the liability for this note against the indemnification asset, thus ne balance for this note is carried on the Company’s consolidated balance sheeat
at December 31, 2018 and 2017. In the event that the Company would not be required to seffle amounts related to the UTPs, the Company would be
required to pay the sellers the principal in accordance with the note agreement. The Company may prepay the note in accordance with certain terms set
forth in the acquisition agreement.

On August 20, 2012, the Company issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured notes in a public offering, The 2012 Senior Notes bear
interest at a fixed rate of 4,50% and mature on Septamber 1, 2022, Interest on the 2012 Senior Notes is due semi-annually on September 1 and March 1
of each year, commencing March 1, 2013. The Company may prepay the 2012 Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at any time at a price equal to 100% of
the principal amount being prepaid, plus accrued and unpaid interest and a Make-Whale Amount. Additicnally, at the option of the holders of the notes,
the Company may be required to purchase all or a portion of the notes upon occurrence of a “Change of Control Triggering Event,” as defined in the 2012
Indenture, at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase. The 2012 Indenture
contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to, ameng other things, incur or create liens and enter into sale and
leaseback transactions. [n addition, the 2012 Indenture centains a covenant that limits the ability of the Company to consolidate or merge with another
entity or to sell all or substantially all of its assets {o another entity, The 2012 Indenture contains customary default provisions. In addition, an event of
default wili occur if the Company or ceriain of its subsidiaries fail te pay the principal of any indebtedness (as defined in the 2012 Indenture} when due at
maturity in an aggregate amount of $5C million or mare, or a default oceurs that results in the acceleration of the maturity of the Company’s or certain of
its subsidiaries’ indebtedness in an aggregate amount of $50 millicn or more. Upen the occurrence and during the continuation of an event of default
under the 2012 Indenture, the 2012 Senior notes may become immediately due and payable either automatically or by the vote of the holders of mora
than 25% of the aggregate principal amount of all of the notes then cutstanding.

On August 12, 2013, the Company issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes in a public offering. The 2013 Senior Notes
bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.875% and mature on February 18, 2024, Interest on the 2013 Senior Notes is due semi-annually on February 15 and
August 15 of each year, commencing February 15, 2014. The Company may prepay the 2013 Senior Netes, in whole or in part, at any fime at a price
equal to 100% of the principal amount being prepaid, plus accrued and unpaid interest and a Make-Whole Amount. Notwithstanding the immediately
preceding sentence, the Company may redeem the 2013 Senicr Notes, in whele or in part, at any time or from time to time on or after November 15,
2023 (three months prior to their maturity), at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding the redemption date. Additionally, at the option of the holders of the notes, the Campany may be required to
purchase all or a portion of the notes upon occurrence of a “Change of Control Triggering Event,” as defined in the 2013 Indenture, at a price equal to
101% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase. The 2013 Indenture contains covenants that limit the
ability of the Gompany and certain of its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur or create liens and enter into
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sale and leaseback transactions. In addition, the 2013 Indenture contains a covenant that limits the ability of the Company to consalidate or marge with
another entity or to sell all or substantially all of its assets to another entity. The 2013 Indenture contains customary default provisions. in addition, an
event of default will occur if the Company or certain of its subsidiaries fail to pay the principal of any indebtedness (as defined in the 2013 Indenture)
when due at maturity in an aggregate amount of $50 million or mere, or a default occurs that results in the acceleration of the maturity of the Company’s
or certain of its subsidiaries’ indebtedness in an aggregate ameunt of $50 million or more. Upon the oceurrence and during the continuation of an event of
default under the 2012 Indenture, the 2613 Senior Notes may become immadiately due and payable either automatically or by the vote of the holders of
mare than 25% of the aggregate principal amount of all of the notes then outstanding.

On July 16, 2014, the Company issued $30C million aggragate principal amcunt of senior unsecured notes in a public offering. The 2014 Senior Notes
{30-year) bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.25% and rnature on July 15, 2044. Interest on the 2014 Senior Notes (30-year) is due semi-annually on
January 15 and July 15 of each year, commencing January 15, 2015, The Company may prepay the 2014 Senior Notes (30-year), in whole or in part, at
any time at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount being prepaid, plus accrued and unpaid interest and a Make-Whole Amount. Additionally, at the
option of the helders of the notes, the Company may be requirsd to purchase all or a portion of the notes upon accurrence of a “Change of Control
Triggering Event,” as defined in the 2014 Indenture, at a price equal to 101% of the principat amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date
of purchase, The 2014 Indenture contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur or
create liens and enter into sale and leaseback transacticns. In addition, the 2014 Indenture contains a covenant that limits the ability of the Coempany to
consolidate or merge with another entity or to sall all or substantially all of its assets to another entity. The 2014 Indenture contains customary default
provisions. In addition, an event of default will occur if the Company or certain of its subsidiaries fail to pay the principal of any indebtedness (as defined
in the 2014 Indenture) when due at maturity in an aggregate amount of $50 million or more, or a default occurs that results in the acceleration of the
maturity of the Company's or certain of its subsidiaries’ indebtedness in an aggregate amount of $50 million or more. Upon the occurrence and during the
continuation of an event of default under the 2014 Indenture, the 2014 Senior Notes (30-year) may become immediately due and payable either
automatically or by the vate of the holders of more than 25% of the aggregate principal amount of all of the notes then outstanding. Cn November 13,
2015, the Company issued an additional $300 million aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Senior Notes (30-year) in a public offering. This issuance
constitutes an additional issuance of, and a single series with, the $300 million 2014 Senicr Notes (30-year) issued on July 18, 2014 and have the same
terms as the 2014 Senior Notes (30-year).

On July 18, 2014, the Gompany issued $450 million aggregate principal amount of senlor unsecured notes in a public offering. The 2014 Senior Notes
(5-year) bear interest at a fixed rate of 2.75% and mature July 15, 2019. Interest on the 2014 Senior Notes (5-year) is due semi-annually on January 15
and July 15 of each year, commencing January 15, 2015. The Company may prepay the 2014 Senior Notes (5-year), in whole orin part, at any time at a
price prior to June 15, 2019, equal to 100% of the principal amount being prepaid, plus accrued and unpaid interest and a Make-Whole Amount,
Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the Company may redeem the 2014 Senior Notes (5-year), in whole or in part, at any time or from
time to time on or after June 15, 2013 (one manth prier to their maturity), at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, {o, but excluding the redemption date. Additionally, at the option of the holders of the notes, the
Company may be required to purchase all or a portion of the nctes upon occurrence of a “Change of Control Triggering Event,” as defined in the 2014
Indenture, at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase. The 2014 Indenture
contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur or create fiens and enter into sale and
leaseback transactions. In addition, the 2014 Indenture contains a covenant that limits the abifity of the Company to consolidate or merge with another
entity or to sell all or substantially all of ils assets to another entity. The 2014 Indenture contains customary default provisions. In addition, an event of
default will accur if the Company or certain of its subsidiaries fail to pay the principal of any indebtedness (as defined in the 2014 Indenturs) wher due at
maturity in an aggregate amount of $50 millien or more, or a default occurs that results in the acceleration of the maturity of the Company’s or certain of
its subsidiaries' indebtedness in an aggregate amount of $50 million or more. Upan the occurrence and duiing the continuation of an event of default
under the 2014 Indenture, the 2014 Senior Notes (5-year) may become immediately due and payable either automatically or by the vote of the holders of
more than 25% of the aggregate principal amcunt of all of the notes then outstanding, On January 3, 2019, the Company fully repaid the $450 million
aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Senior Notes (5-year).

On March @, 2015, the Company issugd € 500 million aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes in a public offering. The 2015 Senior Notes
bear interest at a fixed rate of 1.75% and mature on March 9, 2027. Interest on the 2015 Senior Notes is due annually on March 9 of each year,
commencing March 9, 2016. The Company may prepay the 2015 Senicr Notes, in whole or in part, at any time at a price equal to 100% of the principal
amount being prepaid, plus accrued and unpaid interest and a Make-Whole Amount. Additionally, at the option of the holders of the notes, the Company
may be required to purchase all or a portion of the netes upon eccurrence of a “Change of Control Triggering Event,” as defined in the 2015 Indenture, at
a price equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase. The 2015 Indenture contains covenants
that limit the ability
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of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to, ameng other things, incur or create liens and enter info sale and leaseback transactions. In addition, the
2015 Indenture contains a covenant that limits the ability of the Company to consolidate or merge with another entity or to sel! all or substantially all of its
assets to another entity. The 2015 Indenture contains custemary default provisions. In addition, an event of default will occur if the Company or certain of
its subsidiaries fail to pay the principal of any indebtedness (as defined in the 2015 indenture} when due at maturity in an aggregate amount of $50 million
or more, or a default oceurs that results in the acceleration of the maturity of the Company's or certain of its subsidiaries’ indebtedness in an aggregate
amount of $50 million or more. Upon the oceurrence and during the continuation of an event of default under the 2015 Indenture, the 2015 Senior Notes
may become immediately due and payable either automatically or by the vote of the holders of more than 25% of the aggregate principal amount of all of
the notes then outstanding. The Company has designated the entire balance of the 2015 Senior Notes as a net investment hedge as more fully
discussed in Note 6.

On March 2, 2017, the Company issued $500 million aggregate principal ameunt of senior unsecured notes in a public offering. The 2017 Senior Notes
bear Interest at a fixed rate of 2,750% and mature en December 15, 2021. Interest on the 2017 Senior Notes is due semiannually on Jung 15 and
December 15 of each year, commencing June 15, 2017. The Company may redeem the 2017 Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at any time at a price
equity to 100% of the principal amount being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest and a Make-Whole Amount.

On March 2, 2017, the Company issued $300 million aggregate principal amaunt of senior unsecured floating rate notes in a public offering. The 2017
Floating Rate Senior Notes beared interest at a floating rate which was calculated by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, equal to three-menth
LIBOR as determined on the interest determination date plus 0.35%. The interest determination date for an interest period was the second London
business day preceding the first day of such interest pericd. Interest on the 2017 Floating Rate Senior Notes accrued from March 2, 2017, and was
payable quarterly in arrears on June 4, 2017, September 4, 2017, December 4, 2017, March 4, 2018, June 4, 2018 and on the maturity dats, to the
record holders at the close of business on the business date preceding the interest payment date. The 2017 Floating Rate Senior Notes were not
redeemable prior to their maturity. The 2017 Floating Rate Senior Notes were repaid in the third quarter of 2018,

On June 12, 2017, the Company issued and sold through a private placement transaction, $500 million aggregate principal amount of its 2017 Private
Placement Notes Due 2023 and $500 million aggregate principal amount of its 2017 Private Placement Notes Due 2028. The 2017 Private Placemeant
Notes Due 2023 bear interest at the fixed rate of 2.625% per year and mature on January 15, 2023. The 2017 Private Placement Notes Due 2028 bear
interest at the fixed rate of 3.250% per year and mature on January 15, 2028. interast on each tranche of notes will be due semiannuzally on January 15
and July 15 of each year, commencing January 15, 2018. The Company enterad into a registration rights agreement, dated as of June 12, 2017, with the
representatives of the initial purchasers of the notes, which sets ferth, among other things, the Gompany's obligations to register the notes under the
Securities Act, within 365 days of issuance. The net proceeds of the note offering were used to finance, in part, the acquisition of Bureau van Dijk. In
addition, the Company may redeem each of the notes in whole orin part, at any time at a price equity to 100% of the principal amount being redeemed,
plus accrued interest and a Make-Whole Amount.

For the 2017 Fleating Rate Notes, 2017 Senior Notes, 2017 Private Placemant Notes Due 2023 and 2017 Private Placement Notes Due 2028, at the
option of the holders of the notes, the Company may be required to purchase all or a portion of the notes upon occurrence of a “Change of Cantrol
Triggering Event,” as defined in the 2017 indenture, at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount, thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the
date of purchase. The 2017 Indenture contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company and cerlain of its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur
or create liens and enter into sale and leaseback fransactions, In addition, the 2017 Indenture contains a covenant that limits the ability of the Company
to consclidate or merge with another entity or to sell all or substantially all of its assets to another entity. The 2017 Indenture also contains customary
default provisions, In addition, an event of default will soeur if the Company or certain of its subsidiaries fail to pay the principal of any indebtedness {as
defined in the 2017 Indenture) when due at maturity in an aggregate amount of $50 million or more, or a default occurs that results in the acceleration of
the maturity of the Company's or certain of its subsidiaries' indebtedness in an aggregate amount of $50 million or more, Upon the oceurrence and during
the continuation of an event of default under the 2017 Indenture, all the aforementioned notes may hecome immediately due and payable either
automatically or by the vote of the holders of mere than 25% of the aggregate principal amount of all of the notes of the applicable series then
outstanding.

On June 1, 2018, the Company issued $300 million aggregate principal amount of senlor unsecured notes in a public offering. The 2018 Senicr Notes
bear interest at the annual fixed rate of 3.250% and mature on June 7, 2021. Interast on the notes will be due sermi-anbually on June 7 and December 7
of each year, commencing December 7, 2018, The Company may redeem in whole or in part, at any time prior to June 7, 2021 at the rademption pricas
as well as any accrued and unpaid interest up te, but not including, the redemption date. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the
Company may redeem the 2018 Senior Notes {3-year), In whole or In part, at any time on or after May 1, 2021 (ene month prior to their maturity) at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed, plus the acerued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the
redemption date.
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Additionally, at the option of the holders of the nctes, the Company may be required to purchase all or a portion of the notes upon occurrence of a
“Change of Control Triggering Event,” as defined in the Eight Supplemental Indenture dated June 7, 2018, at the price equal to 101% of the aggregate
principal amount of the nofes repurchased, including any accrued and unpaid interest up to, but not including, the repurchase date. The indenture
contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur or create liens and enter into sale and
leaseback transactions. In addition, the indenture contains a covenant that limits the abllity of the Company to consolidate or merge with another entity or
to sell ali or substantially all of its assets to another entity. The indenture contains customary default provisions. In addition, an event of default will cecur
if the Company or certain of its subsidiaries fail to pay the principal of any indebtednass (as defined in the indenture) when due at maturity in an
aggregate amount of $50 million or more, or a default occurs that results in the acceleration of the maturity of the Company’s or certain of its subsidiaries’
Indebtedness in an aggregate amount of $50 million or more. Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an event of default under the indenture,
the notes may become immediately due and payable either automatically or by the vote of the holders of more than 25% of the aggregate principal
amount of all of the netes then outstanding.

On December 17, 2018, the Company issued $400 million aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured rate notes in a public offering, The 2018
Senior Notes due 2029 bear inferest at the annual fixed rate of 4.250% and mature on February 1, 2029. Interest on the notes will be due semiannually
on February 1 and August 1 of each year, commencing February 1, 2019, The Company may redeem, in whole or in part, the notes at any time, at a
price equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the principal amount being prepaid, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption
date, and (i) the make-whole redemption price set forth in the ralevant saries of notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the
redemption date. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the Company may redeem all or a portion of the 2018 Senior Notes Due 2029 at its option at
any time on or after November 1, 2028 (three months prior to their maturity) at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to
be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date.

On December 17, 2018, the Company issued $400 million aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured rate notes in a public offering. The 2018
Senior Notes due 2048 bear interest at the annual fixed rate of 4.875% and mature on December 17, 2048. Interest on the notes will be due semiannually
on June 17 and December 17 of each year, commencing June 17, 2019. The Company may redeem, in whole or in part, the notes at any fime, at a price
equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the principal amount being prepaid, plus accrued and unpald interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date,

and (i) the make-whole redemption price set forth in the relevant series of notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the
redemption date. Notwithstanding the precading sentence, the Cempany may redeem all or a portion of the 2018 Senior Notes Due 2048 at its option at
any time on or after June 17, 2048 (six months pricr to their maturity) at a redemption price equal ta 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be
redeemed, plus acerued and unpald interest, If any, to, but excluding, the redemption date.

For the 2018 Senior Notes due 2029 and 2018 Senior Notes due 2048, at the option of the holders of the notes, the Company may be required to
purchase all or a portion of the notes upon ocourrence of a “Change of Control Triggering Event,” as defined in the Ninth Supplemental Indenture dated
December 17, 2018, at the price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes repurchased, including any accrued and unpaid interest up
to, but not including, the repurchase date. The indenture contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries te, among
other things, incur or create liens and enter into sale and [easeback transactions. In addition, the indenture contains a covenant that limits the ability of
the Company to consolidate or merge with another entity or to sell all or substantially all of its assets to another entity. The indenture contains customary
defauit provisions, In addition, an event of default will cceur if the Company or certain of its subsidiaries fail to pay the principal of any indebtedness (as
defined in the indenture) when due at maturity in an aggregate amount of $50 million or more, or a default occurs that results in the acceleration of the
maturity of the Company's or certain of its subsidiaries’ indeltedness in an aggregate amount of $50 million or more. Upon the occurrence and during the
continuation of an event of default under the indenture, the notes may become immediately due and payable either automatically or by the vote of the
holders of moere than 25% of the aggregate principal amount of all of the netes then cutstanding.

At December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with all covenanis contained within all of the debt agreements. All the debf agreements contain
cross default provisions which state that default under one of the aforementioned debt instruments could in turn permit lenders under other debt
instruments to declare borrowings cutstanding under those instruments to be immediately due and payable. As of December 31, 2018, there were no
such cross defaults.
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The repayment schadule for the Company's horrowings is as follows:

2014 2014
2010 2012 2013 Senlor Sanior 2018 2011 2017 2017 2018 2018 2018
Senior Senlor Senlor Notes Notes Senfor Senlor Senlor Senior Senior Senior Senfor
Notes Notes Notes {S-yoar} (30-year] Notes Notes |Notes Notes Notes Notes Notes
Year Ending due due due due due due due due due due due due
December 31 2020 2022 2024 2019 2044 2027 2021 2023 2028 2021 2029 2048 Total

20
Thereafter — — — 5000
THEE: { “§h0go S0 S 5000 F 500

(1) In January 2019, the Company repaid the 2014 Senior Notes

INTEREST EXPENSE, NET
The following table summarizes the compenents of interest as prasented in the consolidated statemants of operations:
Year Ended Docember 31,
2018 2017 2016

e

Yigarne
Expense on borowings o
Expensean atiercrellediabiies =

Net beriodic bension costs—interast compbnent (1

Interest paid {3)

(1} The Company adopted ASU No. 2017-07 in the first guarter of 2018, whereby all compenents of pension axpenss except for the service cost component are required to be
presented in non-operating (expense) income, net. The sarvice cest component continuas to be reported as an operating expense,

(2) Represents a reduction of accrued interest related to the favorable resoluticn of Legacy Tax Matters.

3} Interest paid includes nel setflements on interest rate swaps more fully discussed In Mote 6,

The Company’s debt Is recorded at its carrying amount, which represents the issuance amount plus or minus any issuance premium or discount, except
for the 2010 Senior Notes, the 20114 Senior Notes {5-Year}, the 2012 Senior Notes and 2017 Senior Notes due 2021, which are recorded at the carrying
amount adjusted for the fair value of an interest rate swap used to hedge the fair value of the nate.
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The fair value and carrying value of the Company’s debt (excluding Commercial Paper) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Carrying Estimated Fair Carrying Estimated Falr

Amount Valus Amount Value

4.50% 2012 Senlor Notes due 2022
BATEUER Nk

3 25% 20‘[7 Sanior Notes due 2023
YO TaE

The fair value of the Company's debt is estimated based on quoted market prices for similar instruments, Accordingly, the inputs used to estimate the fair
value of the Company's long-term debt are classified as Level 2 inputs within the fair value hierarchy,

NOTE 18 CAPITAL STOCK

Authorized Capital Stock

The total number of shares of all classes of stock that the Company has authority to issue under its Restated Certificate of Incorporation is 1.02 billion
shares with a par value of $0.01, of which 1.0 billion are shares of commen stock, 10.0 million are shares of preferred stock and 10.0 million are shares of
series common stock, The preferred stock and series commen stoeck can be issued with varying terms, as determined by the Board.

Share Repurchase Program

The Company implemented a systematic share repurchase program in the third quarter of 2005 through an SEC Rule 10b5-1 program. Moody's may alsc
purchase opportunistically when conditions warrant. As a result, Moody's share repurchase activify will conlinue to vary from quarter to quarter. The table
below summarizes the Company’s remaining authority under its share repurchase program as of December 31, 2018:

Date Authorlzad
Petab 7
December 15, 2015

During 2018, Moody's repurchased 1.2 million shares of its common stock under its share repurchase program and issued a net 1.5 million hares under
employee stock-based compensation plans.

On February 20, 2019, the Company eniered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement (ASR) with a financial institution counterparty to
repurchase $500 million of its outstanding common stock.
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Dividends
The Company’s cash dividends were:

Dividends Per Share
Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

Dgcl ared

Paid

it
Second quarter
Third oivar
Fourth quarter
Fotabs ey S

On February 12, 2019, the Board approved the declaration of a guarterly dividend of $0.50 per share of Moody's common stock, payable on March 18,
2019 to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 25, 2018, The continued payment of dividends at the rate noted above, or at all, is
subject to the discretion of the Board.

NOTE 19 LEASE COMMITMENTS

Moaody's operates its business fram various leased facilities, which are under operaling leases that expire over the next 9 years. Moody's alsc leases
certain computer and other equipment under opsrating leases that expire over the next five years. Rent expense, including lease incentives, is amorized
oh a straight-line basis over the related lease term. Rent expense under operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was
$103.2 million, $97.0 millicn and $95.4 million, respectively.

The 21-year operating lease (at inceptien) for the Company's headquarters at 7WTC, which commenced on October 20, 2006 contains a total of 20 years
of renewal options. These renewal options apply to both the original lease as well as additional floors leased by the Company beginning in 2014,
Additionally, the 17.5 year operating lease for the Company’s London, England office, which commenced on February 6, 2008, contains a total of 15
years of renewal options.

The minimurmn rent for operating leases at December 31, 2018 is as follows:

{in millions)
Year Ending December 31,

Operailng Leases
20

NOTE 20 CONTINGENCIES

Given the nature of their activities, Moody's and its subsidiaries are subject to legal and tax proceedings, governmental, regulatory and legislative
investigations, subpoenas and ofher inquiries, and claims and lifigation by gevernmental and private parties that are based on ratings assigned by MIS or
that are otherwise incidental to the Company’s business. Mcedy’s and MIS also are subject to periodic reviews, inspections, examinations and
investigations by regulators in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, any of which may result in claims, legal proceedings, assessments, fines, penalties or
restrictions on business activities. Moody's also is subject to ongoing tax audits as addressed in Note 16 to the financial statements.

In May 2013, the Company and five subsidiaries (collectively, the "Company Defendants”) were served with a qui tam complaint filed by a former
employse (“Plaintiff”) in New York Supreme Court (the “Court”) on behalf of New York State (the “State”) and New York City (the "City”} asserting
purported claims under the New York False Claims Act ("NYFCA”). Both the State and the City were given an opportunity to intervene as plaintiffs in the
action but declined to do so. In August 2013, Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint adding Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. as a defendant. Plaintiffs
central allegation against the Company Defendants is that their treai-
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ment of the Company’s wholly-owned captive insurance subsidiary, Moody's Assurance Company, Inc. ("MAC”), In their State and City tax filings between
2002 and 2014 was contrary to the State and City tax codes. Plaintiff also asserts a cause of action for retaliation under the NYFCA and alleges that his
employmert was improperly terminated after he reported his concerns regarding MAC's tax treatment internally. Plaintiff alleges that the Company
underpaid State and City taxes by more than $120 million (which the Company believes is unsupported as a matter of fact and law}, and requesis
statutory damages of triple that amount, as well as unspecified damages related to the retaliation claim. In December 20186, the Court issued a decision
largely denying the Company Defendants’ motion to dismiss, The Company Defendants appealed, and in August 2018, the Appellate Division of the New
York Supreme Court upheld the Court’s decision. Discovery is ongoing and, absent earlier disposition, the Company expec!s the case to go to trial no
earlier than [ate 2019. The Company is unable to estimate a range of less, and is contesting Plaintiffs claims, which it believes are meritless.

Management periodically assesses the Company's llabilities and contingancies in connection with these matters based upon the latest information
available. For claims, litigation and proceedings and governmental investigations and inguiries not related to income taxes, the Company records
liabilities in the consolidated financial statemants when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably
estimated and periodically adjusts these as appropriate. When the reascnable estimate of the loss is within a range of amounts, the minimum amount of
the range is accrued unless some higher amount within the range is a better estimate than another amount within the range. In instances when a loss is
reasonably pessible but uncertainties exist related to the probable outcome and/for the amount or range of loss, management does nat record a liability
but discloses the contingency if material. As additienal information becomes available, the Company adjusts its assessments and estimates of such
matters accordingly. Moody's also disclaoses material pending legal proceedings pursuant to SEC rules and other pending matters as if may determine to
be appropriate.

In view of the inherent difficulty of assessing the potential outcome of legal proceedings, governmental, regulatory and legislative investigations and
inguiries, claims and litigation and similar matters and contingencies, particularly when the claimants seek large or indeterminate damages or assert
novel legal theories or the matters invelve a large number of parties, the Company often cannot predict what the eventual outcome of the pending matters
will be or the timing of any resolution of such mattsrs. The Company also may be unable to predict the impact {if any} that any such matters may have on
how its business is cenducted, on its compeditive position ar on its financial position, results of eperations or cash flows. As the process to resolve any
pending matters progresses, management will continue to review the latest information available and assess its ability to predict the outcome of such
matters and the effects, if any, on its cperations and financial conditien and to accrue for and disclose such matters as and when requirad, However,
because such maiters are inherently unpredictable and unfavorable developments or resolutions can occur, the ultimate outcome of such matters,
including the amount of any loss, may differ from those esfimates,

NOTE 21 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company is organized into fwo operating segments: MIS and MA and accordingly, the Company reports in two reportable segments: MIS and MA.

The MIS segment consists of five LOBs. The CFG, SFG, FIG and PPIF LOBs generate revenue principally from fees for the assignment and ongoing
menitoring of credit ratings on debt obligations and the entities that issue such obligations in markets worldwide. The MIS Other LOB primarily consists of
financial instruments pricing services In the Asia-Pacific region as well as ICRA non-ratings revenue.

The MA segment develops a wide range of products and services that suppart the risk management activities of institutional participants in globat
financial markets. The MA segment consists of three LOBs—RD&A, ERS and PS.

In August 2017, a subsidiary of the Company acquired Yellow Maple | B.V., an indirect parent of Bureau van Dijk. Bureau van Dijk is part of the MA
reportable segment and its revenue is included in the RD&A LOB, In 2018, the Company acquired Omega Performance and Reis, Inc. and both are part
of the MA reportable segment. Omega’s revenue is included in the PS LOB and Reis’ revenue is included in the RD&A LOB. Refer to Note 8 for further
discussion on these acquisitions.

Revenue for MIS and expenses for MA include an intersegment royalty charged to MA for the rights to use and distribute content, data and products
developed by MIS. The royalty rate charged by MIS approximates the fair value of the aforementioned content, data and products and is generally based
on comparable market transactions. Alse, revenue far MA and expenses for MIS include an infersegment fee charged to MIS from MA for certain MA
products and services utilized in MIS’s ratings process. These fees charged by MA are generally equal to the costs incurred by MA to produce these
products and services. Additionally, overhead costs and corporate expenses of the Company that exclusively benefit only one segment are fully charged
to that segment. Overhead costs and carporate expenses of the Company that benefit both segments are allocated to each segment based on a
revenue-split methodology. Accordingly, a reportable segment’s share of these cosis will increase as its proportion of revenue relative to Moody's total
revenue increases. Overhead expenses include costs such as rent and cccupancy, information technology and support staff such as finance, human
resources and legal. “Eliminations” in the table below represent intersegment revenue/expense. Moody's does not report the Company’s assets by
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reportable segment, as this metric is not used by the chief operating decision maler to allocate resources to the segments. Consequently, it is not
practical to show assets by reportable segment.

Financial Information by Segment

The table below shows revenue, Adjusted Operating Income and operating income by reportable segment. Adjusted Operating Income is a financial
metric utilized by the Company’s chief operating decision maker to assess the profitability of each reportable segment. Refer to Note 3 for further details
on the components of the Company’s revenue.

Year Ended Decomber 31,

2017

Consolidated (1)

Restructuring
e T O B G S 2 e : 5%
Operating income $1.560.3 $ 307.9 $ — $ 249 $ — $ 18208
2018
MIS (1) MA {1)  Eliminations Consolidated (1}
gt WEATED = :

Operating, SG&A
Eohdusted Uperating: ncomes

Less:

1,107.8

E Depreniafionand amotEation =
_ Restructuring

e e R e ] B
Operating income § 4154 § 2355 § — % 6509

(1) Pursuant to the adoption of a new accounting standard relating te pension accounting as more fully discussed In Note 1, only the service cost compoenent of net periedic penslon
expense will be classified within oparating and SG&A expenses with the remaining compenents being classifled as non-operating expenses. Prior pericd segment results have
been restated to reflect this reclassiflcation, Accordingly, operating and SG&A sxpenses for MIS and MA were reduced by §7.6 miilion and $4.1 million, respectively, for the ysar
ended December 31, 2017, For the year ended December 31, 2016, operating and SG8A expenses for MIS and MA were reduced by $7.8 million and $4.4 milllon, respectively.

The cumulative restructuring charges relating to the 2018 Restructuring Program and the 2016 Restructuring Program, as more fully discussed in Note
10, for the MIS reportable segment are $32.2 million and $10.2 million, respectively, and for the MA reportable segment are $16.5 millicn and

$1.8 million, respectively. The total costs expetted to be incurred related to the 2018 Restructuring Program for MIS and MA, are approximately

$43 million to $48 million and $27 million to $32 million, respectively. The 2018 Restructuring Program was completed in 2016.
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CONSOLIDATED REVENUE AND LONG-LIVED ASSETS INFORMATION BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2018

Total 3 4,442.7 3 4,204.1 ] 3,604.2

Total ‘ ‘ $ 58678 § $ 16450

NOTE 22 VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Accounts receivable allowances primarily represent adjustments te customer billings that are estimated when the related revenue is recognized and alsc
represents an estimate for uhcollectible accounts. The valuation allowance on deferred tax assets relates to foreign net operating tax losses for which
realization is uncertain. Below is a summary of activity:

Balance at Beginning Charged fo costs Balance at End
Yoar Endad Decembar 31, of the Year and expenses Deductions (1) of the Year

i

(1) Reflects write-off of uncollectible accounts recelvabie or explration of forelgn net operafing tax losses

NOTE 23 OTHER NON-OPERATING (EXPENSE) INCOME, NET

The following table summarizes the compenents of other nen-operating {expense) income, net as presentad in the consolidated statements of operations:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

(1) The FX galn in 2016 includes an approximate $35 million net gain relating to the substantial liquidation/sale of certain non-1).S. subsidiaries. Pursuant to ASC 830, cumulative
translation gains relating to these subsidiaries were recassified to ether non-eperating income, net in the consolidated statement of operations.

(@) The Company adopted ASU Na., 2017-07 in the first quarter of 2018, whereby all components of pension expense except for the service cost component are required to be
presented in non-operating (expense) Income, net, The service cosi compenent continues to be reported as an operating expense.,

(3)  The 2016 amount relate to the expiration of a stalute of limitations for L.egacy Tax Matters,
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NOTE 24 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Moody's Corporation made grants of $12 million and $4 million to The Moody’s Foundation during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018,
respectively. The Company did not make a grant to the Feundation in 2018, The Foundation carries out philanthropic activities primarily in the areas of
education and health and human services. Certain members of Moody’s senior management are on the board of the Foundation.

NOTE 25 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED})

Three Months Ended
June 30 September 30

March 31

{amaunts In millions, except EPS)
ams .
Revenue $1,1267  §$1,175.1 $  1,080.8  $  1,080.1

$

$ 1.61 $ 013

(1) Pursuant to the adoption of a new accounting standard relating to pension accounting as more fully discussed in Note 1, only the service component of net periodic expsnsa is
classified within operating and SG8A expenses with the remaining components being classified as non-operating expenses. Prior period results have been restated to reflect this
classification.

Basic and diluted EPS are computed for each of the pericds presented. The number of weighted average shares outstanding changes as common
shares are issued pursuant to employee stock-based compensation plars and for other purposes or as shares are repurchased. Tharefore, the sum of
basic and diluted EPS for each of the four quarters may not equal the full year basic and diluted EPS,

Net [ncome attributable to Moody's in the three months ended September 30, 2018 includes a $64.7 million net benefit relaled to the net impact of U.S.
tax reform and a $63.9 million charge related to an increase to non-U.S. UTPs. Net Income attributable to Moody's in the three months ended
December 31, 2018 includes a charge of $48.7 millicn ($36.8 million net of tax} relating to the 2018 Restructuring Program,

Net Income attributable to Moody's for the three months ended March 31, 2017 includes the $59.7 million CCXI gain. Net Income attributable to Moody's
for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and September 30, 2017 include $41.2 million ($25.3 million net of tax) and $69.9 million ($44.4 million net of
tax), respectively, related to gains from FX collars and forward contracts executed to hedge against variability in the euro-denominated purchase price for
Bureau van Dijk. Net Income atfributable to Mocdy's in the three months ended December 31, 2017 includes a net charge of § 245.6 million relating to
the U.S. corporate tax reform and changeas in statutery tax rates in Belgium as more fully discussed in Note 16,

NOTE 26 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 12, 2019, the Board approved the declaration of a quarterly dividend of $0.50 per share for Moody's common stock, payable March 18,
20119 to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 28, 2018.

In addition, on January 3, 2019, the Company fully repaid $450 million of the 2014 Senior Notes (5-year).

On February 20, 2019, the Company entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement (ASR) with a financial institution counterparty to
repurchase $500 million of its outstanding common stock. The final setilement of the transaction under the ASR agreement is expected to be completed
no later than April 2019. The ASR was enfered info pursuant to the Company's existing share repurchase program, as further discussed in Note 18 of the
Company's financial statements.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company carried out an evaluation, as required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act, under the supervision and with the participaticn of the
Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officar and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectivenass of the design and cperation of
the Company’s disclosure confrols and proceduras, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this report
(the "Evaluation Date”). Based on such evaluation, such officers have concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, the Company's disclogure conirols and
procedures were effactive to provide reasonable assurance that infermation required to be disclosed by the Company in reporis that it files or submits
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the communication to the Company's
management, including the Company’s Chief Exscutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding raquired
disclosure.

Changes In Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Information in response to this Item is set forth under the caption “Management’s Report on Internal Gonirol Over Financial Reporting”, in Part Il, item 8 of
this annual report on Form 10-K.

Except as described below, the Company's management, including the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has determined
that there were no changes in the Company's internai contrel over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely 1o materially
affect, these internal conirels over financial reporting during the three-month period ended December 31, 2018.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, the Company acquired Bureau van Dijk, and in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, Mcody's
integrated the acquired entity into the Company's financial reperting processes and procedures and internal controls over financial reperting. Additionally,
during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, the Company implemented intarnal controls relating to the adoption and assessment of the impact of
the new accounting standard relating o leases, which will be adepted by Moody's on January 1, 2019,

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not appficable.
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PART III

Except for the information relating to the executive officers of the Company set forth in Part | of this annual report on Form 10-K, the informaticn called for
by tems 10-14 is contained in the Company's definitive proxy statement for use in connection with its annual meeting of stockholders scheduled to be
held on April 16, 2019, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 10.

ITEM 11.

ITEM 12

ITEM 13,

ITEM 14.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

MOODY'S 2013 10-K 129



Table of Contents

PARTI

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

LIST OF DOCUMENTS FILED AS PART OF THIS REPORT.

{1} Financial Statements.

See index to Financial Statements on page 59, in Part 1. ltem 8 of this Form 10-K,

{2) Financial Statement Schedules.

None.
{3) Exhibits.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

§-K EXHIBIT NUMBER
2

130 MOODY'S 2018 10-K

Plan Of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangement, Liquidation or Succession

B

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2017_among Mgoody's Corporation. Moody’s Holdings
NL B.V., Yellow Maple | B.V., Yellow Maple Svrup | BV, Yellow Maple Syrup Il B.V. and the Ssilers identfled
therein {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number
1-14037, filed May 15, 2917)

Warranty Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2017, between Moody's Holdings NL. B.V, and the Warrantors
identified therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Report on Farm_8-K  of the Reqistrant, file
number 1-14037, filed May 15 2017)

Avrticles Of Incorporation And By-laws

A

Restated Certificats of Incorporation of the Redistrant, effective April 17, 2013 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.4 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed April 22, 2013}

Amended and Restated By-laws of Moody's Corparafion, effective April 17, 2013 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to the Report on Form 8K of the Reaistrant, file number 1-14037. filed April 22, 2613}

Instruments Defining The Rights Of Security Holders, Including Indentures

N

34

3.2

Spacimen Common Stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the
Registrant. file number 11403 d October 4, 2000

Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of Septernber 7, 2007, by and among Moody's Corporation and the note
purchasers paity thereto, including the form of the 6.06% Series 2007-1 Senior Unsecured Note due 2017,

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filag
September 13, 2007)

Indenturs, dated as of August 18, 2013, between Moody's Corporation and Wells Fargo, National Association

as trustee (incorporated by referance {o Exhibit 4.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number
114037, filed August 18, 2010)

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 19, 2010, between Moody's Corporation and Wells Fargo,
National Association. as trustee, |ncluding the form of the 5.50% Senior Notes due 2020 (Incorporated by

referenca to Exhibit 4.2 to the Raport on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed August 19
2010
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S-K EXHIBIT NUMBER

10

3.3

.3.4

3.5

3.8

3.7

3.8

.3.9

Material Contracts

At

2.1t

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 20, 2012, between Moody's Corporation Wellg
Eargo, Nafional Association. as trustee, including the form of the 4,50% Senior Notes due 2022

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Report on Form B-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037,
file 0, 2012

Third Supplemental Indenture. dated as of August 12,2013, between Moody's Corporation and Wells
Fargo National Association, as trustee, including the form of the 4.875% Senior Notes dus 2023

ratad by referanca to Exhibit 4.1 to the R m 8-K of the Registrant, flla number 1.14037
filed Au ust 12, 2013

Fourth Supplemental Indentura. date 18, 2014, between the Compan d Wells Farqo Bank,
National Assogiation, as trustes, including the form of 2.750% Senhior Notes due 2019 and the form of

5.250% Senior Noteg due 2044 ({incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 fo the Report on Form 8-K of the
Registrant, fila number 1-14037, filed July 16, 2014)

Eiith Supplemental Ih ure, dated March 8, 2015, between the Com Wells Fargo Bank, National
Assoclation, as trustee and Elavon Financi lces Limited. UK Branch as i ent and transfer
agent and Elaven Fi i s Limited as reqistrar, including the r 1.75% Senicr Notes due
2027 (i orated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 {o the Repol Form 8-K of the Registrant, file humber

1149037, filed March 1€, 2015)

Sixth Supplemantal Indenture. dafed as of March 2. 2017, befween the Company and Wells Fargo Bank
National Association,_as trustee, Ihcluding the form of 2.750% Senior Notes due 2021 and form of Ficating

Rate Senior Notes due 2018 (incorporatad by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the
Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed March 3, 2017)

Seventh Supplemantal Indenture, dated as of June 12 2017, between Moody's Corporaticn and Wells

Earac, Nafional Association, as trustee, including the form of 2.625% Senior Notes due 20253 and the form

of 3.250% Senjor Motes dus 2028 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Report on Form 8-K of
the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed June 12, 2017}

Eighth Supplement Indepiure, dated as of June_ 7, 2018, betwsen the Company and Wells Fargo, National
Asscciation. as trustee, including the form of 3 250% Senior Note due 2021 ({incorporated by reference tg
Exhibi{ 4.1 1o the Repert on Form 8-K of the Reqistrant, file number 1-14037, filed June 7, 2018},

Ninth Suppiemental Indenture, dated as of December 17, 2018, between the Company and Wells Fargo
Bank, Mational Asscciaticn, as Trustee, including the form of 4,250% Senior Note due 2029 and the form of
4,875% Senior Note dua 2048 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the
Redaistrant, file number 1-14037, fiied December 21, 2018).

Five-Year Credit Agreement dated as of November . 14, 2018, among Moody's Corporation, the Borrowing
Subsidiaries Parly Thereto, the Lenders Party Thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, Bank of America, N.A. and Citibank, N A, as Co-Syndication Agents, and Barclays Bank ple. MUFG

Bank, Lid. and TD Bank, N.A. as Co-Documnentation Agents {incorporated by reference te Exhibi 4,1 o the
Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed November 20, 2018},

Loan Agreement, dated as of June 6. 2017,_among Moody’s Corporation, the Lenders party thereto and
JPMargan Chase Bank, N.A,, as Administrative Agent {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 fo the

Report on Form 8-K of the Regisirant, file number 1-14037, filed June 12, 2017)

istration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 2017, between Moody's Corporati the
representatives of the injtial purchasers of the notes {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Repo
on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed June 12, 2017)

1998 Moody's Corporation Key Emplovees' Stock Incentive Plan (Incerporated by reference to Exhibit 10,16
to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-14037, filed November 14, 2000)

1998 Moody's Corporation Non-Employee Directors' Stock Incentive Plan {Adopted September 8 2000;
Amended and Restated as of Becember 11, 2012, October 20, 2015, December 14, 2015 and December
18, 2017)
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Eorm of Non-Embplovee Diractor Restricted Stock Grant Agreement (for awards arapted prior to 2018) for
the 1998 Moody's Corporation Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan (as amended on April_23

2001) ({incorperate reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Reqistrant's Quarterly Report cn Form 10-Q_ file
-14037, filed Now 3, 2004

Ecrm of Non-Emplovee Director Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement (for awards after 2017} for the 1908
Meody's Corparation Non-Employee Dirgctors' Stock Incentive Plan {Adopted Septembear 8. 2000:
Amended and Restated as of December 11, 2012, October 20,2015, December 14. 2015 and December

18, 2017).
Moody's Corporation 1869 Employee Stock Purchase Plan {as amended and restated Decamber 15

2008) {formerly, The Dun _& Bradstreet Corporation 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan) {incorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Regisfrant's Annual Re| on Form 10-K, file number 1-14037, filed Marc)

2, 2009

Amended and Restated 2001_M, 's Corporation Key Employees' § Incentive Plan {as amended

December 18, 2017
Eorm of Emplovee Non-Qualified Steck Option and Restricted Stock Grant Agreement {for awards granted

rior fe 2017) for tha Amended and Restated 2001 Moody's Corporation Key Employees’ Stock [ncentive
Plan {incerporated by refarenc: Exhibit 10.2 to the Reqgistrant's Quartetly Re| on Form 19-Q, fils

number 1-14037 filed November 3, 2004)
Farm of Employes Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreement for the Amended and Restated 2001

Moody's Corporation Kev Emplovees' Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by referencs to Exhibit 10,17 1o
e Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K. file humber 1-14037 _filed Februaiy 24, 2017

Form of Performance Share Award Letter {for awards granted prior fo 2017) for the Amended and Restated

2001 Moody's Corpo Key Emploveas’ Stock Incentive P incorpora; reference 1o Exhibit 10.48

io the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-14037, filed February 28, 2011}
Fonm of Performance Share Award Letter (for awards granted in 2017) for the Amended and Restated 2001

ocdy’s Corporation Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to

the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-14037, filed February 24, 2017)

Form of Performance Share Award Letter (for awards granted after 2017) for the Amended and Restated
2001 Moody’s Corporation Key Emplovees' Stock Incentive Plan

Eorm of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement for the Amended and Restated 2001 Moody's Corporation
Key Emplovess' Stock Incantive Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,18 to the Redistrant's Annual

Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-14037, filed February 24, 2817)
2004 Moody's Corperation Covered Employee Cash Incentive Plan (as amended on February 10, 2015)

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number

114037, filed February 26, 2015)

Moody's Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of January 1, 2008 {incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037. filed October
26, 200

Supplemental Exacutive Benefit Plan of Moody's Corporation, amended and restated as of January 1

2008 (incorperated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K_ file
number 1-14037 filed February 28, 2008)

Pansign Benefit Equalization Plan of Moody's Corporation, amended and restaled as of January 1, 2008
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, fils number
114037, fiiad February 2g 2008)

Moody's Corporation Cafeteria Plan, effective January 1, 2008 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46
to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-14037, filed March 2 2009)

First Amengment to the Moody's Corporation Cafeteria Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Registrant’s Quarterly Repart on form 10-Q. file number 1-14037, filed July 31, 2014)

Second Amandment to the Maody's Corporation Cafateria Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33

the Regisirani’s Annua ort an Form 10-K, file number 1-14037. filed February 26, 2015

Meody’s Corporation Chanes in Conirol Severance Plan (as amended December 18, 2017},
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Mocdy’s Cerporation Retirement Account. amended and restated as of December 18,2013 fincorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10,26 to the Redistrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-14037. f ed

February 27 2014}

FirstAmenc_Imem to the Moody's, Corggrgtior) Betiremenj Aggoqnl amended and restated as of December

18, 2013 (incomorated by reference to Exhibit 10,1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-

file_number 1-14037 fled July 30, 2015)

Profit Perticipaticn Plan of Moody's Corporation (amended and restated as of Janua 2014
j crated by reference bjt 10.26 to th istrant’s Ann aport on 19-K fila n

1-14037, fiied February 26, 2015)
Flrst Amendment fo the Profit Participation Plan of Moody's Corporation {amended and restated as of
Jany 1. 2014) (incorporate reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’'s Quarterly Report on

10-Q, file humber 1-14037 filed May 4, 2015)

nd Amendment to the Profit Participation Plan of Moody's Corporation (incorporated by refarence to

Exhigit 10,7 1o the Reglstrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-14037_ filed May 4 2018}
Prcfﬂ Parficipation Plan of Moodys Corgorgtlon (amended and restated as of January 1, 2018)

in reference fo E 3 to the Reoi 's Registration Statemen Form S-8. file

umber 333-228677, filed November 28, 2018)

The Mcody's Corporatjon Nonfunded Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (35
amended and restatsd October 20, 2015) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's

Annual Report on Form 10K, file humber 1-14037 filed February 25_2016

Amended and Restated Moody's Carporation Carger Transition Plan {incorporated by reference to Exbibijt
1¢.33 to Reqigfrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, file numper 1-14037, filed February 24, 2017)

Form of Separation Agresment and General Release used by the Redistrant with its Career Transition
Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99,1 fo the Report on Form 8-K of the Reaistrant, file number

1-14037, filed November 20, 2007)

Separation Agresment and General Releas_e_between the Con_-ugany and Linda . Huber, dated January

28. 2018 {incotparated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K, file number
1-14037, filed January 29. 2018}

Agreemant of Lease, dated September 7, 2006, between Moody’s Corporation and 7 World Trade

Center, LLC (incorporaied by reference to Exhibit 10.1 {o the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
file number 1-14037, filed November 2, 2006)

Agreement for |sass. dated February 6, 2008, among CYWCE Properties (DS7) Limitad, CWCB
Properties (DS7) Limited and CW Leasing DSYF Limited, Canary Wharf Holdings Limited. Mogdy's
Investors Service Limited, and Moody's Corporation {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037. filed February_12, 2008)

Storage Agresment for Leasa dated February 6, 2008 among Canary Wharf (Car Parks) Limited Canam

Whatf Holdings Limited, Canary Wharf Managerment Limited, Moody's [nvestors Sgrvice Limited,_and

Moody's Corporation {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Report on Form 8-K of the
Registrant file number 1-14037, filed February 12, 2008)

Form Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement betwsen Moody's Corporation, as Issuer, and the Dealer party
ereto {incorporaied by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Ragistrant, file number

114037, filed August 3, 2018)

Seftlemant Agreement dated January 13, 2017 betwaen (1} Moody's Corporation, Moody's Investors
Service, Inc. and Moody's Analytics, Inc.and {2) the United States, acting through the United States
Department of Justice and the United States Attorney's Office for the District of New Jersey along with
various Stales and the District of Celumbig, acting throudh their respective Attorneys General

{incorporated by reference to tha Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed January
A7, 2017

Ferm Indemnification Agreement {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of
the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed December 22, 2017}
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* Filed herewith
+ M anagement contract of compensatory plan or arrangament
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.21 Embployment Offer Latter between Moody’s Corporation and Mark Kaye, dated July 18, 2018 (incorporated b
reference to Exhlbit 10.1 fo the Quarterly R on Form 10-Q of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed of

October 31, 2018),

22* Supplemental Exscutive Disability Benefit Plan of Moody's Corporation, effectiv f January 1. 201
jdiaries of the Registrant L ive Subsi 23 as of Dece 31,2018

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

At Consent of KPMG LLP

Certifications Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

1 Chief Executive Officer Cerification Pursuant to Section 302 of arbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

2* Chief Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A 2002

Certifications Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

A* Certification Pursuant to 18 U,5.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 208 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002, {The Company has furnished this certification and does not intend for it to be considered flled under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or incorporated by reference inte future filings under the Securities Act of 1933

or the Sacurities Exchange Act of 1934}

2" Certification Pursuant to 18 U 8.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, {The Company has fumished this certification and does not intend for i to be considered filed under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1834 or incorporated by reference inte future filings under the Securities Act of 1933
or the Securities Exchange Act of 1834}

XBRL.

DEF* XBRL Definitions Linkbase Document

ANS* XBRL Instance Documant

SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

CAL* XBRL Taxonemy Extansion Calculation Linkbase Document
LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document
.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extensicn Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MOODY'S CORPORATION
(Registrant)
By: fs/ RAYMOND W, MCDANIEL, JR.

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 22, 2018

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and an the date indicated,

Isi RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR. Is! KATHRYN M. HILL
Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., Kathryn M. Hill,
President and Chief Executive Officer Director

{principal execuiive officer)

Is/ VINCENT A. FORLENZA
Is! MARK KAYE Vincent A. Forlenza,
Mark Kaye, Director
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer}

Is/ HENRY A, MCKINNELL, JR. PH.D.
Henry A. McKinnell, Jr. Ph.0),,
fsi CAROLINE SULLIVAN Chairman
Caroline Sullivan,
Senfor Vice President and Corporate Controller
{principal accounting officer) /s! LESLIE F. SEIDMAN
Leslie F. Seidman,
Director
s/ BASIL L. ANDERSON
Basil L. Anderson,
Director {s/ BRUCE VAN SAUN
Bruce Van Saun,
Direclor
s/ JORGE A. BERMUDEZ
Jorge A, Bermudez,
Director

Isf GERRIT ZALM

Gerrit Zalm, Date: February 22, 2019
Director

MOODY'S 2018 10-K 138



Exhibit 10.22

SUPPLEMENTAL EXECUTIVE DISABILITY BENEFIT PLAN
OF
MOODY'S CORPORATICN

Eftective as of January 1, 2019
PREAMBLE

The principal purpose of this Supplemental Executive Disability Benefit Plan is to provide the same disability protections as were provided under
the SEBP immediately prior to January 1, 2019 hut are no longer being provided under the SEBP after that date. The benefits hereunder shall be
provided on an unfunded basis to a select group of management or highly compensated employees of the Corporation and its affiliated companies in
order to atiract, retain, and motivate such employees. Payments hereunder shall, for purposes of the SEBP, be treated as if they were “Disability”
payments made thereunder. The Plan is hereby adopted effeclive as of January 1, 2019,

SECTION 1
DEFINITIONS

1.01 “Affliate” means any corporation, partnership, division or other organization controlling, controlled by or under common control with the
Corporation or any joint venture enterad into by the Corporation.

1.02 “Basic Disability Plan” means as to any Participant either (a) the long-term disability plan of the Corporation or an Affiliate pursuant to which
long-term disability benefits are payable to such Participant or (b) if the Affiliate which employs such Participant has not adopted a long-term disability
plan, the long-term disability plan of the Corporation.

1.03 “Basic Disability Flan Benefit” means the amount of benefits actually payable to a Participant from the Basic Disability Plan or which would
be payable If the Participant were a member of such Plan. For purposes of determining a Participant’s Basic Disability Plan Benefit, a disability benefit
shall not be treated as actually payable to a Participant unless the Participant is actually covered by a long-term disability plan of the Corporation or an
Affiliate.

1.04 “Board” means the Board of Direclors of Moody’s Corporation.

1.05 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

1.06 "Committee” means the Compensation and Human Resources Committee of the Beard.

1.07 “Corporation” means Moody's Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and any successor or assigns thereto.
1.08 “Disability Benefit' means the benefits provided to Participants pursuant to Section 4 of the Plan.

1,09 “Other Disability Income” means (a) the disability insurance henefit that the Participant is entitled to receive under the Federal Sccial Security
Act while he is receiving the Basic Disability Plan Benefit and (b) the disability income payable to a Participant from the following sources:

(i any supplemental executive disability plan of any Affiliate; and

(i) any other contract, agraemeant cr other arrangement with the Corporation or an Affiliate (excluding any Basic Disability Plan} to the extent it
provides disability benefits.

1.10 “Participant” means an employee of the Corporation or an Affiliate who was an active participant in the SEBP on December 30, 2018.
1.11 “Plan” means this Supplemental Exacutive Disability Benefit Plan of Moody's Corporation, as amended from time to time.
1.12 “SEBP" means the Supplemental Executive Benefit Plan of Moody's Corporation as in effect on December 31, 2018.

1.13 “Temmination of Employment” or “Terminate Employment” mean a Participant's separation from service (within the meaning of Section 409A
of the Code).

1.14 The masculine gender, where appearing in the Plan, will be deemed fo include the feminine gender, and the singular may include the plural,
unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary.
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SECTION 2
ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION
2.01 Only the Participants shall be eligible 1o participate in the Flan. No additional individuals shall be eligible to participate in the Plan.

2.02 A Participant’s participation in the Plan shall terminate upon his or her Termination of Employment, Prior to Termination of Employment, a
Participant may be removed, upon written notice by the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and with the approvat of the Committee, from further
participation in the Plan, As of the date of termination or removal, no further benefits shall accrue to such individual,

SECTION 3
ELIGIBILITY FOR BENEFITS

3.01 Each Participant is eligible to commence recaiving a Disability Benefit under this Plan upon the actual or deemed commencement of benefits
under the relevant Basic Disability Plan. Notwithstanding the above, a Participant may not receive a Disability Benefit if he has not praviously enrolled for
the maximum disability insurance coverage available under the ralevant Basic Disability Plan, However, in all events, a Participant who has not
axperienced a Termination of Employment in connection with a disability shall be entitled to receive a Disahility Benefit hereunder only if the Participant is
disabled within the meaning of Section 409A{a){2){C) of the Code.

3.02 Notwithstanding any other provisicn of the Plan to the contrary, no benefits or no further benefits, as the case may be, shall be paid to a
Participant if the Committee reasonably determines that such Participant has:

(a) to the detriment of the Corporation or any Affiliate, directly or indirectly acquired, without the prior written consent of the Commitéee, an
interast in any other company, firm, association, or organization (other than an investment interest of fess than one percent (1%) in a publicly-
owned company or crganization), the business of which is in direct competition with any business of the Corporation or an Affiliate; or

(b) to the detriment of the Corporation or any Affiliate, directly or indirectly competed with the Corporation or any Affiliate as an owner, employee,
pariner, director or contractor of a business, in a field of business activity in which the Participant has been primarily engaged on behalf of the
Corporation or any Affiliate or in which he has considerable knowledge as a resuit of his employment by the Corporation or any Affiliate,
either for his own benefit or with any persen other than the Corporation or any Affiliate, without the prior written consent of the Committee.

In any case described in this Section 3.02, the Participant shall be given prior written notice that no benefits or no further benefits, as the case
may be, will be paid to such Participant. Such written notice shall specify the particular act(s), or fallures to act, on the basis of which the decision to
terminate benefits has been made,

SECTION 4
DISABILITY BENEFITS

4.01 The Disability Benefit provided by the Plan is designed to provide each Participant with a disability benefit from the Plan and certain other
sources equal to his Disability Benefit as hereinafter specified. Thus, Disability Benefits described heraunder as payable to Participants will be offset by
disability benefits payable from sources outside the Plan (other than benefits payable under the relevant Basic Disability Plan) as specified herein.

4.02 In the event that a Participant has become totally and permanently disabled for the purposes of the relevant Basic Disability Plan, an annual
Disability Benefit shall be payable in monthly installments under this Plan during the same period as disability benefits are actually or deemed paid by the
relevant Basic Disabllity Plan, and the amount of the benefits shal be determined pursuant to the terms Section § of the SEBP as if the provisions thereof
had continued in effect.

SECTION 5
COMMITTEE

5.01 The Board and the Committee severally {(and nct jointly) shall be respensible for the administration of the Plan. Any member of the
Committee may resign at will by notice to the Board or may be removed at any fime {with or without cause) by the Board.
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5.02 The members of the Committee may, from time to time, allocate responsibilities among themselves, and may delegate to any management
committee, employee, director or agent its responsibility to perform any act hereunder, including, without limitation, those matters invelving the exercise of
discretion, provided that such delegation shall be subjact to revecation at any time at its discretion.

5.03 The Committee (and its delegees) shall have the exclusive authority to interpret the provisions of the Plan and construe all of its terms
(including, without limitation, all disputed and uncertain terms), to adopt, amend, and rescind rules and regulations for the administration of the Plan, and
generally to conduct and administer the Plan and to make all determinations in cennection with the Plan as may be necessary or advisable. All such
actions of the Committee shall be conclusive and binding upen all Participants. All deference permitted by law shall be given to such interpretations,
determinations and actians,

5.04 Any action to be taken by the Committee shall be taken by a majerity of its members, either at a meeting or by written instrument approved
by such majority in the absence of a meeting. A written resolution or memorandum signed by one (1) Committee member and the secretary of the
Committee shall be sufficient evidence to any parsen of any action taken pursuant to the Plan.

5.05 Any person, corporation or other entity may serve in more than one (1) fiduciary capacity under the Plan.

SECTION 6
MISCELLANEQUS

6.01 The Board may, in its sole discretion, terminate, suspend or amend this Plan at any time or from time to time, in whole or in part. However,
no termination, suspension or amendment of the Plan may adversely affect a Participant's right to receive or to ¢ontinue to receive a benefit in
accordance with the Plan as in effect on tha date immediately preceding the date of such termination, suspension or amendment.

6.02 Nothing contained herein will confer upon any Participant the right to be retained in the Service of the Corporation or any Affiliate, nor will it
intarfere with the right of the Corporation or any Affiliate to discharge or otherwise deal with Parficipants with respect to matters of employment without
regard to the existence of the Plan,

6.03 (a) The Plan is unfunded, and all payments of benefits hereunder shall be paid solely on a current disbursement basis from the general funds
of the Company, and no special or separate fund shall be established or other segregation of assets made to assure such payments; provided, however ,
that the Corporation reserves the right to purchase insurance contracts, which may or may not be in the name of a Participant, or to establish one or more
trusts to provide alternative sourcas of benefit payments under this Plan.

(b} Participants shall have the status of general unsecured creditors of the Corporation and this Plan constitutes a mere promise by the
Corporation to make benefit payments at the time or times required hereunder. No action taken pursuant to the provisions of the Plan shall create or be
construed to create a trust of any kind, or a fiduciary relationship between the Corporation and any Participant or other person. It is the intention of the
Corporation that this Plan be unfunded for tax purposes and for purposes of Title | of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended
and any trust created by the Corporation in meeting its obligations under the Plan shall meet the requirements necessary to retain such unfunded status.

6.04 All benefits payable under the Plan shall be authorized in writing by the Committee {or by such person or commiittee to whom such
responsibility may have been delegated by the Committee) and shall be communicated In writing to the Participant. Any Participant may apply to the
Committee for payment of any benefit that may be due to him or her under the Plan. Such application shall sef forth the nature of the claim and any
information as the Committee may reasonably request. Upon receipt of any such application, the Cemmittee shall determine whether or not the
Participant is entifled to the benefit hereunder.

If an application for benefits is denied, in whole or in part, the Committee shall give written notice to any Participant of the denial. The notice shall
be given within ninety (90) days after receipt of the Participant’s application unless special circumstances require an extension for processing the claim,
In no event shall such extension exceed a peried of ninety (90) days from the end of such initial review period, The notice will be delivered to the claimant
or sent to the claimant's last known address and will include the specific reason or reasons for the denial, a specific reference or references to pertinent
Plan provisions on which the denial is based, a description of any additianal matarial or information necessary for the claimant to perfect the claim {which
will indicate why such material or information is needed), and an explanation of the Plan's claims review procedure.

If the claimant wishes to appeal the denial of the application for benefits, the claimant or a duly authorized representative must file a written
request with the Committee for a subsequent review. This request must be made by the claimant within sixty (60} days after receiving notice of the
claim’s denial. The claimant or representative may review pertinent documents relating to the claim and its denial, may submif issues and comments in
writing to the Committas. Within sixty (60} days after receipt of such a reguest for review, the Committee shall reconsider the claim, and make a decision
on the merits of the claim, If circumstances require an extens{on of time
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for processing the claim, the sixty (60) day period may be extended but in no event more than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the receipt of a
request for review. The decision on review will be in writing and include specific reasons and references to the pertinent Plan provisions on which the
decision is based. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any more protective rule in 29 C.F.R. section 2560.503-1 shall apply in lieu of the foregoing provisicns
of this Section 6,04 to the extent applicable.

6.05 If any dispute arises under the Plan between the Corporation and a Participant as fo the amount or timing of any benefit payable under the
Flan or as to the persons entifled therete, such dispute shall be resolved by binding arbitration proceedings initiated by either party to the dispute in
accordance with the rules of the American Acbitration Association and the resulis of such proceedings shall be conclusive on both parties and shall not be
subject to judicial review. If the disputed benefits involve the benefits of a Participant who is no longer employed by the Corporation or any Affiliate, the
Corporation shall pay or continue to pay the benefits claimed by the Participant until the results of the arbitration proceedings are determined uniess such
claim is patently without merit; provided, however, that if the results of the arbitration proceedings are adverse to the Participant, then In such event the
recipient of the benefits shall be obligatad to repay the excess henefits te the Corporation. The Corporation expressly acknowledges that the amounts
payable under the Plan are necessary to the livelihood of Participants and their family members and that any refusal or neglect to pay benefits under the
preceding sentence prior to the resolution of any dispute shall be prima facie evidence of bad faith on its part and will be conclusive grounds for an
arbitration award resulting in an immediate lump sum payment to the Participant, of the Participant’s benefits under the Plan then due and payable to him
or her, unless the arbitrator determines that the claim for the disputed benefits was without merit. The amount of such lump sum payment shall be equal
to the then actuarial value of such benefits calculated by utilizing the actuarial assumptions then in use for funding purposes under the Moody's
Corporation Retirement Account, In addition, in the event of any dispute covered by this Section 6.05 the Corporation agrees to pay the entire costs of
any arbitration proceeding or legal proceeding brought hereunder, including the fees and expenses of counsel and pension experts engaged by a
Participant and that such expenses shall be reimbursed promptly upon evidence that such expenses have been incurred without awaiting the outcome of
the arbitration proceedings; provided, however, that such costs and expenses shall be repaid to the Corporation by the recipient of same if it is finally
determined by the arbitrators that the position taken by such person was without merit.

6.06 To the maximum extent permitted by law, no benefit under the Plan shall be assignable or subject in any manner to alienation, sale, transfer,
claims of creditors, pledge, attachment or encumbrances of any kind.

6.07 The Corporation may withhold from any benefit under the Plan an amount sufficient to satisfy its tax withholding obligaticns.

6.08 This Plan and all righis thereunder, and any controversies or disputes arising with respect thereto, shall be governed by and construed and
interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, applicable to agreements made and to be performed entirely within such State, without
regard to conflict of laws provisions thereof that would apply the law of any other jurisdiction.
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EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF MOODY'S CORPORATION
The following is a list of active, majority-owned subsidiaries of Moody's Corporation as of December 31, 2018,

U.S. Entities

Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing Ing. New York
DVBS, Inc. Delaware
GGYAXIS, Inc. Delaware
Lewtan Technolegies, Inc, Massachusetts
MIS Asset Holdings, Inc. Delaware
MIS Quality Management Corp. Delaware
Moody's Advisors Inc. Delaware
Moody's Analytics, Inc. Delaware
Moody's Analytics Knowledge Services (US) Inc, Delaware
Moody's Analytics Knowledge Services Analysis (US) Inc. Delaware
Moody's Analytics Knowledge Services Solutions (US) Inc. Delaware
Moody's Analytics Solutions, LILC Delaware
Moody's Assurance Company, Inc. New York
Moody’s Assureco, Inc. Delaware
Moody's Capital Markets Research, Inc. Delaware
Moody's Group Holdings, Inc. Delaware
Moody's Holdings LLC Delaware
Moody's International LLG Delawara
Moody's Investors Service, Inc. Delaware
Moody’s Overseas Holdings, Inc. Delaware
Moody's Risk Assessments Holdings LLC Delaware
Moody’s Risk Assessments, Inc. Delaware
Moody’s Shared Services, Inc, Delaware
Omega Performance Corporation California
Reis, Inc. Maryland
Reis Services, LLC Maryland
The Moody's Foundation New York
Wellsford Capital Maryland

Non-U.S8. Entities

Administracion de Calificadoras, S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Bureau van Dijk Editions Electroniques 8.A, Switzerland
Bureau van Dijk Editions Electroniques S.A. Belgium
Bureau van Dijk Editions Electroniques S.A.S. France
Bureau van Dijic Edizioni Elettroniche S.p.a Italy
Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing AB Sweden
Burgau van Dijk Electronic Publishing ApS Denmark
Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing B.V. Netherlands
Bureau van Dijk Electrenic Publishing Beijing Co., Lid. China
Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing GmbH Germany
Bureau van Dijk Electrenic Publishing GrmbH Austria
Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong
Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing K.K. Japan
Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing LLC Korea
Burgau van Dijk Electronic Publishing Ltd. UK

Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing Pte. Lid. Singapore
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Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing Pty. Ltd.

Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing S.A. da C.V,

Bureau van Dijk Electronic Publishing Unipessocal Lda.
Bureau van Difk Electronig Publishing S.A, (Pty) Ltd

Bureau van Dijk EP DMCC

Bureau van Dijk Publicagae Eletronica Ltda.

Bureau van Dijk Publicaciones Elecironicas S.A.

Equilibrium (Chile) Holding SpA

Equilibrium Calificadora de Riesgo S.A.

Equilibrium Clasificadora de Riesgo S.A.

Fermat Intemnational SA

Gilliland Gold Young Consulting Inc.

ICRA Lanka Limited

ICRA Limited

ICRA Management Consulting Services Limited

[CRA Nepal Limited

ICRA Online Limited

KIS Pricing, Inc.

Korea Investors Service, Inc.

MA Knowledge Services Research (India) Private Limited
MA KS Solutions {India) Private Limited

Midroog Lid.

MIS Support Center Private Limited

MIS Support Services CR Sociedad de Responsabilidad Ltda.
Moody's (China) Limited

Moody's (Japan) K.K,

Moody's (UK) Limited

Moody's America Latina Ltda,

Moody's Analytics (DIFC) Limited

Moody's Analytics (India) Private Limitad

Moody's Analytics (Malaysia) Sdn.Bhd.

Moody's Analytics (Thailand), Co. 1.td.

Moody's Analytics Australia Pty. Ltd.

Moody's Analytics Canada Inc.

Moody's Analytics Consulting Services (Beijing) Co,, Ltd, (flk/a Copal
Business Consulting (Beijing} Co., Limited)

Moody's Analytics Czech Republic s.r.0,

Moody's Analytics Deutschland GmbH

Moody's Analytics do Brazil Solucoes para Gerenciamente de Risco de
Credito Ltda

Moody's Analytics Global Education (Canada), Inc.

Moody's Analytics Holdings (UK) Limited

Moody's Analytics Hong Kong Ltd.

Moody's Analytics International Licensing Gmbh

Moody’s Analytics Ireland Lid.

Maody’s Analytics Japan K.K.

Moody’s Analytics Knowledge Services (BVI) Limited
Moody’s Analytics Knowledge Services (Hong Kong) Limited
Moody’s Analytics Knowledge Services (India) Private Ltd,
Maoody's Analytics Knowledge Services (Jersey) Limited
Moody’s Analytics Knowledge Services (Mauritius} Limited
Moody’s Analytics Knowledge Services (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
Moody’s Analylics Knowledge Services (UK} Limited
Moody’s Analytics Knowledge Services Costa Rica S.A.
Moody’s Analytics Knowledge Services Holdings (Mauritius) Limited
Moody’s Analylics Knowledge Services Lanka (Private} Limited

Ausfralia
Mexico
Portugal
South Africa
UAE
Brazil
Spain
Chile
Panama
Paru
Belgium
Canada
Sii Lanka
India
India
Nepal
India
Korea
Korea
India
India
Israel
India
Costa Rica
China
Japan
UK
Brazil
UAE
India
Malaysia
Thailand
Australia
Canada

China
Czech Republic
Germany

Brazil
Canada
UK

Hong Kong
Switzerand
Ireland
Japan
British Virgin Islands
Hong Kong
India
Jersey
Mauritius
Singapore
UK

Costa Rica
Mauritius
Sri Lanka
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Moody's Analytics Knowledge Services Research (Mauritius) Limited
Moody's Analytics Korea Co,, Ltd

Moody's Analytics SAS

Moody's Analytics Singapore Pte Lid,

Moody's Analytics Technical Servicas {(Hong Kong) Ltd.
Moody's Analytics Technical Services (UK) Limited
Maoody's Analytics UK Limited

Moody's Asia Pacific Group (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
Moody's Asia Paclfic Ltd,

Moady's Canada Inc.

Moody's Canada LP

Moody's China (B.V.1.} Limited

Moody's Company Holdings (BVI} | Limited
Moody's Company Hong Kong Lid.

Moody's Credit Ratings (China) Limited

Moody’s de Mexico, S.A.de CV,, .C.V

Moody's Deutschland GmbH

Moody's Eastern Europe LL.C

Moody’s EMEA Financing (Cyprus) Ltd

Moody’s EMEA Holdings Limited

Meoody's Equilibrium | (BV1) Holding Corporation
Moody's Equilibrium [l {BVI]) Halding Corporaticn
Moody's Finance (BVI) Limited

Moody's Financing (BVI) Limited

Moody's Financing (Cyprus) Limited

Moody's France SAS

Moody's Group (BVI) Limited

Moody's Group (Holdings) Unlimited

Moody's Group Australia Pty Lid.

Moody's Group Cyprus Ltd.

Moody's Group Deutschland GmbH

Meody's Group Finance Limited

Moody's Group France SAS

Moedy's Group Holdings (BV1) Limited
Moody's Group Japan G.K.

Mcody's Group NL B.V,

Moody's Group UK Ltd.

Moody's Holdings (B.V.1.) Limited
Moody's Holdings Ltd.

Moody's Holdings NL B.V,

Moody's Indonesia (B.V.1) Limited

Moody's Information Consuiting (Shenzhen} Ce. Ltd.
Maoody's International (UK} Limited

Moady's International Holdings {Cyprus) Limited
Moody’s International Holdings (UK} Limited
Moody's Investment Company India Private Limited
Moody's Investors Service (Beljing), Ltd.

Moody’s Investors Service (BVI) Limited

Moody's Investars Service (Karea) Inc.

Moody's Investors Service (Nordics) AB

Maody’s Investors Service Cyprus td.

Maoody's Investors Service EMEA Limited

Moody's Investors Service Espana SA

Moody’s Investors Service Hong Kong Ltd.
Moody's Investors Service India Private Limited
Moody’s Investors Service Limited
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Mauritius

Korea

France

Singapore

Hong Kong

UK

UK

Singapore

Hong Kong

Canada

Canada

Britigh Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Hong Kong

China

Mexico

Germany

Russia

Cyprus

UK

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Cyprus

France

British Virgin Islands
UK

Australia

Cyprus

Germany

UK

France

British Virgin Islands
Japan

Netherlands

UK

British Virgin Islands
UK

Netherlands

British Virgin Islands
China

UK

Cyprus

UK

India

China

British Virgin lslands
Korea

Sweden

Cyprus

UK

Spain

Hong Kong

India

UK




Mocdy's Investors Service Middle East Limited
Moody's Investors Service Pty Limited

Moody's Investors Service Singapore Ple. Lid.
Moody's Investors Service South Africa (Ply) Limited
Moody's Israe!l Holdings Inc.

Moody's italia S.r.l.

Moody's Latin America Agente de Calificacion de Riesgo S.A.

Moody's Latin America Holding Corp.
Moody's Lithuania, UAB

Moody's Mauritius Holdings Ltd.

Moody's Risk Assessments Limited

Moody’s SF Japan K.K.

Moody's Shared Services India Private Ltd
Moody’s Shared Services UK Limited
Moody’s Singapore Pte. Lid.

Moody's South Africa (B.V.1.) Ltd.

Omega Performance Corp./S.C.C. A Rendement Omega
Omega Performance Corporation Pty. Limited
Omega Performance NZ Limited

Omega Performance Pte. Ltd.

Pragati Development Consulting Services Ltd
PT ICRA Indonesia

Yellow Maple Holding B.V.

Yellow Mapie | B.V.

Yellow Maple il B.V.

Yellow Maple Syrup | B.V.

Yellow Maple Syrup Il B.V.

Zephus Lid.

UAE

Australia

Singapore

South Africa

British Virgin Islands
taly

Argentina

Biitish Virgin Islands
Lithuania

Mauritius

UK

Japan

India

UK

Singapore

British Virgin Islands
Canada

Australia

New Zealand
Singapore

India

Indonesia
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands

UK
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EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registared Public Accounting Firm
The Shareholders and Board of Directers of Meody's Corpoeration:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements {Ne. 333-216211, No. 333-170727, No. 333-170753, No. 333-145127,

No. 333-126564, No. 333-103496, No. 333-47848, No. 333-81121, No. 333-68555, No. 333-64653, No. 333-60737, No. 333-57915, No. 333-57267,

No. 333-192333, No. 333-192334, No. 333-228577, No. 333-223724) on Forms S-3 and 5-8 of Moody's Corporation (the Company) of our report dated
February 22, 2019, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Moody's Corporation as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprahensive income, shareholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period
ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively, the consoclidated financial statements), and the effectiveness of internal contrel over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, which report appears in the December 31, 2018 annual report on Form 10-K of Moody's Corporation.

Qur report on the consolidated financial statements refers to a change in the method of accounting for revenue recognition in 2018 due ta the adoption of
Accounting Standard Update {ASU) 2014 09 and all related amendments, which established Accounting Standard Codification {ASC) Topic 608,
Revenue—Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

fs! KPMG LLP

New York, New York
February 22, 2019
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
[, Raymond W, McDaniel, Jr., certify that:

1. ' have reviewed this annual report cn Form 10-K of Moody's Corperation,

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does nct contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the periods covered by this
repor;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial staterments, and other financial infarmation included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flaws of tha registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(g) and 15d-15(e)} and internal control over financial reperting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f} and
15({d)-15{f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures fo be designed under cur supervision, to
ensure that material informaticn relating to the regisirant, including its consoclidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such infernal control over financial reporting, or caused-such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectivenass of the disclosure controls and proceduras, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’'s most recent
fiscal quarter {the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and [ have disclesed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal confrol over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over finandial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or cther employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

fsf RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 22, 2019
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CHIEFFINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Mark Kaye, cerlify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual repert on Form 10-K of Moody’s Corporatien;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such staternents were made, not misleading with respect to the periods covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as cf, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s ather certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintéining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e}) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15{f) and
15{d)~15(f}) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

c)

d

Designed such disclosure controis and procedures, or caused such disclesure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervisicn, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this repert is being prepared,

Designed such internal control over financial reperiing, or caused such internal control ever financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclesura controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure conirols and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the regisirant's internal contrel over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recant
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely tc materially
affect, the registrant’s internal contrel over financial reporting; and

. The redistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of infernal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions}:

a)

k)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invelves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

fsf MARK KAYE

Mark Kaye
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 22, 2019
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADCPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 206 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Mocdy's Cerporation on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 as filed with the SEC on the date
hereof (the “Report™, |, Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13{a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

sl RAYMOND W, MCDANIEL, JR,

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 22, 2019
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Mocdy's Cerporation on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 as filed with the SEC cn the date
hereof (the “Report”), 1, Mark Kaye, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to
the best of my knowledge:

{1} the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respests, the financial condition and results of eperations of the Company,

sl MARK KAYE

Mark Kaye
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 22, 2019

148 MOODY'S 2018 10-K



AMENDMENT NO.2TO MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT

_ THIS AMENDMENT TO MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT (together with any .
appendices or exhibits hereto, this “Amendment”) is made and entered into and is effective as of
the 10" day of Juhe, 2018 by and betwsen the County of Nassau County, a municipal '
corporation having its principal office at 1550 Franklin Avenue, Mineola, New York 11501 {the

“County”), acting for and on behalf of the Office of Management and Budget, having its =
principal office at One West Street, Mineola, New York 11501 (the "Department”), and (i)
Moody's Analytics, Inc.; a Delaware Corporation, located at 7 World Trade Center, 250 =
Greenwich Street, New York New York 10007 (the "Contractor" or “Moody s")

WI TNESSE T H:

WHEREAS the County and Contraotor entered mto a Master Services Agreement
effective date August 27, 2014 (Moody’s Agreement No. 00030278.0) County contract number
CQBU14000007, as amended by Amendment To Master Services Agreement, Colnty
contract number CLBU15000002, executed on behalf of the County on June 19, 2015 (the
“Original Agreemen "), pursuant to which the County and Contractor may agree to Work Orders
for financial services related to analyzing sales tax data provrded by New York State as more -
fully ¢ descnbed therein (the “Serwces ), and

 WHEREAS, the term of the Original Agreement renews automatically for subsequent -
one (1) year terms unless either party provides written netice of its intention not to renew at
least thirty (30) days prior to the then current term (the “Original Term"); and

WHEREAS, the County and the Contractor desire to amend the Original Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the t.,‘:ountgrf and the Contractor desire to enter |nto a third Work Qrder for
periodic State eeles tax analyses and forecastlng pursuant ta the Master Agreement; and

NOW, THEREFORE in conmderatnon of the prom:ses and mutual covenants contarned
in this Amendment tha parttes agree as follows

1. F‘ursuant to Artlcle 2 of the Orlginal Agreement, the County and Contractor

hereby enter into a third Work Qrder (Moody's Agreement No. 00108235.0), attached hereto

as Exhibit B and made a part hereof, for periodrc $tate sales tax analyses and forecastrng
as more fu!ly descnbed in Exhlbrt A;

_ 2 Comglrance with Law, Sectron 10 of the Orlgmal Agreement is hereby amended
to add the following subsections: . _ _

10.2 (d) Prohibition of Gifts _ In accordance with County Executive Order 2- 2018
the Contractor shall not oﬁer give, or agree to glve anything of value to any

firm representing the County (= “County Representatrve ), mol‘udmg members of - - -
a County Representative’s immediate family, in connection with the performance
by such County Representative of duties involving transactions with the
Contractor on behalf of the County, whether such duties are related to this



Agreement or any other County contract or matter. As used herein, “anything of

- value" shall include, but not be limited to, meals, holiday gifts, holiday baskets, -
gift cards, tickets to golf outings, tickets to sporting events, currency of any kind,
or any other gifts, gratuities, favorable opportunities or preferences. For
purposes of this subsection, an immediate family member shall include a spouse,
child, parent, or sibling. The Contractor shall include the provisions of this
subsectson in each subcontract entered into under this Agreement.

(e) |sclosure of Con__f}lcts of lntergg in accordance with County. Executive
Order 2-2018, the Contractor has disclosed as part of its response to the
County's Business History Form, or other disclosure form(s), any and all _
instances where the Contractor employs any spouse, child, or parent of a County -
employee of the agency or department that contracted or procured the goods -
and/or services described under this Agreement, - The Contracter shall have a
continuing obligation, as circumstances arise, to update this disclosure
throughout the term of th|s Agreement

Full Force and Effect. All the terms and condltlons of the Orlgtnal Agreement not.
expressly amended by this Amendment shall remain in full force and effect and govern the
relatlonship of the partles for the term of the Amended Agreement

_ [Remainder of Page lntentionally Left E!lenk.] -



IN WITNESS WH_ER_EOF, the parties have executed this Amendment as of the Effective Date.

MOODY'S ANALYTICS, INC

Byﬁ//%’—;,

‘Name:
 Title: jcr voi Lo Mef'c?ﬁ'/!

_ﬁD_aterl '7 2 /f

NASSAU COUNTY

By.
~ Name:
Title:___ County Executive.
[0 Deputy County Executive
Date; |

" PLEASE EXECUTE IN BLUE INK



' heretn and whlch executed the above'mstrumé'nt end that he or she signed his or her name
thereto by authonty of the board of directors of eaid corporatlon

TNOTARIAL SEAL
. - Mary C, Wood, Notary Public
1 wast Chester Boro, Chaster Cotnty’

COUNTY OF.NASSAU) -

Onthe __ ° dayof

My Commlulon Explres March 18 2020 x

that he or she is the -
The corporation described

in the year 20 before me personally came

to me personally known, who, belng by me duly sworn, did depose

and say that he or she resides in the County of : : that he or she is a Deputy
County Executive of the County of Nassau, the munu:upal corporatlon described herein and
which exscuted the above instrument; and that he or she signed his or her name thereta
pursuant to Section 205 af the County Government Law of Nassau County

“NOTARY PUBLIC
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_MO ODY,S | ' - | Moody’s Agreement No. 00037170.4
ANALYTICS

CHANGE ORDER -
TO EXISTING WORK ORDER

Clieiit Name Nassau Go_unty: ' o Moody's Rep Michael McDatmot

Master-Agreemah( Méstsr Lieénae and Servlées Agmemenl daled Augusﬁt 27, 2014, Moody's Agrennranl No. 0003027&_50 '

| Sublect Work Order | Work Ordsr dated June 10, 2015, Maody's Agreement No, 00037170,0

Change Order Effactive Date | June 10,2018

This CMANGE ORDER (“Change Qrder”) dated as of June 10, 2018 i5 enlered into between the undersigned parties, and changes cestain temms
conlained In the Subjact Work Qrder (as defined helow). This Change Ordar [s supplemenial to and forms part of the operative provisions of the master
agreamant identified below ("Mastar Agreement”) and lncnrpura!ed by referenne Into 1he Subjecl Walk Ordar Faor purposes of this Changa Order,,
Moody's shall refer to the undaralgned Mcody's anﬂty o _ _ - U

WHEREAS. Moudy‘s and Cllent are pames to Subjeci Work Order Identified abova, which inoorporates the prowslons of o

the Master Agreernent by refarence. and -

WHEREAS, Client has requested that Mocdy 5 amend lhe scopa of the proiecl the Services o ba randered andfnr the
Deliverablas to be delivered undar the Subject Work Order, and Moody's has agreed to such amendmenis on the terms and
i condiﬁons set fofth in this Change Order; and :

NOW THEREFORE, in mnsndemﬂon of the loragolng premises, and the mulual covenants and agraemenln sat forlh
herein, the parties herato agree as follows:

1. CHANGES TO FEES AND PAYMENT SCHEDULE.

1.1, The Fes and Paymenl Schedule shall adhare to the followlng schedule heginnlng on the Change Qt’dar Effective Dale

YEAR __i - - [ ANNUAL FEE - QUARTERLY PAYMENT
B I — ";'-:$51.440.oq | ~[$15,360.00

00 |36328000 | 51582000

220 |517580 | 31620400

2. TERM; TERMINATION

2.1. Unless eariier term!nated as provided hereunder this Change Order shall ba in force and effect beginnlng on the
Change Order Effective Date and continuing for three consecutive one year periods, (the ‘Terrn”)

. 2.2, Either party may terminate the Change Order by providlng the other notlca of such termination In wrifing, at least
thirty {30) days prior to the expiration of the then-current year of the Term. Upon such notice, the Work Order shall - -
terminate upon the expiration of the then-current year of the Term. In the event of a conflict between the terms of
this Work Order, the Master Agreement, and Amendment No. 2 To Master Services Agreemant {"Amendment 2)
the terms of Amendment 2 shall prevail.

2.3. For the avoidance of daubt, this Work Order expires on June 8, 2021 and does not automahcally rensw,

e e maket s e m e




M O 0 DY,S | o . | Moody's Agreement N.o. 000371704
ANALYTICS ' . '

3. GENERAL

3.1. Except as otherwlse amended hereby, the Master Agreement and Subject Work Ordéé shall remain in full force and effect,
Capitalized terms nol otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings pravided to such tems in the Master Agreement and/ar

Subject Work Order. This Change Order may be exacuted |n countasparts, each of which shal be deemed an oﬁglnal including

a facsimile, and all of which logelher shall ba considered ane and the same Agreemem

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the p'érties hereto have caqsed this C._:hange Order to be exacuted by their duly authorized representatives,

SIGNED BY: e I ACCEPTED BY: -
. Nassau County o _ - —Moody's Analytics, Inc. . -

Slgnatura;

Print Name:

.:;I'i_tI_a: o o :'Tlil'e:”' o G/C«://OK &//{cr(fdfi
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CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

DATE(MMW/DD/YYYY)
07/02/2018

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NC RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HCOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY CR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER({S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER,

| IMPORTANT: If the certiiicate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. If

b
SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorssment. A statement on this. 5.":_’
certiflcate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s). £
PRODUGER ﬁgmé‘.gcr . §
Aon Risk Sservices Northeast, Inc. " BHONE FAX e
New York Nv office (A/C. No, Exty; (866) 283-7122 TAG. Ho,y; (800) 363-0105 g
one Liberty Plaza E-MAIL ]
165 Broidway, Suite 3201 ADCRESS: k=
New York NY 10006 usA INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #
INSURED INSURER A: I1linois National Insurance Co 23817
Moody's Analytics Inc. INSURER B: Endurance American Insurance Company 10641
7 world Trade Center -
250 Greenwich Street INSURER €: sompo America Insurance Company 11126
New York Ny 10007 usA INSURER D: The Travelers Indemnity Co. 25658
INSURER E:
INSURER F:
COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 570077321019 REVISION NUMBER:
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN 1S SUBJECT TG ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIQONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS. Limits shown are as requested
s TYPE OF INSURANCE Nsp) oo POLICY NUMBER %—mg | Eﬂﬁ}.{%ﬂ%@, LIMITS
B | X | COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY GGFLU01320/101 0/2020] EACH OGCURRENCE $1,000,000
DAMAGE 10 RENTED
| CLAIME-MADE OCCUR PREMISES (Ea occurrence) $1,000, 000
MED EXP {Any one person) $10,000
Bl PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $1,000,000| 2
— o
| GEN'LAGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $2,000,000] &
POLICY |:| Jpgg.; LOC PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $2,000,000 g
QTHER: 2
AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT hl
(Ea aecident) o
) ANy AUTO BODILY INJURY ( Per porson) 2
| ownED i%'ﬂrg‘;ULEﬂ BODILY INJURY (Per accklen) B
|——| AUTCS ONLY y . PROPERTY DAMAGE 3
L Lon e AUTS ONLY (Por aceidont) £
@
D | x| uMBRELLALIAB | X | oCCUR ZUP10TGAZ4319NF 06/30/20019]06/ 3072026 acH OCCURRENCE $5,000,000] ©
| || ; . <15
EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS MADE SIR applies per policy terps & condifions A GOREOATE $5,000,000
pED | X [RETENTION
C | WORKERS COMPENSATION AND WDSS1001B0 06/30/2019[06/30/2020] y | PER STATUTE | |o1-H.
EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY YIN A0S {Deductible) =
c gl;\';chngingaTB%FF{{IEI;&ELND%%;EXECUTIVE N | noa WCRS105380 06/30,/2019|06/30/2020 E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $1, 000,000
{Mandatory in NH) NY & WI (Retro) E.L, DISEASE-EA EMPLOYEE $1,000,000
g gsc'gle;?%ﬁ uo"Fd eOrF'ERATIONS below EL, DISEASE-POLICY LIMIT $1,000,000
A | ESO-MPL-Primary 019787700 09/30/2018{09/307/2019| Aggregate $5,000,000
Claims Made
SIR applies per policy terps & conditions

DESCRIPTICN OF OPERATIONS f LOGATIONS / VEHICLES JACORD 101, Additlonal Remarks Schedule, may be attached If more space is required)
Nassau County, NY is included as Additional Insured in accordance with the policy provisions of the general Tiability policy.

CERTIFICATE HOLRDER

CANCELLATION

Nassau County,
1 west Street

NY

Mineola Ny 11501-4813 usa

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED FOLICIES BE CANCELLEC BEFORE THE
EXPIRATION DATE THEREQF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Aers Dot S erios Noatboast s

=
=
e
=
&
=
&
T
5
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Contract ID#  CQBU14000007 Department; OMB

Contract Details SERVICE:
_—NIFS ID # CQBU14000007 . _ NIFS Entry Date: 3/29/2014 Term: §/18/2014 — 12/31/2014
New '@Renewal 1) Mandated Program: ' Yes No ¥
e —
Amendment 2) Comptroller Approval Form Attached: Yes j2 | No
Time Extension 3) CSEA Agreement § 32 Compliance Attached: Yes No
Addl, Funds 4) Vendor Ownership & Mgmt. Disclosure Attached: | Yes No
ﬁﬁnsl(;t Resolution ' 5) Insurance Required (52'(,@3’ o LFEE }W ‘4‘7 A)’ Yes No
/A

Agency Information

Vendor County Department
Mame Venclor 1D# Departiment Conkast
Moody's Analyties, Tnc. 13-3851829 Eric Naughton
Adldrass Contnet Petson Adlress
‘7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich St. | Michael McDermott } West Strest

New York, NY 10007 Mineola, NY 11501

Phone Phone
508-928-1410 516571 0528
DATE DEPARTMENT Internal Verification Al SIGNATURE Leg. Approval
Ree"d, ® ! iy ¥ Required
NIFS Entry (Dept)
Department NIFS dppvl Dept. Head) [l /zq%,? M
Contractor Reglstered _
. Yes[ ] No et
NIFS dpproval v m Al
OoMB i (Y 1\ % g . Not required if
(Contracror Registered) g "Ul ijr\@{ i blanket resolution

S

1
. . Cd RE & Insurance [V V)
Bff@j% ;'LCoumy Attorney Verifediion " O V/EZY g / "l d

,“_COllllty Attnméy Cd Approve! as fo form R 3%*9/ % W"‘""—. Yes[ ] Ne ﬂ
= - 1 -

L] : ! (
Yegislative Affairs gz o Original Conirdct to [:] /

£ M .
County Attornay NIFS dpproval ‘%%V M /’0"‘“ .
L/

L L | 3l

Compiroller NIFS dpprovel

. Notarization
County Executive Filed with Clerk of the Leg. [ 7/;) ] ’ | j M

PR5254 (1/06)



Contract ID# CQBU14000007 Department: OMB

Contract Summary

Description:
The Contractor will provide the County and The Office of Management & Budget (“OMB”) with research and analytical services related to
the County’s sajes tax receépds.

Purpose:

The RFQ was Issued under the County’s Streamlined Competitive Proposal Process. The Streamlined process was used since this was a time-
sensitive situatlon where the service provider had to be retained quickly, The County’s 2014 sales tax recelpts are down significantly
compared to last year’s veceipts. Part of the decline in 2014 may be attributable to the increase in 2013 recelpts due te Superstorm Sandy.
However, the growth in the County’s 2014 sales tax recelpts versus 2012, which would eliminate the impact of Superstorm Sandy, Is
significantly below that of neighboring counties. Since there are ne apparent explanations for this disparity, the County is In the process of
conducting a detailed analysis of sales tax data recelved fram New Yark State (the “State™) as part of the 2013 Budget process. The selected
Contractor will assist the County in this process.

Methad of Procurement:
Request for Qualifications and Cost Proposal

Procurenent History:

On July 22, 2014 the County issued a Request for Qualifications and Cost Proposal (RFQ) for research and analytical services for sales tax
recelpts. Proposals were due on August 4, 2014, The RFQ was sent to the following firms; Moody’s Analytics, Inc.; APT Economic
Consulting, Inc. (APT); Dr, Martin R. Cantor, CPA; Dr. Thomas Conoscenti & Associates; and Long Island Financial Management Services.
Moody’s Analytics and APT submitted proposals. The other firms decided not to submit a proposal, The County also contacted Dr. Irwin
Kellner, but he was not inferested in recelving the RFQ.

An Evaluation Committee was formed, consisting of the following members: Tim Sullivan, Deputy County Executive for Finance; Roseann
D*Alleva, Acting Budget Director; Beaumont Jefferson, County Treasurer; and Steven Conkling, Debt Manager, Based on the review of the
submitted proposals, the Committee selected Moody’s Analytics because of its corporate depth and experience working with state and locsl
governments.

Description of General Provisions:
Services to be provided may include, but are not limited to:
- Working with the County and its financial advisor in analyzing sales tax data provided by the State.

- Analyzing the Staie’s sales tax vendor file and providing the County with an explanation of significant variances by the 10
largest sectors.

< Analyzing the State’s sales tax vendor file and providing the County with a list of all unexplained significant variances {e.g. a
significant decrease In a vendeor's sales tax that cannot be explalned),

- Assisting the County in discnssions with the State regarding questions the County may have on the accaracy of sales trx receipts.

- Providing the County with n final report stating conclusions, To the extent possible, the report should include a breakdown
comparing Nassau County with surcounding countles (e.g. Sutfolk, Westchester and Rockland) and New York City, The report
will be doe by September 5, 2014,

Impact on Funding / Price Analysis:
The Contractor shall be paid at an hourly rate, The maximum amount to be paid to the Contractor as full consideration for the Contractor’s
scope of work shall not exeeed Twenty-fouy Thousand, Seven Hundred Fifty Dollars ($24,750.00).

Change in Contract from Prior Procurement:
NA

Recommendation: (approve as submltted)
Approve as snbmiited

PR5254 (1/06)



Contract ID#  CQBU140000(7

Advisement Information

Department: OMB

BUDGET CODES FUNDING SOURCE AMOUNT LINE INDEX/OBJECT CODE AMOUNT
Fund: GEN Revenue Contract || 1 BUGEN100(/DES00 $24,750
Control: 10 County $ 24,750 . 2 $
Resp: 1000 Federal s ' 3 AN ) Ve $
Objeet: DE State % soitr ~any | L/ s> &a9/if |
Transaction: 560 Capital $ 5 . NS fomend — %

QOther Grant 3 g | I
RENEWAL TOTAL | $24,750 i TOTAL | $24,750
%, Increase
Yo Decrease Document Prepared By: - D.a}e: . Ny
NIFS Certifleniion Complroller C;artlﬂcatinn County E&Qﬂive Approval

| gartify thatt this dooument was aceepted Inlo NIFS,

i N |

Ieartify that &n unancumbarad hatange sufficiont to covar this cantract is
prosant in the appropriafion t¢ be eharged,

Name

bl 2., o

=

Date

S/ s ¥

Date

Dale

[d

3/ )1y

I #:

PR5254 (1/06)
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Moobpy’s

AMALYTICS
Moody's Agreement No. 00030278.0
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT
This MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT {“Master Agreetnent” or "Agresment"} [s entered into as of August

27, 2014 (“Effective Date"} by and between the following parties:

A Nassau County {"Client" or "County"}, a municipal corporation, located at 1550 Franklln Avenue,
Mineola, New York 11501, acting on behalf of the County Department of Office of Management and Budget
{"Department"), having iis principal office at One Waest Street, Mineola, New York 11501; and

B. Moody's Analytics, Inc. ("Moody's" or *Contractor”}, a Delaware corporation, located at 7 World
Trade Centsr, 260 Greenwich Street, New York, NY 10007

WHEREAS, Mocdy's offers and provides customized modsling, technical, financial and other consulting
services through Its employess, contractors and consultants ("Consulting Services™); and

WHEREAS, Mocdy's likewise offers and provides treining and educational services including with respect to
analyzing and determining credit risk and usage of its products (“Training Services™,

WHEREAS, Clisnt desires from time to time to engage Moody's to paerform certain Consulting Services
andfor Training Services for Client; and '

WHEREAS, Moody's desires to serform such Consulting Servicss andfor Training Servicas for Client.

NOW THEREFORE, In consideration cof the foregolng premises, and the mutual covenants and agreements
set forth herain, the patties hereto agrae as follows:

1, DEEINITIONS

"Ciient Group Company” maans Ciient and any other legal entity which sither Controls, is under the Conirol
of, or {s under commen Cantrol with, the Client,

"Gonfidential Information” means models, sales projections, financial data, product deseriptions, potential
product development ideas, database descriptions, business workflow, and business informatlon (including, without
limitation, computer programs, software, databasas, names and expertise of employeas, suppliers, and consuitants,
customer lists, algorithms, know-how, forrrulas, processes, ideas, inventions (whather patentable or not), schematics
and other technical, business, financial, customar and product development plans, forecasts, strategies and
information) which are confidential, nonpublic, competitively sensitive, private, andfor propristary and which are
disclosed by one party to the other in connection with the Services.

"Cantrol* shali mean (i) the direct or indirect ownership by a person or entity of at least fifty percent {50%) of
the stock or other securities or Interasts entitled to vote for the election of the board of directors or other governing
body of anather entity, or (i} the direct or indirect ownarship by g person or entity of at least fifty percent (80%) of the
aqulity or profits interest in ancther entity.

“Dellverableis)’ maans any reports, models, documants, software or other maferials that are specifically
developed by Moody's and provided to Client pursuant to the provision of Services.

*intellactual Properly” means, with respect to a party, all forms of ntallectual property rights and protections
held by such party and may include without limitation all fght, title and (nterest arising under U.5. common and
stahiory law, and laws of other countries in and to all (a) patents and all filed, pending or paotential appiications for
patents, including any relssue, reexamination, division, continuatlon or continuation-In-part applications throughout
the world now or hereafter filed; (b} trade secret rights and equivalent rights; (o) copyrights, other literary. property or
authors rights, whether or ot protected by copyright er as a mask worls, and {d) proprietary indicia, trademarks, tiade
rames, symbols, domain names, URL's, logos and/or brand names,

“Mogdy’s Group Company” means Moody's and any carporation or other legal entity which either Controls,
is under the Control of, or is undet commion Control with, Moody's, but spacifically excluding its ulimate parant
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company, Moody's Corporation, and any afflliated company engaged in credit rating activities that is part of the
Moedy's Investors Servica business division of Moody's Corporation,

“Services" means tha Consuling Services and Tralning Servicas providad by Moody's under this Mastar
Agreement.

“Work Order" means a documant executed by Moody's Group Company and & Client Group Company that
references this Master Agreement and sets forth the Services to be provided to such Client Group Company, the fees
payable therefor, and any other terms and conditions relating to such Services,

2, CONTRACTUAL FRANMEWORK; SCOPE OF SERVICES

2.1 This Master Agreement creates a contractual framework under which any Client Group Company may crder
Services to ba supplied by a Moody’s Group Company. ’

2.2 At any time beginning on the Effective Date, a Cllent Group Company may request to receive Services from
a Moody's Group Company on the terms set forth in this Master Agreement. Whenever a Client Group Gompeany
wishes to order Services hersunder it shall notify the relevant Mcody's Group Company, and the parties will negotiate
the terms relating to such order. Upon signature of a Work Order by the duly authorized slgnatories of the Moody's
Group Company and the Client Grotp Company, a new agreemant shall be formed between the signing parties
whereby: (I} the terms cf this Master Agreemsant shall be Incorporated Into the Work Order as if written out Jn full
tharain; and (i) any reference In this Master Agreement to “Moody's" for purposes of such Work Order shall be
deemad fo refor to the relevant contracting Moody's Group Company, and (i} any reference in this Master
Agraement to "Client” for purposes of such Work Order shall be deemed to refer to the relevant contracting Client
Group Company.

2.3 Moady's agrees to perform Services for Client, on a task by task basls, subject to the terms and conditions
of this. Master Agreement and any Work Order, Each Work Order shall set forth a definition of the Services to be
provided by Moody's, a description of any Deliverables o be provided by Moody's, an estimated work schaduls, a
payment schedule, additional ferms and conditions, if any, applicable to a particular engagement, and such other
datails as the parties deem appropriate. Client and Moody's agree that any work schedules set forih In the Waork
Order are the estimated beginning and complstion dates for the tasks and activities to be performed hersunder and
may be revised by the partles during the term of any engagement, Moody's agrees to use reasonable efforts to meet
such dates.

24 Each party shall desighate a representative who shall be the principal point of contact betwean the parties
for aill matters relating to a Work Order {the “Prciect Manager”). Each Work Order shall contain an inltial designation
of a Project Manager for each party. A party may designate a new Project Manager by written notice to the other
party.

25 Each party may request changes to the Work Order. If a party requasts any such change, Moody's shall
notify Client if It believas that an adjustment in the fees to be paid to Moody’s with respect to the applicable Work
Ordar, or an adjustment to the applicable Schedule, is required. The parties shal! then negotiate in goed faith a
reagonable and equitable modification of tha Work Order, and execute & change order containing such provisions,
Moody's shall continue fo perferm pursuant to the existing Work Order, and neither party shall be bound by any
change requested by the other party, until such change has been accapted in writing by the other party.

26 Client agrees to cooperate with Moody's in the performance of the Services heraunder, including, without
limitation, providing Mcody's with reascnable facilities and complete, accurate, and timely access to data, information
and personnel of Client, and Client ackhowledges and agrees that Moody's performance is dependent upon the
timely and effective satisfaction of Client's responsibiiities hereunder, timely declsions and approvals of Client's work
in connection with the Services. In the event of delays caused by Client, milestone dates may bs accordingly
adjusted and additional Services requirad may be billed at Moody's standard rates on 4 time and materials basis.
Any additional obligations of Client in connection with a particular engagement shall be set forth In the applicable
Work Order.
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3 MOODY'S COMPENSATION
3.1 During the term of this Mastar Agreement, Moody’s shall perform the Servicas In exchange for payment of

the fees specified in the relevant Work Order{s), and shall lnvaice Cllent for such Services at the commencement of
the pravision of Services or &s spacified in such Work Order(s). Client further agraes to relmburse Moody's for travel
(Including but not limited to air and ground transportation, lodging, and meals), phonae, postage, and other business
axpenses directly incurred in connection with providing such Services. Unless specified otherwise on a Work Order,
payment shail be due in all cases within thirty (30) days of the date of the relevant invoice Issusd by Moody's, subject
to Moody's compliance with Client's voucher and other bill paying requirements as may be specified on the relavant
Work Order.

3.2 In the event of late payment by Client, Moody’s may (without prejudice to any other right of remedy it may
have} impose a finance charge on all amounts past due equal to the lesser of one and one half percent (1-1/2%) par
manth or the maximum allowed by law and charge Client for Moody’'s reasonable expenses of collection thereof,
inciuding but not limited to, attorneys' and experts’ fees and court costs.

3.3 The fees set forth hersin do not include any foreign, faderal, state or local gales, use or other similar taxes,
tariffs or dufies, however dassignated, levied against the sale, licensing, dellvery or usa of the compeonents and
products provided under this Master Agreement. Client shall pay, or reimburea Moody's for all such taxes: provided,
however, that Clignt shall not be liabla for any taxes based on Moody's hetincome,

4, OWNERSHIP OF DELIVERABLES; NON-EXGLUSIVE l\ll-ATURE OF CONSULTING SERVICES

4.1 Upon full and %inal payment of the fees set forth on the relevant Work QOrder, Cllent shall own all written
raports, analyses, presentations, documents, papers and other tangible documenis delivered by Moody's to Clisnt In
the performance of the Services, exclusive of any Intelleciual Property embodied thereln. Glient shall also own the
Inteflectual Property in any Deliverables supplled by Mocdy's that are specifically identified in a Work Order as "Cllent
Property" to be owned by Client. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise agreed upon between the parties
and set fotth in writing on the relevant Work Order, Cliant agrees that the Deliverables are for Client's own Intarnal
use and information, and Client agrees that it shall not further distribute, disclose, sall, or llcense Deliverabies to third
parties. Moody's reserves all other rights in the Deliverables, and shali retain ownership of alt Inteliectual Property
embodied In the Deliverables other than the Client Progerty.

4.2 Client shall obtain no rights In the Moody's Matsrials (as defined below) other than those limited, express
license rights granted under this Master Agresment. To the extent that any of the Moody's Materials are embodiad in
or incorporated fnto the Deliverables, and effactive upon full and final payment by Client for the relevant Services or
Deliverables requirad by a Work Order, Moody's hereby grants to Gllent, subject to the terms and conditions of this
Master Agreement (including any applicable Work Ordar), a royalty-free, non-exclusive, nontransferable, internal use
object code (as applicabla) ficense to use such Moody's Materials sofely in connection with Client's use of the
Deliverablas. Except as otherwise set forth In the Worlk Order, tha term of such license is perpetual, unless the
Dellverables consist of sofiware customizations to be used in connaction with other products licensed separately to
Client by Moody's on a subsaription or Emited tanm basis, in which case the licanhss shall be for such limited term or
subscription perlod. Nothing in this section shall bs deemed to permit Client to disclose, provide access to,
sublicense, disassemble, decompile, reverse engineer, modify, create derlvative works of, or transfer any of Moody's.
Materials to a subsidiary, affiliate, ar third party without the prior, written consent of Moody's.

4.3 Client acknowladges that Moedy's provides consulting and development services to other dlients and agrees
that nothing In this Master Agreement shall be deemed or construed to prevent Moody's from carrying on such
business or developlng for itself or othars materials that are competitive with Client or Cllent's products or services.
I particular, Client agrees that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth hereln: (i) Moody's shall have the
right to retain & copy of each of the Dellvarables for Its racords; (I} as part of Moody's provislon of the Services
heraunder, Moody's may utillze propristary works of authorship, pre-existing or otherwise, including models and
madeling technlques, data, scores, indices, computer programs, methodologies, scorscards, templates, flowcharts,
architectura designs, focls, specifications, drawlngs, sketches, models, samples, records and documentation, as well
as copyrights, trademarks, service marks, Ideas, concapts, know-how, technigues, knowledge or data, and any
derlvatives thareof, which have been originated, devsloped or purchased by a Moody's Group Corvipany ar a thiyd
party retained by a Moody's Group Company (ali of the foregoing, collectively, the "Moody's Materlals"); (i) the
Moody's Materlals shall include any Improvements thereta or new works of autharshlp creatad during the provision of
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Services hersunder; and (iv} any and all of the Mocdy's Materlals and Moody's administiative communications,
records, flles and working papers relating to the Services shall remaln the sole and exclusive property of Moody's,

6. LIMITED WARRANTIES AND WARRANTY DISCLAIMER,

51 In accordance with "Executory Clause" hersundar, eash party reprasents and warrants to the other that (j)
it has the right and power to enter Into and fully perform the cbligations it has undertaken in this Master Agreement;
(i} it is not under any obligations, contractual or otherwlse, to any other entity that might conflict, Interfare, or be
inconsistent with any of the provisions cf this Master Agreement; and {fii) it shall comply In all material respects with
all applicabla laws, rules and regutations necsssary for i to perform its obligations under this Master Agresment.

5.2 Client represents and warrants that any materals, Information or other Input provided or made accassible to
Moody’s under this Master Agreement do net infringe the Intallactual Property rights of any third party.

53 Moody’s represents and warrants that the Services and Moody's contributions to the Deliverables do not
infringe the intellactual Property rights of any third party when used by Cllent as permitted hereunder, axcept to the
extent that any such Infringement arlses cut of Cllent's breach of warranty under Saction 5.2,

5.4 Moody's obtains all information furnished pursuant ' this Master Agreement from sources believed by it fo
be acourate and isllabla, Cllent exprassly agraes that (i) any ctedlt ratings, probabllities of default, scores, rankings,
models, forecasts, indices, or other opinicns provided in connetfion with the Services andfor Deliverables are, and
will be construed sclely as, statements of opinion and ndt statements of fact as to sredit worthiness or
recommendations regarding credit decisions or declslons to purchase, hold or sell any securities; (i) each rating,
probability of default, score, ranking, model, forecast, Indax, or other opinlon will be weighed solely as ohe factor in
any Investment or cradit dacision made by or on behalf of Client; and {jii) Client will accordingly meka is own study
and evaluation of each cradit decision or security, and of each lssuer and guarantor of, and each provider of credit
support for, each security or credit that it may consider purchasing, holding, selling, or providing. Because of the
possaibliity of human and mechanical error as well as other factors, all information, Services, and Deliverables are
provided “as 18" without warranty of any kind, except as set forth in Section 5,3 above,

6.6 Without limiting the foregoing, the parties understand and agree that Moody's {i) shall not use any personnel
invalved in the assignment of credit ratings i its performance pursuant to this Master Agreement, and (i§) shall use all
reasonable measures to avoid disclesing any Confidential Information of Client it recelves in performing its obligations
hereunder to any perscnnal involved in the assignment of credit ratings {whather employed by Moody's or any of ifs
gfflllatas), and (lil) shall not and shall cause ts affiliates not to use any such information in connection with issuing any
cradit rating or any credit ratings process.

56 Moady's will nat assist Client In structuring any Securities (as defined below). Client recognizes and agress
that Macdy's i not acting as a financlal advisor or providing investment advice In providing the Services, and nelther
the Sarvices nor any Delivarebles are a recommendation to buy, hold or sell any struciured or corporate debt
ohligations, collateralizad debt chligations, flxed Incoms funds/portfolios, loans or other financial Instruments (sach a
"Securlty” and togather, "Securltiss”). Client agrees that neither Moody’s nor Client intends to create a fiduclary
relationship between Mcody's and Client.  Client further acknowledges that Moody's does not intend or agrea to be
named as an “expert’ under applicable Securities laws.

5.7 SECTIONS 5.1 AND 5.3 SET FORTH MOODY'S ONLY WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS WITH
RESPECT 7O THE SERVICES, DELIVERABLES OR ANY RELATED INFORMATION. MOODY'S MAKES NO
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, TO CHENT OR ANY OTHER PERSON
CR ENTITY AS TO THE ACCURACY, RESULTS, TIMELINESS, COMPLETENESS, MERCHANTABILITY QR
FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURRPOSE OF THE SERVICES, DELIVERABLES OR ANY INFORMATION
PROVIDED IN CONNECTION THEREWITH. Client agrées and acknowledges that ne oral or written information or
advice given by Moody's or any of s smployees or agents shall constifuie a representation or a warranty unless such
infarmation or advice is incarporated info this Master Agreament by a written agreemant.

8, TERMINATION

6.1 Unlass earller terminatad as provided hereunder, this Master Agreement shall be In full forge and effact for
an Initlal term of one year frem the Effective Date and shall be renewed thereafter automatically for subsequent one
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year terms unless either patty providas written notice of its Intantion not to renew at Ieast thirty (30) days prior to end
of the then-current terim.

6.2 This Master Agreement as a standalone framework agreement may be ferminated (i) for any reason by the
County upen thirty (30) days' written hotice to the Contractor, (li) for “Cause” by tha County immediately upen the
receipt by the Contractor of written notice of termination, (i} upon mutual written Agreement of the County and the
Contractor, and (iv) In accordance with any other provisions of this Agreement expressly addressing termination.

(a) As used in this Agreement the word "Cause” Includes: {i) a materlal breach of this Agreement not cured in
accordance with Sectlon 6.3, below, (i} the fallure to obtain and maintain in full force and effect all Approvals required
for the services desctibed In this Agreement to be legally and professionally rendered; and (i) the termination or
Impending termination of federal or state funding for the services to be provided under this Agreemsnt.

(v} By the Contractor, This Agreement may be terminated by the Contractor if performance becomes impracticable
through ro fault of the Ceontractor, whera the impracticability relates fo the Contractor's ability to peromm its
obligations and not to a judgment as to convanianca or the desirabllity of continusd performance. Termination under
this subsection shall be effecied by the Contractor dejivering to the commissioner or other head of the Department
{the “Commissloner"), st least sixty (60) days prior to tha termination date (or a shorter perlod if sixty days’ notice is
impossible), a notice stating (I} that the Coniractor is terminating this Agreement in accordance with this subsection,
(i) the date as of which this Agreement will terminate, and (i) the facts giving rlse to the Contractor's right to
tarminate under this subsaction. A copy of the netice given to the Commissioner shall be given to the Deputy County
Exacutive who oversess the agministration of the Depadment_(the "Applicable DCE"} on the same day that notice Is
given to the Commissionar,

{c} In addition, this Master Agreement or any Worlc Otder heteunder may be terminated by elther party (i) I
the other parfy breaches any material term or condition of this Master Agreement, upon thirty (30) days' pricr written
notice theraof from the non-breaching party; provided, that the braaching party shall have the opportunity to curs sald
breach o the reasonable satisfaction of the non-breaching party within such thirty {30) day peried, (i) Immediately
upan written notice thereof if the other party ceases to function as a going concern or t¢ conduct operations in the
hormal esurse of business, or (iil) immediately and without need for wrltten notice or other action if the other party has
a petition or similar action filed by or against It under any applicable bankrupicy or insolvency laws (or their
equivalents) which petifion o action has not been dismissed or set aside within sixty (60} days of filing.

7. INDEMNIFICATION.

7.1 Moody's shall (i} defend, at its expense, any third party acfion, suit or proceeding brought against Client, its
permitted sliccessors and assigns, and each of their respeciive officers, diractors, amployees, legal represantafives,
angt agants, (together, the "Client Indemnified Parties®) to the extent such action, suit or proceeding Is based upon an
allagation that the Dellverables as provided to Client by Moody's and as used by Client in compliance with the tems
of the Mastar Agreament Infinge any valid patent or copyright, or misappropriate a frade secret of a third party, and
(il} will pay any damages, labilittes or costs {(excluding consequential and exemplary damages) finally awarded
against the Cllant Indemnified Parties pursuant to any such action, suit or proceeding, or agreed to by Moedy's as
gettloment ar compromise; provided howaver, that (A} Client shall have promptly provided Moody's with reasonabls
written notice of any relevant actions, sults, proceedings or claims or demands related thereto and regsonable
eooperatlan, information, and assistance in connection therswlth; and (B) Moody's shall have sole confrol and
authority with respect to the defense, settlement, or compromise thersof, provided that Client's teascnable consent
to any such seiflement or compromise shall be required unfess it includes a full release of llabillty for all the Client
Indemnifiad Partias,

7.2 In the event that any Dellverable becomes, or in Moody's apinion is likely to bacome, the subject of a
claimad Intellectual property Infringement or other clalm, Moody’s may, at Its option, (I} procure for Clisnt the right to
contifua using the affected Deliverable; or (i} replace or modify such Defiverable to be non-Infringing, without
incurring a material diminution in performance or function; or {iii) if neither of the foregoing s, In Mocdy's Judgmeant,
available on reasonably commerclal terms, Moody's may terminate the grant to Client of rights In the affected
Deliverabte upon notice to Cllent, In which case Cllent shall cease use of and refurn all copies of the Deliverables and
related matetials, and Moody's shall refund to Cliant the portion of the fees paid by Client that are attributable to the
returnad Deliverable.
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7.3 In ho event will Moody's have any Hability o indemnificalon obligation under thls Master Agreement for any
claim or action to the extent the claim or action is caused by, or results from: {i) the combination or use of
Deliverakles with non-Moody's software, services or data, if such claim or action would have been avoided hy the
non-combined or exclusive use of the Deliverablas, (i) modificafion of the Deliverables by anyone other than Moody's
if such clalm or action would have heen avolded by use of the unmodifisd Deliverables, (iil) Client contlinulng the
allegedly Infringing activity after reasonable notification or after recaiving modifications that would have avoided the
alleged infringemeant, (Iv) use of the Deliverakles. [n & manner that Is not authorized by this Master Agreemant.; or (v)
Client's breach of Section 5,2,

1.4 Except to the extent that Moody's is okligated fo indemnify the Client Indemnified Parties under Sactlon 7.1,
Clisnt shalt inderanify, dafend, and hold harmless Moody's, its successors and assigns, and sach of their respective
officers, diractors, smployees, sharsholders, legal representatives, and agents (the “Moody's Indemnlfled Parties"),
from and against any damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable aftornays’ and professionats’
fees and court costs) drising out of any third party claims based on Client's use or dissemination of the Services or
Deliverables; provided however, that {i) Moody's shall have pramptly provided Client with written notice thersof and
reagonable cooperation, information, and assistance i cohnection therewith; and (i) Client shall have sole control
and auihority with raspact to the defense, seitlement, or compromise thereof, provided that Moody's reasonable
consent to any such settlement or compromise shall be required unless it includes a full release of lfability for all the
Moody's Indemnified Parties, provided further that Client shall not be responsible for any damages, fiabilities, costs
and axpensss fo the extent arising out of Moody's fraugi willful misconduct or any other liability that cannaot be
excluded as a matter of law. Moody's shall be entitlad, atits own expense, to participats in the defense of any claim
subject to this Section 7.4 through counsel of its own chccsmg. and Client shall provide Moody's with reasonzble
cooperation and assistance in such defense,

7.5 The defance and indemnification described in this Section 7 and Moody's abligations under the provisions of
this Section 7 are Moody's exclusive liability and the Client Indemnified Parties’ exclusive remedy for glaims of an
intellectual property infringemant or other third party claim as set forth above based upon or related to any materials
provided by Moody's.

8, LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.

WITH THE EXCEPTION OF THE INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS MASTER AGREEMENT, THE
LIABIITY OF MOODY'S AND ITS LICENSORS, IF ANY, AND CLIENT'S SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY FOR
DAMAGES FOR ANY CLAIM OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER UNDER OR RELATED TO THIS MASTER
AGREEMENT, AND REGARDLESS OF THE LEGAL THEORY OR THE PERFORMANCE OR NON-
PERFCRMANCE OF THE SERVICES OR DELIVERY OR NON-DELIVERY OF THE DELIVERABLES, SHALL NOT
BE GREATER THAN THE FEES ACTUALLY PAID BY CLIENT TO MOODY'S IN CONNECTION WITH THE
RELEVANT WORK ORDER DURING THE TWELVE (12} MONTH PERIOD IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING THE
DATE UPCN WHICH SUCH CLAIM ACCRUED. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES WILL MOODY'S AND ITS
LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO CLIENT FOR ANY . SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, CR
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES OF ANY KIND, INCLUDRING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, COMPENSATION,
REIMBURSEMENT CR DAMAGES ON ACCOUNT OF THE LOSS OF PRESENT OR PROSPECTIVE PROFITS,
EXPENDITURES, INVESTMENTS OR COMMITMENTS, WHETHER MADE N THE ESTABLISHMENT,
DEVELOPMENT OR MAINTENANCE OF BUSINESS REPUTATION OR GOODWILL, FOR LOSS QF DATA, COST
OF SUBSTITUTE MATERIALS OR SERVICES, COST OF CAPITAL, AND THE CLAIMS OF ANY THIRD PARTY,
OR FOR ANY OTHER REASON WHATSOEVER.

9. GONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION.

8.1 Each parfy acknowledges that in connectlon with this Master Agreement, it may recaive andior
have access to cartain Confidential Information of the aother party. Each party agrees to use the Confidentia)
Information of the other party solely for the purposes of this Agreement, and will not disclese such Confidential
Infarmation to. any third party without the other party's consent. Each party shall maintsin the Confidential information
of the other party in confidence using at least the satne degree of care as it employs In maintalning in confidence its
own proprietary and confidential information, but in no event less than a reasonable degree of care. Provided that,
the receiving party shall have met the foragoing standard of care, an Inadvertent or accidental disclosure by the
receiving party of Gonfidential Information of the dis¢losing party shall not constitute a breach heraof.
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(b} The foregeing shall not prohibit or limit any party's use of information {including but not limited to ideas,
concepts, know-how, technlgues and mathodologies) (1) praviously known to i, (i) independently developed by it, (i)
acquired by it from a third party without continuing restriction on use, or (iv) which s, or becomes, publicly avallable
through no breach by It of this Agreement. . Nelther party shall use the Confidential Information of the other party for
its own benefit or for the benefit of any third party, except as exprassly permitted In this Agreement. At any ime upon
the request of the Disclosing Party, the Recsiving Party shall return er destroy the relevant Confidential Information of
the Disclosing Party, Including any copies thersof, and certify in writing that it has complied with this obligation. A
receiving party also may disclose Cenfigential Information to the extent required by an order of a couit of competent
jurisdiction, administrative agency or governmental body, or by any law, rule oF regulation, or by court ordered
subpoena, summons or other edministrative or legal process, or by applicable regutatory or professional standards,
or In connection with any judlcial or other proceeding involving Contrastor and County refating to Contrastor's
Services for County or this Agreemant. The obligation of this paragraph shall survive the tarmination or expiration of
this Agreement.

{d) Limitation on the Flow of Informatien. The Centrectar shall endeavor to give access to the Confidential
Informatlon only ta such persons whe are either by.a professional duty of confidentiality or who require knowledge of
the infonnation as employees, reprasentatives, agents, authorlzed persons, advisors, officers, or directors of the
respective party for orderly conduct of business of the parly concethed. The Contractor shall also require the
recipients of the Confidential Information to undertaks to keep such Confldential Information sacret,

10. Minimum Service Standards. Regardless of wh‘é»ther required by Law,

{a) If Moody's is performing Services on County‘ premisas, the Centractor shall, and shall cause Contractor
Agents to, conduct s, his or her activities in connection with this Agreement so as not to endanger or harm any
Person or property. :

{b) The Contractor shall deliver services under this Agreement In & professional mannsr consistent with
standard practices of the industy in which the Contractor operates. The Contractor shall take all actions necessary
or appropriate to mest the cbiigation described In the Immediately preceding ssntence, Including obtaining and
maintalning, and causing all Contractor Agents to obtain and maintain, all approvals, licensses, and coerlifications
{("Approvals’) necessary or appropriate in connection with this Agreerment.

11. MISCELLANEOUS TERMS

10.1 Independent Contiagtors. Moody's and Client are independent contractors, and nothing In this Master
Agresment will create any partnership, Joint venture, agency, franchlse, sales representafive, or smployment
relationship betwaen the parties. Neither party is an agent or representative of the other or Is authorizad to make any
warranties or assums ot create any other obligations on behalf of the other, The Contractor is an independent
contractor of the County. The Contractor shall not, nor shall any officer, director, employee, servant,
agent or independent contractor of the Contractor (a “Contractor Agent”), (i) be deemed a County
employes, {ii) commit tha County to any abligation, or (iif) hold ltself, himself, or hersalf out as a County
employee or Person with the authority to commit the County to any obligation, As used in this Agreement
the ward "Pergon” means any individual person, entity (including partnerships, corporations and limited
liability companies), and government or polifical subdivision thereof (including agencies, bureaus, offices
and departments theraof),

10,2 Compllance with Laws, Each party rapresents and warrants that it will comply with all applicable laws and
regulations affecting its performance under this Master Agreement,. As used in thls Agreement the word “Law"
includes any and all statutes, local laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, applicable orders, andfor decraes, as the
same may be amended from time {o thine, enacted, or adopted. Cliant shali adhere to all applicable laws, regulations
and rules rolating to the export of fechnical data end shall not export, re-expott, or participate in any other transaction
in connection with the Services, and any other products or services received fram Moody's or any technica) data
obtained therefrom in violation of such applicable |aws, regulations and rules.

10.3 Sanctlons Compliance. Parties werrant that they are not owned or controlled by, nor do they own or
conirol, directly or indirectly, a person ar enlity that is (i} on the list of Spedcially Designated Mationals and Blocked
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Persons maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Depariment of the Treasury or the LK.
Consolidated Finenclal Sanctlons List maintained by Her Majesty's Treasury} or (li) subject to country sanctions
imposed by the U.8. Government for any reason, including but not limited to being organized or headquartered In or a
governmental entity of a country subject to such sanctions {currantly Cuba, Iran, Syria and Sudan); or {jii) organized
or headquartered In any other country to which the export or re-sxport of U.S.-origin goeds or technologies are
generally embargoed (currently Notth Korea). Additionally, Client warrants that It doss not Intend to and will not
knowlngly supply or use Moody's preducts or services to or for the banefif of any of the foregoing. Cllent agraes that
it will notify Moody's if these circumstances change, For purposes of this provision, "owned” and "own" mean an
interest of 50 percent or more and “control’ means the right or ability to dictate the decislons, actlons, and/or pelicies
of an entity or its managemert. If sither Party breaches this Section, In addition to ahy cther rights or remedies the
other party may have, the other party may immedlately terminate the Master Agreement andfor any affected Work
Orders.

10.4  Amendmenis/Severabllity. No amendment or modlfication of this Master Agreement, nor any walver of any
rights, will be effective unless assented to in writing by the party to be charged, and the waiver of any breach or
default will not constitute a walver of any other right hereunder or any subsequent breach or default, If any provisicn
of this Master Agreement Is held unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, that provision shall be enforced
to the maximum extent permissible so as to effect the Intent of the partles, and the remainder of this Master
Agreement shall continue In full force and effect.

10.5 Subcontractors, Moody's may engage subdontractors to perform all or any portion of the Services or to
asgist in any other aspect of providing the Services hefeundet, provided that Moody's remains responsible and liable
for the performance of the subcontractor im conformance with the relevant terms and conditions hereof,

10.8 Force Majeure. Parformance under this Master Agreement may be postponed or extended automatically to
the extent that either party is prevented from performing its obligations under this Master Agreement as a result of a
cause beyond its reasonable control, such as an accldent, act of a civil or military authority, act of God, sarthquake,
embarge, fire, flood, intervaning change in law or governmental regulation, rlot, strike, shortage of transportation or
communication facilities, pandemic, disruption of telecommunication networks, terrorism or war.

10.7  Asslnment Client shall not assign this Master Agreement or any of Its rights or dutles under this Master
Agreement without the prior written consent of Moody's, which shall not be unreasohably withheld; provided however,
that Cllant may assign its rights and obflgations hereunder in the event of a changs of Control or sale of all or
substantially all of fts assets relatad to this Master Agresment, whether by merger, reorganization, operation of law, or
otherwise, Subject to the foregoing, this Master Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of
both parties, any Client Group Companies and Moody's Group Companles that execute Work Orders hereunder, their
syccessors, administrators, heirs, and assigns.

108 Governing Law. This Master Agreament and any Work Order made hersunder shall be governed by the
laws of the State of New York_and exclusive original jurisdiction for all claims or actions with respect to this
Agresment shall be in the Supreme Court in Nassau County in New York State and the parties expressly
walve ahy objections to the same on any grounds, Including venue and forum _non conveniens. This
Agreement is intended as a contract under, and shall be govemed and construed in accordance with, the
Laws of New York State, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof,

10.9 Notices, Al notices, requests, or other communications of documesnts to be given under this Master
Agraement shall be in writing and addressed to the person(s) designated below and shall be deemed effective; (1)
when cleliverad by hand; or (i) one day afier posting with a recognized express delivary service spacifying priority
ovarnight defivery with written verification of recelpt (in the case of Internal domestic U.S. deliveries), or {iii) three
days after posting with & recognized International express delivery service specifying priority Intarnational delivery
with writtan verlfication of recelpt (in the case of Intemational deliveries). Notices to Moody's shall be sent to Moody's
Analytics, Inc. at 7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, NY 10007 (attention: General Counsel,
Moody's Analytics), Notices to Client shall be sent +to Cliant as follows: {|) If to the Department, to the altention of
the Commisslonsr at the eddress specified above for the Dapartment, (Il) If to an Applicable DCE, to the attention of
the Applicable DCE (wiose name the Contractor shall obtaln from the Department} at the address specified above for
the County, (i) if to the Comptrollar, to the aitention of the Comptroller at 240 Old Country Road, Minecla, NY 11501,
and {ly) if to the Contractor, to the atiention of the person who executad this Agraament on behalf of the Contractor at
the address specified abova for the Contractor, or in sach cage to such other persons or addresses as shali be
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designated by written notice, , Each party may designate a different address or contact person by notice given in the
manner provided in this section,

10,10  Complete Agreament/Survival, This Master Agresment and all Work Orders made pursuant hereto
constitutes the complete and exclusive undarstanding and agreemant of Moody's and Client relating to the subject
matter hersof and supersedes all prior or contemporeneous understandings, agreements and communications with
respect to the subjoct matter hereof. The temns contalned In Sections 2.2, 3, 5.4, 8, 7, 8 and 8 of this Master
Agreement shall survive the expiration ar tarmination of this Master Agreement or any Work Order hersto.

1011 Counterparts / Execution, This Master Agreement and any Work Order hereunder may be executed in
counterparts, which together shall constitute a single instrurment, and may also be executed by electronic signature,
ahd the partles agras that facsimlle, digitally scanned or other electronic copies of signatures shall be valld and
binding as originals.

10,12 Prvacy, For information on how Moody's procasses and protects personal data, please see the Privacy
Policy available at www.moodys.com.

10.13  Nonsolicitation. Nelther party shall, during the term of this Mastar Agreement and for one (1) year after ts
termination, hire as ah employee any of the other party's personnel wha have had direct involvement with the
Services, without the other party's express wiitten tonsent, Reasponses to general solicitations, such as a newspaper
ad, or public wehsite, are excepted from this prohibition.

10.14  Pross Refegss and Client Reference, Neliher parly shall issue any press release or public statements
concerning this Master Agreemant without the olher's written consent.  Upon written consent of the Client, Mocdy'a

may tdentify Cllent as a cllent of Meody's (using Clisnt's name and loge) and generally describe tha naturs of the
Services In Moody's promotienal matetials, presentations, and proposals to current and prospective clients.

10.15 Third Party Materials, The parties understand that any Services or Dellverables provided under this Master
Agreemsnt may require the uss of certaln third-party hardware and/or software products. Client shall be solely
responsible for acquiting its own hardware and for obtaining ficenses to such third-party software, if such software is
not already in Client's possession, including the right to [ncorporate such software into its systems. Moody's makas
no warraniies or representations hereunder, express or implied, as to the quality, capabilties, operations,
perfermance or suitability of any third-party hardware or software including the abliity to integrate with any sofiware
provided fo Client by Moody’s, and the quality, capabllities, operations, performance and suitability of such third-party
hardware or software lles solely with Client and the vendor or supplier of that hardware or software,

10.18 Section and Other Headings. The section and -other headings contained in this Agreement
are for reference purposes cnly and shall nof affect the meaning or interpratation of this Agreement,

10.17 Executory Clause, Notwithstanding any other provislon of this Agreement:

{a) Approval and Exaecution. Tha County shali have no liability under this Agresment (Including
any extension or other modification of this Agreement) to any Persan unless (i) all County approvals hava
been obtalned, including, if required, approval by the County Legisfature, and {ji) this Agreement has
been executed hy the County Executive {as definad In this Agreement).

(b) Availability of Funds. The County shall have no liability under this Agreement (including any
extension or cther modificaticn of this Agreamerdt} to any Person beyond funds appropriated or otherwise
lawfully available for this Agraemant, and, if any portion of the funds for this Agresment are from the stais
and/or federal governments, then beyond funds available to the County from the state andfor federal
governiments.

10.18 |Insurance. (a) Types and Amounts. The Contractor shall obtain and maintain throughout the
term of this Agreement, at its. own expense: (i) one or more policies for commergial general liability
insurance, which policy(ies) shall name "Nassau County” as an additional insured and have a minimum
single combined limit of liability of not less than one million dollars {$1,000,000) per claim and two million
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dollars ($2,000,000) aggregate coverage, (i) Iif contracting in whole or part to provide professional
services, one or more policies for professional lability insurance, which policy(ies) shall have a minimum
single combined limit liability of not less than one milllon dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence and two
million dollars {$2,000,000) aggregate coverage, and {ifl) compensation insurance for the benesfit of the
Contractor's employess ("Workaers' Compansation [nsuranca”), which insurance s in compllance with the
New York State Workers' Compensation Law.

{b) Acceptability; Deductibles; Subcontractors. All insurance obtained and maintained by the Contractor
pursuant to this Agreement shall be (I} written by one or more commercial insurance carriers licensed to
do husiness in New York. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for the payment of all deductibles to
which such policies are subjeci. The Coniractor shall require any subcontractor hired in connection with
this Agreement to carry insurance with the same limits and provisions required to be caried by the
Contractor under this Agreement.

(Remainder cf Page ntentionally Left Blank)

ok * W

IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the parties herato have'zaused this Master Agresment to be executed by their duly
authorized representatives.

NASSAL COUNTY Moody's Analytlcs, Inc,

o QbR e lote © &l .okt

Title: O\%m?zquﬁ:! Aot Title: %’QV\ e D CtXuv
Date: ? bll }L/J Date! % \\7 i &{75 \Lt
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WORK ORDER

1X Research and Analytical Services for Sales Tax Raceipls

This WORK ORDER ("Work Order”) is entered into between the undersigned parties pursuant fo the
provigions of tha master agreement identified below ("Master Adreement™). All capitalized larms not otherwise
defined In this Work Qrder shall have the meanings sat forth in the Master Agreement. This Work Order Is dated and
made effective as of the Work Ordar Effectiva Date below. By slgning thia Work Order, the parties below agres to
incorporate by refarance the terms of the Mastor Agreement hargin and to be fully bound thersby. For purposes of
this Work Order and the terms of the Master Agreement incorporated by reference herein, "Moody's” shall refer to the
undersigned Moody's entity,

Client Name: Nassau County

Master Agreement: Master Servicas Agraement dated August 18, 2014 (Moody's Agreament No.
00030278.0)

Work Ordar Effective Date: August 18, 2014

1. Scope and Objectives

Moody's will werk with Client and i:‘:s financial adviger In analyzing sales tex data provided by the State
of New York ("the State"). Moody's wil! analyze the State's sales tax vendor file and provide Clisnt with
an explanstion of significant varfances by the 10 largest sectors and a list of all unexplained significant
variances and assist in discussions with the State regarding questions Client may have on the accuracy
of sales tax recelpts. Moody's will provide Client with a final report stating concluslons. To the extent
possible, the report sheuld include 4 breakdown comparing Nassau County with surrounding countias.

2. Overview of Services to be Patformed by Moody’s

L]

Moody's will examine undarlying sector and Industry trends within the most detailed sales tax data
avaitable from Client and the Stafe to detect variances against historical collection patterns and
underiying economic matrics,

Moody's will alss create a sales tax foracast model using OLS regression techniques, with histerical
collections data provided by Client and Mocdy's proprietary economic forecast serles, to estimate
approximately how much taxable sales may have taken place over the first half of 2014 based on
underlying measures of aconomic growth. In addition, Moody's will project the growth rate for 2014 and
2015.

Moody's will then compiie a written analysis based on these two exercises ldentifying potential causes
for differences in Client's collections versus nelghboring areas, and highlight any variations not fully
explained by underlylng measures of economic growth,

If raquested by tha County, Moody's agrees that It shall present findings to the Nassau County
Legisiature during budget hearings. provided that Moody’s shali not be required to make more than cne
{1) trip to present such findings. Addltienal participetion by Moody's ks subject to addltional fees for the
time of Moody's employess and consultants, which shall be negotlated between the pariies.

3. Client Obligations

9

Pravide requested daia in a timely fashion. Client acknowledges that all the dellvery schedule neted
hareln for the Delivarable is contingent on Client providing Moody's with necessary information in a
timely mianner,

Attand and participate in all meetings.
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4. Deliverables
Deliverable Delivery Schedule Format
September 5, 2014. The dalivery
date may be extendad only with
Sales Tax Analysls the County's agreement, other | PDF
than as provided in Section 3
above,
5. Location of Performance of Services

s The Services will be conducted at Moody'’s office.
B. Compensation

$24,750 payable upon Moody's delivery of the Deliverable set forth In Section 4, Any additional work
requaested by Client shall be set forth on a separate work order.

The amount to be paid to the Contractor as full consideration for the Contractor's services under the Master
Agreemant shall not excaed tweniy four thousand seven hundred and fifty ($24,750) dollars in the aggregats, which
would include all out-oipockat axpenses of the Contractor. Contractor will be paid after submission of their final
raport o the Department.

6.1 Payments shall be made to the Contractor In arrears and shall be contingent upon (i) the Confractor
submitting a claim voucher {the "Voucher™), that {a) states with reasonable specificity the services provided
and the payment requested as consideration for such services, (b) certifies that the services rendered and
the payment requested are in accordance with the Master Agreement, and (¢) is accompanied by
documentation County supporting the amount claimed, and (i1} review, approval and audit of the Voucher by
the Department andfor the Counfy Cemptroller or his or her duly designated representative (the
"Comptralker),

7. Project Managers
From Moody's: Daniel White
Macdy's Analytics, Inc.
7 Waorld Trade Center, 250 Greenwlch Street
New York, NY 10007, U.S.A
From Client: Steven Conkling

Nassau County
Office of Management and Budget
Ona Wost Street, 5th Floor

Mineola, New York 11501, U.S.A,
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IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the parties hereto have caused this Work Order to be executed by thelr duly authorized

representatives.

NASSAU COQUNTY

By:

@M W Uy g deod
Titl: wﬂ

i P L

Date:

Moody's Analytics, Inc.

By:

Mame ‘ N AT M
Y

itle: ) - 4 D Q o

Title u;g (P& X ¢ d

Date : l s 2 0 l L!
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STATE OFNEW&‘?H@ )
Oﬁeg €@ )ss.

COUNTY OF NEW-¥ORK:)

On the ¢ i”day of ff’uausi“ in the year 2014 before me personally came
Y/ ‘tofe personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did depose
and say that he or she resides in the County of Qﬁg 53{;; A ; that he or she is the
Senige . Divecter of [hg ncgg\s e }; !n;h‘gg e, the corporation described herein
and which executed the above instrurdent; and that he or she signed his or her name thereto by
authority of the board of directors of said corporation.

O e

OTARY PUBLIC

)ss.:
COUNTY OF NASSAU )

On theldzﬁ day of SEpTEMBEn.  in the year 2014 before me personally came
/‘f (atidy 0. Sy LLIvas  to me petsonally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did depose
snd say that he or she resides in the County of pdorssaan ; that he or she is a Deputy
County Executive of the County of Nassau, the municipal corporation described herein and
which executed the above instrument; and that he or she signed his or her name thereto pursuant
to Sectipn 205 of the County Govetnment Law of Nassau County.

Y PUBLIC

JOSEPH DEVITO :
Nataiy Public, ‘Stala ‘of New York
S No.. 01DE4736393 .
Glualified in Nassay ﬁountg-
LCommission Expires July 3t. 2 ﬂ
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Contract Details SERVICE; Consnliing Servioes
NIFS ID #: CLBU15000002 NIFS Entry Date; 1/20/3015  Term: 2/28/2015 ~2/28/2018
New Renewal 1) Mandated Program; Yeg No
Amendment X 2) Comptroller Approval Form Attached: Yey No
Time Bxtension X 3) CSEA Apteetnent § 32 Complianes Attached: Yes No
Addl, Funds X 4) Vendor Ownership & Mgmt. Disclosure Attggjmd«'m\ Yes | No
Blanket Resolution -
RESH 5) Insurance Requlred /J ﬂ é’ Yes /| MNo
- " 7”
Agency Information N T
Vendor County Department
Mams Vendar 1ID# Depactian] Comtact
Moody’s Analytics, Ine, 13-3851829 [ Erie Naughton
Address ' Cotitnst Person Address
7 World Trexle Centor, 230 Greenwich 3f, | Michasl MeDermoit 1 West Street
New York, NY 10007 Mineol, NY 11561
Phone Phone
508-928-1410 516 571 0528
oy DEPARTMENT Internal Verification AE%EEQ& SIGNATURE Legﬂﬁﬁ};l:}vnl
NIFS Entry (Depl)
Department NIFS dppvE (Daot, Hodwd) [ } p 9
CGHH‘&TG‘IE_{' Roglstered Uik / %&L_{_ P @ z
NIFS Approval Yes ] I‘\I 0 l I
OMB (Contrantor Reglytered} I:l :/ 10 Mot required i€

blanket resclution

e

County Attomey

CA RE & fnsurange
Verification

14
iy Coxe s

A Approval ay o form

Fo'd Original Contruet o

L":/Z} /‘f— County Excoutive

Legistative Affairs oA

County Attorney NURS dpprovad

Compirol]er NIFS dpprovaf
Notarization

Fited with Clerk of the Leg,

wersti
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Lo Coniract ID#  CQBU14000007 Department; OMB
Advisement Information
BUDGET CODES FUNDING SOURCE AMOUNT LINE INDEX/OBIECT CODE AMOUNT
Fund: UEN Revenua Contract [ I BUGEN100(0/DES00 1, $56,000.00
L County $5600000 | il 2" T RS S E R el T
Resp: | Looo Federal - $ [ 3 el Te , § '
Ohbject DE State $ L APPROVELT 7 7 > uls |8
Transactlon: 500 Capltal $ |y e = s ;’ ye ey
Otter_Grent 3 : gﬁ"&'s"}t’réﬁ’fﬁ;: LT i
RENEWAL TOTAL | $56,000.00 B g LA TSR Iriely T gsg 000,00
% Intrease . Foni it * U ot
% Decrease Puoemnent Prapaysd By! o gy \ . , A
. v "u W b 2 R
WNIFE Cortiffenton Comptrollor Covtlfieailon 7 Coundy Txeeutlve Approval
I carlfyrIhet Ita documna: was mocaptad [ NITS, Ijlﬂh'ﬂmammnncumbnred Mmai:#; th{l‘iﬁ‘giggiégaurmr’ﬂmonmna ame r/
e/ ' Y
A ey~
[T} ‘ ‘ ﬁ\ (For Gificz Use Jnly)
Ciflc L #:
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Contract Summary
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Deseription:

The Contractor will provide the Office of Management & Budget (FOMB™) with forgensted sales tax recelpts to assist the County i ity annya)
budget procoss,

Furpose:

On July 22, 2014, OMT issued an RFQ for research and analytical vervicey related to the County®s sales tax reesipts. The County's 2014 snles
tnx rocelpts are down signifleantly compared to 2013 receipts. Part of the decllne In 2014 may be ativibutable to the incrense I 213 recelpts
due to- Superstorm Sandy, However, the growth In the County’s 2014 sales tax recelpts versus 2042, which would efiminate the impact of
Superstorm Sandy, Is signtficantly below that of neighboring counties. Since there ave np apparent explanations for this disparity, the County
condncted a dotailed anafysls of snles tax data recefved from New York State (the “State”) as purt of the 2015 Budget provess. Moody's
Analyfies, Ine. (“Moody’s") was gelected as the Contractor mnd nssisted the County in this process, The County is conitnulng with this analysis,

The County Is naw dnterested in amending fhe contract with Meody's for an additional three (3} yonrs, wherehy Meody’s will provide OMB
with foreeast sales collections on x quarterly basis,

Method of Procurement:
Request For Qualifications and Cost Proposal

Procurement History:

O July 22, 2014, OMB fssued u Roquest for Qualifications and Clost Propasul (RFQ) for research and sualytienl services for sales tix receipts,
Proposals were due on August 4, 2014, The RFQ way sent to the following flrms: Moody’s Annlytics, Inc,; APT Economin Consulting, Fnc,
(AFT); Dr, Martin R, Caotor, CPA; Dr, Thowas Conoscent! & Assoetates; aud Long Ysland Financial Management Services, Moody's
Analytles and APT submitted proposals, The other frms declded not to submit a proposal, The County also contneted D Trwin Kellner, but
he weag ot interested in recelving the RFQ,

An Evaluation Committee was formed, conststing of the following members: Tim Sullivan, Deputy County Execntive for Finanes; Roseann
D Allova, Acting Budget Director; Besumont Jefferson, County Treasurar; and Steven Conlding, Dobt Manager, Based on the veview of the
stbmitted proposals, the ‘Commitice selected Moody’s Analytics because of ity corporate depth and experience worling with state and local
qOvernmnemits. ‘ _

Deseription of General Provisions
Serviees to bo provided yndor the amonded contract incinde the followingy

= Moody’s will work with the County to annlyze and forecast sales collections on a guarterdy basls, Moody’s will alzo develop »
quarterly wyitten report for the County to dfscuss the sales tax foreonst, as well as natfonal, regional, and losal economic tronds.
Moody’s wil assist the County tn diseussions with New York State agencley regarding questions the County may have relating to
the sales inx recelpis reported,

- Moody’s will ereate n forecast model using OY.8 regression technigues, with historieal eollections data providad by ihe County
and Moedy’s proprfatary economit forecnst serios, to project Nassan County sales tax collections in fseal 2015, ftscal 2016, and
figeal 2017, Onee a yenr,, in the Augnst defivery, projections will be extended to ichuce fisen) 20108 and Bseal 2019 g well,

= Moody’s will then compile o welttou anrlysis diseussing the forecasts, zs well ns national, regional, and local econamie trends,
The written veparts witl e delivered on n ¢uarterly hasls

= Ireguested by the County, Moody®s shalf assist ée County In disenssions with the Stube regarding questions the County may
have on the aceuracy of ales fax vecelpts,

Impact on Fonding / Price Analysis;

The Contractor shall be paid $56,000 annuaily, payable quarterly each ia the nmount of $14,000. Contractor will he paid after fill and flyal |-

delivery of ench Sales Tax Forecasts and Wrltten Anplysis due,

Addttional work, if any, will be based on the hourly rate schedule included in the contrace,

Change in Contract fram Frior Procurement:
NA

Recommendation! {approve as submitted)
Approve ns submittad




Inter-Office Memorandum

To: Comptroller’s Office
From: Steven Conkiing, Office of Management & Budget
Date: January 20, 2015 «

Subject: Evaluation of Contractor Performance

Contractor: Moody's Analytics, Inc.
Contract #: CQBU14000007

Scope of
Services: The contractor will provide OMB with research and analytical
services related to saies tax receipts

Nassanr County entered into & one-year centract witl Moody's Analytos, Ine. effective August 18,2014, The
County is looking to extend the contract for thres (3) additional yenrs, effective February 28, 2015, The contractor
has performed at or sbove the standerds set forth in the coniraoct,

Hlas the Contractor operated within the timeframe set forth in the contract?
Yes [

Haz the Contractor operated within the budget sot forth in tho contract?
Yes [ | No

Has fhe Contractor suhmitted defiverables ns sat forth in the gontract?
(X Yes [] No

Has the Contractor met all obligations as set forth in the contract?
B Yes [ No

The Office of Management & Budget has rutod the wark of AT Consulting ag:

Poor O rair ] Good Excellent [T Qutstanding

Project Manager

Department Head
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RULES RESOLUTION NO.//Z.2015

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE
TO EXECUTE AN AMENDMENT TO A PERSONAL SERVICES
AGREEMENT BIETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU, ACTING ON
BEHALF OF THE OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET, AND

MOODY’8 ANALYTICS, INC,

Paased by the Rulm Commitios

Nasuat Cowst Ista
By Voieo Veia on_ g “fr"{“ shleture

WEIIN

[
ﬂ?«#.;mzwm ... Shsiaiuod O G2 vowuzed,
Legiskators ;wramﬂ 7

WHEREAS, the County has negotiated an amendment to a personal
services agreement with Moody’s Analytics, Inc., in connection with sales
tax analyses sarvices, o copy of which is on file with the Clerk of the
Legislature; now, therefore, be it

RESOLYVED, thet the Rules Committee of the Nagsau County
Legislatore authorizes the County Executive to execute the said amendment
to agreernent with Moody's Analytics, Inc,




AMENDMENT TO MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT TO MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT (this *Amendment”) is
made and entered Into and 1s effective as of the 1st day of May, 2013 by and between the County
of Nassau, a New York municipal corporation having its principal office at 1550 Franklin
Avenue, Mineola, New York 11501 (the “County™), scling on behalf of the County Department
of Office of Management and Budget (the “Department™) with its principal offioe at One West
Street, Mineola, New York 11501, and Moody's Analytics, Ine., a Delaware corporation, looated
at 7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10007 (“Moody’s” or
“Confractor™),

~WITNESSETH -

WHEREAS, the County and Contractor previously entered Intc that certain Master
Services Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2014 (Moody's Agresment No. 00030278.0),
attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Master Asgreement™), pursuant to which County and
Contractor may agree to Work Orders for financial services relating to analyzing sales tax data
provided by New York State as more partioulatly described therein; and

WHEREAS, the County and Contractor now desire to amend the Master Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the County and Contractor now desire to enter lnto a second Work Order for
petiodic State sales tax amalyses and forecasting pursuant to the Master Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in scnsideration of the mutual promises and agreements herein
made and intended to be legally bound herchy, the County and Contractor hereby agree as
follows:

1. Pursuant to Article 2 of the Master Agreement, the County and Contractor hersby enter Into a

second Work Order (Mnudy s Agreement No, (0037170.0), attached hereto as Exhibit B and
made a paxt hereof, for periodic State sales tax analyses and forecasting as more fully

deacribed in Exhibit B;
2, Section 10.2 is hereby amended to add the following:

“10.2 Complignes with Laws,

(a) Genersily,  The Contractor shall comply with any and all applicable Federal, State and
* Josal Laws, including, but not limited to those relating to conflicts of interest, human rights, a
living wage, disclosure of information and vendor registration in comneotion with its
performanee under this Agteement, In furtherance of the foregoing, the Contractor is bound
by atd shall comply with the terms of Appendix ER attached hereto and with the County’s
rogistration protocol, As used in this Agreement ths word “Law™ includes any and all
statutes, local laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, applicable orders, and/or deolees, as the
same may be amended from time to Hime, enacted, or adopted.
(b) Nassav County Living Wage Law, Pursuant io L1 1-2006, as amended, and to the
extent that a walver has not been obtained in accordance with such law or any rules of the

1
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County Executive, the Contractor agrees s follows:

3.

Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of the Living Weage Law, as
amended;

Failure to comply with the Living Wage Law, as amended, may constituts a material breach
of this Agresment, the oocurrence of which shall be determined solely by the County.
Contractor has the tight to cure such breach within thitty days of receipt of notice of breach
from the County, In the event that such breach is not imely cured, the County may terminate
this Agreement as well as exercise any other rights available to the County under applicable
law. '

It shall be a continuing obligation of the Contrastor to inform the County of any material
changes in the content of its certification of compliance, attached to this Agreement as
Appendix L, anc shall provide to the County any information necessary to maintain the
certification’s accuracy.

{¢) Records Access. The parties acknowledge and egree that ail recoxds,
information, and data (“Information™) ecquirsd in conmection with performance or
administration of this Agreement shall be used and disclosed solely for the purpese of
performance and adminigtration of the contract er as required by law. The Contractor
acknowledpes that Contractor Information in the County’s posssssion may bo subject to
disclosure under Article 6 of the New York State Publlc Officer’s Law (“Freedom of
Information Law® or “FOIL™), In the event that such a request for disclosure is made, the
County shall make reasonable efforts to uotify the Contractor of such request prior to
disclosure of ithe Information so that the Confractor muy take such sotion as it decms
appropriate,”

Appendiz L and Appendix BE are attached hereto and made a part of the Master Agreement,

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have duly executed this Amendment as of

the date first written above,

NASSAU COUNTY Moody's Analytics, Ine.

By:

il w  _DtAds.
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Name: { ’éﬁfdéf ,M Natno: .{ﬁ’ vl G
Title: ﬂ{ﬁ’ (:?v-"{f* ﬁﬂdr’ : Title: Led thve oy
Date! {/& f A’f Dates 4.5"/0;. {[f




STATE OFN:EW—%:‘-@EH;‘:} feun s;// VHNI #-
88.}

COUNTY OF NASHA®) (Mfester

P On the 5 day of /?7/‘?“/ in the year 20_/5before me personally came
byl GeFmg fo me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did

s that he or she is

daposz_gnd say phat he,or she resides in the f &
the, & X mcﬁgz Ve [ieestaot 4] : the corporation

deseribed herein and which executed the above instrumént; and that he or she signed his or her
name thersto by authority of the hoard of directors of said corporation,

M ney. & S eeo
N‘szp{*{ PUBLIC

S teorarial Bead
Mary G Wond, Notary fublic
Weut Chiostar Borg, Chastar Count

irgs parch 168, 2036

M !
STATE OF NEW YORK)
)88,
COUNTY OF NASSAU ¥
Onthe___ dayof intheyear zo__ hefore me personally came
, to me peraonally known, who, being by me dely sworn, did
depose and say that he or she resides in the County of ; that he or sheis

the County Executive of the County of Nassan, the municipal corperation deseribed herein and
which executed the above instrument; and that he ot she signed his or her nante thereto
pursuant to Section 204 of the County Government Law of Nassau County.

NOTARY PUBLIC

PRe e
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ANALYTHCS

Moody’s Agreement No. 600371700

WORK ORDER,

Quarterly Sales Tax Forecasts

This WORK ORDER ("Work Order) s enlsred into belween the undersigned parties pursuant to the
provislons of the masier agreement Idenlified below (‘Mastor Agreement’). Al capltalized tarms not othenwvise
defined In this Work Order shall have the meaninga set forth in the Master Agreement. This Work Qrder s dated and
made effsctive as of the Work Order Effective Date below. By slgning this Work Qrder, the partles balow agres to
Ihcorporate by refarence the terms of the Master Agresment hereln and to be fully bound thereby, For purposes of
thls Work Order and the terms of the Master Agreement Incorporated by referende hereln, "Moady's” shall refer to the
undersigned Moody's entity.

Cllent Namsh Nassau County
Mastar Agreerment: Master Services Agreement cdated August 18, 2014 (Moody's Agreemant No.
HO00278.0)
Weork Crder Effective Date: Effective on the dale Iast executed below
1. Snope and Oblectives

2

* Moody's will work with Client lo analyze and forecast saigs collections oh a quarierly basls, Moody's will

also davelop a quarterly wiiiten report for the client to discusa the sajes tax forecast, as well a3 national,
regional, and local aconomle trends. Moody's will assist Cllent In discussions regarding questions Gllert

may have relating to the Dellverakles,

Overview of Servicos to be Parformed by Moody's

L]

Moody's will create a foracast modul using OLS regression technlques, with historical collections data
provided by Cllent and Moody's proprietary economls foracest serles, to project Nassau County salas tax
collections In flscal 2016, fiscal 2018, and flacal 2017, Onee a year, In the August delivery, prejections
will be extended to Includs flacal 2018 and flscal 2019 as well,

Moody's will then complle a writien analysls discussing the forocasts, as well as national, reglonal, and

local econemic trenda, The wiitien reparis will be dellvered an the following schedule:
- Onor around the 291 of aach February, May, August, and November duting the Tarm

If requested by the County, Moody's shafl assist Cleni in discussions wilh MNew York State
agenciesragarding questions Client may have ori Ihe sales tax receipte repotts, subject to additional faes
for the tma of Moody's etployees and consuitants, which shall be negotiated hetween the parties
pursuant i0-a separate writfen agrsement conglgtant with Moody's then-current rate schedule (Schedule
1 ia the rate scheduls for 2014),

Meody's will deliver all avallable varables for Nassau-Suffolk Mefro Diviston from Forecast Database:
Metro Area + Alternatlve Soenarlos and all avaliable variables for Nasgau County, NY and Suffolk
County, NY from Forecast Database: County oh or around the 15% of avery montly via Microsoft Excel,

if requested by the Coupty, Moody's agrees that R shall present findings to the Nassau County
Leglalature during budgeat haarings. Additlenal paricipation by Moody's during budget hearings is subject
1o addliional fees for the fime of Moody's empioyees and consultants, which shall be negotlated betwsen
the partles pursuant to & separate written agreernent conslstent with Moody's then-eurrent rate schedule
(Schedule 1 Is the rate schedule for 2015),

Client Obligaticng

“fo the exten! data or any matertals provided to Moody's Is or sonsists of thivd parly data, software and/or
materiais from & third party provider ("Third Party Materlais®), Glient agroos to be solaly responsible for

L




—Moopy's— | ST

ANALYTICS
Moody’s Agreement No. 00037170.0

(.acoquirlng Jis. own lleerses and rights tothe Third Party Matarals and. (i) retaining.all necessary fghts oo

to provide the Third Party Materlals to Moody's fo perform the Services under this Work Order prior fo
the Effective Date sat forth above, :

«  Provide raquasted hisiodeal daia In a timely fashlon. CHent acknowledyges thet the Delivery Schedule
provided for heraln for the Deliverahbles is dentingent on Client praviding Moody's with necessary
‘Information In a Umely manner,

v Aftend and particlpate In all meefings.

4, Deliverables

Deliverable Dallvery Schedule Format
Sales Tax Foranasts and Wiittan Quarterly, on or around the 289 of Microsoft Exoel, PIF
Analysls Fabruary, May, August, and

November durng the Term,

Nagsay-Suffalk Metro Divialon, Monthly, on or around the 159 of Microsoft Excel
Suffolk Counfy and Nagsay County | every menth during the Term

Data

b, Looatlon of Performanse of Services

+  The Servioey will be conductad at Moody's office.
8. Gompensation

« Compensation to Moody's during the Term for the Sarvices shall be $56,000 annually (the "Base Annual
Paymient”), payable quarterly (314,000 each quarter during each year of the Term) upon dellvery of each
Sales Tax Forecasts and Written Analysis due,

+  Bhould Client roquest Moody's assistance ag outlined In Secfion 2, abave, Moody's shall Involce Cllent
for such additional work and fees to be negotlated between the County and Moody's based on Moody's
then current rate schodule (Schedule 1 [s the rate schadule for 2015).

v Compensation to the Contractor shall be made subject to the Confractor's compllance with the Gounty's
voucher and other blll paving reguirements hereunder. Payments shall be mads o the Confractor In
arraars and ahall be contingent upon (i} the Contractor submitting a clalm voucher {the "Voucher), that
(a) states with reasonable speclfichy the services provided and the payment reguesied as conaideration
for such services, (b) certifies that the services rendered and the payment requested are in accordanca
with the Master Agreement, and {¢) Is accompanied hy documentation satlsfactory te the County
sUpparting the amount claimed, and (I} review, approval and audit of tha Voucher by the Dapartment
andfor the Counly Gompirolier or his or her duly deslgnated representative (the “Gompitroller).

7. Tarm; Termination

¢ Unless earlier terminated as provided hereunder, this Wik Order shall be In force and effect beglhning
an the Wark Order Effeciive Date and continuing for three consecutive one ysar periods, (fhe "Term").

s Either party may terminate the Wark Order by providing the other notice of such termination In wiiting, at
least thirty (30) days pricr to the expiratlon of the then-current year of the Term that the Work Order shall
be terminated, Upon such notles, the Work Crder shall tarmimate upon the expiration of the then-currart
yaar of tha Term. In the avent of a canflict between tha terms of this Work Order and the Master
Agraament, the lerns of this Work Order shali prevafl,

2




- Moopy’s

ANALYTICS
Moody's Agresment No. 00037170.0
8. Project Managers
From Moody's! Daniel White
. Moody's Analytios, ina,

7 World Trade Genter, 250 Graanwlch Sireet
New Yok, NY 10007, U.S.A

Fromm Client: Bieven Conkling

Nassau County

Offfca of Management and Budget
One YWeat Strest, 6th Floor
Minsola, New York 11801, U.S.A,

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the partles hareto have caused this Work Order to be gxacuted by thelr duly authorlzed
represeniatives,

NASSAU COUNTY Moody's Analytles, Inc,

By: [/’)(/ M By: /@‘Af/{\m

Name: .. CHARLES-RIBANDO  Name Pt ernm
DEPUTY COUNTY EXECUTIVE .

Tihtlen o Title: {\ﬁ'ﬂwhw Dieotbor

Date: . ... é/ /s / :" ¥ Date: Slrlis
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STATE OF SW-EORI- [2.005y [y 01

Jss.t

COUNTY OFMABSAY) (7 e 5t
77 tayet 1]
On the day of )?n;/ In the year 20 /8 before me personally came
Iaﬁ?«#l. Gedans 10 me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did

depose and sgy that.he or she resides in the County of 3 that he or she is
ihe Frye L of /]70&0’}/ “ ﬁmf YIS , the corporation
deseribed herein and which executed the above instrument; and that he or she signed his or her

name \TW by authority of the board of directors of said corporation,

Notarial Seal

Mary G, Wend, Notary Public

West Chyaster Roro, Chester Coun
My Cammlsslon_Ex ireg Mavch 1

STATE OF NEW YO RT.)()
8.
COUNTY OF NASSATT)

On the !% day of _J0ng, in the year 20 % before me perdonally came
mﬂjcﬁﬁ\% Lnaeho to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did
depose and say that he or she resides in the County of DOSFON) ; that he or she is
the County Executive of the County of Nassau, the municipal corporation described herein and
which executed the above ingtrument; and that he or she signed his or her name thereto

- pursugay: to Sectign 205 of the aoun'ty‘ Government Law of Nassau County,

Vgtla (O Wlhaepd

NOTARY PUBLIC

PETES
cone A
N i, PRIty 0
aifod In BROSSA g zﬁ‘nll
o Saslon Rapiien AR EE
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Sehodule-4
Hourly Consulting Ratee

Chief Economist - $800/hour
Managing Ditector-$800/hour
Senlor Director-3800fheur
Dirsotor$460/Mhour

Senlor Economlst-$400/hour
Economist-$300Mhour

AssaclatefAssistant Economist-$250Mhour




Appendix BB
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: 'ihe provisions of this Appendix EE are hereby made a part of the document to which it is
attache

The Contractor shall comply with all federal, State and local statutory and congtitutional
anti-ciseriminetion provisions, In additfon, Local Law No, 14-2002, entitled “Participation by
Minority Group Members and Women in Nassau Covnty Contracts,” governs all County
Cottracts as defined herein and solicitations for bids or proposals for County Contracts, In
accordance with Local Law 14-2002:

(a) The Coniractor shall not discriminate against employees or applicants for
employment because of race, eveed, color, nattonal origin, sex, age, disability or marital status in
recruttment, employment, job assignments, promotions, upgradings, demotions, transfers,
layoffs, terminations, and rates of pay or other forms of compensation. The Contractor will
undertake or continue existing progrems related to recruitment, employment, job assignments,
promotions, upgradings, transfers, and rates of pay or other forms of compensation to ensure
that minority group members and women aré afforded equal employment opportumities without
diserimination,

(b) At the request of the County coniracting agency, the Contractot shall request each
employment agency, labor union, or authorized representative of workers with which it has a
collective bargaining or other agreement or understanding, to furnich a written statement that
such employment agency, union, or representative will not diseriminate on the basis of race,
ereed, color, natlonal origin, sex, age, disability, or marital status and that such employment
agency, labor union, or representative will affirmatively cooperate in the implementation of the
Contractor’s obligations heveln,

() The Contractor shall state, in all solicitations or advertisements for
employees, that, In the performancs of the Courty Contract, all qualified
applicants will be afforded equal employment opportunities without
disertmmination because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age,
dgabllity or marital statug.

7d) The Contractor shall make best efforls to soliclt active
participation by certified minority or women-owned business enterptises
(“Certified M/WBHs") as defined in Section 101 of Local Law No, 14-2002,
for the purpose-of granting of Subcontracts,

(e) The Contractor shall, in ks advertisements and solicitations for
Subcoutractors, indicate ita interest in receiving bids from Certified M/WBEs
and the requirement that Subeoniractors must be aqual opportumity
employers.

() Contrﬁctom must notify and receive approval from the respective
Depariment Hoad prior to issuing exy Subcontracts and, at the thme of
requesting such authorizaiion, must submit A gigned Best Biforts Checklist,

(g) Contractors for projects under the supervision of the County's
Department of Publie Works shall nlso submit a utilization plan listing ali




proposed Subgontractors so that, to the greatest extent feasible, all

Sulwontractorswill be-epprovedprior-to-commencement-of worls—Any——
additions or changes to the list of subcontractors under the utilization plan
shall be approved by the Commissioner of the Department of Public Works
when made. A eopy of the utilization plan any additions or changes thereto
shall be submittad by the Contractor to the Office of Minority Affairs
simultaneously with the submisston to the Department of Public Works,

(1) At any time after Subcontractor approval has been requested and
prior to being granted, the contracting agency may requive the Contractor to
submit Documentation. Demonstrating Best Efforts to Obtain Cértified
Minority or Women-owned Business Enterprises. In addition, the
contracting agency may recquire the Contracter to submit such
doeumentation af any time after Subeontractor approval when the
contracting agency hag reasonable cause to helieve that the existing Best
Efforts Checklist may be inaccurate. Within ten working days {(10) of any
stich request by the contracting agency, the Contractor must submit
Documentation,

(1) Inthe casewhere & request is made by the contracting agency or a
Deputy County Hxecutive acting on behalf of the contracting agency, the
Contractor raugt, within two (2) working days of such request, gubrmit
evidenee to demonstrate that it employed Best Efforts to obtain Certified
M/WBE participation through proper documentation.

() Award of a County Contract alone shall not be deemed or
interpreted as approval of all Contractor’s Subcontracts and Contractor’s
Fulfillment of Best Efforts to obtain partielpation by Certified M/WBEs.

(k) A Contractor ghell maintain Documentation Demongtrating Best
Efforts to Oltain Certified Minority or Wornen-owned Busitiess Enterprises
for a period of six (6) years, Failure to maintain such records shall be
deemed fallure to make Best Efforts to comply with this Appendix FE,
evidence of false certification as M/WBE compliant or considered breach of
the County Contract,

() The Contractor shall be bound by the provisions of Section 109 of
Locg} Law No, 14-2002 providing for enforeement of violutions as follows:

a. Upon recelpt by the Bxectitive Directorof a complaint from a contracting
agency that a County Coniractor bas failed to comply with the provislons of
Yocal Law No. 14-2002, this Appendix BE or any other contractual provisions
ineheded 1n furtherance of Looal Law No. 14-2002, the Executive Director wild
try to resolve the matter.

b, If efforts to resolve such. matter to the satisfaction of all parties are
unstccessful, the Executive Director shall refer the matter, within thirty days
(30) of receipt of the complaint, to the American Arbitration Association for
procecding thereon,

¢, Upon conclusion of the arbitration proceedings, the arbitrator shall subrit to

5




the Executive Divector his recommendations regarding the imposition of

semecions; finesor penattiesThe Bxecutive Biractor-shedl-either-() aclopt-the
recommendation of the arbitrator (if) determine that no sanctions, fines or
penalties should be imposed or (1) modify the recornmendation of the
grbitrator, provided that such modification shail not expand upon any
sanciion recommended or impose any new sanction, or inerease the amount
of any recommended fine or penalty, The Fxeculive Director, within ten days
(10} of receipt of the arblirators award and recormmendations, shall file a
determination of such matter and shall cause a copy of such detenmination to
be served upon the respondent by personal service or by certified mail return
veceipt requested, The award of the arbitrator, and the fines and penalties
imposed by the Execttive Director, shall be final determinations and may
only be vacated or modified as provided in the elvil practice law and rules
("CPLR™),

() The contracter shall provide contracting agency with information regarding all
subconiracts awarded under any County Contract, including the amount of compensation paid
10 oach Subcontractor and shall complete all forms provided by the Executive Director or the
Department Head relating to subeontractor utilization and efforts to obtain M/WBE
participation,

Failure to coniply with provislons (a) through (m) above, ag ultimately determined by
the Executive Director, shall be a material breach of the contraet constituting grounds for
1mmediate termination. Once a final determination of failure to comply hag been reached by
the Executive Divector, the determination of whether to terminate a contract shall rest with the
Deputy Coumnty Rxecutlve with aversight responsibility for the contracting agency.

Provisions (), (b) and (¢) shall not be binding upon Contractors or Subcontractors in
the performance of workor the provision of services or any other actlvity that are unrelated,
geparate, or distinet from the County Contract ag expressed by its terms,

The requirements of the provisions (a), (b) and (e} shall not apply to any employment
or application for employment outside of this County or solieitations or advertisements.
thevefor or any existing programs of affirmative action regarding employment outside of thig
County and the effect of contract provisions required by these provisions (), (b) and (¢} hall
be so Hmited,

The Contractor shall inelude provisions (a), (b) and (¢} in every Subconfract in such a
mannes that these provisions shall be binding upon each Subeontractor a¢ to work in
cormnection with the Covmty Contract,

As uged In this Appendix EE the term “Best Efforts Checklist” shall mean a list signed
by the Contractor, listing the procedures it has undertaken to procure Subeontractors in
accordance with this Appendiz EE.

Ag used in this Appeadix BE the term “County Cantract” shall mean (1) a written

agreemeant or purchase order nstrument, providing for a total expenditure in excess of iwenty-
five thousand dollars (§25,000), whereby a County coniracting agency is conimitted to expend

6




or does sxpend funds in retuen for laber, services, supplies, equipment, materials or any
Ful )

sombinatiorof-the foregoingr tobeperformed for; or-rencered orur pished-to-the- Countyrer
(i) a written agreement In excess of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000), whereby a
County contracting agency is committed fo expend or does expend funds for the acqulsition,
construction, demolition, replacement, major repatr or renovation of real property and
{mprovements thereon, However, the term “County Contract” does not include agresments or
orders for the following services: banking services, insurance policies or contracts, or contracty
with a Countty contracting agency for the sale of bonds, notes or other securities,

Agused in this Appendix E¥ the term “County Contractor” meang an individual, business
enerprise, including sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, not-for-profit corporation,
or any other person ¢r entity other than the County, whether a contractor, licensor, Hcensee or
any other party, that is {f) a paxty toa County Contract, (i} a bidder in conmeetion with the
award of & County Contract, or (il) a proposed party to & County Contract, but shall not include
any Subcontractor.

As used in this Appendix EE the term. “County Contractor” ghall mean a person or firm
who will manage and be responsible for an entire coniracted project.

Ag used in this Appendix BE “Documentation Demonstrating Best Efforts to Obtain
Certified Minority or Women-owted Business Enterprises” shall include, but is not Himited to
the following:

R Proof of having advertised for bids, where appropriate, in minority
publications, trade newspapers/ netoes and megazines, trade and unlon
publications, and publications of general circulaiion in Nassau County and
surrounding arcas or having verbally golicited M/WBEs whom the County
Contractor reasonably believed might have the quallfi cations to do the work. A
copy of the advertisement, if waed, shall be included to demonstraie that it
contained language indicating fhat the County Contractor weloomad bids and
quotes from M/WBE Subeontractors. In addition, proof of the date(s) any
cuch advertisernents appeared must be included in the Best Bffort
Documentation, If verbal so icitation is used, & County Contractor's affidavii
with a notary’s signature and stamp shall be required as part of the
doewmmentation.

b. Proof of having provided reasonable time for M/WBE Subcontractors to
respond to bid opportunities according to industry norms end gtandards, A
chart outlining the schednle/time frame used to obtatn bids from M/WBEs is
suggested to be included with the Best Effort Documentation

&, Proof or affidavit of follow-up of telephone ealls with potenitial M/WBE
subcontractors encouragiug their participation. Telephone logs indicating such
acijon can be included witk the Best Fffort Docurnentation

d. Proof ar affidavit that M/ WBE Subconlraciors werc allowed to review bid
gpecifications, blue prints and all other bid/RFP related iterns at no charge o

the M/WBES, other than reasonable docum entation costs incarred by the
County Contractor that are passed onto the M/WBE.

e Proof or affidavit that suffleient Hime prior to making award was allowed for

7
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f, Proof or affidavit that negotiations were held in good faith with interested
M/WBEs, and thet M/WBEs were not yejected as unqualified or unacceptable
without sound business reasons based ot (1) a thorough investigation of
M/WBE qualifications and capabilities reviewed againgt indugtry custom and
stanclards and (2) cost of performance The basis for rejecting any M/WBE
deemed imqualified by the County Contractor shall be included in the Besi

Fifort Documentation

£ If an M/WBI 15 rejected based on cost, the County Contractor must submit a
list clnf all sub-bidders for each item of work sollcited and their bid prices for the
work,

h. The conditions of performarnce expected of Subcontractoss by the County |

Contractor must also be included with the Best Effort Documeniation

L Covnty Conttactors may include any other type of doctmentation they feel
necessary Lo further demonstrate thelr Best Efforts regatding thelr bid documents.

As uged in this Appendix EE the term wExecutive Director” shall mean the Bxecutive
Director of the Nassau County Office of Minority Affaivs; provided, bowever, that Executive
Director shall include adesignee of the Executive Director except in the case of final

determinations issued purseant to Section (&) through (1) of thege yules,

As used in this Appendix EE the texm “Guibeontract” shall mean an agreement conalsting
of part or parts of the aoutracted work of the County Contractor.

As used in this Appendix EE, the tertn «gubeontractor” shall mean a person or firm who
performs part or parts of the contracted work of e prime contragtor providing services, including
construction services, to the County purstiant to a county contract, Subcontractor shall inelude
a person or fivm that provides labor, professionat or other services, materials or supplies to a
prime contractor that are necessary for the prime contractor to fulfill its obligations to provide
services to the County pursuant to a county contract, gubeontractor shall not include a supplier
of materials to a eontractor who has contracted to provide goods but no services to the County,
yor a supplier of incidental materials to a coniractor, such as office supplics, taols and other
ttems of nominal cost thet are utilized i the performeance of a service contract.

Provisiona requiring contractors Lo retain or gubmit dacumentation of best efforts td
utilize certified suboontractors and requiting Departmert head approval prior 1o subeontracting
shall not apply e ieter-governmental agreements. In addition, the tracking of expenditures of
County dollars by not-for-profit corporations, other municipalities, Siutes, or the federal
government is not requived,
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Certificate of Compliance

In compliance with Local Law 1-2006, as amended (the “Law”), the Contractor hereby certifies
the following:

L

2.

The rhief executive officer of the Contractor js:

Paul Getman (Neme)
121 N, Welnyt Street Wegt Chester, PA 19380 (Addiress)
(610) 235-K145 {Telephone Number)

The Contractor agrees to efther (1) comply with the requiretnents of the Naasan County
Living Wage Law or (2) as applicable, obtain a waiver of the requirements of the Law
pursuant to section ¢ of the Law, In the event that the Contractor does not comply with
the requivements of the Law or oblain a waiver of the requirements of the Law, and such
Contractor establishes to the satisfaction of fhe Departraent that at the time of execution
of this Agrezment, it had a reasonable gertainty that it would receive such waiver based
ot the Law and Rules pertaining to waivers, the County will agree to terminate the
contract without imposing costs or seeking damages against the Contractor

In the past five years, Contractor . has 3 has not been found by a court or a
government agency to have violated federal, etate, or local laws regulating payment of
wages or benefits, labor relations, or occupational safety end health, If a violation has
been assessed against the Contractor, describe below:

. Inthe past five years, an adminiatrative proceeding, investigation, or government hody-

initiated judiclal action has % hag not been commenced against or relating
to the Coniractor in conneetion with federal, state, or local laws regulating payment of
wages or benefits, lahor relations, or oceupational safety and health, I such a
proceeding, action, or investigation has been cornmenced, describe below:




5. Confractor agrees to permit access to work gites and relevant payroll records by
authotized County representatives for +he purpose of monitoring eotnplance with the
Living Wage Law and investigating employee complalots of noncompliance,

I hereby certify that I have read the foregoing statement and, to the best of my knowledge and
belief, it is frue, correct and complete. Any gtatement or representation made herein shall be
accurate and true ag of the date stated below, :

5l e }Q?/ix

Dated Stgnature of Chief Executive Officer

ot Coon

Name of Chief Exeputive Officer

gworn to before me this
1 .
b A day of f}?ﬁ;)( e0fs

Notaty Pyplic

Notarlal Geal
Mary ¢ Woad, Hotary Publlc
West Chegter Boro, Chastar County
Commission Exnirue Mawth 18, 2016
MEMBER, PENNG YLYANLA ABSOCIATION OF NOTARIES
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Inter-Office Memorandum

To: Robett Cleary, Chief Procurement Officer

From; Steveni Conkling, Office of Management & Budget & <.
Date: July 15, 2019
Subject: Moody’s Analytics, Inc. Conf:i‘act extension

The County and the contractor entered into a Master Services Agreement effective August 27,
2014 (Moody’s Agreement No, 00030278.0) County contract # CQBU14000007, as amended by
Amendment to Master Services Agreement, County contract # CLBU15000002, executed on
behalf of the County on June 19, 2015. '

The County is interested in again amending the Master Services Agreement which will be
effective June 10, 2018. The contract extension process has been delayed due to a technical issue
with the invoicing under the previous contract extension which needed to be resolved, The
Office of Management decided that it was best to resolve the invoicing issue prior to executing a
new amendment. The issue has now been resolved.



